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INTRODUCTION

In this annual report, we use the term “Copa Hadirto refer to Copa Holdings, S.A., “Copa” or “GoAirlines” to
refer to Compafiia Panamefia de Aviacion, S.A., aidislny of Copa Holdings, S.A., and “AeroRepublita’refer to
AeroRepublica, S.A., a subsidiary of Copa Holdirfg#\. The terms “we,” “us” and “our” refer to Coptoldings, S.A. together
with its subsidiaries, except where the contextineg otherwise. References to “Class A sharefgr to Class A shares of Cc
Holdings, S.A.

This annual report contains terms relating to ojreggperformance that are commonly used withinainkne industry
and are defined as follows:

. “Aircraft utilization” represents the average rivgn of block hours operated per day per aircraftie total
aircraft fleet.

. “Available seat miles” or “ASMs” represents thieceaft seating capacity multiplied by the numbénules the
seats are flowr

*  “Average stage leng” represents the average number of miles flown pghtfl
«  “Block hour! refers to the elapsed time between an aircraftiigean airport gate and arriving at an airport ¢

. “Break-even load factor” represents the loaddattiat would have resulted in total revenues beimgal to total
expenses.

. “Load factor’represents the percentage of aircraft seating @ghat is actually utilized (calculated by dividj
revenue passenger miles by available seat miles).

«  “Operating expense per available seat” represents operating expenses divided by avaitgzemiles
*  “Operating revenue per available seat ” represents operating revenues divided by avaikdmae miles
«  “Passenger revenue per available seaf” represents passenger revenue divided by availebtensiles

«  “Revenue passenger m” represents the number of miles flown by revenuseragers

. “Revenue passengers” represents the total nuaflparying passengers (including all passengerseraedsy
OnePass frequent flyer miles and other travel ag)dtdwn on all flight segments (with each connegti
segment being considered a separate flight segn

¢ “Yield” represents the average amount one passenger pffayste mile.
Market Data

This annual report contains certain statisticahdagarding our airline routes and our competigigsition and market
share in, and the market size of, the Latin Amerialine industry. This information has been dedvrom a variety of source
including the International Air Transport Associatj the U.S. Federal Aviation Administration, tiéelrnational Monetary
Fund and other third-party sources, governmentaheigs or industry or general publications. Infatiorafor which no source
is cited has been prepared by us on the basisrdfrmwledge of Latin American airline markets anbey information availabl
to us. The methodology and terminology used byedifiit sources are not always consistent, and datadifferent sources are
not readily comparable. In addition, sources othan us use methodologies that are not identicalite and may produce
results that differ from our own estimates. Althbuge have not independently verified the informatoncerning our
competitive position, market share, market sizerketagrowth or other similar data provided by thpdrty sources or by
industry or general publications, we believe themgrces and publications are generally accurateeliadble.
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Presentation of Financial and Statistical Data

Included elsewhere in this annual report are oditad consolidated balance sheets as of Decemh@088 and
2009 and the audited consolidated statements ofrie¢c changes in shareholders’ equity and cash flonthe years ended
December 31, 2007, 2008 and 2009. The consolidatadcial information as of December 31, 2005, 2666 2007, and for
the years ended December 31, 2005 and 2006 haglbeaead from our audited consolidated financiatsments that were
prepared in accordance with accounting principlsegally accepted in the United States, or U.S. 8A#Ad which have not
been included in this annual report. Our auditensotidated financial statements have been preparadcordance with U.S.
GAAP and are stated in U.S. dollars. We began daaing the results of our AeroRepublica operatudpsidiary as of its
acquisition date on April 22, 2005. Unless otheenigdicated, all references in the annual repot$t®r “dollars” refer to U.S
dollars, and all references to “Pesos” or “Ps.trab Colombian pesos, the local currency of Colemb

Certain figures included in this annual report haeen subject to rounding adjustments. Accordinfigyires shown
as totals in certain tables may not be an arittovaggregation of the figures that precede them.

Special Note About Forward-Looking Statements

This annual report includes forward-looking statatseprincipally under the captions “Risk Factorgusiness
Overview” and “Operating and Financial Review amdspects.” We have based these forward-lookingistants largely on
our current beliefs, expectations and projectidmsuafuture events and financial trends affectinglmusiness. Many important
factors, in addition to those discussed elsewhetkis annual report, could cause our actual resaltliffer substantially from
those anticipated in our forward-looking statemeimsiuding, among other things:

. general economic, political and business conastio Panama and Latin America and particularghe
geographic markets we sen

. our management’s expectations and estimates mungeour future financial performance and finamcpians
and programs

« our level of debt and other fixed obligatiol

« demand for passenger and cargo air service in #rkats in which we operat

. competition;

«  our capital expenditure plar

« changes in the regulatory environment in which erate;

. changes in labor costs, maintenance costs, 6s# @nd insurance premiums;

« changes in market prices, customer demand andrenefes and competitive conditio

¢ cyclical and seasonal fluctuations in our operat@sylts;

. defects or mechanical problems with our aircraft;

« our ability to successfully implement our growtheségy;

¢ our ability to obtain financing on commercially semable terms; ar

« the risk factors discussed un¢‘Risk Factor” beginning on page -

The words “believe,” “may,” “will,” “aim,” “estimag,” “continue,” “anticipate,” “intend,” “expect” ahsimilar words
are intended to identify forward-looking statemeiftsrward-looking statements include informatiomoerning our possible or
assumed future results of operations, businestegtes, financing plans, competitive position, istly environment, potential
growth opportunities, the effects of future regigiatand the effects of competition. Forwdeotking statements speak only a:
the date they were made, and we undertake no diblig@ update publicly or to revise any forwara#ing statements after the
date of this annual report because of new informmatiuture events or other factors. In light of tieks and uncertainties
described above, the forward-looking events antbioistances discussed in this annual report mighteeur and are not

guarantees of future performance. Considering thesgtions, you should not place undue relianngaward-looking
statements contained in this annual report.
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PART |

Item 1. Identity of Directors, Senior Management ad Advisers

Not applicable.
Item 2. Offer Statistics and Expected Timetable

Not applicable.
Item 3. Key Information
A. Selected Financial Data

The following table presents summary consolidabedricial and operating data for each of the periodated. Our
consolidated financial statements are prepareddnrdance with U.S. GAAP and are stated in U.Sadal You should read
this information in conjunction with our consoliédtfinancial statements included in this annuabregnd the information
under “ltem 5. Operating and Financial Review anaspects” appearing elsewhere in this annual report

The summary consolidated financial information BBecember 31, 2008 and 2009 and for the yearsdende
December 31, 2007, 2008 and 2009 has been derweddur audited consolidated financial statememtiided elsewhere in
this annual report. The consolidated financial infation as of December 31, 2005, 2006 and 2007farttie years ended
December 31, 2005 and 2006 has been derived frorawmlited consolidated financial statements thaeweepared under U.S.
GAAP and which have not been included in this ahregort.

We have acquired 99.9% of the stock of AeroRepébkcColombian air carrier, and began consolidadtsgesults
on April 22, 2005. As a result of this acquisitiauy financial information prior to and after thegaisition is not comparable.

Year Ended December 31
20051 2006 2007 2008 2009
(in thousands of dollars, except share and per shardata and operating data

INCOME STATEMENT DATA
Operating revenu

Passenger reveni $ 563,52( $ 798,90: $ 967,06t $ 1,217,31. $ 1,186,71
Cargo, mail and othe 45,09 52,25¢ 60,19¢ 71,47¢ 66,37(
Total operating revenut 608,61« 851,16( 1,027,26: 1,288,78! 1,253,08
Operating expense
Aircraft fuel 149,30: 217,73( 265,38° 404,66¢ 300,81¢
Salaries and benefi 69,73( 91,38: 116,69: 139,43: 157,87¢
Passenger servicir 50,62: 64,38( 82,94¢ 98,77¢ 110,76¢
Commissions 45,081 57,80¢ 65,93( 67,177 57,56¢
Reservations and sal 29,21: 38,21 48,22¢ 54,99¢ 56,28(
Maintenance, materials and repz 32,50¢ 50,057 51,24¢ 66,43¢ 76,73:
Depreciatior 19,857 24,87 35,32¢ 42,891 47,07¢
Flight operation: 24,94: 33,74( 43,95¢ 56,42¢ 60,87:
Aircraft rentals 27,63! 38,16¢ 38,63¢ 43,00¢ 46,53¢
Landing fees and other renti 17,90¢ 23,92¢ 27,015 32,467 33,62¢
Other 32,62: 44,75¢ 55,09: 58,52! 62,18¢
Special fleet charged —_ —_ 7,30¢ —_ 19,417
Gain from involuntary conversio® — — (8,019 — —
Total operating expens: 499,42: 685,03¢ 829,75¢ 1,064,79i 1,029,76:
Operating incom 109,19: 166,12: 197,50¢ 223,99: 223,32¢
Non-operating income (expenst
Interest expense (21,629 (29,15() (44,33)) (42,077) (32,939
Interest capitalized 1,08¢ 1,712 2,57( 1,921 6932
Interest incom 3,544 7,257 12,19: 11,13( 9,18t
Other, ne® 398 18t 10,987 (58,84)) 59,70¢
Total nor-operating expenses, r (16,607) (19,99¢) (18,58 (87,867) 36,64
Income before income tax 92,591 146,12! 178,92¢ 136,12¢ 259,96¢
Provision for income taxe (9,597) (12,28¢) (17,106 (17,469 (19,610
Net income 82,99¢ 133,83¢ 161,82( 118,65¢ 240,35¢

BALANCE SHEET DATA
Total cash, cash equivalents and short-term
investments $ 11449 $ 197,38 $ 308,35¢ $ 396,82t $  352,06¢
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Year Ended December 31,

20051 2006 2007 2008 2009

(in thousands of dollars, except share and per shadata and operating data)
Accounts receivable, net 46,53: 62,131 74,16¢ 75,201 80,791
Total current assets 184,35: 290,65: 435,73t 522,46 502,15:
Purchase deposits for flight equipm: 52,75% 65,15( 64,07¢ 84,86 198,69°
Total property and equipme 637,54: 862,28! 1,166,26: 1,337,66! 1,481,68
Total asset 916,91: 1,255,01! 1,707,25. 1,954,22! 2,092,86!
Long-term debt 402,95: 529,80: 732,204 800,19¢ 750,97:
Total shareholde’ equity 245,86° 371,66¢ 531,63° 632,43. 865,62¢
Capital stock 29,22: 32,56 37,37: 42,96¢ 48,244

CASH FLOW DATA
Net cash provided by operating activit $ 115,36¢ $ 193,46¢ $ 221,94, % 198,10! $  282,43¢

Net cash used in investing activiti (159,88¢) (258,98() (334,759 (322,78() (151,45)
Net cash provided by financing activiti 38,92¢ 141,49¢ 228,29! 59,51¢ (87,849
OTHER FINANCIAL DATA

EBITDA *4) 129,44. 191,18( 243,82: 208,03¢ 330,10¢
Aircraft rentals 27,631 38,16¢ 38,63¢ 43,00¢ 46,53¢
Operating margirf) 17.%% 19.5% 19.2% 17.4% 17.&%

Weighted average shares used in

computing net income per share

(basic)® 42,812,50 43,517,48 43,782,38 43,822,87 43,910,92
Weighted average shares used in

computing net income per share

(diluted)® 42,812,50 43,517,48 43,782,38 43,822,87 43,910,92'
Net income (loss) per share (ba<® $ 194 8 3.06 $ 3.7 % 271 $ 5.47
Net income (loss) per share (dilutd® $ 194 % 3.0 $ 3.7C % 271 % 5.47
Dividends declared per she $ 024 $ 0.1¢ $ 031 $ 037 $ 0.37
OPERATING DATA
Revenue passengers carriéd 4,361 5,741 6,01¢ 6,48¢ 7,18
Revenue passenger milés 3,82¢ 5,017 5,861 6,717 7,391
Available seat mile®) 5,35¢ 6,86¢€ 7,91¢ 8,84t 9,911
Load factor(19) 71.2% 73.1% 74.(% 75.£% 74.€%
Breal-even load facto®1) 58.(% 58.(% 58.£% 67.1% 56.2%
Total block hourd12) 103,62t 130,81¢ 157,20( 182,69: 206,72(
Average daily aircraft utilizatio®3) 9.8 9.8 9.€ 9.6 10.1
Average passenger fa 129.2 139.2 160.¢ 187.1 165.2
Yield @4 14.7¢ 15.92 16.5( 18.1Z 16.04
Passenger revenue per A{15) 10.51 11.6¢ 12.2] 13.7¢ 11.97
Operating revenue per AS(16) 11.3¢ 12.4C 12.97 14.57 12.6¢
Operating expenses per ASM (CASM)

7 9.32 9.9¢ 10.4¢ 12.0¢ 10.3¢
Departures 48,93¢ 65,471 71,89:¢ 79,66¢ 88,29
Average daily departure 156.€ 179.¢ 197.( 217.% 241.¢
Average number of aircra 31.C 38.€ 45.C 52.C 56.2
Airports served at period el 36 42 46 51 51
SEGMENT FINANCIAL DATA
Copa:

Operating revenu $ 505,65! $ 676,16¢ $ 806,20: $ 1,035,94! $ 1,024,47.

Operating expenst¢ 402,68 509,54( 634,52: 827,71: 810,20:

Depreciatior 19,24: 23,73 30,71( 38,101 43,17¢

Aircraft rentals 22,09¢ 23,84: 27,75¢ 31,271 26,037

Interest expense 19,42« 26,907 36,300 36,20¢ 30,08¢

Interest capitalize: 1,08¢ 1,71z 2,57(C 1,921 693

Interest incom« 3,37¢ 6,881 11,72( 10,51« 8,121

Net income (loss) before t: 89,74t 155,53¢ 165,57: 119,35! 254,34¢

Total asset 851,07! 1,168,12: 1,546,62: 1,823,51 1,918,96-
AeroRepublica:

Operating revenu $ 103,01¢ $ 17588! $ 226,04; $ 26491 $  240,35¢

Operating expense¢ 96,83¢ 176,38¢ 200,47« 249,15: 232,74

Depreciatior 61E 1,14z 4,61¢ 4,78% 3,90¢

Aircraft rentals 5,53¢ 14,60« 14,76( 22,73 26,187

Interest expens 2,20t 2,24: 8,032 5,862 2,852

Interest capitalize: — — — — —

Interest incom« 16€ 37C 4732 61€ 1,064

Net income (loss) before t: 2,84¢ (9,40¢) 13,35¢ 5,271 5,22¢

Total asset 98,09! 132,87 256,34¢ 258,56 318,90¢
SEGMENT OPERATING DATA
Copa:

Available seat mile® 4,40¢ 5,23¢ 6,29¢ 7,342 8,31¢

Load factor(20) 73.2% 77.€% 78.2% 78.8% 76.C%

Breal-even load facto 56.8% 56.1% 58.71% 67.2% 53.2%

Yield (14) 14.41 15.4¢ 15.3¢ 16.81 15.2¢

Operating revenue per AS(16) 11.47 12.91 12.8( 14.11 12.3]

CASM (17) 9.1¢ 9.78 10.0¢ 11.2% 9.74

Average stage leng(19) 1,127 1,15¢ 1,207 1,21¢ 1,214
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Year Ended December 31,

20051 2006 2007 2008 2009

(in thousands of dollars, except share and per shardata and operating data)
On time performancés) 91.7% 91.(% 86.9% 87.5% 87.6%

AeroRepublica:22)

Available seat mile(®) 95C 1,627 1,62( 1,50¢ 1,592
Load factor(19) 62.(% 57.% 57.2% 61.7% 67.5%
Break even load factc 60.7% 61.%% 53.8% 62.(% 67.2%
Yield @4 16.52 17.7¢ 22.7¢ 26.31 20.71
Operating revenue per AS(6) 10.8¢ 10.81 13.9¢ 17.62 15.1C
CASM @7 10.1¢ 10.8¢ 12.3i 16.5¢ 14.62
Average stage leng®9) 36C 37C 398 421 428
On time performanc(20) 70.5% 80.5% 72.8% 84.2% 90.1%

()
@
@

(©)

Represents expenses related to costs asmbevith terms negotiated for the early terminaitsiViD-80 aircraft as a rest
of AeroRepublic’s transition to a more fuel efficient all Embr-190 fleet.

Represents gain on involuntary conversionaf-monetary assets to monetary assets relateducaince proceeds in
excess of aircraft book valu

Consists primarily of changes in the fairueabf fuel derivative contracts, foreign exchangmg/losses and gains on sale
of Boeing 737-200 aircraft. See “Iltem 5. Operatimgl Financial Review and Prospects” and the notesitt consolidated
financial statement:

EBITDA represents net income (loss) plusshm of interest expense, income taxes, depreciatidramortization minus
the sum of interest capitalized and interest incdBd TDA is presented as supplemental informatienduse we believe
is a useful indicator of our operating performanoe is useful in comparing our operating perforneanih other
companies in the airline industry. However, EBITBKould not be considered in isolation, as a sulietfor net income
prepared in accordance with U.S. GAAP or as a mreasfua company’s profitability. In addition, oualculation of
EBITDA may not be comparable to other companieawilsirly titled measures. The following table pretsea
reconciliation of our net income to EBITDA for tepecified periods:

Year Ended December 31
2005 2006 2007 2008 2009
(in thousands of dollars)

Net income $ 82,99¢ $ 133,83¢ $ 161,82( $ 118,65 $ 240,35¢
Interest expens 21,62¢ 29,15( 44,33: 42,07 32,93¢
Income taxe: 9,592 12,28¢ 17,10¢ 17,46¢ 19,61(
Depreciatior 19,850 24,87« 35,32¢ 42,89: 47,07¢
Subtotal 134,07 200,14¢ 258,58¢ 221,09( 339,98t
Interest capitalize: (2,089 (1,712 (2,570 (1,927) (693)
Interest incomu (3,549 (7,25%) (12,199 (11,130 (9,18%)
EBITDA 129,44 191,18( 243,82; 208,03¢ 330,10t

®)
(6)

@)

®)
©)

Aircraft rentals represents a significant operagmgense of our business. Because we leased sefena aircraft during
the periods presented, we believe that when assesair EBITDA you should also consider the impdabur aircraft rent
expense, which was $27.6 million in 2005, $38.Jiarilin 2006, $38.6 million in 2007, $43.0 million 2008 and

$46.5 million in 2009

Operating margin represents operating income divtgieoperating revenue

All share and per share amounts have been retvefctdjusted to reflect the current capital stuwetdescribed under
“Description of Capital Stock” and in the notesour consolidated financial statements. In 2009chenged our method

of calculating earnings per share and adjusted padod data accordingly. See Note 10 to our Chdasted Financial
Statements

Total number of paying passengers (including adspagers redeeming OnePass frequent flyer milesthed travel
awards) flown on all flight segments, expressethousands

Number of miles flown by scheduled revenue passsngepressed in million
Aircraft seating capacity multiplied by the numlaémiles the seats are flown, expressed in milli

(10) Percentage of aircraft seating capacity that igadist utilized. Load factors are calculated by dinig revenue passenger

miles by available seat mile

(11) Load factor that would have resulted in total raxenbeing equal to total expenses, excluding tleetedf fuel derivative

mark-to-market and special fleet charges, thisréguould have been 57.9% in 2005, 57.7% in 20066%8n 2007,
63.0% in 2008 and 59.2% in 2009.

(12) The number of hours from the time an airplane mafethe departure gate for a revenue flight uiti$ parked at the ga

of the arrival airport

(13) Average number of block hours operated per dayeraft for the total aircraft flee
(14) Average amount (in cents) one passenger pays tméymile.
(15) Passenger revenues (in cents) divided by the nuofteerailable seat mile




Table of Contents

(16
ar
(@18
(19
(20
(1

Total operating revenues for passenger related ¢wstents) divided by the number of availablet seiées.

Total operating expenses for passenger aircraftaglcosts (in cents) divided by the number oflaisée seat miles
Percentage of flights that arrive at the destimagjate within fifteen minutes of scheduled arriy

The average number of miles flown per flight.

Percentage of flights that depart within fifteemotes of the scheduled departure til

For AeroRepublica operating data, this period ce¥em April 22, 2005 until December 31, 2005 whathresponds to
the period that AeroRepublica was consolidateduinfimancial statement

(22) AeroRepublica has not historically distinguished®en revenue passengers and non-revenue passeflgeragh we
have implemented systems at AeroRepublica to rettatdinformation, revenue passenger informatiosh @ther statistics
derived from revenue passenger data for the yewceBecember 31, 2005, 2006, 2007, 2008 and 2098d®n derived
from estimates that we believe to be materiallyusat.

B. Capitalization and Indebtedness
Not applicable

C. Reasons for the Offer and Use of Proceeds
Not applicable

D. Risk Factors

An investment in our Class A shares involves a Higgree of risk. You should carefully considerribks described
below before making an investment decision. Ouiniess, financial condition and results of operataould be materially and
adversely affected by any of these risks. Thergrice of our Class A shares could decline duany of these risks, and you
may lose all or part of your investment. The ridkscribed below are those known to us and thatumently believe may
materially affect us.

R isks R elating to Our Company

Our failure to successfully implement our growthrategy may adversely affect our results of operagand harm the marke
value of our Class A shares.

We have grown rapidly over the past nine yearsiruthe next several years we intend to continugréev our fleet,
expand our service to new markets and increasiahaency of flights to the markets we currentlyvse Achieving these goals
is essential in order for our business to benadinfcost efficiencies resulting from economiesazfle. We expect to have
substantial cash needs as we expand, includingregsiired to fund aircraft purchases or aircrafiaits as we add to our fleet.
We cannot assure you that we will have sufficiagtcto fund such projects, and if we are unabitzessfully expand our
route system, our future revenue and earnings growuld be limited.

When we commence a new route, our load factorstiebe lower than those on our established routdsoar
advertising and other promotional costs tend thigker, which may result in initial losses that kcbhave a negative impact on
our results of operations as well as require atantigl amount of cash to fund. We also periodjcelin special promotional
fare campaigns, particularly in connection with gpening of new routes. Promotional fares may liageeffect of increasing
load factors while reducing our yield on such reuering the period that they are in effect. Thenbar of markets we serve
and our flight frequencies depend on our abilitydeentify the appropriate geographic markets upbittvto focus and to gain
suitable airport access and route approval in them&ets. There can be no assurance that the neketaave enter will provide
passenger traffic that is sufficient to make ouveragions in those new markets profitable. Any ctadithat would prevent or
delay our access to key airports or routes, inaigidimitations on the ability to process more pagges, the imposition of flight
capacity restrictions, the inability to secure aiddial route rights under bilateral agreementsherinability to maintain our
existing slots and obtain additional slots, cowddstrain the expansion of our operations.
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The expansion of our business will also requiretaattal skilled personnel, equipment and faciliti#e inability to
hire and retain skilled pilots and other persoruredecure the required equipment and facilitiegieffitly and cost-effectively
may adversely affect our ability to execute ounvglostrategy. In recent years, the airline induktg experienced a pilot
shortage that has disproportionately affected smalhd regional carriers, such as Copa. Expangdionranarkets and flight
frequencies may also strain our existing managemesoturces and operational, financial and manageim@mmation systems
to the point where they may no longer be adequaseipport our operations, requiring us to makeieamt expenditures in
these areas. In light of these factors, we cansmira you that we will be able to successfullyldisth new markets or expand
our existing markets, and our failure to do so ddwdrm our business and results of operations edisaa the value of our
Class A shares.

Our performance is heavily dependent on economiadibions in the countries in which we do business.

Passenger demand is heavily cyclical and highleddpnt on global and local economic growth, ecosomi
expectations and foreign exchange rate variationthe past, we have been negatively impacted loy poonomic performance
in certain emerging market countries in which werape. Any of the following developments in the goies in which we
operate could adversely affect our business, fimcondition and results of operations:

« changes in economic or other governmental polit
. changes in regulatory, legal or administrativacgices; or
«  other political or economic developments over whighhave no contro

Additionally, a significant portion of our revenuissderived from discretionary and leisure traveieh are especiall
sensitive to economic downturns. A continued reicessy environment could result in a reduction asgenger traffic, and
leisure travel in particular, as well as a redutiio our cargo business, and could also impacability to raise fares, which in
turn would materially and negatively affect ourdirtial condition and results of operations.

The cost of refinancing our debt and obtaining adidinal financing for new aircraft has increased anghay continue to
increase.

We currently finance our aircraft through bank Isamd operating leases. In the past, we have l@ernocaobtain
lease or debt financing on terms attractive toAs.have obtained most of the financing for our Bgaircraft purchases from
commercial financial institutions utilizing guaraes provided by the Export-Import Bank of the UdiBtates. The Export-
Import Bank provides guarantees to companies thath@se goods from U.S. companies for export, amglthem to obtain
financing at substantially lower interest ratesampared to those that they could obtain withogtarantee. The Expohtaport
Bank does not provide similar guarantees in conmeaetith financing for our aircraft purchases fré@mbraer since those
aircraft are not exports from the United StatesDAtember 31, 2009, we had $363.5 million of ouiditag indebtedness that is
owed to financial institutions under financing amgaments guaranteed by the Export-Import Bank. #mat predict whether
the Export-Import Bank’s credit support will contieto be available to us to fund future purchas@&oeing aircraft. The
Export-Import Bank may in the future limit its exquoe to Panama-based companies, to our airline arltnes generally, or
may encourage us to diversify our credit sourcebrbiing future guarantees.

Similarly, we cannot assure you that we will beeatol continue to raise financing from past souroesom other
sources, on terms comparable to our existing fimaneor at all. The recent turmoil in the finanamhrkets has tightened the
availability of credit and has increased the cdsttgaining lease or debt financing. If the cossoéh financing continues to
increase or we are unable to obtain such finaneirgmay be forced to incur higher than anticipdieancing costs, which
could have an adverse impact on the execution o§mwth strategy and business.
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We are dependent on our alliance with Continentaldacannot assure you that it will continue.

We maintain a broad commercial and marketing atkawith Continental Airlines, Inc., or Continenttidat has
allowed us to enhance our network and, in somescasier our customers services that we could tlgravise offer. If
Continental were to experience severe financidicdities or go bankrupt, our alliance and senageeements may be
terminated or we may not realize the anticipatauklies from our relationship with Continental. WéhiContinental recorded net
income of $459 million, for 2007, it has also suéfé significant losses in recent years and hasateld that several factors
threaten its ability to sustain profitability, imcling high fuel cost, the troubled global capitalrkets, industry competition and
terrorism or other international hostilities. Wennat assure you that Continental will be able ®tain its profitability, and as a
result, we may be materially and adversely affetigd deterioration of Continental’s financial cdiwh.

Since we began the alliance in 1998, we have hbtedefiom Continental’s support in negotiations dacraft
purchases, insurance and fuel purchases, sharitigsff practices” and engineering support in ouinteamance operations, and
significant other intangible support. This suppguas assisted us in our growth strategy, while ialgwoving our operational
performance and the quality of our service. Ouaadle relationship with Continental is the subjefca grant of antitrust
immunity from the U.S. Department of TransportafionDOT. If our relationship with Continental wetedeteriorate, or our
alliance relationship were no longer to benefitfra grant of antitrust immunity, or our allianceservices agreements were
terminated, our business, financial condition aegllts of operations would likely be materially amtversely affected. The Ic
of Copas codesharing relationship with Continental woilkélly result in a significant decrease in our raves We also rely ¢
Continental’s OnePass frequent flyer program theparticipate in globally and on a co-branded biasisatin America, and
our business may be adversely affected if the Ossepieogram does not remain a competitive markegtiogram. In addition,
our competitors may benefit from alliances withesthirlines that are more extensive than our akanith Continental. We
cannot predict the extent to which we will be disaataged by competing alliances. Our relationstith suppliers depends in
part on our alliance with Continental.

During 2008, Continental Airlines announced itirtton to leave the SkyTeam Alliance and join ther @lliance,
effective the fourth quarter of 2009. Due to thegestanding alliance relationship with Continengadd in order to ensure we
remain fully aligned with Continental on a numbéiroportant joint initiatives, we also exited th&y3eam Alliance during the
fourth quarter of 2009. We are currently studyimg global alliance options, including potentialbllbwing Continental to Star
Alliance or whether to remain independent of gladdiances while forming strong bilateral partnépshwith multiple carriers.
The absence of, or entrance into, another airliirenae could involve significant risks becausemway incur costs or a loss of
revenue and anticipated benefits may not be rahliEkese risks include an inability to join or dagein joining another allianc
due to lack of applicable approvals or difficultydatisfying entrance requirements, including #guirement that we enter into
certain bilateral agreements with each member oftrear alliance and/or difficulties integrating dechnology processes with
the other airline members of a prospective alliaffcany of these risks or costs materializes, tbeyld have a material adverse
effect on our business, results of operations arahtial condition.

We operate using a hub-and-spoke model and are eudble to competitors offering direct flights betese destinations we
serve.

The structure of substantially all of our currdight operations (other than those of AeroRepublgenerally follows
what is known in the airline industry as a “hub-apbke” model. This model aggregates passengerpénating flights from a
number of “spoke” origins to a central hub throwgfich they are transported to their final destioiasi. In recent years, many
traditional hub-and-spoke operators have facedfiignt and increasing competitive pressure from-ost, point-to-point
carriers on routes with sufficient demand to suspaiint-to-point service. A point-to-point structuenables airlines to focus on
the most profitable, high-demand routes and toraffeater convenience and, in many instances, léaves. As demand for air
travel in Latin America increases, some of our cetitprs have initiated nostop service between destinations that we curr
serve through our Panamanian hub. Non-stop semvigieh bypasses our hub in Panama is more convieaighpossibly less
expensive, than our connecting service and coghif&antly decrease demand for our service toehiestinations. We believe
that competition from point-to-point carriers whié directed towards the largest markets that weesand such competition is
likely to continue at this level or intensify ingtiuture. As a result, the effect of such compatin us could be significant and
could have a material adverse effect on our busjrfegsncial condition and results of operations.
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The Panamanian Aviation Act and certain of the btkral agreements under which we operate contain Baranian
ownership requirements that are not clearly definexchd our failure to comply with these requiremerteuld cause us to los
our authority to operate in Panama or to the inteational destinations we serve.

Under Law No. 21 of January 29, 2003, which regsahe aviation industry in the Republic of Paname which w
refer to as the Aviation Act, “substantial ownepshand “effective control” of our airline must reiman the hands of
Panamanian nationals. Under certain of the bilatgreeements between Panama and other countrissgnirto which we have
the right to fly to those other countries and oeir territory, we must continue to have substrRanamanian ownership and
effective control by Panamanian nationals to reth@se rights. Neither “substantial ownership” teffective control” are
defined in the Aviation Act or in the bilateral agments, and it is unclear how a Panamanian caurt the case of the bilate
agreements, foreign regulatory authorities migteripret these requirements. In addition, the mammeshich these
requirements are interpreted may change over teecannot predict whether these requirements woelsatisfied through
ownership and control by Panamanian record holderi$ these requirements would be satisfied onfydlbect and indirect
ownership and control by Panamanian beneficial asine

At the present time, Corporacion de InverstioneeeAs, S.A., or CIASA, a Panamanian entity, is ge®rd owner of
all of our Class B voting shares, representing exiprately 29.1% of our total share capital andbthe voting power of our
capital stock.

On November 25, 2005, the Executive Branch of tbeeghment of Panama promulgated a decree statighte
“substantial ownership” and “effective control” régements of the Aviation Act are met if a Panaraargitizen or a
Panamanian company is the record holder of shapresenting 51% or more of the voting power ofabmpany. Although th
decree has the force of law for so long as it resai effect, it does not supersede the Aviatioh And it can be modified or
superseded at any time by a future Executive Braechee. Additionally, the decree has no bindidgatfon regulatory
authorities of other countries whose bilateral agrents impose Panamanian ownership and contraations on us. We
cannot assure you that the decree will not be ehg#ld, modified or superseded in the future, thASB will continue to own
majority of the Class B shares, or that record asimig of a majority of our Class B shares by Pansaraentities will be
sufficient to satisfy the “substantial ownershiguirement of the Aviation Act and the decree. Argde in the ownership of
the Class B shares or a determination by the Pamamg&ivil Aviation Authority (theAutoridad de Aeronautica Civjl which
we refer to as the AAC, or a Panamanian court‘thdistantial” Panamanian ownership should be deterdhon the basis of
our direct and indirect ownership, could causeousde our license to operate our airline in Pandrik@wise, if a foreign
regulatory authority were to determine that ouediror indirect Panamanian ownership fails to §atlee minimum
Panamanian ownership requirements for a Panamearaier under the applicable bilateral agreemeptnvay lose the benefit
of that agreement and be prohibited from flyingte relevant country or over its territory. Any Budetermination would have
a material adverse effect on our business, findioiadition and results of operations, as well ashe value of the Class A
shares.

Our business is subject to extensive regulation ethimay restrict our growth or our operations or ingase our costs.

Our business, financial condition and results adragions could be adversely affected if we or ¢eraiation
authorities in the countries to which we fly failmaintain the required foreign and domestic gowemtal authorizations
necessary for our operations. In order to mairttaénnecessary authorizations issued by the AACCtiiembian Civil Aviation
Administration (theUnidad Administrativa Especial de Aeronautica CarilUAEAC), and other corresponding foreign
authorities, we must continue to comply with apaliite statutes, rules and regulations pertainirteairline industry,
including any rules and regulations that may bepgetbin the future. We cannot predict or control antions that the AAC, tk
UAEAC, or foreign aviation regulators may take fire future, which could include restricting our cgt&ns or imposing new
and costly regulations. Also, our fares are tedclhicsubject to review by the AAC, the UAEAC, artregulators of certain
other countries to which we fly, any of which maytie future impose restrictions on our fares.
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We are also subject to international bilaterat@nsport agreements that provide for the exchahgé traffic rights
between each of Panama and Colombia, and varibes cbuntries, and we must obtain permission frioenapplicable foreign
governments to provide service to foreign destoreti There can be no assurance that existing fzlatgreements between the
countries in which our airline operating compardes based and foreign governments will continughatr we will be able to
obtain more route rights under those agreemerasdommodate our future expansion plans. A modifioasuspension or
revocation of one or more bilateral agreementsctbalve a material adverse effect on our busingsmdial condition and
results of operations. The suspension of our psrtoibperate to certain airports or destinatidms,cancellation of any of our
provisional routes or the imposition of other s#&nmt could also have a material adverse effect. tbuke nature of bilateral
agreements, we can fly to many destinations omgnfPanama, and to certain destinations only fromer@bia. We cannot
assure you that a change in a foreign governmedtisinistration of current laws and regulationsha adoption of new laws
and regulations will not have a material adver$eceon our business, financial condition and ressof operations.

We plan to continue to increase the scale of oeratpns and revenues by expanding our presenoewrand
existing routes. Our ability to successfully implemhthis strategy will depend upon many factorsesa of which are outside
our control or subject to change. These factormdeethe permanence of a suitable political, ecdn@nd regulatory
environment in the Latin American countries in whige operate or intend to operate and our abiitgléntify strategic local
partners.

The most active government regulator among the tci@srto which we fly is the U.S. Federal Aviation
Administration, or FAA. The FAA from time to timesues directives and other regulations relatirtgeanaintenance and
operation of aircraft that require significant ergdéures. FAA requirements cover, among other thisgcurity measures,
collision avoidance systems, airborne windsheaidarze systems, noise abatement and other envirttaivissues, and
increased inspections and maintenance procedufesdonducted on older aircraft. We expect to comtiincurring expenses
comply with the FAA’s regulations, and any increaséhe cost of compliance could have an advergedn our financial
condition and results of operations. Additional megulations continue to be regularly implementgdhe U.S. Transportation
Security Administration, or TSA, as well.

The growth of our operations to the United Statesdsthe benefits of our code-sharing arrangementswContinental are
dependent on Panama’s continued favorable safetgessment.

The FAA periodically audits the aviation regulatanythorities of other countries. As a result ofinigestigation, each
country is given an International Aviation Safetgsessment, or IASA, rating. Since April 2004, IAB#s rated Panama as a
Category 1 jurisdiction. We cannot assure you tiratgovernment of Panama, and the AAC in particuidt continue to meet
international safety standards, and we have netdé@ntrol over their compliance with IASA guideds If Panama’s IASA
rating were to be downgraded in the future, it dquiohibit us from increasing service to the Unigtdtes and Continental
would have to suspend the placing of its code arflights, causing us to lose direct revenue fradesharing as well as
reducing flight options to our customers.

We are highly dependent on our hub at Panama Citfscumen International Airport.

Our business is heavily dependent on our operatibnsir hub at Panama City’s Tocumen Internatidvigdort.
Substantially all of our Copa flights either defaoim or arrive at our hub. The hub-and-spoke s$tmecof our operations is
particularly dependent on the on-time arrival ghtly coordinated groupings of flights to ensurattpassengers can make
timely connections to continuing flights. Like ottarlines, we are subject to delays caused byfadieyond our control,
including air traffic congestion at airports, adsemweather conditions and increased security messDelays inconvenience
passengers, reduce aircraft utilization and inaeasts, all of which in turn negatively affect quofitability. In addition, at its
current utilization level, Tocumen Internationakpart only has fuel storage capacity for three dagsth of fuel. In the event
there is a disruption in the transport of fueltie airport, we may be forced to suspend flightd timt fuel tanks can be refuel
A significant interruption or disruption in servioe fuel at Tocumen International Airport could ke serious impact on our
business, financial condition and operating reséltso, Tocumen International Airport provides imtational service to the
Republic of Panama’s population of approximately iBillion, whereas the hub markets of our currerhpetitors tend to be
much larger, providing those competitors with géarbase of customers at their hub.
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Tocumen International Airport is operated by a cogpion that is owned and controlled by the goveentof the
Republic of Panama. We depend on our good worleétagionship with the quasi-governmental corporathat operates the
airport to ensure that we have adequate accesctafaparking positions, landing rights and gassignments for our aircraft
accommodate our current operations and future gtarexpansion. The corporation that operates Taguimternational
Airport does not enter into any formal, writtendea or other agreements with airlines that govights to use the airport’s
jetways or aircraft parking spaces. Therefore, weak have contractual recourse in the event tipogiauthority assigns ne
capacity to competing airlines, reassigns our ressuto other aircraft operators, raises feessmoditinues investments in the
airport’s maintenance and expansion. Any of thesas could result in significant new competitian éur routes or could
otherwise have a material adverse effect on oueatioperations or ability for future growth.

We are exposed to increases in landing charges atiter airport access fees and cannot be assuredeasdo adequate
facilities and landing rights necessary to achievar expansion plans

We must pay fees to airport operators for the tisheir facilities. Any substantial increase inpairt charges could
have a material adverse impact on our results efatjpns. Passenger taxes and airport chargesalmvéncreased in recent
years, sometimes substantially. Certain importapbés that we use may be privatized in the naaure which is likely to
result in significant cost increases to the aiditieat use these airports. We cannot assure yothehairports used by us will r
impose, or further increase, passenger taxes aporacharges in the future, and any such increesekl have an adverse eff
on our financial condition and results of operasion

Certain airports that we serve (or that we plagetve in the future) are subject to capacity camsts and impose sk
restrictions during certain periods of the day. ¥danot assure you that we will be able to obtanféicient number of slots,
gates and other facilities at airports to expandseuvices as we are proposing to do. It is alssipte that airports not curren
subject to capacity constraints may become sodritture. In addition, an airline must use itsslot a regular and timely basis
or risk having those slots re-allocated to oth@fkere slots or other airport resources are noiavai or their availability is
restricted in some way, we may have to amend dwdides, change routes or reduce aircraft utibrathny of these
alternatives could have an adverse financial impaats.

Some of the airports to which we fly impose varioestrictions, including limits on aircraft noissvels, limits on the
number of average daily departures and curfewsioway use. In addition, we cannot assure you tingds at which there a
no such restrictions may not implement restrictionthe future or that, where such restrictionsgxhey may not become m¢
onerous. Such restrictions may limit our abilitycntinue to provide or to increase services al suiports.

We have significant fixed financing costs and expée incur additional fixed costs as we expand diget.

The airline business is characterized by high leger and we have a high level of indebtedness. [$dehave
significant expenditures in connection with our giieg leases and facility rental costs, and subistdy all of our property and
equipment is pledged to secure indebtedness. Egretir ended December 31, 2009, our interest egpertsaircraft and
facility rental expense under operating leaseseggged $94.0 million. At December 31, 2009, apprately 49% of our total
indebtedness bore interest at fixed rates, andadl portion of our lease obligations was determingtth reference to LIBOR.
Accordingly, our financing and rent expense wilt decrease significantly if market interest rateslithe.

As of December 31, 2009, we had firm commitmentsurhase 29 Boeing 737-Next Generation, with ajregate
manufacturer’s list price of approximately $2.3ibil. We will require substantial capital from ertal sources to meet our
future financial commitments. The credit crisis dhe related recessionary environment has increasednay continue to
increase the costs of such financing. In additibe,acquisition and financing of these aircraftl Viklely result in a substantial
increase in our leverage and fixed financing costligh degree of leverage and fixed payment ohitige could:

« limit our ability in the future to obtain additiohinancing for working capital or other importaméeds
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. impair our liquidity by diverting substantial ¢afom our operating needs to service fixed finagci
obligations; o1

. limit our ability to plan for or react to chang@sour business, in the airline industry or in geal economic
conditions.

Any one of these could have a material adverseteffe our business, financial condition and resoftgperations.

Our existing debt financing agreements and our aiadt operating leases contain restrictive covenaitst impose significan
operating and financial restrictions on us.

Our aircraft financing loans and operating leasebstae instruments governing our other indebtednesgain a
number of significant covenants and restrictiorag timit our ability and our subsidiaries’ ability:

e create material liens on our assi

« take certain actions that may impair cred? rights to our aircraft
* sell assets or engage in certain mergers or caladimns; anc

« engage in other specified significant transacti

In addition, several of our aircraft financing agmeents require us to maintain compliance with spgetfinancial
ratios and other financial and operating tests.éxample, our access to certain borrowings undeaicraft financing
arrangements is conditioned upon our maintenancg@immum debt service coverage and capitalizatadins. See “ltem 5.
Operating and Financial Review and Prospects—Liguahd Capital Resources.” Complying with thesearmants may cause
us to take actions that make it more difficult i@eute successfully our business strategy, and ayefate competition from
companies not subject to such restrictions. Moreowr failure to comply with these covenants caesult in an event of
default or refusal by our creditors to extend dartd our loans.

If we fail to successfully take delivery of or rally operate new aircraft, our business could berimad.

In 2010, we expect to take delivery of eight Boel3y-800 and we expect to continue to incorporate aircraft into
our fleet. The decision to incorporate new aircigftased on a variety of factors, including theliementation of our growth
strategy. Acquisition of new aircraft involves aiesy of risks relating to its ability to be sucsédly placed into service
including:

«  manufacture's delays in meeting the agreed upon aircraft delisehedule

« difficulties in obtaining financing on acceptabéerhs to complete our purchase of all of the aitamaf hav
committed to purchase; al

« the inability of new aircraft and their comporeta comply with agreed upon specifications and
performance standarc

In addition, our fleet includes 26 Embraer 190 raift; which is a relatively new aircraft to the irdry. Although we have not
had significant problems with this aircraft, we pahpredict the reliability of the Embraer aircraft the aircraft age.

If we fail to successfully take delivery of or ily operate new aircraft, our business, finanmisdition and results of
operations could be harmed.

10
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If we were to determine that our aircraft, rotabfgarts or inventory were impaired, it would have igsificant adverse effec
on our operating results.

We perform impairment reviews when there are paldicrisks of impairment or other indicators delsed in
Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No, M4ounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Lonigdd Assetsin
order to determine whether we need to reduce tirging value of our aircraft and related assethwairelated charge to our
earnings. In addition to the fact that the valuewf fleet declines as it ages, any potential excapacity in the airline industry,
airline bankruptcies and other factors beyond amtrol may further contribute to the decline of fag market value of our
aircraft and related rotable parts and inventdrguth impairment does occur, we would be requineder U.S. GAAP to write
down these assets to their estimated fair mardeevhrough a charge to earnings. A significantgbao earnings would
adversely affect our financial condition and opiegitesults. In addition, the interest rates on tedavailability of certain of
our aircraft financing loans are tied to the vatfi¢he aircraft securing the loans. If those valvese to decrease substantially,
our interest rates may rise or the lenders und=etioans may cease extending credit to us, edthehich could have an
adverse impact on our financial condition and rssofl operations.

We rely on information technology systems, and waynbecome more dependent on such systems in thedut

We rely upon information technology systems to apeour business and increase our efficiency. Wéghly
reliant on certain systems for maintenance, resens check-in, revenue management, accountingargb distribution.
Other systems are designed to decrease distribeists through Internet reservations and to maxroago distributions.
These systems may not deliver their anticipatecfisn Also, in transitioning to new systems we nizge data or experience
interruptions in service, which could harm our besis.

Our quarterly results can fluctuate substantiallgnd the trading price of our Class A shares maydféected by such
variations.

The airline industry is by nature cyclical and sewd, and our operating results may vary from aqrad quarter. We
tend to experience the highest levels of traffid eevenue in July and August, with a smaller peatkaffic in December and
January. In general, demand for air travel is high¢he third and fourth quarters, particularlyimternational markets, because
of the increase in vacation travel during theséogerrelative to the remainder of the year. We galheexperience our lowest
levels of passenger traffic in April and May. Givemr high proportion of fixed costs, seasonality effect our profitability
from quarter to quarter. Demand for air travell@affected by factors such as economic condifiaas or the threat of war,
fare levels and weather conditions.

Due to the factors described above and othersideskcin this annual report, quarter-to-quarter cangons of our
operating results may not be good indicators offoture performance. In addition, it is possiblatttn any quarter our
operating results could be below the expectatidrgvestors and any published reports or analysganding our company. In
that event, the price of our Class A shares coaldide, perhaps substantially.

Our reputation and financial results could be harrden the event of an accident or incident involviraur aircraft.

An accident or incident involving one of our airfitreould involve significant claims by injured pasgjers and othel
as well as significant costs related to the repaieplacement of a damaged aircraft and its teamgar permanent loss from
service. We are required by our creditors andeékedrs of our aircraft under our operating leaseeagents to carry liability
insurance, but the amount of such liability inseecoverage may not be adequate and we may belftrdeear substantial
losses in the event of an accident. Our insuranemijpms may also increase due to an accident atentaffecting one of our
aircraft. Substantial claims resulting from an decit in excess of our related insurance coveragecogased premiums would
harm our business and financial results. Morecamy,aircraft accident or incident, even if fullysimed, could cause the public
to perceive us as less safe or reliable than atinémes which could harm our business and resfltsperations. Our business
would also be significantly harmed if the publioas flying our aircraft due to an adverse percapbf the types of aircraft
that we operate arising from safety concerns ogrophoblems, whether real or perceived, or in treneof an accident
involving those types of aircraft.
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Fluctuations in foreign exchange rates could negeagly affect our net income.

In 2009, approximately 71.0% of our expenses and%3f our revenues were denominated in U.S. dollEine
remainder of our expenses and revenues were deatedim the currencies of the various countrieshi@h we fly, with the
largest non-dollar amount denominated in Colomiflasos due to our acquisition of AeroRepublica inilAD05. If any of
these currencies decline in value against the tlbfar, our revenues, expressed in U.S. dollard,aur operating margin wou
be adversely affected. We may not be able to adjustares denominated in other currencies to btfsg increases in U.S.
dollar-denominated expenses, increases in intexggnse or exchange losses on fixed obligationsdebtedness denominated
in foreign currency. We currently have hedges acplwith respect to some of our U.S. dollar / Cdl@n Peso exposure.

We are also exposed to exchange rate losses, basagdins, due to the fluctuation in the valuéoel currencies
vis-a-vis the U.S. dollar during the period of tilnetween the time we are paid in local currenciebthe time we are able to
repatriate the revenues in U.S. dollars. Althoughbst countries to which we fly this period isigglly between one and two
weeks, in Venezuela, foreign companies, includingnas, have experienced increasing delays forapgs by the Venezuelan
government to repatriate funds. We have significaish balances in Bolivars subject to Venezuelahaxge controls. In rece
periods, we have experienced up to a nine montiydelrepatriating funds. On January 8, 2010, tkedzuelan government
announced its decision to implement new fixed ergearates effective January 11, 2010, which redufte significant
devaluation of the Bolivar against the U.S. dolkss.a result, we incurred losses of approximat@y #illion, which will be
recorded in the first quarter of 2010 in accordanith US GAAP. Given the uncertainty with respextiie exchange control
regime in Venezuela, we continue to be exposedspect of our cash balance in Venezuelan Bolivstiesld there be a furth
devaluation of the Bolivar.

Our maintenance costs will increase as our fleeteag

The average age of our fleet was approximatelydas as of December 31, 2009. In recent yeard]emtraverage
age has decreased significantly, mainly as a reséleroRepublica’s fleet renewal program which hgislaced older MD-80
aircraft with new Embraer-190 aircraft. In pastigeae have incurred a low level of maintenance rgps because most of the
parts on our aircraft were still covered under iygar warranties. As our fleet ages and theseaméigs expire, we expect that
our maintenance costs will increase significartilyth on an absolute basis and as a percentage opetating expenses.

If we enter into a prolonged dispute with any of bemployees, many of whom are represented by unjamsf we are
required to increase substantially the salarieslmnefits of our employees, it may have an advenspact on our operations
and financial condition.

Approximately 49% of the Company’s employees beltng labor union. There are currently five uniensering
our Copa employees based in Panama: the pilotshutfie flight attendants’ union; the mechanicsoanthe traffic attendants’
union; and a generalized union, which represerggége handlers, aircraft cleaners, counter agantspther non-executive
administrative staff. Copa entered into collectdaggaining agreements with its mechanics unionpril&2009, its general
union in July 2008, its pilot union in November Z08nd its flight attendants union in March 2010ll€xive bargaining
agreements in Panama are typically between thréécam year terms. We also have union contractk aitr Copa employees
in Brazil and Mexico. AeroRepublica is a party tilective bargaining agreements that cover all efdRepublica’s pilots, co-
pilots, and flight attendants. A strike, work imgstion or stoppage or any prolonged dispute witheamployees who are
represented by any of these unions could have egrselimpact on our operations. These risks aiiealp exacerbated during
periods of renegotiation with the unions. Any remigggfed collective bargaining agreement could fieagignificant wage
increases and a consequent increase in our opeeatpenses. Employees outside of Panama that aceimently members of
unions may also form new unions that may seek éuntvage increases or benefits.
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Our business is labor intensive. We expect salaniages and benefits to increase on a gross lzesithese costs
could increase as a percentage of our overall cist® are unable to hire, train and retain quedifpilots and other employees
at a reasonable cost, our business could be haantedie may be unable to complete our expansiorsplan

Our revenues depend on our relationship with traxaents and tour operators.

In 2009, approximately 52% of our revenues werévadrfrom tickets sold by travel agents or tour @pers. We
cannot assure you that we will be able to mainkaorable relationships with these ticket sell€ar revenues could be
adversely impacted if travel agents or tour opesagtect to favor other airlines or to disfavor @sir relationship with travel
agents and tour operators may be affected by:

« the size of commissions offered by other airlir
« changes in our arrangements with other distributbesrline tickets; ant
¢ the introduction and growth of new methods of sglliickets.
We rely on third parties to provide our customensdaus with facilities and services that are intedta our business.

We have entered into agreements with third-partytreators to provide certain facilities and sersicequired for our
operations, such as heavy aircraft and engine evadmice; call center services; and catering, groiandling, cargo and
baggage handling, or “below the wingitcraft services. For example, at airports othentTocumen International Airport, m«
of our “below the wing” aircraft services are perfed by third party contractors. Overhaul mainteesand “C-checks” are
handled by contractors in the United States, ParamdaCosta Rica, and some line maintenance is édrdicertain airports by
contract workers rather than our employees. Subatigrall of our agreements with third-party comttors are subject to
termination on short notice. The loss or expiratbthese agreements or our inability to renewetsgreements or to negotiate
new agreements with other providers at comparatéesrcould harm our business and results of opesatFurther, our relianc
on third parties to provide essential services mnbehalf gives us less control over the costsieffcy, timeliness and quality
of those services. A contractor’s negligence c@alshpromise our aircraft or endanger passengersr@wd This could also
have a material adverse effect on our businesseXiect to be dependent on such agreements footeseleable future and if
we enter any new market, we will need to have sindgreements in place.

We depend on a limited number of suppliers.

We are subject to the risks of having a limited bemof suppliers for our aircraft and engines. @hthe elements of
our business strategy is to save costs by operatgigplified aircraft fleet. Copa currently opesthe Boeing 737-700/800
Next Generation aircraft powered by CFM-7B engines from CFM International and the Embd4, powered by General
Electric CF 34-10 engines. AeroRepublica currenpigrates the Embraer 190, powered by General ilé2fr 34-10 engines .
We currently intend to continue to rely exclusively these aircraft for the foreseeable futurenif af Boeing, Embraer, CFM
International or GE Engines were unable to perftreir contractual obligations, or if we are unatsle@cquire or lease new
aircraft or engines from aircraft or engine mantiaers or lessors on acceptable terms, we would tafind another supplier
for a similar type of aircraft or engine.

If we have to lease or purchase aircraft from a@oslupplier, we could lose the benefits we deneenfour current
fleet composition. We cannot assure you that aplacement aircraft would have the same operativgratdges as the Boeing
737-700/800 Next Generation or Embraer 190 aird¢haft would be replaced or that Copa could leagauorhase engines that
would be as reliable and efficient as the CFM 56ar8 GE CF34-10. We may also incur substantiakttam costs, including
costs associated with retraining our employeesdacépy our manuals and adapting our facilities. Gperations could also be
harmed by the failure or inability of Boeing, EméraCFM International or GE Engines to provide might parts or related
support services on a timely basis.
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Our business would be significantly harmed if aigieslefect or mechanical problem with any of theety of aircraft
or components that we operate were discoveredibald ground any of our aircraft while the defecpooblem was corrected,
assuming it could be corrected at all. The useuofaircraft could be suspended or restricted byleggry authorities in the
event of any actual or perceived mechanical orgilegioblems. Our business would also be signifigararmed if the public
began to avoid flying with us due to an adversegation of the types of aircraft that we operagshing from safety concer
or other problems, whether real or perceived, dhinevent of an accident involving those typeaiafraft or components.

We also depend on limited suppliers with respestgplies obtained locally, such as our fuel supphese local
suppliers may not be able to maintain the pacaiofjoowth and our requirements may exceed theialgifipes, which may
adversely affect our ability to execute our growttategy

We are dependent on key personnel.

Our success depends to a significant extent uppefforts and abilities of our senior managemeattand key
financial, commercial, operating and maintenanasgrnel. In particular, we depend on the servi¢eriosenior management
team, including Pedro Heilbron, our Chief Execut@iéicer, Victor Vial, our Chief Financial OfficeRaniel Gunn, our Chief
Operating Officer, and Joe Mohan our Vice-Presigdér@ommercial and Planning. Competition for highlyalified personnel
is intense, and the loss of any executive offisenior manager or other key employee without adeqeplacement or the
inability to attract new qualified personnel coblave a material adverse effect upon our busin@esating results and financ
condition.

Our operations in Cuba, which has been identifiegt the U.S. Department of State as a state spon$demorism, may
adversely affect our reputation and the liquiditynd value of our Class A shares.

We currently operate approximately eight daily dépas to and from Cuba which provide passengegocand mail
transportation service. For the year ended Deceibe2009, our transported passengers to and fraiba €&presented
approximately 5.4% of our total passengers car@ad.operating revenues from Cuban operations duhia year ended
December 31, 2009 represented approximately 7.18tofotal consolidated operating revenues for sugar. Our assets
located in Cuba are insignificant.

Cuba has been identified by the United States gowent as a state sponsor of terrorism, and the TWegsury
Department’s Office of Foreign Assets Control (OBA@ministers and enforces economic and trade isasdbased on U.S.
foreign policy against Cuba and certain other tegéoreign countries. You should understand thiatowverall business
reputation may suffer as a result of our activitre€uba, particularly if such activities grow imetfuture. Certain U.S. states
have recently enacted legislation regarding investiiby pension funds and other retirement systemsmpanies, such as
ours, that have business activities with Cuba ahdracountries that have been identified as testr@ponsoring states. Similar
legislation may be pending in other states. Assaltepension funds and other retirement systemshbeaubject to new
reporting requirements and other burdensome résticwith respect to investments in companies siscburs. Pension funds
and similar institutions represent an importantrsewf demand for our shares, and if their williegs to invest in and hold our
shares were to diminish as a result of any suchirements or restrictions, or for any other reasowpuld likely have a
material adverse effect on the liquidity and vadéi@ur Class A shares.

Risks Relating to the Airline Industry
The airline industry is highly competitive.

We face intense competition throughout our routevaek. Overall airline industry profit margins admv and
industry earnings are volatile. Airlines competeha areas of pricing, scheduling (frequency amghflitimes), on-time
performance, frequent flyer programs and otherisesv Some of our competitors, such as Americalingis, have larger
customer bases and greater brand recognition im#riets we serve outside Panama, and some obaypaetitors have
significantly greater financial and marketing resims than we have. Airlines based in other cousitriay also receive
subsidies, tax incentives or other state aid froeirtrespective governments, which are not provigethe Panamanian
government. The commencement of, or increase imicgeon the routes we serve by existing or newiear could negatively
impact our operating results. Likewise, competiteesvice on routes that we are targeting for esfammay make those
expansion plans less attractive.
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We compete with a number of other airlines thatenity serve some of the routes on which we opeatéuding
American Airlines, Delta Air Lines, Mexicana and iAmca-Taca Limited (“Avianca-Taca”), the entity ated by the recent
merger of two of our competitors, Aerovias del Quoerite Americano S.A. (“Avianca”) and Grupo Tac&réRepublica’s
results of operations, in particular, are highlpsigve to competitive conditions in the Colomb@emestic air travel market.
AeroRepublica’s rapid growth in recent years ocedimiuring a period in which the domestic markedégaAvianca,
experienced severe financial difficulties that tesiiin its bankruptcy and the exit from the marnkkseveral other competitors.
Avianca emerged from bankruptcy with new manageraadtan improved financial condition and recendpsummated a
merger with Grupo Taca. In addition, Aerovias degdnacion Regional, or Aires, a low-cost carriesdzhin Bogotd, Colombia,
has recently captured a significant portion ofdbenestic market in Colombia. It is therefore likéat AeroRepublica will fac
stronger competition in the future than it hasdéoent years, and its prior results may not be attlie of its future performance.

We must constantly react to changes in prices andces offered by our competitors to remain coritiget The
airline industry is highly susceptible to priceabsinting, particularly because airlines incur vieny marginal costs for
providing service to passengers occupying otherwismld seats. Carriers use discount fares to Eimtraffic during periods
of lower demand to generate cash flow and to irsenarket share. Any lower fares offered by orleeiare often matched |
competing airlines, which often results in lowedustry yields with little or no increase in traffievels. Price competition
among airlines in the future could lead to lowee&or passenger traffic on some or all of our@suivhich could negatively
impact our profitability. We cannot assure you taay of our competitors will not undercut our faneshe future or increase
capacity on routes in an effort to increase thespective market share. Although we intend to caenpigiorously and to assert
our rights against any predatory conduct, suclviagtby other airlines could reduce the level afefaor passenger traffic on ¢
routes to the point where profitable levels of @piens could not be maintained. Due to our smaiteg and financial resources
compared to several of our competitors, we mayebs able to withstand aggressive marketing tacti¢éare wars engaged in
our competitors should such events occur.

We may face increasing competition from low-costrers offering discounted fares.

Traditional hub-and-spoke carriers in the Unitedt& and Europe continue to face substantial adasing
competitive pressure from low-cost carriers offgréiscounted fares. The low-cost carriers’ operetiare typically
characterized by point-to-point route networks fing on the highest demand city pairs, high aitaréfization, single class
service and fewer in-flight amenities. As evidenbgdhe operations of Gol Intelligent Airlines oplGwhich continues to grow
both in Brazil as well as in other South Americaumtries, Spirit, which serves Latin America fromrfLauderdale, JetBlue,
which flies from Orlando to Bogota, Aires, whicttemtly has expanded aggressively in the domesticn@lan market and
introduced flights between Bogota and Fort Lauderdend a number of low-cost carriers which opevétkin Mexico, among
others, the lowcost carrier business model appears to be gaimiogpdance in the Latin American aviation indusy.a result
we may face new and substantial competition from-dost carriers in the future which could resulsignificant and lasting
downward pressure on the fares we charge for 8ightour routes.

Significant changes or extended periods of high fuests or fuel supply disruptions could materialfffect our operatinc
results.

Fuel costs constitute a significant portion of ttal operating expenses, representing approxim&&0% of our
operating expenses in 2007, 38.0% in 2008 and 2éh22609. Fuel prices reached record levels dutfiegmiddie of 2008, but
decreased substantially in the second half of 2088fuel costs have been subject to wide fluatnatas a result of increases in
demand, sudden disruptions in and other concermmstafobal supply, as well as market speculatiasthBhe cost and
availability of fuel are subject to many econongiolitical, weather, environmental and other factams events occurring
throughout the world that we can neither control accurately predict, including international picktt and economic
circumstances such as the political instabilityniajor oil-exporting countries in Latin America, Afa and Asia. If a future fuel
supply shortage were to arise as a result of ptimlucurtailments by the Organization of the Petuoh Exporting Countries,
OPEC, a disruption of oil imports, supply disrupaesulting from severe weather or natural disastee continued unrest in
Iraq, other conflicts in the Middle East or otheswi higher fuel prices or further reductions ofesitiied airline services could
result. We cannot assure you that we would be tabdéfset any increases in the price of fuel byéasing our fares.
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We routinely enter into derivative contracts fquation of our fuel needs to protect against riingl costs, although
in recent periods, we have entered into such aemegts on a much more selective basis. These agnegprovide only
limited protection against increases in the prittiel or our counterparties’ inability to perforamder the agreement, can be
less effective during volatile market conditionglanay be unavailable to us in the event of a dtation in our financial
condition. Because of the large volume of jet finelt we consume in our business, entering intovdvie contracts for any
substantial portion of our future projected fuejugements is costly. Fuel prices are likely tor@ase above their current levels
and may do so in the near future, which could ni@tgrand negatively affect our operating resutenversely, declines in fuel
prices (such as those experienced in the last sixtims of 2008) may increase the costs associatidowr fuel hedging
arrangements to the extent we have entered intpsaacollars. Swaps and put options sold as fartcollar obligate us to
make payments to the counterparty upon settlenfeheaontracts if the price of the commodity hedi¢els below the agreed
upon amount. Historically, declining crude oil @ichave resulted in our being required to postfiignt amounts of collateral
to cover potential amounts owed with respect topsared collar contracts that have not yet settlettlifonally, lower fuel
prices may result in lower fares through the reiducor elimination of fuel surcharges.

We may experience difficulty finding, training ancetaining pilots and other employees.

In previous years, the airline industry has expexéel a sustained pilot shortage caused by extraamdair traffic
growth in the Persian Gulf, China and India; thee of lucrative loweost carriers in Europe and Asia; and the sustaieeavery
of the U.S. airlines from the industry recessionseal by the September 11 terrorist attacks. Thitdwide shortage of pilots
disproportionately affects smaller and regionatieas. Our need for qualified pilots has causetbusire a substantial number
of non-Panamanian national pilots. We cannot asgamethat we will continue to attract or obtain govment approvals for
such pilots. Although the current recessionary mmrment has provided some relief to the pilot siget as economies improve,
the inability to attract and retain pilots may achedy affect our growth strategy by limiting ourilélp to add new routes or
increase the frequency of existing routes.

The airline industry is a labor-intensive businé¥'e. employ a large number of flight attendants,nteaiance
technicians and other operating and administrgg@&ssonnel. The airline industry has, from timeitoet, experienced a shortage
of qualified personnel. In addition, as is commadthwnost of our competitors, we may, from timeitod, face considerable
turnover of our employees. Should the turnovemoplyees sharply increase, our training costslvélkignificantly higher. We
cannot assure you that we will be able to rectratn and retain the qualified employees that wednte continue our current
operations or replace departing employees. A faitarhire and retain qualified employees at a nealsle cost could materially
adversely affect our business, financial condiaod results of operations.

Because the airline industry is characterized byghifixed costs and relatively elastic revenues|ia&s cannot quickly reduc
their costs to respond to shortfalls in expectedeaue.

The airline industry is characterized by low grpssfit margins, high fixed costs and revenues geaterally exhibit
substantially greater elasticity than costs. Therafing costs of each flight do not vary signifitanvith the number of
passengers flown and, therefore, a relatively sofelhge in the number of passengers, fare priaitigaffic mix could have a
significant effect on operating and financial résuThese fixed costs cannot be adjusted quickhgspond to changes in
revenues and a shortfall from expected revenuddearild have a material adverse effect on ouimgeme.
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Airline bankruptcies could adversely affect the insiry.

In recent years, several air carriers have sougtgdrganize under Chapter 11 of the United S@gesruptcy Code,
including some of our competitors such as Avianua Relta. Successful completion of such reorgaimatcould present us
with competitors with significantly lower operatingsts derived from labor, supply and financingtraets renegotiated under
the protection of the Bankruptcy Code. In additiain,carriers involved in reorganizations havedrisally undertaken
substantial fare discounting in order to maintastcflows and to enhance continued customer loyaligh fare discounting
could further lower yields for all carriers, inciad us. Further, the market value of aircraft wolikely be negatively impacted
if a number of air carriers seek to reduce capdnitgliminating aircraft from their fleets.

Our business may be adversely affected by downtumrthe airline industry caused by terrorist attaskwar or outbreak of
disease, which may alter travel behavior or increasosts.

Demand for air transportation may be adverselycééfe by terrorist attacks, war or political andiabmstability,
epidemics, natural disasters and other events.oAtlyese events in the markets in which we operatidd have a material
impact on our business, financial condition andiltsf operations. Furthermore, these types agsibns could have a
prolonged effect on air transportation demand andegtain cost items.

The terrorist attacks in the United States on Seper 11, 2001, for example, have had a severeamtitid) adverse
impact on the airline industry. Airline traffic the United States fell dramatically after the dttaand decreased less severely
throughout Latin America. The repercussions of Seyier 11th, including increases in security, insaeaand fear of similar
attacks, continue to affect us and the airline §idu Our revenues depend on the number of passetigeeling on our flights.
Therefore, any future terrorist attacks or thrdaittacks, whether or not involving commercial eaft, any increase in
hostilities relating to reprisals against terrooganizations, including an escalation of militaryolvement in the Middle East,
or otherwise and any related economic impact coesdlt in decreased passenger traffic and mateaalll negatively affect o
business, financial condition and results of openst

Public health threats, such as the H1N1 flu viths,bird flu, Severe Acute Respiratory SyndromeRSAand other
highly communicable diseases, affect travel behraal could have a material adverse effect onrttestry. During the secol
quarter of 2009, passenger traffic was negativifgceed as a result of the HIN1 flu crisis, whielsulted in lower overall
demand for intra-Latin America travel, especiatiyand from Mexico. Although we quickly respondedhe crisis by reducing
capacities to Mexico and the H1NI flu situation matized by July 2009, we cannot assure you thaativerse effects of future
outbreaks of HINI or other such health threats béllable to be similarly contained. It is impossitd determine if and when
such health threats, or perceived health threalispecur, when the resulting adverse effects afihte and the extent to which
they will further decrease demand for air travedjoh could materially and negatively affect our ibess, financial condition
and results of operations.

Increases in insurance costs and/or significant regtions in coverage would harm our business, finaalccondition and
results of operations.

Following the 2001 terrorist attacks, premiumsifmurance against aircraft damage and liabilitthtcd parties
increased substantially, and insurers could rethuie coverage or increase their premiums eveméurin the event of
additional terrorist attacks, hijackings, airlimashes or other events adversely affecting thmainmhdustry abroad or in Latin
America. In the future, certain aviation insuracoeld become unaffordable, unavailable or availably for reduced amounts
of coverage that are insufficient to comply witle tevels of insurance coverage required by airéeafiers and lessors or
applicable government regulations. While governmémbther countries have agreed to indemnifyragdifor liabilities that
they might incur from terrorist attacks or provide-cost insurance for terrorism risks, the Panaaragovernment has not
indicated an intention to provide similar benefiisus. Increases in the cost of insurance maytrgshbth higher fares and a
decreased demand for air travel generally, whieciccmaterially and negatively affect our busindsgncial condition and
results of operations.

Failure to comply with applicable environmental retations could adversely affect our business.

Our operations are covered by various local, natiand international environmental regulations. Seheegulations
cover, among other things, emissions to the atmergphlisposal of solid waste and aqueous effluamsiaft noise and other
activities that result from the operation of aifer&uture operations and financial results may\as a result of such
regulations. Compliance with these regulations @ or existing regulations that may be applicables in the future could
increase our cost base and adversely affect ouatipes and financial results.
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Risks Relating to Panama and our Region
We are highly dependent on conditions in Panama atmla lesser extent, in Colombia.

A substantial portion of our assets are locatettiénRepublic of Panama, a significant proportioowf customers are
Panamanian, and substantially all of Copa’s fligigerate through our hub at Tocumen Internatioriglokt. As a result, we
depend on economic and political conditions préwgifrom time to time in Panama. Panama’s econamiwlitions in turn
highly depend on the continued profitability an@®emic impact of the Panama Canal. Control of theaha Canal and many
other assets were transferred from the United Stat®anama in 1999 after nearly a century of tb8trol. Political events in
Panama may significantly affect our operationshaitgh the Panamanian government is democraticieltyesl and the
Panamanian political climate is currently stablen&manian elections were held in 2009, we canmsotrag/ou that current
conditions will continue under the new adminiswati

During the second quarter of 2005, we completedagquisition of AeroRepublica. Most of AeroRepublix
scheduled operations are conducted within Colon#saa result, AeroRepublica’s results of operatiareshighly sensitive to
macroeconomic and political conditions prevailingdolombia, which have been highly volatile andtahke in recent decades.
Although the state of affairs in Colombia has bseradily improving since 2002, continuing guerrdletivity, among other
factors, could cause a renewal of political unesst instability in Colombia, which could adversefect AeroRepublica’s
financial condition and results of operations. Theat of terrorist attacks could impose additicwdts on us, including
enhanced security to protect our aircraft, faeifitand personnel against possible attacks as svelteeased insurance
premiums. As a result, we may encounter significaranticipated problems at AeroRepublica, whichiddave a material
adverse effect on our consolidated financial caodiand results of operations.

Although the economies of Panama and Colombia feoetparatively well during 2009, many of the coiggwe
serve are experiencing either economic slowdowneagssions, which have translated into a weakesfidgmand and may
have an adverse effect on our business in thedufocording to International Monetary Fund estiesaboth the Panamanian
and Colombian economies are expected to grow i9,20dwever, if either economy experiences a susthiacession, or
significant political disruptions, our businessidncial condition and results of operations cowdraterially and negatively
affected.

A ny increase in the taxes we or our shareholders @y anama or the other countries where we do bwesis could adverse
affect the value of our Class A shares.

We cannot assure you that we will continue to @ees$ at the current rate. Our provision for incden@s was
$17.1 million, $17.5 million and $19.6 million ihé years ended December 31, 2007, 2008 and 200&; vepresented an
effective income tax rate of 9.6%, 12.8% and 7.5%lie respective periods. We are subject to ltzoategulations in each of
the jurisdictions where we operate, the great nitgjof which are related to the taxation of incorfresome of the countries to
which we fly, we do not pay any income taxes, beeaue do not generate income under the laws oétbosntries either
because they do not have income tax or becauseatfes or other arrangements those countries \wakidPanama. In the
remaining countries, we pay income tax at a ratgirgg from 25% to 34% of income. Different counsrigalculate income in
different ways, but they are typically derived fraales in the applicable country multiplied by aat margin or by a presumed
net margin set by the relevant tax legislation. @a&rmination of our taxable income in certainrdaes is based on a
combination of revenues sourced to each partimdantry and the allocation of expenses of our dp®ra to that particular
country. The methodology for multinational trangption company sourcing of revenue and expensetialways specifically
prescribed in the relevant tax regulations, andefiloee is subject to interpretation by both us #redrespective taxing
authorities. Additionally, in some countries, thephcability of certain regulations governing narcome taxes and the
determination of our filing status are also subjednterpretation. We cannot estimate the amatiay, of potential tax
liabilities that might result if the allocationsitérpretations and filing positions used by usun tax returns were challenged by
the taxing authorities of one or more countriesaXes were to increase, our financial performaméresults of operations
could be materially and adversely affected. Duthéocompetitive revenue environment, many increasé=es and taxes have
been absorbed by the airline industry rather tteindopassed on to the passenger. Any such increases fees and taxes may
reduce demand for air travel and thus our revenues.
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We have elected to calculate our Panamanian in¢arwith the gross tax method based on Article d2the
Panamanian Fiscal Code (as defined in “ltem 5A.r&eg Results — Subsequent Events”), under whichme for
international transportation companies is calcaldtased on a territoriality method that determigress revenues earned in
Panama by applying the percentage of miles flowthiwithe Panamanian territory against total revenuader this method,
loss carry-forwards cannot be applied to offsetli@hility. If the Panamanian tax authorities da agree with our methods of
allocating revenues, we may be subject to additimnaliability. Dividends from our Panamanian sigliaries, including Copa,
are separately subject to a 10% percent withhol@irgn the portion attributable to Panamanianaiincome and a 5%
withholding tax on the portion attributable to fione sourced income. Airlines in Panama are curyemik subject to any taxes
relating specifically to the airline industry othtéan the 4% tax collected from passengers ontsci@d in Panama for the
benefit of the Panamanian Tourism Bureau.

In addition, Law 8 of 2010 (the “Tax Reform”), whienodifies material sections of the PanamanianaFiSode was
approved and became effective on March 15, 201@& #esult of this reform package, the airline irtdpwill be subject to
higher tax rates than it has paid in the past. Bfienate, however, that we will benefit from certéam credits in respect to taxes
paid in foreign jurisdictions in 2010 and on a gpfiorward basis. We, therefore, anticipate thateftective tax rate for the
immediate future will remain within the historiaainge of the past five years. As a result, we ddoebeve this tax reform is
likely to have a material adverse effect on ouaficial position, results of operations and casWsloAny future change in the
Panamanian tax law increasing the taxes payabies lmpuld have materially adverse effects on ouinless, financial condition
and result of operations.

Political unrest and instability in Latin Americarcountries to which we fly may adversely affect darsiness and the mark
price of our Class A share:

While geographic diversity helps to reduce our expe to risks in any one country, we operate piilgnaithin Latin
America and are subject to a full range of risksoagted with our international operations. Theslesrmay include unstable
political or economic conditions, lack of well-ésliahed or reliable legal systems, exchange comtint other limits on our
ability to repatriate earnings and changeable lagdiregulatory requirements. Although conditidmetighout Latin America
vary from country to country, our customers’ react to developments in Latin America generally mesult in a reduction in
passenger traffic, which could materially and nixg#y affect our financial condition, results of@ations and the market price
of our Class A shares.

Risks Relating to Our Class A Shares

The value of our Class A shares may be adverselgaéd by ownership restrictions on our capital skoand the power of ou
Board of Directors to take remedial actions to pegse our operating license and international routights by requiring sale:
of certain outstanding shares or issuing new stock.

Pursuant to the Panamanian Aviation Act, as amendddnterpreted to date, and certain of the bidteeaties
affording us the right to fly to other countriese are required to be “substantially owned” andéefiively controlled” by
Panamanian nationals. Our failure to comply witbhstequirements could result in the loss of ourdP@emian operating license
and/or our right to fly to certain important coues. Our Atrticles of IncorporatiofiPacto Socialgive special powers to our
independent directors to take certain significantioas to attempt to ensure that the amount ofeshiaeld in us by non-
Panamanian nationals does not reach a level wiichi geopardize our compliance with Panamaniankaladeral ownership
and control requirements. If our independent doectetermine it is reasonably likely that we Wil in violation of these
ownership and control requirements and our Claskdes represent less than 10% of our total oulistarcapital stock
(excluding newly issued shares sold with the apalro¥ our independent directors committee), ouepehdent directors will
have the power to issue additional Class B shar€ass C shares with special voting rights soleliPanamanian nationals.
See “10B. Memorandum and Articles of Association—s&#tion of Capital Stock.”
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If any of these remedial actions are taken, théiiaprice of the Class A shares may be materaily adversely
affected. An issuance of Class C shares could tieveffect of discouraging certain changes of admf Copa Holdings or
may reduce any voting power that the Class A shem@sy prior to the Class C share issuance. Themebe no assurance that
we would be able to complete an issuance of ClasisaBes to Panamanian nationals. We cannot assuriht restrictions on
ownership by non-Panamanian nationals will not idgothe development of an active public trading reaftr the Class A
shares, adversely affect the market price of tles€A shares or materially limit our ability tosmicapital in markets outside of
Panama in the future.

Our controlling shareholder has the ability to diog our business and affairs, and its interests cdwonflict with yours.

All of our Class B shares, representing approxifge28.1% of the economic interest in Copa Holdiags all of the
voting power of our capital stock, are owned by Sk CIASA is in turn controlled by a group of Paremian investors. In
order to comply with the Panamanian Aviation Actaanended and interpreted to date, we have amendextganizational
documents to modify our share capital so that CIA@Wcontinue to exercise voting control of Copalbings. CIASA will not
be able to transfer its voting control unless colmf our company will remain with Panamanian nagits. CIASA will maintair
voting control of the company so long as CIASA @onés to own a majority of our Class B shares &eddlass B shares
continue to represent more than 10% of our totateslsapital (excluding newly issued shares soltl thié approval of our
independent directors committee). Even after CIA®Ases to own the majority of the voting powerwf capital stock, CIAS,
may continue to control our Board of Directors edtly through its control of our Nominating andrforate Governance
Committee. As the controlling shareholder, CIASAyndirect us to take actions that could be conttaryour interests and
under certain circumstances CIASA will be able tevent other shareholders, including you, from kilog these actions. Also,
CIASA may prevent change of control transactiora thight otherwise provide you with an opporturiydispose of or realize
a premium on your investment in our Class A shares.

The Class A shares will only be permitted to vatevery limited circumstances and may never havd fudting rights.

The holders of Class A shares have no right to abtir shareholders’ meetings except with resfmecorporate
transformations of Copa Holdings, mergers, constiliths or spin-offs of Copa Holdings, changes @pocate purpose,
voluntary delistings of the Class A shares fromNMSE, the approval of nominations of our indepertdérectors and
amendments to the foregoing provisions that adiyeedéect the rights and privileges of any Classhares. The holders of
Class B shares have the power, subject to our soppital agreement with Continental, to elect tharBof Directors and to
determine the outcome of all other matters to kmdeel by a vote of shareholders. Class A shardswaiilhave full voting right
unless the Class B shares represent less than fL6&% total capital stock (excluding newly issuérues sold with the approv
of our independent directors committee). See “|#@B. Memorandum and Articles of Association—Destioip of Capital
Stock.” We cannot assure you that the Class A shaileever carry full voting rights.

Substantial future sales of our Class A shares bWASA could cause the price of the Class A shareslexzrease

CIASA owns all of our Class B shares, and thoses€Eshares will be converted into Class A shdrdgey are sold
to non-Panamanian investors. In connection withiwitial public offering in December 2005, Continahand CIASA reduced
their ownership of our total capital stock from 488@pproximately 27.3% and from 51% to approxirya®9.2%, respectivel
In a follow-on offering in June 2006, Continentafther reduced its ownership of our total capitatk from 27.3% to 10.0%.
In May 2008, we, and CIASA, released Continentairfiits standstill obligations and they sold doweitlmemaining shares in
the public market. CIASA holds registration rightih respect to a significant portion of its shapessuant to a registration
rights agreement entered into in connection withinitial public offering. The market price of o@ass A shares could drop
significantly if CIASA further reduces its investmiten us, other significant holders of our share$a significant number of
shares or if the market perceives CIASA or othgnisicant holders intend to sell them.
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Holders of our common stock are not entitled to preptive rights, and as a result you may experiesaéstantial dilution
upon future issuances of stock by us.

Under Panamanian law and our organizational doctsnbolders of our Class A shares are not entidezhy
preemptive rights with respect to future issuarafesapital stock by us. Therefore, unlike compawiggnized under the laws
of many other Latin American jurisdictions, we Wik free to issue new shares of stock to othergsantithout first offering
them to our existing shareholders. In the futurewey sell Class A or other shares to persons tllaer our existing
shareholders at a lower price than the sharesd3isald, and as a result you may experience sutetailution of your interest
in us.

You may not be able to sell our Class A shareshat price or at the time you desire because an atyv liquid market for the
Class A shares may not continue.

Our Class A shares are listed on the NYSE. Dutiregthree months ended December 31, 2009, the avdedly
trading volume for our Class A shares as reportetheé NYSE was approximately 252,084 shares. Waagpredict whether
an active liquid public trading market for our Glas shares will be sustained. Active, liquid tragimarkets generally result in
lower price volatility and more efficient executiofbuy and sell orders for our investors. Theilility of a securities market is
often affected by the volume of shares publiclydigf unrelated parties.

Our Board of Directors may, in its discretion, ameror repeal our dividend policy. You may not receithe level of dividends
provided for in the dividend policy or any dividesdt all.

Our Board of Directors has adopted a dividend ydlat provides for the payment of dividends torshalders in an
amount ranging from 10% to 20% of our annual cadstéd net income. Our Board of Directors maytsrsple discretion and
for any reason, amend or repeal this dividend golim February 10, 2010, for example, our BoarBioéctors amended the
dividend policy to increase the level of dividernidsts current range. Our Board of Directors magrdase the level of dividen
provided for in this dividend policy or entirelystiontinue the payment of dividends. Future dividewih respect to shares of
our common stock, if any, will depend on, amongeothings, our results of operations, cash requeérgs) financial condition,
contractual restrictions, business opportunitiesyigions of applicable law and other factors that Board of Directors may
deem relevant. See “Item 8A. Consolidated Finargiatements and Other Financial Information—Dividi€wolicy.”

To the extent we pay dividends to our shareholdavs, will have less capital available to meet outute liquidity needs.

Our Board of Directors has adopted a dividend gdlat provides for the payment of dividends torshalders in
amounts ranging from 10% to 20% of our annual chida®d net income. Our Board of Directors has atserved the right to
amend the dividend policy, or pay dividends in esscef the level circumscribed in the dividend ppli€he aviation industry
has cyclical characteristics, and many internatiairéines are currently experiencing difficultiegeeting their liquidity needs.
Also, our business strategy contemplates substamtath over the next several years, and we exgpach growth will require
great deal of liquidity. To the extent that we phyidends in accordance with, or in excess of,dividend policy, the money
that we distribute to shareholders will not be El#é to us to fund future growth and meet our otlyiidity needs.

Our Articles of Incorporation impose ownership arabntrol restrictions on our company which ensureghPanamanian
nationals will continue to control us and that thegestrictions operate to prevent any change of tohor some transfers of
ownership in order to comply with the Aviation Aand other bilateral restrictions.

Under the Panamanian Aviation Act, as amended rtedpreted to date, Panamanian nationals mustisgerc
“effective control” over the operations of the &id and must maintain “substantial ownershifhese phrases are not definet
the Aviation Act itself and it is unclear how a Ramnian court would interpret them. The share oshiprrequirements and
transfer restrictions contained in our Articledméorporation, as well as the dual-class structdireur voting capital stock are
designed to ensure compliance with these ownegsidpcontrol restrictions. See “ltem 10B. Memorandaumd Articles of
Association—Description of Capital Stock.” Thesesions of our Articles of Incorporation may prevehange of control
transactions that might otherwise provide you waithopportunity to realize a premium on your investimin our Class A
shares. They also ensure that Panamanians willheento control all the decisions of our companytfe foreseeable future.
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The protections afforded to minority shareholders Panama are different from and more limited thahdse in the United
States and may be more difficult to enforc

Under Panamanian law, the protections affordeditmnity shareholders are different from, and muarenimited
than, those in the United States and some othém Bawerican countries. For example, the legal freumik with respect to
shareholder disputes is less developed under Par@mlaw than under U.S. law and there are diffepeacedural
requirements for bringing shareholder lawsuitsluding shareholder derivative suits. As a restifinay be more difficult for
our minority shareholders to enforce their righdaiast us or our directors or controlling sharekolthan it would be for
shareholders of a U.S. company. In addition, Panéandaw does not afford minority shareholders asynprotections for
investors through corporate governance mechanisrirstae United States and provides no mandatonyeteoffer or similar
protective mechanisms for minority shareholderh@event of a change in control. While our Artict Incorporation provide
limited rights to holders of our Class A shareséti their shares at the same price as CIASA iretlent that a sale of Class B
shares by CIASA results in the purchaser havingitite to elect a majority of our board, there atieer change of control
transactions in which holders of our Class A sharesld not have the right to participate, includihg sale of interests by a
party that had previously acquired Class B shams CIASA, the sale of interests by another pamtganjunction with a sale
by CIASA, the sale by CIASA of control to more thame party, or the sale of controlling interest€IASA itself.

Developments in Latin American countries and othemerging market countries may cause the market praf our Class £
shares to decreas

The market value of securities issued by Panamartienpanies may be affected to varying degrees byaric and
market conditions in other countries, includingesthatin American and emerging market countrieshéligh economic
conditions in emerging market countries outsiderLAmerica may differ significantly from economiomditions in Panama
and Colombia or elsewhere in Latin America, investeeactions to developments in these other ceesinay have an adverse
effect on the market value of securities of Panaamaissuers or issuers with significant operatimnisatin America. As a result
of economic problems in various emerging markentaes in the past (such as the Asian financiaisf 1997, the Russian
financial crisis of 1998 and the Argentine finah@asis in 2001), investors have viewed investrseéntemerging markets with
heightened caution. Crises in other emerging martentries may hamper investor enthusiasm for sggspf Panamanian
issuers, including our shares, which could advgrafect the market price of our Class A shares.

Item 4. Information on the Company
A. History and Development of the Company
General

Copa was established in 1947 by a group of Panamamnvestors and Pan American World Airways, wipabvided
technical and economic assistance as well as tapitélly, Copa served three domestic destinasiin Panama with a fleet of
three Douglas C-47 aircraft. In the 1960s, Copahéts international service with three weekly lilig to cities in Costa Rica,
Jamaica and Colombia using a small fleet of AvrBs7dnd Electra 188s. In 1971, Pan American Worldvays sold its stake
Copa to a group of Panamanian investors who retainatrol of the airline until 1986. During the 183 Copa suspended its
domestic service to focus on international flights.

In 1986, CIASA purchased 99% of Copa, which wasmiled by the group of Panamanian shareholders who
currently control CIASA. From 1992 until 1998, Copas a part of a commercial alliance with Grupo BACnetwork of
Central American airline carriers. In 1997, togetéh Grupo TACA, Copa entered into a strategl@aate with American
Airlines. After a year our alliance with Americanrknes was terminated by mutual consent.
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On May 6, 1998, Copa Holdings, the holding compfamyCopa and related companies was incorporated as
sociedad anénimander the laws of Panama to facilitate the sal€B®SA of a 49% stake in Copa Holdings to Continérita
connection with Continental’s investment, we erddareo an extensive alliance agreement with Contialeproviding for code-
sharing, joint marketing, technical exchanges ahércooperative initiatives between the airlinkisthe time of our initial
public offering in December 2005, Continental reslliits ownership of our total capital stock fron?€ approximately
27.3%. In a follow-on offering in June 2006, Coetirtal further reduced its ownership of our totglita stock from 27.3% to
10.0%. In May 2008, Continental sold its remainghgres in the public market.

Since 1998, we have grown and modernized our fib@e improving customer service and reliabilityoia has
expanded its fleet from 13 aircraft to 44 aircr&it1999, we received our first Boeing 737-7002003 we received our first
Boeing 737-800s, and in 2005 we received our Erabraer 190. In the first quarter of 2005, we caetgd our fleet renovation
program and discontinued use of our last BoeingZWXs. During the second quarter of 2005, we puethderoRepublica, tt
second-largest domestic air carrier in Colombiteims of number of passengers carried each yeee 2@05. During this same
period, we have expanded from 24 destinations indlBitries to 45 destinations in 24 countries. \lé@ po continue our
expansion, which includes increasing our fleet,rdkie next several years.

Our principal executive offices are located at Bward Costa del Este, Avenida Principal y AveniddadRotonda,
Urbanizacién Costa del Este, Complejo Business,Fanke Norte, Parque Lefevre, Panama City, Panamdeour telephone
number is +507 304-2677. The website of Copa is vaepaair.com. AeroRepublica maintains a website at
www.aerorepublica.com.co. Information contained@maccessible through, these websites is not puzated by reference
herein and shall not be considered part of thisiahreport. Our agent for service in the United&tas Puglisi & Associates,
850 Library Avenue, Suite 204, Newark, DelawareB7and its telephone number is (302) 738-6680.

Capital Expenditures

During 2009, our capital expenditures were $202llian, which consisted primarily of expendituredated to our
purchase of one Boeing 737-800 aircraft, as welbaxpenditures related to advance payments erafipurchase contracts.
During 2008, our capital expenditures were $21518am, which consisted primarily of expendituresated to our purchase of
four Embraer 190 aircraft and one Boeing 737-8@€rait, as well as to expenditures related to adegrayments on aircraft
purchase contracts. During 2007, our capital exjperes were $366.1 million, which consisted primadf expenditures relate
to our purchase of nine Embraer 190 aircraft ammlBweing 737-800 aircraft, as well as to expendguelated to advance
payments on aircraft purchase contracts.

B. Business Overview

We are a leading Latin American provider of airlpessenger and cargo service through our two pahoiperating
subsidiaries, Copa and AeroRepublica. Copa opefiatesits strategically located position in the Rbjic of Panama, and
AeroRepublica provides service primarily within @oilbia complemented by international flights fronmieas cities in
Colombia to Panama, Venezuela and Ecuador. Wertlyreperate a fleet of 58 aircraft, 32 Boeing 78&xt Generation
aircraft and 26 Embraer 190 aircraft. We currehtlye firm orders, including purchase and lease cioments, for 26 Boeing
737-Next Generation, and purchase rights and opfionup to eight additional Boeing 737-Next Getieraand 11 additional
Embraer 190s.

Copa currently offers approximately 152 daily salled flights among 45 destinations in 24 countielorth,
Central and South America and the Caribbean frerRénama City hub. Copa provides passengers witsado flights to
more than 120 other destinations through codesiraa@gements with Continental pursuant to whictheadine places its
name and flight designation code on the othergghts. Through its Panama City hub, Copa is abt®isolidate passenger
traffic from multiple points to serve each destioateffectively.

Copa operates a modern fleet of 32 Boeing 737-Bexteration aircraft and 13 Embraer 190 aircraftnie®t its
growing capacity requirements, Copa has firm ordaeduding purchase and lease commitments, topaatsivery of 26
additional aircraft through 2015 and has purchag®s and options that, if exercised, would alléwoiaccept delivery of up to
14 additional aircraft through 2017. Copa’s firnders, including purchase and lease commitmentdpa&6 additional Boeing
737-Next Generation aircraft, and its purchasetsigimd options are for up to eight Boeing 737-N&&heration aircraft and up
to six Embraer 190s.
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Copa started its strategic alliance with Continkintd 998. Since then, it has conducted joint mérigeand code-
sharing arrangements, and participated in the awarding OnePass frequent flyer loyalty programbgltty and on a co-
branded basis in Latin America. We believe that&epo-branding and joint marketing activities w¢bntinental have
enhanced its brand in Latin America, and that élationship with Continental has afforded it caslated benefits, such as
improving purchasing power in negotiations witrceaft vendors and insurers. Copa’s alliance aratedlservices agreements
with Continental are in effect until 2015.

In 2007, Copa joined the SkyTeam global alliancarag&\ssociate Member, in part due to the suppattsponsorship
of Continental. Continental Airlines left the Skyare Alliance and joined the Star Alliance effectitie fourth quarter of 2009.
Due to the long-standing alliance relationship v@thntinental, and in order to ensure Copa remailig &ligned with
Continental on a number of important joint initiegs, Copa also exited the SkyTeam Alliance durregfourth quarter of 2009.
Copa is considering various new alliance optionsatmpliment its current portfolio of alliance pagtships.

During the second quarter of 2005, we purchasedRepublica, the second-largest domestic carri€@ailombia in
terms of number of passengers carried in 2005, m&i¢he time provided point-to-point service amadgeities in Colombia.
AeroRepublica currently operates a fleet of 13 Earbr190. As part of its fleet expansion plan, Aapéblica has options to
purchase up to five additional Embraer 190 airdtaftugh 2013.

Since January 2001, we have grown significantly lzenk established a track record of consistenitphifity. Our
total operating revenues have increased from $29@libn in 2001 to $1.3 billion in 2009, while owperating margins have
also increased from 8.6% to 17.8% over the samiedger

Our Strengths

We believe our primary business strengths that lafleeved us to compete successfully in the airiiustry include
the following:

«  Our “Hub of the Americas” airport is strategicallpcated.We believe that Copa’s base of operations at the
geographically central location of Tocumen Inteiwr@al Airport in Panama City, Panama provides comet
connections to our principal markets in North, Calnand South America and the Caribbean, enablintg u
consolidate traffic to serve several destinatidras o not generate enough demand to justify poimeint service.
Flights from Panama operate with few service disoms due to weather, contributing to high completiactors and
on-time performance. Tocumen International Airppséa-level altitude allows our aircraft to opefaittout
performance restrictions that they would be suleett higher-altitude airports. We believe thap@s hub in
Panama allows us to benefit from Panama City'sistas a center for financial services, shipping@rmmerce and
from Panam'’s stable, dolle-based economy, fr-trade zone and growing touris

«  We focus on keeping our operating costs lowecent years, our low operating costs and efficy have contributed
significantly to our profitability. Our operatingst per available seat mile, excluding costs fet &nd fleet
impairment charges, was 6.53 cents in 2005, 6.88sée 2006, 7.13 cents in 2007, 7.46 in 2008, AB6 in 2009.
See “Item 5. Operating and Financial Review andpeots” for a reconciliation of our operating cpst available
seat mile when excluding costs for fuel and flegpairment charges to our operating cost per availsdat mile. We
believe that our cost per available seat mile c&fleur modern fleet, efficient operations anddbmpetitive cost of
labor in Paname

¢ We operate a modern fle@ur fleet consists of modern Boeing 737-Next Getienaand Embraer 190 aircraft
equipped with winglets and other modern cost-sawimgj safety features. Over the next several yearsntend to
enhance our modern fleet through the addition ¢dadt 28 additional Boeing 737-Next Generationrait. We
believe that our modern fleet contributes to outiore performance and high completion factor (petage of
scheduled flights not cancelled). We expect ouridp&37-700s, 737-800s and Embraer 190s to conbffeeng
substantial operational cost advantages in ternfisedefficiency and maintenance costs. Since Dédezr2007,
AeroRepublica has taken delivery of 13 Embraer dig€raft and as of February 2010 has completeiteies
modernization and expansion plan.
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We believe Copa has a strong brand and a reputdtioquality serviceWe believe that the Copa brand is associ
with value to passengers, providing world-classiserand competitive pricing. For the year endedddeber 31,
2009, Copa Airlines’ statistic for on-time perfornta was 87.6%, completion factor was 99.4% and &ggg
handling was 2.5 mishandled bags per 1000 passenidditionally, AeroRepublica’s statistics for time
performance was 90.1%, completion factor was 9%R%baggage handling was 1.1 mishandled bags pér 10
passengers. Our focus on customer service haschelriild passenger loyalty. We believe that aand has also
been enhanced through our relationship with Contadgincluding our joint marketing of the OnePamalty
program in Latin America, the similarity of our aiaft livery and aircraft interiors and our panpiation in
Continente’s Presider's Club lounge progran

Our management fosters a culture of teamwork amdimoous improvemen®ur management team has been
successful at creating a culture based on teamamdifocused on continuous improvement. Each obmployees
has individual objectives based on corporate gihalsserve as a basis for measuring performancenWwabrporate
operational and financial targets are met, emplgyee eligible to receive bonuses according topoofit sharing
program. See “Item 6D. Employees.” We also recagoiztstanding performance of individual employédesugh
company-wide recognition, one-time awards, speniehts and, in the case of our senior managememtsgof
restricted stock and stock options. Our goal-ogdrdulture and incentive programs have contribtaesd motivated
work force that is focused on satisfying customachieving efficiencies and growing profitabili

Our Strategy

Our goal is to continue to grow profitably and emt® our position as a leader in Latin American gmmaby

providing a combination of superior customer segyimonvenient schedules and competitive fares ewhdintaining
competitive costs. The key elements of our busis&ssegy include the following:

Expand our network by increasing frequencies ardireginew destination\We believe that demand for air travel in
Latin America is likely to expand in the next deeadnd we intend to use our increasing fleet capazimeet this
growing demand. We intend to focus on expandingoperations by increasing flight frequencies on mast
profitable routes and initiating service to newtdegions. Copa’s Panama City hub allows us to clitate traffic
and provide service to certain underserved marpetsicularly in Central America and the Caribbeand we intend
to focus on providing new service to regional destibns that we believe best enhance the overaliedivity and
profitability of our network

Continue to focus on keeping our costs l@ve seek to reduce our cost per available seatwitl®ut sacrificing
services valued by our customers as we executgrourth plans. Our goal is to maintain a moderntféee to make
effective use of our resources through efficientraift utilization and employee productivity. Weend to reduce our
distribution costs by increasing direct sales,udaig internet and call center sales, as well ggawing efficiency
through technology and automated proces

Emphasize superior service and value to our custserWe intend to continue to focus on satisfying oustomers
and earning their loyalty by providing a combinatif superior service and competitive fares. Wéelelthat
continuing our operational success in keeping figin time, reducing mishandled luggage and offecionvenient
schedules to attractive destinations will be esaktt achieving this goal. We intend to continaericentivize our
employees to improve or maintain operating andisemnetrics relating to our customers’ satisfactigrcontinuing
our profit sharing plan and employee recognitioogosams and to reward customer loyalty with the fapOnePass
frequent flyer program, upgrades and access tader®'s Club lounges

Capitalize on opportunities at AeroRepublivde are seeking to enhance AeroRepublica’s profitaithrough a

variety of initiatives, including, expanding itstémnational routes, capitalizing on aircraft intemnge with Copa,
integrating its route network with Cc’'s and improving overall efficienc
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AeroRepublica

On April 22, 2005, we acquired an initial 85.6% kygwwnership interest in AeroRepublica which waldwed by
subsequent acquisitions increasing our total ovmiisterest in AeroRepublica to 99.9% as of Decengi, 2009.
AeroRepublica is the second largest passengeaaiecin Colombia in terms of revenue, with a nearkhare of approximately
17% of the domestic traffic on principal route2®09 and approximately 1,430 employees.

Our goal is to achieve growth at AeroRepublicafipalarly in the business travelers segment. Weebelthat Copa
operational coordination with AeroRepublica mayateeadditional passenger traffic in our existingteonetwork by providing
Colombian passengers more convenient access totdieational destinations served through our Panhob.

We have centralized certain administrative functionommon to Copa and AeroRepublica. We have alpteimente(
e-ticketing at AeroRepublica, and since the fitsaer of 2006, AeroRepublica participates in threePass frequent flyer
loyalty program.

Industry

In Latin America, the scheduled passenger serviaeket consists of three principal groups of trarelstrictly
leisure, business and travelers visiting friends family. Leisure passengers and passengers gdiiends and family typicall
place a higher emphasis on lower fares, wheredadaspassengers typically place a higher empbadigght frequency, on-
time performance, breadth of network and servideaanements, including loyalty programs and airfmrhges.

According to data from the International Air TranspAssociation, or IATA, Latin America comprisegmoximately
7.6% of worldwide passengers flown in 2008, or hiBion passengers.

The Central American aviation market is dominatgdnernational traffic. According to data from IAT
international traffic represented more than 81%adsengers carried and 90% of passenger miles flo@entral America in
2008. International passenger traffic is conceattétetween North America and Central America. Beigment represented
89% of international passengers flown in Centralefica in 2008, compared to 4% for passengers floetween Central
America and South America and 7% for passengevsfloetween Central American countries. Total pagsenflown on
international flights in Central America grew by2% in 2008, and load factors on international figgto and from Central
America were 71% on average.

Domestic traffic and traffic within Central Americ@ountries represented approximately 19% of pagssrcarried
and 10% of passenger miles flown in 2008. Averagel ffactors on domestic flights and flights witRientral America were
70% in 2008. The chart below details passengeidriaf 2008.

2008 IATA Traffic Results ()

Passenger: Passenge
Carried Miles
(Thousands Change (%) (Millions) Change (%) ASMs (Million) Change (%) Load Factor

International

Scheduled

Service
North America—

Central Americe 34,327 3.2%  50,04¢ 3.1% 64,97¢ 0.7% 77.(%
North America—

South Americe 10,69¢ 5.0% 32,07¢ 3.1% 41,08( 3.C% 78.1%
Central America —

South America 1,53¢ 8.5% 2,21¢€ 13.4% 3,08( 8.€% 72.(%
Within Central

America 2,54 0.2% 1,431 8.5% 2,21¢ 13.% 64.5%
Within South

America 12,43 18.4%  11,23! 14.%% 15,26: 15.6% 73.%
Domestic Schedulec

Service
Central Americe 8,69 -16.7% 5,63¢€ -12.%% 8,08¢ -18.2% 69.7%
South Americe 38,11¢ 5.3%  20,96¢ 8.5% 29,85¢ 10.52% 70.2%

@) |ATA passenger traffic data is not yet available 2009.
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Panama serves as a hub for connecting passentiierietween major markets in North, South, and @#mmerica
and the Caribbean. Accordingly, passenger traffiartd from Panama is significantly influenced bgremmic growth in
surrounding regions. Major passenger traffic marketNorth, South and Central America experienddtedecline or weak
growth in their GDP in 2009 on both an absolute pedcapita basis, after strong growth years in72@d 2008. In 2009, real
GDP increased by 1.8% in Panama and declined 9 thhZolombia, according to the International Ma@mgtFund’s

estimates.

GDP GDP per Capita
2009 GDP 2009 GDP per Capit:

Current Prices 2009 Real GDF Current Prices

(US$bn) (% Growth) (US$)

Brazil 1,482 -0.7% 7,731
Argentina 301 -2.5% 7,50¢
Chile 15C -1.7% 8,85:¢
Mexico 86€ -7.3% 8,04(
Colombia 22¢ -0.2% 4,661
Panama 25 1.8% 7,14t
USA 14,26¢ -2.7% 46,44:

Source International Monetary Fund, World Economic Ooldatabase, October 2009; real GDP growth caledlat local
currency

Panama has benefited from a stable economy witferatelinflation and steady GDP growth. According to
International Monetary Fund estimates, from 2002@69 Panama'’s real GDP grew at an average ansieabf 5.6% while
inflation averaged 2.4% per year. The service seejaresents approximately 75% of total real GDPamama, a higher
percentage of GDP than the service sector repegentost other Latin American countries. The In&ional Monetary Fund
currently estimates Panama'’s population to be apmately 3.5 million in 2009, with the majority tfie population
concentrated in Panama City, where our hub at Tecuimternational Airport is located. We believe timenbination of a stabl
service-oriented economy and steady population tirévas helped drive our domestic origin and destingpassenger traffic.

Domestic travel within Panama primarily consistsnafividuals visiting families as well as domestiad foreign
tourist visiting the countryside. Most of this tedws done via ground transportation, and its nfiaiw is to and from Panama
City, where most of the economic activity and papioh is concentrated. Demand for domestic airer@/growing and relates
primarily to leisure travel from foreign and lodalrist. The market is served primarily by two Ibaalines, Air Panama and
Aeroperlas, which operate turbo prop aircraft getiemith less than 50 seats. These airlines difieited international service
and operate in the domestic terminal of Panama @itych is located 30 minutes by car from Tocumeterdnational Airport.

Colombia is the third largest country in Latin Aneerin terms of population, with a population opapximately
49.0 million in 2009 according to the InternatioMdnetary Fund, and has a land area of approximd#0,000 square miles.
Colombia’s GDP was approximately $229 billion ird20and per capita income was approximately $sbdshnd (current
prices) according to the International Monetary dcuBolombia’s geography is marked by the Andeanmtains and an
inadequate road and rail infrastructure, makindrairel a convenient and attractive transportasil@rnative. Colombia share
border with Panama, and for historic, cultural andiness reasons it represents a significant méoketany Panamanian
businesses.

Route Network and Schedules
Copa
As of December 31, 2009, Copa provided regularhedaled flights to 45 cities in North, Central éaluth America
and the Caribbean. Substantially all of our Coghfk operate through our hub in Panama which allosvto transport

passengers and cargo among a large number of alistis with service that is more frequent tharaifteroute were served
directly.
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We believe our hub-and-spoke model is the mostiefit way for us to operate our business since wfatte
origination/destination city pairs we serve do geherate sufficient traffic to justify a point-t@ipt service. Also, since we
serve many countries, it would be very difficultdbtain the bilateral route rights necessary taaggea competitive point-to-
point system.

We schedule four banks of flights during the daihwlights timed to arrive at the hub at approxteig the same
time and to depart a short time later.

As a part of our strategic relationship with Coatital, Copa provides flights through code-sharimgregements to
over 120 other destinations. Copa also providgsti through its tactical and regional code-shaaimgngements with
AeroRepublica, KLM, Gol, Aeroméxico and Gulfstreamernational Airlines.

In 2007, Copa joined the SkyTeam global alliancaragssociate Member, in part due to the suppattsponsorship
of Continental. Continental Airlines left the Skyare Alliance and joined the Star Alliance effectitie fourth quarter of 2009.
Due to the long-standing alliance relationship v@bntinental, and in order to ensure Copa remailig &ligned with
Continental on a number of important joint initiegs, Copa also exited the SkyTeam Alliance dutiregfourth quarter of 2009.
Copa is considering various new alliance optionsatmpliment its current portfolio of alliance pagtships.

In addition to increasing the frequencies to desiims we already serve, Copa’s business strateglgd focused on
adding new destinations across Latin America, thelBean and North America in order to increaseattractiveness of our
Hub of the Americas at Tocumen International Aitgarb for intra-American traffic. We currently plamintroduce new
destinations and to increase frequencies to matlyeofiestinations that Copa currently serves. Quinfaer 190 aircraft,
together with the Boeing 737-Next Generation aftcedlows us to improve our service by increasiregjuencies and service to
new destinations with the right-sized aircraft.

Our plans to introduce new destinations and ineé&sjuencies depend on the allocation of routetsiga process
over which we do not have direct influence. Roigéts are allocated through negotiations betweergtivernment of Panama

and the governments of countries to which we intendcrease flights. If we are unable to obtainteorights, we will exercise
the flexibility within our route network to re-alate capacity as appropriate.

We do not currently provide any domestic servicehsnRepublic of Panama, choosing instead to featisely on
international traffic. The following table showsraevenue generated in each of our major operaégmpns.

Revenue by Region

Year Ended December 31

Region 2007 2008 2009

North America(1, 18.9% 14.4% 14.2%
South Americe 46.1% 55.4% 57.2%
Central America(2 26.2% 23.7% 21.7%
Caribbean(3 8.8% 6.6% 6.6%

(1) The United States, Canada and Mex
(2) Includes Panama.
(3) Cuba, Dominican Republic, Haiti, Jamaica, PuertwoRTrinidad and Tobag
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AeroRepublica

AeroRepublica currently provides scheduled sertacihe following cities in Colombia, Panama, Venglauand

Ecuador:

Date Service
Destinations Servec Commenced
Barranquilla Jun 199&
Bogota Jun 199:
Bucaramang May 1995
Cali Jun 199:
Caracas, Venezuela May 2008
Cartagena Jun 1993
Cucuta Nov 2005
Leticia Nov 1993
Medellin Oct 1994
Monteria Jul 1994
Panama City, Panan Dec 200&
Pereirs Mar 2003
San André¢ Jun 199:
Santa Marte Jun 199:
Quito, Ecuado Dec 200¢

In addition to the destinations described abovepRepublica has periodically operated charter tigh Margarita
Island, Venezuela; Havana, Cuba; Punta Cana, DoarniriRepublic, Puerto Plata, Dominican Republict&&wvomingo,
Dominican Republic, and Aruba.

Since its acquisition, AeroRepUblica has been giatite authorization to fly regular services todma City from
Bogota, Cali, Medellin, Bucaramanga, Pereira, Bayuilla and Cartagena, Colombia. As a result, Aeqmidlica has added
daily flights to Panama City from Bogota, Medelland Cali; four frequencies per week from Bucaragaaand Pereira, as well
as, three frequencies per week from Cartagena anduijuilla. In March 2007, AeroRepublica was gedrduthorization to
operate a second frequency from Bogota to PanatyaAZiroRepublica was also granted the authorinatiofly four
frequencies per week from Medellin to Caracas and frequencies per week from Cartagena to Caracas.

During 2009, AeroRepublica launched its third intgional destination, Quito, Ecuador. AeroRepUbliee also
granted the authorization to fly to Guayaquil, Edmieand San Jose, Costa Rica.

In addition to code-sharing with Copa, AeroRepUii leveraging Copa’s technology and relationstopgscrease
international traffic with other international ciams. Colombia has open-skies agreements with titdeAn Pact (Comunidad
Andina) nations of Bolivia, Ecuador and Peru.

Airline Operations
Passenger Operations

Passenger revenue accounted for approximately £78ilion in 2007, $973.2 million in 2008, and $984nillion in
2009 representing 93.8%, 93.9% and 94.1%, respdygtiof Copa’s total revenues, all earned fromrimd¢ional routes. Leisure
traffic, which makes up close to half of Copa’satdtaffic, tends to coincide with holidays, scheakations and cultural events
and peaks in July and August and again in Decemhédanuary. Despite these seasonal variations’€operall traffic
pattern is relatively stable due to the constafiiinof business travelers. Approximately half dfga passengers regard Pan
City as their destination or origination point, andst of the remaining passengers pass throughhi®a@ity in transit to other
points on our route network.

Passenger revenue accounted for approximately @2dillion in 2007, $244.1 million in 2008, and $222nillion in
2009 representing 93.2%, 92.1% and 92.5%, respdygtiof AeroRepublica’s total revenues. The mayooit AeroRepublica’s
customers are leisure travelers and travelersngsitiends and family, and traffic is heaviestidgrthe vacation months of
July, August and the holiday season in December.
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Cargo Operations

In addition to our passenger service, we makeiefftause of extra capacity in the belly of our eftby carrying
cargo. Copa’s cargo business generated revenuggpodximately $34.7 million in 2007, $41.5 milliom2008 and
$35.6 million in 2009, representing 4.3%, 4.0% 8&r&fb, respectively, of Copa’s operating revenues.pfimarily move our
cargo in the belly of our aircraft, however, weoalget-lease and charter freighter capacity wheessary to meet our cargo
customers’ needs. In 2009, our cargo business stedsof approximately 81.0% in freight; 15.6% inuder; and 3.4% in mail
service.

Pricing and Revenue Management
Copa

Copa has designed its fare structure to balandedtsfactors and yields in a way that it beliewélf maximize profits
on its flights. Copa also maintains revenue managempolicies and procedures that are intended tdrmize total revenues,
while remaining generally competitive with thoseoofr major competitors.

Copa charges slightly more for tickets on highemdad routes, tickets purchased on short noticeo#iret itineraries
suggesting a passenger would be willing to payeanpum. This represents strong value to Copa’s legsicustomers, who can
count on competitive rates when flying with CopaeThumber of seats Copa offers at each fare levech market results
from a continual process of analysis and forecgstast booking history, seasonality, the effeEtsompetition and current
booking trends are used to forecast demand. Cufiaezs and knowledge of upcoming events at destimathat will affect
traffic volumes are included in Copaforecasting model to arrive at optimal seat allimms for its fares on specific routes. C
uses a combination of approaches, taking into atcyialds, flight load factors and effects on Idadtors of continuing traffic,
depending on the characteristics of the marketseseto arrive at a strategy for achieving the Ipessible revenue per
available seat mile, balancing the average faregelibagainst the corresponding effect on our leatbfs. In 2005, Copa
replaced its revenue management software with Airraanore sophisticated revenue management systsigreed by Sabre.

AeroRepublica

Various improvements have been made to AeroRemlblievenue management, pricing capabilities astesys
since its acquisition in 2005. During the fourthager of 2007, for example, we completed the im@etation of the Airmax
revenue management system at AeroRepublica.

Relationship with Continental Airlines

It is common practice in the commercial aviatiodustry for airlines to develop marketing and conuigralliances
with other carriers in order to offer a more contpland seamless travel experience to passengearse Biliances typically yie
certain conveniences such as code-sharing, fredjiyenteciprocity, and, where permitted, coordathscheduling of flights as
well as additional joint marketing activities.

In May 1998, Copa Airlines and Continental Airlinestered into a comprehensive alliance agreemeotnepassing
a broad array of activities such as Copa’s pawitiim in Continental’s frequent flyer programs aA@ lounge; as well as
agreements in other areas, such as trademarkse Bgesements were initially signed for a perioteofyears. In
November 2005, Copa and Continental amended atatedshese agreements and extended their termghtbe year 201!

As a result of the Copa —Continental alliance, \weenbenefited from Continental’s expertise and erpee over
the past decade. Copa has, for example, fully @ibfbntinental’s OnePass frequent flyer programralield out a co-branded
joint product in much of Latin America, enablingtosdevelop brand loyalty among our travelers. §¢-branding of the
OnePass loyalty programs has helped to leverager#imel recognition that Continental already enjogexbss Latin America
and enables the two airlines to compete more éffdgtagainst regional competitors such as therrtgenerged Avianca-Taca
and the oneworld alliance represented by Americelinds and LAN Airlines. We also share Continerg&ceptre inventory
management software, which allows Copa to poolesparts with the larger airline and to rely on Goental to provide
engineering support for maintenance projects. We ladso been able to take advantage of Continesmntafchasing power and
negotiate more competitive rates for spare pardstiaind-party maintenance work. In addition to 8eeptre system, we have
implemented several important information technglegstems, such as the “SHARE&/mputer reservation system in an et
to maintain commonality with Continental.
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Building on the existing track-record of successifiliance accomplishments, Copa and Continentat lir@egrated,
where appropriate, AeroRepublica in aspects oettigting alliance cooperation, beginning with Aeegiblica’s participation
in the OnePass frequent flyer loyalty program.

The Copa — Continental alliance enjoys antitrusnimity in the United States which allows the casi®
coordinate pricing, scheduling and joint marketimigiatives.

In 2007, Copa joined the SkyTeam global alliancarag&\ssociate Member, in part due to the suppattsponsorship
of Continental. Continental Airlines left the Skyare Alliance and joined the Star Alliance effectitie fourth quarter of 2009.
Due to the long-standing alliance relationship v@thntinental, and in order to ensure Copa remailig &ligned with
Continental on a number of important joint initiegs, Copa also exited the SkyTeam Alliance durregfourth quarter of 2009.
Copa is considering various new alliance optionsatmpliment its current portfolio of alliance pagtships.

Sales, Marketing and Distribution
Copa

Sales and DistributionApproximately 69% of sales during 2009 were congrléhrough travel agents and other
airlines while approximately 31% were direct sali@sour city ticket offices (CTOs), call centergpart counters or website.
Travel agents receive base commissions, not inefubdack-end incentive payments, ranging from 0%%odepending on the
country. The weighted average rate for these cosiaris during 2009 was 2.98%. In recent years, basenissions have
decreased significantly in most markets as motieiefft back-end incentive programs have been imptged to reward
selected travel agencies that exceed their salgstta

Travel agents obtain airline travel information asslie airline tickets through global distributieystems, or GDSs,
that enable them to make reservations on fligltmfa large number of airlines. GDSs are also ugddabel agents to make
hotel and car rental reservations. Copa particgpattively in all major international GDSs, inclndiSABRE, Amadeus,
Galileo and Worldspan. In return for access toghmstems, Copa pays transaction fees that areajlgrieased on the number
of reservations booked through each system.

Copa has a sales and marketing network consisfiB§ domestic and international ticket offices lirting airport
and city ticket offices. Copa has 33 CTOs co-brandith Continental and 29 CTOs co-branded with ARpublica. During
the year ended December 31, 2009, approximately d186% of its sales were booked through its tickeinters and call
center, respectively.

The call center that operates Copa’s reservatindssales services handles calls from Panama as/elost other
countries to which Copa flies. Such centralizatias resulted in a significant increase in teleptsaies as it efficiently allowe
for improvements in service levels such as 24-tmday, 7-days-a-week service, in three differengleges.

We encourage the use of direct Internet bookingsusycustomers because it is our most efficierttitistion
channel. In the third quarter of 2009, Copa intmetla new booking engine in order to offer morecfiomality to customers
and further reduce distribution costs; 10% of #2 sales were made via the website. Copgaal is to channel more of its to
sales through the website.
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Advertising and Promotional Activitie®©ur advertising and promotional activities inclutle use of television, print,
radio and billboards, as well as targeted publiatien events in the cities where we fly. We bedéighat the corporate traveler is
an important part of our business, and we partigufEromote our service to these customers by cgingethe reliability,
convenience and consistency of our service andiofferalue-added services such as convention anféence travel
arrangements, as well as our Business Rewardsyqgyagram for our frequent corporate travelers. 8\&® promote package
deals among the destinations where we fly throwaghliined efforts with selected hotels and travehages.

AeroRepublica

AeroRepublica successfully implemented the OneRegsient flyer program in March 2006. AeroRepUbkdtso
implemented e-ticket in January 2006 and e-tickitriine with Copa and Amadeus during the secoradtquof 2006,
complementing its call center, 24 city ticket officand 12 airport ticket offices. In February 208&roRepublica was brought
into Copa’s SHARES reservations and check-in ptatfproviding significant benefits in terms of coatsd functionality.

Competition

We face intense competition throughout our routevaek. Overall airline industry profit margins dm@v and
industry earnings are volatile. Airlines competeha areas of pricing, scheduling (frequency amghflitimes), on-time
performance, frequent flyer programs and otherisesv Copa competes with a number of other airlthascurrently serve the
routes on which we operate, including American iA@s, Delta Air Lines, Mexicana, and the newly camell Avianca-Taca.
Some of our competitors, such as American Airlifesje larger customer bases and greater brandnigéicogin the markets w
serve outside Panama, and some of our competiames $ignificantly greater financial and marketiegaurces than we have.
Airlines based in other countries may also recsivesidies, tax incentives or other state aid froeirtrespective governments,
which are not provided by the Panamanian governnidm® commencement of, or increase in, servicdhhemdutes we serve by
existing or new carriers could negatively impact operating results. Likewise, competitors’ serviceroutes that we are
targeting for expansion may make those expansiansgess attractive. We must constantly react amgés in prices and
services offered by our competitors to remain caditipe.

Traditional hub-and-spoke carriers in the Unitedt& and Europe have in recent years faced suiadzamd
increasing competitive pressure from low-cost easrbffering discounted fares. The low-cost castieperations are typically
characterized by point-to-point route networks fing on the highest demand city pairs, high aitaréfization, single class
service and fewer in-flight amenities. As evidenbgdhe operations of Gol in Brazil and other Soitherican countries and
several new low-cost carriers which have recemtiinthed service, the “low-cost carrier” businessliehappears to be gaining
acceptance in the Latin American aviation indusaryd we may face new and substantial competitiom flow-cost carriers in
the future.

The main sources of competition to Copa, and diarele with Continental, come from the newly conggmvianca-
Taca and American Airlines, the U.S. airline witle fargest Latin American route network.

AviancaTaca is the resulting entity from a merger consutechan February 2, 2010 between two of our const
Avianca and Grupo Taca. Avianca-Taca will be thertio largest airline group in Latin America in teymof annual revenues.
We cannot predict whether this newly combined gntill prove successful or its impact on our fin&deesults or operations.

Taca’s, part of newly combined Avianca-Taca, sggteas been to develop hubs at San Jose, CostaJina
Salvador, El Salvador and Lima, Peru, each of whimhpetes with Copa’s hub at Tocumen Internatiémgdort. Taca
primarily operates a fleet of Airbus A320 familyaaft. We have routes to several of the CentrakAoan and Caribbean
countries where Taca has established service,dmguGuatemala City, Havana, Managua, San JoseS&aador, San Pedro
Sula, Santo Domingo and Tegucigalpa.

American Airlines also offers significant compaetiti American Airlines attracts strong brand rectignithroughout
the Americas and is able to attract brand loyditpugh its “AAdvantage” frequent flyer program. Arean Airlines competes
with us through its hubs at Miami and San JuanrtBuRico. American Airlines was a founding membethe Oneworld globe
marketing alliance.
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LAN Airlines is another Oneworld alliance membeaittbffers service to approximately 60 destinatigmamarily in
Latin America. LAN Airlines is comprised of LAN Clei, LAN Peru, LAN Ecuador, LAN Argentina, LAN Cargmd LAN
Express. While we do not compete directly with LAMIines on many of our current routes, LAN Airliméas grown rapidly
over the past several years and may become ais@ttitompetitor in the future.

Copa has significant presence in destinations wloged airlines are less viable and competitivehsas the
Dominican Republic (Santo Domingo, Santiago deJaballeros and Punta Cana), Ecuador (Quito and &juely and
Venezuela (Caracas, Maracaibo and Valencia). Capalso established itself as a significant playetraffic to and from
Colombia, with strong market share on routes tofeomh Barranquilla, Bogota, Cali, Cartagena, Mededind San Andres.

AeroRepublica competes more directly with Aviangart of the newly combined Aviandeaca, and other Colombi
carriers in the Colombian domestic market. Aviaaggerged from U.S. bankruptcy protection in 200&rafeing purchased by
Brazil's Synergy Group. Avianca has announcedhitsrition to transform Bogota into a major interoaél aviation hub which,
if successful, will compete directly with our hubTeocumen International Airport. Avianca recentbnemenced a fleet
renovation project which includes the incorporatidnhe Boeing 787 and the Airbus A330 wide bodyraft, as well as Airbu
A320 and A319 narrow body aircraft.

We cannot predict whether Avianca will become mampetitive in the future, if its increased opeyas from
Bogota will prove successful or the impact of therger on our financial results of operations. \\ss @xperience competition
from other Colombian carriers such as Aerolineasudigoquia, the state-owned airline Satena, EagyaRd Aires, which has
recent expanded aggressively. Airlines that seaotopete in the Colombian air transportation mafke¢ substantial barriers
to entry, as the Colombian government requiresidineto operate at least five aircraft and comyith extensive filing and
certification requirements before it becomes el@ib receive domestic route rights on certain @dd@n routes between major
cities. In addition, the number of air carriersenfiig service on any route is currently regulatgedhe Colombian Aviation
Authority.

With respect to our cargo operations, we will coné to face competition from all of the major aifht companies,
most notably DHL, which has a cargo hub operattohazumen International Airport.

Aircraft
Copa
As of December 31, 2009, Copa operated a fleetistimg of 42 aircraft, including 20 Boeing 737-7R@xt
Generation aircraft, nine Boeing 737-800 Next Gatien aircraft and 13 Embraer 190 aircraft. As ecBmber 31, 2009, Copa
had firm orders, including purchase and lease camerits, for 28 additional Boeing 737-Next Generatcraft. Copa also
has options for an additional six Embraer 190s@ndhase rights and options for an additional eRgging 737-Next
Generation aircraft.

The current composition of the Copa fleet as ofddelger 31, 2009 is more fully described below:

Average
Term

of Lease Average
Number of Aircraft Remaining Age Seating
Total Owned Leased (Years) (Years) Capacity
Boeing 73-700 2C 14 6 2.2 7.5 124
Boeing 73-800 9 7 2 53 3.2 16C
Embraer 19( 13 13 — — 2.€ 94
Total 42 34 8 3.0 5.1 —
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We expect our Copa fleet to continue to centethenBoeing 737-700 model, although we expect toicoatto add
Boeing 737-800s to our fleet to cover high-demandes and Embraer 190s to serve underserved maketsll as fly
additional frequencies where we believe excess ddmaists. The table below describes the expedtedo$ our Copa fleet at
the end of each year set forth below, assumingeigliof all aircraft for which we currently haverfi orders but not taking into
account any aircraft for which we have purchasktsigind options:

Aircraft Type 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014

737-700(1) 20 18 13 13 13
737-800(2) 17 22 27 31 35
Embraer 190(3 11 11 11 11 11
Total Fleet 48 51 51 55 59

(1) Assumes the return of leased aircraft upon expinatif lease contract

(2) We have the flexibility to choose between Boeing 737-700 or the Boeing 737-800 aircraftrfmrst of the 737-700
aircraft deliveries

(3) Assumes that two additional Embraer 190 aircrafnfiCopa are transferred to AeroRepublica during)2

The Boeing 737-Next Generation aircraft currentlypur Copa fleet are fuel-efficient and suit ouegions well for
the following reasons:

¢ They have simplified maintenance procedu
*  They require just one type of standardized traifiorgour crews
*  They have one of the lowest operating costs ir tiass.

Our focus on profitable operations means that wimgieally review our fleet composition. As a resulur fleet
composition changes over time when we concludeatiding other types of aircraft will help us actaekis goal. The
introduction of any new type of aircraft to ourdtds only done if, after careful consideration, eetermine that such a step will
improve our profitability. In line with this philaphy, after conducting a careful cost-benefit asialywe added the Embraer
190 aircraft because its combination of smallee sizd highly efficient operating characteristicadmé the ideal aircraft to
serve new mid-sized markets and to increase fraxyuenexisting destinations. The Embraer 190 inocafes advanced design
features, such as integrated avionics, fly-by-Wlight controls, and efficient CF34-10 engines mageGeneral Electric. The
Embraer E190 has a range of approximately 2,00@0a@duniles enabling it to fly to a wide range @ddinations from short-
haul to certain medium-haul destinations. We hawdigured Copa’s Embraer aircraft with a busindasscsection similar to
the business class section we have on our BoeiigNEXt Generation aircraft.

Through several special purpose vehicles, we ctiyrbave beneficial ownership of 40 of our aircraficluding 19
Embraer 190s. In addition, we lease six of our Bgéi37-700s and two of our Boeing 737-800s undeg-term operating lea:
agreements that have an average remaining tern® gfe@rs. Leasing some of our aircraft providewits flexibility to change
our fleet composition if we consider it to be irr dest interests to do so. We make monthly rergghyents, some of which are
based on floating rates, but are not required thentermination payments at the end of the leaseeBtly, we do not have
purchase options in any of our lease agreementetJsur operating lease agreements, we are reguigzne cases to
maintain maintenance reserve accounts and in offs&rs to make supplemental rent payments at thefehd lease that are
calculated with reference to the aircrafts’ maiatere schedule. In either case, we must returnitbia in the agreed upon
condition at the end of the lease term. Title ®dircraft remains with the lessor. We are respdagor the maintenance,
servicing, insurance, repair and overhaul of theraft during the term of the lease.

To better serve the growing number of businessteas, we introduced business clagigse Ejecutivg in
November of 1998. Our business class service fesitwelve luxury seats in the Boeing -700s with a 38-inch pitch,
upgraded meal service, special check-in desks,donleage for full-fare business class passengetsaacess to VIP lounges.
Our Boeing 737-800s are currently configured widhblisiness class seats. In 2010, we plan to repoefiour Boeing 737-800
aircraft by adding two additional business clasgsand three additional economy seats, incredleptal number of seats
from 155 to 160. Our Embraer 190s have 10 busidless seats in a three abreast configuration andc38pitch.
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Each of our Boeing 737-Next Generation aircrafiasvered by two CFM International Model CFM 56-7Ryares.
Each of our Embraer 190 aircraft is powered by &#34-10 engines made by General Electric. We ctiyrbave seven spare
engines for service replacements and for periagtation through our fleet.

AeroRepublica

As of December 31, 2009, AeroRepublica’s operatfiéed of one MD-83, six owned Embraer 190 and sdeased
Embraer 190, with an average age of 3.2 yearsofAleroRepublica’s fleet is configured as a singjkess, with the MD aircraft
having a capacity of 157 seats and the Embraefl&@80having a capacity of 106 seats. AeroRepubiEsoptions to purchase
up to five additional Embraer 190 aircraft througfii 3.

Maintenance
Copa

The maintenance performed on our Copa aircrafbeadivided into two general categories: line anaviye
maintenance. Line maintenance consists of rousicleeduled maintenance checks on our aircraft, defupre-flight, daily and
overnight checks, “A-checks” and any diagnosticd enutine repairs. Copa’s line maintenance is peréa by Copa’s own
technicians at our base in Panama and at statidsigle Panama by Copa employees or third-partyraciors. Heavy
maintenance consists of more complex inspectiodoaarhauls, including “C-checks,” and servicingfoé aircraft that cannot
be accomplished during an overnight visit. Mainteseachecks are performed as defined by the aingraftufacturer. These
checks are based on the number of hours or calenclaths flown. We have contract with certified adésmaintenance
providers, principally with Panama Aerospace Engiimg, a subsidiary of Singapore Aerospace Teclyiedp which is
certified as an authorized repair station by thé\Réd the AAC, for heavy aircraft maintenance segsi Copa also has an
exclusive long-term contract with GE Engines whegrétey will perform maintenance on all of its CFN8-Bngines. There were
17 heavy maintenance events in 2009. When pos$iblga attempts to schedule heavy maintenance ditsitmver-demand
seasons in order to maximize productive use diitsaft.

Copa employs 249 maintenance professionals, inedueingineers, supervisors, technicians and mechanmio
perform maintenance in accordance with maintenanagrams that are established by the manufactmeapproved and
certified by international aviation authorities.éfy mechanic is trained in factory procedures amesghrough our own rigoro
in-house training program. Every mechanic is lieehby the AAC and approximately 33 of our mainteaRrofessionals are
also licensed by the FAA. Copa’s safety and maentee procedures are reviewed and periodically eddiy the aircraft
manufacturer, the AAC, the FAA, IATA and, to a lesextent, every foreign country to which its fli@€pa’s maintenance
facility at Tocumen International Airport has bemartified by the FAA as an approved repair stataomd twice a year the FAA
inspects its facilities to validate and renew tkdification. Copas aircraft are initially covered by warranties thave a term ¢
four years, resulting in lower maintenance expedsesg the period of coverage. All of Copa’s meuba are trained to
perform line maintenance on both the Boeing 737tNBeneration and Embraer 190s aircraft.

AeroRepublica

Line maintenance for AeroRepublica’s aircraft ismmarily performed by AeroRepublica’s imeuse maintenance st¢
while C-checks on its fleet are performed by FAAtified third-party aviation maintenance companigl.of AeroRepublica’s
maintenance and safety procedures are performeudicg to Boeing standards (certified by the FA&)d certified by the
Aeronautica Civil of Colombia and BVQi, the instiuthat issues ISO (International OrganizationStandardization) quality
certificates. All of AeroRepublica’s maintenancegunnel are licensed by the Aeronautica Civil ofd@abia. In
December 2007, AeroRepublica received its IATA @genal Safety Audit (IOSA) compliance certificatio
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Safety

We place a high priority on providing safe andaklé air service. Copa has uniform safety standamdssafety-
related training programs that cover all of its gpiens. In particular, Copa periodically evaluates skills, experience and
safety records of its pilots in order to maintatirics control over the quality of its pilot crewAll of Copa’s pilots participate in
training programs, some of which are sponsoredittoyadt manufacturers, and all are required to ugdeecurrent training two
times per year. We have a full time program of i®liBata Analysis (FDA) wherein the flight data frewery Copa flight is
analyzed for safety or technical anomalies. DuBifg7, Copa successfully completed its second IOSA.

On July 17, 2007, one of our AeroRepuUblica Embi#$}s overran a wet runway at Santa Marta, Colonftsaa
result of this incident, six people suffered minguries and the aircraft sustained damages thaezhits permanent removal
from service.

The FAA periodically audits the aviation regulat@mythorities of other countries. As a result ofitlevestigation,
each country is given an International Aviation&gfAssessment, or IASA, rating. Panama is curyaated as “Category 17,
which indicates a strong level of confidence in shéety regulation of the AAC.

Airport Facilities

We believe that our hub at Panama City’s Tocuméerihational Airport (PTY) is an excellent base pemations for
the following reasons:

. Panama’s consistently temperate climate is ifteadirport operations. For example, in recent gear
Tocumen was closed and unavailable for flight op@na for a total of less than two hours per yaar o
average

¢ Tocumen is the only airport in Central Americahwtiwo operational runways. Also unlike some other
regional airports, consistent modernization anduginoof our hub has kept pace with our needs. The
Tocumen airport recently began an expansion preyéath is scheduled to be completed in 2011, apce!
is ample room for further expansic

. Panama’s central and sea level location provedesry efficient base to operate our narrow bodgtfl
efficiently serving short and lo-haul destinations in Central, North and South Acee

«  Travelers can generally make connections easiyugh Tocumen because of its manageable size and
Panam’s policies accommodating-transit passenger

Tocumen International Airport is operated by areipeindent corporate entity established by the goven, where
stakeholders have a say in the operation and dewelot of the airport. The law that created thistgmiso provided for a
significant portion of revenues generated at Toaqutnebe used for airport expansion and improveméfsdo not have any
formal, written agreements with the airport managetnthat govern access fees, landing rights ocatiion of terminal gates.
We rely upon our good working relationship with #igport's management and the Panamanian governmemisure that we
have access to the airport resources we needcasghat are reasonable.

We worked closely with the airport’'s management emdsulted with the IATA infrastructure group tompide plans
and guidance for Phase | of an airport expansiahgtovided eight new gate positions with jet beslgsix new remote parking
positions, expanded retail areas and improved délggége-handling facilities. The government auttedti®70 million to cover
the costs of this expansion. Work on Phase | wagpteted in the third quarter of 2006. Phase Ilhef éxpansion which will a«
12 additional jet bridge gates has begun and iseep to be completed in 2011.

We provide all of our own ground services and higwgdbf passengers and cargo at Tocumen Internatfanzort. In
addition, we provide services to several of thagipal foreign airlines that operate at Tocumenmaist of the foreign airports
where we operate, foreign airport services compapievide all of our support services other thdasaounter services and
some minor maintenance.
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We lease a variety of facilities at Tocumen, inahgdour maintenance hangar and our operationstfasiin the
airport terminal. From our System Operations Cdrienter located within our corporate headquateikling, we dispatch,
track and direct our aircraft throughout the herée and respond to operational contingencies @ssary. We generally
cooperate with the airport authority to modify thase terms as necessary to account for capitabwements and expansion
plans. Currently, our elite passengers have adoes®resident’s Club at the airport, which is flyiroperated with Continental.
The President’s Club was recently expanded to aqpiately one and half times its current size, mitilg space made available
during the recent expansion of the terminal.

Fuel

Fuel costs are extremely volatile, as they areexltp many global economic, geopolitical, weatleexironmental
and other factors that we can neither control meueately predict. Due to its inherent volatiligircraft fuel has historically
been our most unpredictable unit cost. As a resittie world’s economic condition, demand for akhsurged, especially in
fast-growing China. This increase in demand couplid limited refinery capacity and instability oil-exporting countries has
led to a rapid increase in prices.

Aircraft Fuel Data

2005 2006 2007 2008 2009
Copa
Average price per gallon of jet fuel
into plane (excluding hedge) (in
U.S. dollars) $ 1.87 $ 2.1C $ 2.2¢ $ 3.21 $ 1.84
Gallons consumed (in thousani 58,92¢ 70,77( 85,46: 100,26t 112,40:
Available seat miles (in millions 4,40¢ 5,23¢ 6,29¢ 7,34z 8,31¢
Gallons per ASM (in hundredth 1.3¢ 1.3¢ 1.3€ 1.37 1.3¢
AeroRepublice(1)
Average price per gallon of jet fu
into plane (excluding hedge) (i
U.S. dollars) $ 2.1z $ 2.2¢4 $ 2.4: $ 3.4¢ $ 1.97
Gallons consumed (in thousani 17,887 28,32 26,98¢ 24,79¢ 25,617
Available seat miles (in millions 95C 1,627 1,62( 1,502 1,592
Gallons per ASM (in hundredth 1.8¢ 1.74 1.67 1.6 1.61

(1) Since April 22, 2005

Since 2002, aircraft fuel prices have been riskirgm 2004 to 2009, the average price of West Taxasmediate
crude oil, a benchmark widely used for crude dit¢s that is measured in barrels and quoted in dbfars, increased by 50%
from $41.47 per barrel to $62.07 per barrel. Du20@8, fuel prices experienced significant volgtjlwith West Texas
Intermediate crude prices reaching the record miapproximately $145 per barrel in July. Pridesrt dropped below $40 per
barrel at the beginning of 2009, and then stalilaeapproximately $70 per barrel in the seconéldfe2009. While prices hav
significantly decreased since their peak in 2008 believe that fuel prices are likely to increaséhie future. In 2009, we
hedged 31% of our requirements through the usetdiigl and crude oil swap contracts, and crudeesib-cost collars. We
have hedged approximately 24% and 11% of our gatied fuel needs for 2010 and 2011, respectively Wil continue to
evaluate various hedging strategies, and we magr ertb additional hedging agreements in the futlrey prolonged increase
in the price of jet fuel will likely materially andegatively affect our business, financial conditand results of operation. To
date, we have managed to offset some of the inesaasfuel prices with higher load factors, fuelcharges and fare increases.
In addition, our relative young, winglet-equippéeet also helps us mitigate the impact of highet firices.

Insurance

We maintain passenger liability insurance in an ami@onsistent with industry practice, and we iesomr aircraft
against losses and damages on an “all risks” bagshave obtained all insurance coverage requiyetidterms of our leasing
and financing agreements. We believe our insurangerage is consistent with airline industry staddand appropriate to
protect us from material loss in light of the aitteés we conduct. No assurance can be given, howéhet the amount of
insurance we carry will be sufficient to protectftmm material losses. We have negotiated low puemsion our Copa
insurance policies by leveraging the purchasinggraf our alliance partner, Continental. Copa’d hab liability operations
are insured under Continental’s insurance policg. MAintain separate insurance policies for our Remiblica operations.
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Environmental

Our operations are covered by various local, naticand international environmental regulationse§éhregulations
cover, among other things, emissions into the aper, disposal of solid waste and aqueous efffyaircraft noise and other
activities that result from the operation of aifer®ur aircraft comply with all environmental stiards applicable to their
operations as described in this annual report. Welacted, through a consulting firm, an environrakatdit of our hangar ar
support facilities at the Tocumen Internationalp®irt to determine what, if any, measures we needhpbement in order to
satisfy the Panamanian effluent standards and émefal Environmental Law at those facilities. Warplo implement all
measures required for compliance based on our@mwiental audit. Additionally, the Panamanian CAwiation Code
(RAC) contains certain environmental provisions tr@ similar to those set forth in the GeneraliEBmmental Law regarding
effluents, although such provisions do not contamimpliance grace periods. In the event the AACrdatees that our facilities
do not currently meet the RAC standards, we cosldubject to a fine. The measures that will be ém@nted pursuant to the
environmental audit will also satisfy the requirertseof the RAC. We have installed a water treatnpéanit to serve part of our
facilities and have formally submitted an Environma Remediation and Management Program (PAMA)rdeoto seek
approval thereof by the Environmental AuthoritycByrogram sets forth an environmental compliambedule. While we do
not believe that compliance with these regulatiwilbexpose us to material expenditures, compliawih these or other
environmental regulations, whether new or existthgt may be applicable to us in the future coolttéase our costs. In
addition, failure to comply with these regulatiammild adversely affect us in a variety of waysjuding adverse effects on our
reputation.

Regulation
Panama

Authorization and LicenseRanamanian law requires airlines providing comnaéiservices in Panama to hold an
Operation Certificate and an Air Transportationdrise/Certificate issued by the AAC. The Air Tramsgtion Certificate
specifies the routes, equipment used, capacityttaétequency of flights. This certificate mustupdated every time Copa
acquires new aircraft, or when routes and frequesnio a particular destination are modified.

Panamanian law also requires that the aircraftaipdrby Copa be registered with the PanamaniamiNdtAviation
Registrar kept by the AAC, and that the PanamaNiational Aviation Authority certify the airworthiss of each aircraft in
Copa’s fleet. Copa’s aircraft must be re-certifeaery year. This requirement does not apply to Remiblica’s aircraft which
are registered in Colombia.

The Panamanian government does not have an eqtetgst in our company. Bilateral agreements sidnyetthe
Panamanian government have protected our operapos#ion and route network, allowing us to hané’anama a significant
hub to transport intraregion traffic within and ween the Americas and the Caribbean. All intermetidares are filed and
technically subject to the approval of the Panamragiovernment. Historically, we have been able odlify ticket prices on a
daily basis to respond to market conditions. Oatust as a private carrier means that we are natrezunder Panamanian law
to serve any particular route and are free to wéhdservice from any of the routes we currentlywsess we see fit, subject to
bilateral agreements. We are also free to deterthimérequency of service we offer across our rowtsvork without any
minimum frequencies imposed by the Panamanian &t

Safety Assessmeii.May 2001, the FAA downgraded Panama’s IASA @fiomm a Category 1 rating to a Category
2 rating due to alleged deficiencies in Panamaaiasafety standards and the AAC’s capacity to jglevegulatory oversight.
We collaborated with the Panamanian governmerggtore the countrg’Category 1 status, a status that is importart twothe
operations of Copa as an airline and the generabpéon of Panama as a country, particularly ewbf the fact that the major
initiative is to boost tourism in Panama. The coyistCategory 1 status was restored in April 2004.
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Ownership Requiremenfhe most significant restriction on our company as@d by the Panamanian Aviation Act,
as amended and interpreted to date, is that Pari@maationals must exercise “effective control” pttee operations of the
airline and must maintain “substantial ownershifhese phrases are not defined in the Aviation #seffiand it is unclear how
a Panamanian court would interpret them. The staarership requirements and transfer restrictiomgained in our Articles ¢
Incorporation, as well as the structure of our dgitock described under the caption “Descriptbapital Stock,” are
designed to ensure compliance with these ownegsidpcontrol restrictions created by the Aviatiort. Aithile we believe that
our ownership structure complies with the ownersinig control restrictions of the Aviation Act aserpreted by a recent
decree by the Executive Branch, we cannot assurehai a Panamanian court would share our inteafioet of the Aviation
Act or the decree or that any such interpretativosld remain valid for the entire time you hold d@iass A shares.

Although the Panamanian government does not clyreave the authority to dictate the terms of amwie, the
government is responsible for negotiating the bi@tagreements with other nations that allow utytto other countries.
Several of these agreements require Copa to refefiattively controlled” and “substantially ownedy Panamanian nationals
in order for us to use the rights conferred byabeeements. Such requirements are analogous Retieemanian aviation law
described above that requires Panamanian contalrabusiness.

Antitrust RegulationsIn 1996, the Republic of Panama enacted antitegsslation, which regulates industry
concentration and vertical anticompetitive practiaed prohibits horizontal collusion. The Consufatection and Free Trade
Authority is in charge of enforcement and may imgptises only after a competent court renders ae@@vjudgment. The law
also provides for direct action by any affected keaiparticipant or consumer, independently or thoclgss actions. The law
does not provide for the granting of antitrust inmity, as is the case in the United States. In Falyr@006, the antitrust
legislation was amended to increase the maximuesfthat may be assessed for violations to $1,00d@er se violations
and $250,000 for relative violations of antitrusivl

Noise RestrictionsPanama has adopted Annex 16 of the ICAO reguisatmd the noise abatement provisions of
ICAQ, through Book XIV of the Panamanian Civil Atien Regulations (RAC). Thus, articles 227-229 obB XIV of the
RAC require aircraft registered in Panama to comyith at least Stage 2 noise requirements, angiraliaft registered for the
first time with the Panamanian Civil Aviation Auttity after January 1, 2003, to comply with Stageo8se restrictions.
Currently, all the airplanes we operate or havemter meet the most stringent noise requiremenébkshed by both ICAO
and the AAC.
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Colombia

The Colombian aviation market is heavily regulabgdhe Colombian Civil Aviation Administration, Ushad Especit
Administrativa de Aeronautica Civil, or AeronautiCavil. Colombia is a Category 1 country under EfA’s IASA program.
With respect to domestic aviation, airlines mustsent feasibility studies to secure specific raights, and no airline may
serve the city pairs with the most traffic unldsattairline has at least five aircraft with validworthiness certificate. In
addition, Aeronautica Civil sets maximum faresdach route and a maximum number of competing aBlfior each route
based on the size of the city pairs served. AigimeColombia must also add a surcharge for fuéthédr ticket prices. In
addition, since November 2006, airlines must haveharge an administrative fee (“Tarifa administa) for each ticket sold
through an airline’s direct channels. Passenge@olombia are also entitled by law to compensaitioine event of delays in
excess of four hours, over-bookings and cancetiati€urrently, the San Andres, Bogota, Pereira, Caftagena, Medellin,
Monteria and Barranquilla airports are under pevaanagement arrangements. Furthermore, the goeetrisnprivatizing
other airports in order to finance necessary expargojects and increase the efficiency of operatj which may lead to
increases in landing fees and facility rental$até airports.

Colombia has open-skies agreements with Arubaleméndean Pact nations of Bolivia, Ecuador and Peru
(Comunidad Andina). AeroRepublica has been gratitedise of 30 of the 56 available route rightssienvice by Colombian
carriers between Colombia and Panama, and as I tesgan scheduled service between the two casmitmilate 2005. In
addition, AeroRepublica was granted 30 additionlakéral frequencies per week, 7 of these frequentm Panama from
Bucaramanga, Pereira and Barranquilla, have yle¢ tatilized.

U.S.

Operations to the United States by non-U.S. asliseich as Copa, are subject to Title 49 of the Odgle, under
which the DOT, the FAA and the TSA exercise reguigauthority. The U.S. Department of Justice &lae jurisdiction over
airline competition matters under the federal amsitlaws.

Authorizations and Licensefhe DOT has jurisdiction over international aviatiwith respect to air transportation to
and from the United States, including regulatiomedéted route authorities, the granting of whioch subject to review by the
President of the United States. The DOT exercisgsiiisdiction with respect to unfair practiceslanethods of competition by
airlines and related consumer protection mattets afl airlines operating to and from the Unitedt8s. We are authorized by
the DOT to engage in scheduled and charter aispramation services, including the transportatibpersons, property
(cargo) and mail, or combinations thereof, betweeints in Panama and points in the United Statdsbayond (via
intermediate points in other countries). We holel tiecessary authorizations from the DOT in the fofra foreign air carrier
permit, an exemption authority and statements @iairation to conduct our current operations td iom the United States.
The exemption authority was granted by the DOTebriaary 1998 and was due to expire in February 2800vever, the
authority remains in effect by operation of law enthe terms of the Administrative Procedure Actgirg final DOT action o
the application we filed to renew the authorityJamuary 3, 2000. There can be no assurance thBQfewill grant the
application. Our foreign air carrier permit hasexpiration date.

Our operations to the United States are also stutjgegulation by the FAA with respect to aviatisafety matters,
including aircraft maintenance and operations, aeint, aircraft noise, ground facilities, dispatbmmunications, personnel,
training, weather observation, air traffic contaold other matters affecting air safety. The FAAuiszs each foreign air carrier
serving the United States to obtain operationati§ipations pursuant to 14 CFR Part 129 of its tejons and to meet
operational criteria associated with operating gjgetequipment on approved international routee. bélieve that we are in
compliance in all material respects with all reqmients necessary to maintain in good standing perrations specifications
issued by the FAA. The FAA can amend, suspend kewo terminate those specifications, or can temuilgrsuspend or
permanently revoke our authority if we fail to cdmpith the regulations, and can assess civil pagmfor such failure. A
modification, suspension or revocation of any of DOT authorizations or FAA operating specificagarould have a material
adverse effect on our business. The FAA also cacafety audits and has the power to impose findsother sanctions for
violations of airline safety regulations. We haw imcurred any material fines related to operatiorhe FAA also conducts
safety International Aviation Safety AssessmentSM) as to Panama’s compliance with Internationail@iviation
Organization (ICAO) safety standards. Panama ieeatly considered a Category 1 country that corsphih ICAO
international safety standards. As a Class 1 cpuntr limitations are placed upon our operatingptsgo the Unites States. If
the FAA should determine that Panama does not thedCAO safety standards, the FAA and DOT wouktriet our rights to
expand operations to the United States. We cam nff@ssurance of Panama’s continued compliandel®@AO safety
standards.
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Security.On November 19, 2001, the U.S. Congress passedharftesident signed into law, the Aviation and
Transportation Security Act, (the “Aviation Secyrict”). This law federalized substantially all aspectsiofl aviation securit
and created the TSA, an agency of the Departmedbofeland Security, to which the security respailisés previously held
by the FAA were transitioned. The Aviation Secudgt requires, among other things, the implemeatatf certain security
measures by airlines and airports, such as théresnent that all passenger, their bags and allccbegscreened for explosives
and other security related contraband. Fundingiidine and airport security required under theaiin Security Act is
provided in part by a $2.50 per segment passemrgerity fee for flights departing from the U.S.bgect to a $10 per roundtrip
cap; however, airlines are responsible for costarired to meet security requirements beyond theseded by the TSA. The
United States Government is considering increasé#sig fee as the TSA’s costs exceed the revemaeéives from these fees.
Implementation of the requirements of the Aviat®ecurity Act has resulted in increased costs fdinas and their passengers.
Since the events of September 11, 2001, the U.B8gr@ss has mandated and the TSA has implementeerausisecurity
procedures and requirements that have imposed #incbwtinue to impose burdens on airlines, passengnd shippers.

Passenger Facility ChargeMost major U.S. airports impose passenger fadilitygrges. The ability of airlines to
contest increases in these charges is restrictéedeyal legislation, DOT regulations and judiaakisions. With certain
exceptions, air carriers pass these charges oastgepgers. However, our ability to pass througkerager facility charges to
our customers is subject to various factors, indganarket conditions and competitive factors. Therent cap on passenger
facility charges is $4.50 per segment, subjecnt@8 per roundtrip cap; however, there is legistain Congress to raise the
cap on passenger facility charges.

Airport AccessTwo U.S. airports at which we operate, John F. Kelyrinternational Airport in New York (“*JFK”)
and Reagan National Airport in Washington, D.Cyehbeen designated by the FAA as “high densitfitrairports”. From
time to time, operations at these airports have Isedject to arrival and departure slot restrictidaring certain periods of the
day. Although slot restrictions at JFK were eliméthas of January 1, 2007, on January 15, 2008 AlAeissued an order
limiting the number of scheduled flight operati@is)FK during peak hours to address the over-sdinggeongestion and
delays at JFK. In January 2008, the DOT also issuedtice of proposed amendment to its Airport Rated Charges policy
that would allow airports to establish non-weighsed fees during peak hours and to apportion oegtgienses from “reliever”
airports to the charges for larger airports in Hareto limit congestion. We cannot predict thec@ame of this potential rule
change on our costs or ability to operate in cotegkairports.

Noise RestrictiondJnder the Airport Noise and Capacity Act of 199@ aelated FAA regulations, aircraft that fly to
the United States must comply with certain StageiSe restrictions, which are currently the moshgent FAA operating
noise requirements. All of our Copa aircraft méet Stage 3 requirement.

Other RegulationFAA regulations also require compliance with thaffic Alert and Collision Avoidance System,
approved airborne windshear warning system andyagicraft regulations. Our fleet meets these meguoiénts. In addition, all
air carriers are subject to certain provisionshef Communications Act of 1934, because of theiemsitze use of radio and otl
communication facilities, and are required to abtn aeronautical radio license from the Federah@anications Commissic
(FCC). To the extent we are subject to FCC requéres) we have taken and will continue to take etlassary steps to comply
with those requirements. Additional U.S. laws aegulations have been proposed from time to timedbald significantly
increase the cost of airline operations by imposidditional requirements or restrictions on aiin€here can be no assurance
that laws and regulations currently enacted or tekio the future will not adversely affect ourléhito maintain our current
level of operating results.

a1




Table of Contents

Other Jurisdictions

We are also subject to regulation by the aviat@gutatory bodies which set standards and enfortena aviation
legislation in each of the jurisdictions to whicle fly. These regulators may have the power toaesst enforce environmental
and safety standards, levy fines, restrict opematiwithin their respective jurisdictions or any etpowers associated with
aviation regulation. We cannot predict how thesgous regulatory bodies will perform in the futuaed the evolving standards
enforced by any of them could have a material asbveffect on our operations.

C. Organizational Structure

The following is an organizational chart showingp@doldings and its principal subsidiaries.

Copa Holdings, S.A.

(Panama)

LIy 99,95+ 1047

Compaiiia Panameiia de AeroRepiblica, S.A. Oval Financial Leasing,
Aviacion, S.A. (Copa) {Colombia) Lid.

(Panama) (British Virgin Islands)

*  Includes ownership by us held through wh-owned holding companies organized in the Britistgii Islands

Copa is our principal airline operating subsiditivgt operates out of our hub in Panama and proyidesenger
service in North, South and Central America andGhebbean. AeroRepublica S.A. is our operatingsliary that is primarily
engaged in domestic air travel within Colombia artdrnational service from various points in Colaanto Panama City and
Caracas. Oval Financial Leasing, Ltd. controlsgpecial purpose vehicles that have a beneficiatést in the majority of our
aircraft.

D. Property, Plants and Equipment
Headquarters

In 2005, we moved into a newly built headquarterigding located six miles away from Tocumen Inteioial
Airport. We have leased five floors consisting ppeoximately 104,000 square feet of the buildirapfrDesarollo Inmobiliario
del Este, S.A., an entity controlled by the sanmgrof investors that controls CIASA, under a 1@njease at a rate of
$106,000 per month during the first three yeard, 0100 per month during year 4 through year 6, $I@Bduring year 7
through year 9 and $116,000 per month in year Hichwve believe to be a market rate.

Other Property

At Tocumen International Airport, we lease a maiatece hangar, operations offices in the termimalnter space,
parking spaces and other operational properties fr® entity that manages the airport. We pay apmately $88,000 per
month for this leased property. Around Panama @igyalso lease various office spaces, parking space other properties
from a variety of lessors, for which we pay appnoately $13,000 per month in the aggregate.
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In each of our destination cities, we also leaseemt the airport for check-in, reservations ambet ticket office
sales, and we lease space for CTOs in more tha tBse cities.

AeroRepublica leases most of its airport and CT@n&d properties include one city ticket office, arehouse close
to the airport and one floor in a high-rise builglin downtown Bogota.

See also our discussion of “Aircraft” and “Airpétacilities” above.
Item 4A. Unresolved Staff Comments

None.
Item 5. Operating and Financial Review and Prospest
A. Operating Results

You should read the following discussion in confiamcwith our consolidated financial statements ahe related
notes and the other financial information includggdewhere in this annual report.

We are a leading Latin American provider of airlpessenger and cargo service through our two pahoiperating
subsidiaries, Copa and AeroRepublica. Copa opefiatesits strategically located position in the Rbjic of Panama, and
AeroRepublica provides service primarily within 6oibia complemented by international flights fronmieas cities in
Colombia to Panama, Venezuela and Ecuador. Wertlyreperate a fleet of 58 aircraft, 32 Boeing 78&xt Generation
aircraft and 26 Embraer 190 aircraft. We currehtlye firm orders, including purchase and lease cioments, for 26 Boeing
737-Next Generation and purchase rights and opfimmsp to eight additional Boeing 737-Next Genenaand 11 additional
Embraer 190s.

Copa currently offers approximately 152 daily sakled flights among 45 destinations in 24 countielorth,
Central and South America and the Caribbean frerRénama City hub. Copa provides passengers wigsado flights to
more than 120 other destinations through codesiraa@gements with Continental pursuant to whictheadine places its
name and flight designation code on the othergghts. Through its Panama City hub, Copa is abt®isolidate passenger
traffic from multiple points to serve each destioateffectively.

Copa operates a modern fleet of 32 Boeing 737-Bexteration aircraft and 13 Embraer 190 aircraftnie®t its
growing capacity requirements, Copa has firm ordaeduding purchase and lease commitments, topaatsivery of 26
additional aircraft through 2015 and has purchag®s and options that, if exercised, would alléwoiaccept delivery of up to
14 additional aircraft through 2017. Copa’s firnders are for 26 additional Boeing 737-Next Generaéiircraft, and its
purchase rights and options are for up to eightiigp@37-Next Generation aircraft and up to six Eagir190s.

Copa started its strategic alliance with Continkintd 998. Since then, it has conducted joint mérigeand code-
sharing arrangements, and participated in the awarding OnePass frequent flyer loyalty programbgitly and on a co-
branded basis in Latin America. We believe that&epo-branding and joint marketing activities w€bntinental have
enhanced its brand in Latin America, and that giationship with Continental has afforded it casfated benefits, such as
improving purchasing power in negotiations wittceaft vendors and insurers. Copa'’s alliance aratedlservices agreements
with Continental are in effect until 2015.

During the second quarter of 2005, we purchasedRepublica, a Colombian air carrier that was trewsd-largest
domestic carrier in Colombia in terms of numbepa$sengers carried in 2005, which at the time pealpoint-topoint service
among 11 cities in Colombia. AeroRepublica curiepperates a fleet of 13 Embraer 190 and has exguhitsl routes to include
international point-to-point service from variousl@mbian cities to Panama, Venezuela and Ecuadopatt of its fleet
expansion plan, AeroRepublica has options to pwehg to five additional Embraer 190 aircraft thylo2013.
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Fuel is our single largest operating expense ad,r@sult, our results of operations are likelgdotinue to be
materially affected by the cost of fuel as compasétth prior periods. From 2004 to 2009, the averpgee of West Texas
Intermediate crude oil, a benchmark widely usectfade oil prices that is measured in barrels arated in U.S. dollars,
increased by 50% from $41.47 per barrel to $62&7barrel. During 2008, fuel prices experienceadifigant volatility, with
West Texas Intermediate crude prices reachingetberd price of approximately $145 per barrel iryJBrrices then dropped
below $40 per barrel at the beginning of 2009, #wet stabilized at approximately $70 per barrehisecond half of 2009.
While prices have decreased since their peak i8 208 believe that fuel prices are likely to in@ean the future. In past yez
we have managed to offset some of the increase®imprices by managing load factors, fuel relgiéide increases, which may
take the form of fare increases or fuel surcharged,cost cutting initiatives. For example, weraste that we were able to
offset approximately 100% of the increase in upgts in 2008 as compared to 2007 through highéreménues. Although
there are other factors affecting unit costs, manent considers the 100% cost recoverability ta far estimate of the
coverage of incremental fuel prices, as most ofrtbeease in unit costs is related to fuel pricee Wéve hedged 24% and 11%
of our anticipated fuel needs for 2010 and 2014peetively. We will continue to evaluate variousii@eg strategies, and we
may enter into additional hedging agreements irfuhee.

Our 2005 acquisition of AeroRepublica has affedtelcomparability of our recent results of operaso

On April 22, 2005 we acquired an initial 85.6% eaguwiwnership interest in AeroRepublica which waliofwed by
subsequent acquisitions increasing our total owngigterest in AeroRepublica to 99.9% as of Decenfi, 2009.
AeroRepublica is the second-largest domestic aami€olombia in terms of revenue, currently promglservice among 12
cities in Colombia and international service téestin Panama, Venezuela and Ecuador with a poiptint route network.

We began to consolidate AeroRepublica’s resultspafrations in our consolidated financial statemensspril of
2005. We report AeroRepublica’s operations as arse@ segment in our financial statements andefa¢ed notes. See Note 17
to our audited financial statements included els@lin this annual report for segment data for Remiblica for the year
ended December 31, 2009. As a result of this aituisand our consolidation of AeroRepublica’s iésas of April 22, 2005,
our financial information prior to and after thegacsition is not comparable.

Regional Economic Environment

Our historical financial results have been, andewgect them to continue to be, materially affedigdhe general
level of economic activity and growth of per capgitaposable income in North, South and Central Acaeand the Caribbean
(drivers of our passenger revenue) and the voluni@de between countries in the region (the ppakdriver of our cargo
revenue).

According to data fronThe Preliminary Overview of the Economies of L&tinerica and the Caribbegran annual
United Nations publication prepared by the Econobéwelopment Division, the economy of Latin Amer{@zcluding the
Caribbean) decreased by 1.7% in 2009 and grew19 4 2008. In recent years, the Panamanian ecomasyglosely tracked
the economies of the United States and of Latin Agaeln 2009, however, the Panamanian economy greeal terms by
1.8% (versus 9.2% in 2008), according to the Irggomal Monetary Fund’s estimates. Inflation in Bawa rose 2.3% in 2009
(versus 8.8% in 2008). Additionally, the Colomb&ronomy has experienced relatively stable growttofding to the
International Monetary Fund’s estimates, the Coliamlgross domestic product grew by 7.5% in 2005%@in 2008 and only
slightly decreased by -0.2% in 2009 with inflati@s indicated by the consumer price index) rism& 5% in 2007, 7.0% in
2008 and 4.6% in 2009.
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Revenues

We derive our revenues primarily from passengersjpartation which represents 95% of our revenuéh, 5%
derived from cargo and other revenues.

We recognize passenger revenue when transporiatmovided and when unused tickets expire. Pagseegenues
reflect the capacity of our aircraft on the routesfly, load factor and yield. Our capacity is me=sl in terms of available seat
miles (ASMs) which represents the number of seadable on our aircraft multiplied by the numbémailes the seats are
flown. Our usage is measured in terms of revenssqraer miles (RPMs) which is the number of revgrassengers multiplic
by the miles these passengers fly. Load factoth@percentage of our capacity that is actuallylusepaying customers, is
calculated by dividing RPMs by ASMs. Yield is theesage amount that one passenger pays to fly olee Wie use a
combination of approaches, taking into accountdgeflight load factors and effects on load factirsonnecting traffic,
depending on the characteristics of the marketseseto arrive at a strategy for achieving the Ipesssible revenue per
available seat mile, balancing the average faregelthagainst the corresponding effect on our leatbfs.

We recognize cargo revenue when transportationigigeed. Our other revenue consists primarily afess baggage
charges, ticket change fees and charter flights.

Overall demand for our passenger and cargo serisdeghly dependent on the regional economic emvirent in
which we operate, including the GDP of the coustrie serve and the disposable income of the residéthose countries. V
believe that 50% of our passengers travel at iagsart for business reasons, and the growth odiiegional trade greatly affe
that portion of our business. The remaining 50%wfpassengers are tourists or travelers visitiegds and family.

The following table sets forth our capacity, loadtbr and yields for the periods indicated.

Year Ended December 31,

2007 2008 2009

Copa Segment

Capacity (in available seat miles, in millions) 6,297.¢ 7,341.¢ 8,319.(

Load factor 78.4% 78.8% 76.(%

Yield (in cents) 15.3¢ 16.81 15.2¢
AeroRepublica Segme

Capacity (in available seat miles, in millior 1,620.¢ 1,502.° 1,591.°

Load factor 57.2% 61.7% 67.5%

Yield (in cents) 22.7¢ 26.31 20.71

Seasonality

Generally, our revenues from and profitability ofr dlights peak during the northern hemisphereimsier season in
July and August and again during the December andaty holiday season. Given our high proportiofixad costs, this
seasonality is likely to cause our results of opiena to vary from quarter to quarter.

Operating Expenses

The main components of our operating expensesiaraf fuel, salaries and benefits, passengerisery,
commissions, aircraft maintenance, reservationssales and aircraft rent. A common measure of pircasts in the airline
industry is cost per available seat mile (CASM)jahhis generally defined as operating expensesidd/by ASMs.

Aircraft fuel. The price we pay for aircraft fuel varies signifitlg from country to country primarily due to local
taxes. While we purchase aircraft fuel at all thipats to which we fly, we attempt to negotiatelfag contracts with
companies that have a multinational presence iardaibenefit from volume purchases. During 20@9% aesult of the location
of its hub, Copa purchased 57% of its aircraft fnoPanama. Copa has over 15 suppliers of airtuaftacross its network. In
some cases, we tanker fuel in order to minimizecost by fueling in airports where fuel prices lngest. Our aircraft fuel
expenses are variable and fluctuate based on ghilqaices. From 2004 to 2009, the average pric&/est Texas Intermediate
crude oil, a benchmark widely used for crude adites that is measured in barrels and quoted in dlbfars, increased by 50%
from $41.47 per barrel to $62.07 per barrel. Tedae have managed to offset some of the increadasl prices with higher
load factors, fuel surcharges and fare increasesddition, our relatively young, winglet-equippiéekt also helps us mitigate
the impact of higher fuel prices. Historically, Wwave not hedged a significant portion of our fusdts. We have hedged 24%
and 11% of our anticipated fuel needs for 2010201, respectively.
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Aircraft Fuel Data

2005 2006 2007 2008 2009

Copa Segmer
Average price per gallon of jet fuel

into plane (excluding hedge) (in

U.S. dollars; $ 1.87 $ 2.1C $ 2.2¢ $ 3.21 $ 1.84
Gallons consumed (in thousani 58,92¢ 70,77( 85,46: 100,26t 112,40:
Available seat miles (in millions 4,40¢ 5,23¢ 6,29¢ 7,34: 8,31¢
Gallons per ASM (in hundredth 1.3¢ 1.3¢ 1.3€ 1.37 1.3¢
AeroRepublice(1)
Average price per gallon of jet fuel

into plane (excluding hedge) (in

U.S. dollars;] $ 2.1z $ 2.2¢4 $ 245 $ 3.4¢ $ 1.97
Gallons consumed (in thousant 17,881 28,321 26,98¢ 24,79¢ 25,617
Available seat miles (in millions 95C 1,627 1,62( 1,502 1,592
Gallons per ASM (in hundredths) 1.8¢ 1.74 1.67 1.6 1.61

(1) Since April 22, 2005.

Salaries and benefitSalaries and benefits expenses have historicallgased at the rate of inflation and by the
growth in the number of our employees. In somes;age have adjusted salaries of our employeesrtesywond to changes in
the cost of living in the countries where these leyges work. We do not increase salaries baseemoiorsty.

Passenger servicing expens@sir passenger servicing expenses consist of expémskability insurance, baggage
handling, catering, in-flight entertainment andesthosts related to aircraft and airport servidé®se expenses are generally
directly related to the number of passengers wey carthe number of flights we operate.

CommissionsOur commission expenses consist primarily of paysér ticket sales made by travel agents and
commissions paid to credit card companies. Tragehts receive base commissions, not including feackincentive program
ranging from 0% to 6% depending on the country.iuthe last few years we have reduced our comarisskpense per
available seat mile as a result of an industry-widad of paying lower commissions to travel agesend by increasing the
proportion of our sales made through direct chan#le expect this trend to continue as more ofcastomers become
accustomed to purchasing through call centersfaodigh the internet. While increasing direct satey increase the
commissions we pay to credit card companies, weepat the savings from the corresponding reduogti travel agency
commissions will more than offset this increaserdeent years, base commissions paid to traveltadwve decreased
significantly. At the same time, we have encouramadel agencies to move from standard base cononis$o incentive
compensation based on sales volume and fare types.

Maintenance, material and repair expens®sr maintenance, material and repair expensesstasfsaircraft repair
and charges related to light and heavy maintenafoer aircraft, including maintenance materialaiMenance and repair
expenses, including overhaul of aircraft componearts charged to operating expenses as incurrethedage of our fleet
increases and our warranties expire, our maintenarpenses will increase. We only conduct line teaiance internally and
outsource heavy maintenance to independent thintgt pantractors. In 2003, we negotiated with GE iBadServices a
maintenance cost per hour program for the repaimaaintenance of our CFM-56 engines which powerBnging 737 Next
Generation fleet. Our engine maintenance costalaceaided by the sdavel elevation of our hub and the use of wingletsch
allow us to operate the engines on our Boeing 78t iEeneration aircraft with lower thrust, thustmg less strain on the
engines.

Line maintenance for AeroRepublica’s fleet is perfed by AeroRepublica’s iheuse maintenance staff. The ave
age of AeroRepublica’s fleet as of December 319208s 3.2 years.
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Aircraft rent. Our aircraft rental expenses are generally fixedheyterms of our operating lease agreements.
Currently, six of Copa’s operating leases havedisaes which are not subject to fluctuations teriest rates and the seventh is
tied to LIBOR. All of AeroRepublica’s operating ks have fixed rates which are not subject todatabns in interest rates.
Our aircraft rent expense also includes rental paymrelated to our wet-leasing of freighter aiftci@ supplement our cargo
operations.

Reservations and sales expensds: reservations and sales expenses arise prinfiaoity payments to global
distribution systems, such as Amadeus and Salaeljishour flight offerings on reservation systearsund the world. These
reservation systems tend to raise their rates gieatly, but we expect that if we are successfudnicouraging our customers to
purchase tickets through our direct sales chantiedse costs will decrease as a percentage ofpeuang costs. A portion of
our reservations and sales expense is also cordfsmur licensing payments for the SHARES reséovaand check-in
management software we use, which is not expeoteta@nge significantly from period to period.

Flight operationsandlanding fees and other rentadse generally directly related to the number aftits we operate.

Otherincludes publicity and promotion expenses, experslased to our cargo operations, technology rdlate
initiatives and miscellaneous other expenses.

Taxes

We pay taxes in the Republic of Panama and in atbentries in which we operate, based on regulatioreffect in
each respective country. Our revenues come priligifstam foreign operations and according to the&aanian Tax Code,
including all regulations, decrees and executiwsees (“Panamanian Fiscal Code”) these foreignatipes are not subject to
income tax in Panama.

We have elected to calculate our Panamanian in¢arith the gross tax method. Under this methadgll on the
Panamanian Fiscal Code, income for internatiomalsportation companies is calculated based onitot&lity method that
determines gross revenues earned in Panama byirpfie percentage of miles flown within the Panaiaa territory against
total revenues. Under this method, loss carry-fodsaannot be applied to offset tax liability. Rignds from our Panamanian
subsidiaries, including Copa, are separately stibjea 10% percent withholding tax on the portittnilautable to Panamanian
sourced income and a 5% withholding tax on theipomttributable to foreign sourced income.

We are also subject to local tax regulations irhezfahe other jurisdictions where we operate,gtesat majority of
which are related to the taxation of our incomesdme of the countries to which we fly, we do nay pny income taxes
because we do not generate income under the lath®®é countries either because they do not haeeria taxes or due to
treaties or other arrangements those countries WwakiePanama. In the remaining countries, we paprine tax at a rate ranging
from 25% to 34% of our income attributable to thoeantries. Different countries calculate our ineoim different ways, but
they are typically derived from our sales in thelagable country multiplied by our net margin or &presumed net margin set
by the relevant tax legislation. The determinattbour taxable income in several countries is based combination of
revenues sourced to each particular country andltbeation of expenses to that particular counfiye methodology for
multinational transportation company sourcing afereue and expense is not always specifically pitesdrin the relevant tax
regulations, and therefore is subject to intergi@taby both ourselves and the respective tax aiitee. Additionally, in some
countries, the applicability of certain regulatigymverning non-income taxes and the determinatf@unofiling status are also
subject to interpretation. We cannot estimate theunt, if any, of the potential tax liabilities thaight result if the allocations,
interpretations and filing positions we use in amépg our income tax returns were challenged bytakeauthorities of one or
more countries. It is possible that we may becouigest to tax in jurisdictions in which, for prigears, we had not been
subject to tax and that, in the future, we may beesubject to increased taxes in the countrieshichwwe fly.
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Under a reciprocal exemption confirmed by a bilaltegreement between Panama and the United Siatese
exempt from the U.S. source transportation incoemederived from the international operation of edft

We paid taxes totaling approximately $16.6 milliar2007, $14.9 million in 2008 and $13.8 million2009.
Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

The preparation of our consolidated financial stegets in conformity with U.S. GAAP requires our ragement to
adopt accounting policies and make estimates afghjents to develop amounts reported in our cors@ifinancial
statements and related notes. We strive to maiataiocess to review the application of our accdagnpolicies and to evaluate
the appropriateness of the estimates requirechéopteparation of our consolidated financial statets. We believe that our
estimates and judgments are reasonable; howewasl aesults and the timing of recognition of sachounts could differ from
those estimates. In addition, estimates routinefjuire adjustments based on changing circumstamzkthe receipt of new or
better information.

Critical accounting policies and estimates arerdefias those that are reflective of significangjuénts and
uncertainties and potentially result in materialifferent results under different assumptions amiditions. For a discussion of
these and other accounting policies, see Noteolit@nnual consolidated financial statements.

Revenue recognitiofassenger revenue is recognized when transportatovided rather than when a ticket is
sold. The amount of passenger ticket sales nategeignized as revenue is reflected in the “Airficdfability” line on our
consolidated balance sheet. Fares for ticketshiéne¢ expired and/or are more than one year oldegagnized as passenger
revenue upon expiration.

Goodwill and indefinite-lived purchased intangilassetsin accordance with ASC Topic 350, “Intangibles-Gadd
and Other” (“ASC Topic 350”), we perform impairmeasting of goodwill separately from impairmenttieg of indefinite-
lived intangibles. We test goodwill for impairmeat,least annually, by comparing the book valuthéofair value at the
reporting segment level and individually test indiéé-lived intangibles, at least annually, by caripg the individual book
values to fair values. Considerable managemeninedg is necessary to determine the assumptionsrtaetplace
participants would consider in determining the failue of these assets. We did not recognize apgirment charges for
goodwill or intangibles assets during the years@néed. All of our goodwill and indefinite-livedtangible are allocated in the
AeroRepublica segment and are tested annuallyrfpairment. For the years ended December 2009 ad&} 2@nhounts of
goodwill and intangible assets have changed dee¢bange effect.

Derivative instruments and hedging activiti#g¢e account for derivatives and hedging activitieadcordance with
ASC Topic 815, “Derivatives and Hedging” (“ASC To815”), which requires entities to recognize @ltidative instruments
as either assets or liabilities in the balance tshetheir respective fair values.

We only enter into derivative contracts that weint to use in managing the variability in markédted values of a
forecasted transaction or the variability of cdsiwé to be received or paid related to a recognasset or liability (cash flow
hedge). For all hedging relationships we formalhgament the hedging relationship and its risk-manaent objective and
strategy for undertaking the hedge, the hedgingunent, the hedged item, the nature of the riskdoeedged, how the
hedging instrument’s effectiveness in offsetting tiedged risk will be assessed prospectively andsgectively, and a
description of the method of measuring ineffecte®s We also formally assess, both at the hedgesption and on an
ongoing basis, whether the derivatives that ard us@edging transactions are highly effective fiseiting cash flows of
hedged items.
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Changes in the fair value of a derivative thatighly effective and that is designated and quaifis a cash-flow
hedge are recorded in accumulated other comprefeeimsiome to the extent that the derivative isafie as a hedge, until
earnings are affected by the variability in caslwB of the designated hedged item. The ineffeqitméion of the change in fair
value of a derivative instrument that qualifiesaasash-flow hedge or that is not designated aslgehis reported in earnings.

We discontinued hedge accounting prospectively wiemdetermines that the derivative is no longegatite in
offsetting cash flows of the hedged item, the detiire expires or is sold, terminated, or exercisled derivative is de-
designated as a hedging instrument because itikelynthat a forecasted transaction will occurhasanagement determines that
designation of the derivative as a hedging instmingeno longer appropriate.

In all situations in which hedge accounting is distinued and the derivative is retained, we comtitaucarry the
derivative at its fair value on the balance sheetr@cognize any subsequent changes in its failevial earnings. When it is
probable that a forecasted transaction will nouocwe discontinue hedge accounting and recogmireddiately in earnings
gains and losses that were accumulated in othepadransive income.

Maintenance and repair costslaintenance and repair costs for owned and ledigd €quipment, including the
overhaul of aircraft components, are charged toaijyey expenses as incurred. Engine overhaul costsred by power-by-the-
hour arrangements are paid and expensed as incorrgde basis of hours flown per the contract. éirttie terms of our power-
by-the-hour agreements, we pay a set dollar ampeméngine hour flown on a monthly basis and tirelgparty vendor
assumes the obligation to repair the engines atlddional cost to us, subject to certain speciégdlusions.

Additionally, although our aircraft lease agreensesgiecifically provide that we, as lessee, areaesiple for
maintenance of the leased aircraft, we do, undeaiceof our existing lease agreements, pay maartea reserves to aircraft
and engine lessors that are to be applied towardsdst of future maintenance events. These resareecalculated based on a
performance measure, such as flight hours, andpeifically to be used to reimburse thpdrty providers that furnish servic
in connection with maintenance of our leased ditctiathere are sufficient funds on deposit to fiag invoices submitted, they
are paid. However, if amounts on deposit are insiefit to cover the invoices, we must cover therghlh because, as noted
above, we are legally responsible for maintainimg lease aircraft. Under our aircraft lease agre¢snd there are excess
amounts on deposit at the expiration of the letgelessor is entitled to retain any excess amois maintenance reserves
paid under our lease agreements do not transfegrehe obligation to maintain the aircraft or tuest risk associated with the
maintenance activities to the aircraft lessor.ddifion, we maintain the right to select any thirarty maintenance providers.
Therefore, we record these amounts as prepaid em@nte within “Other Assets” on our consolidateldibee sheet and then
recognize maintenance expense when the underlyaigtemance is performed, in accordance with ounteaance accounting
policy.

Adopted and Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncemén

Effective July 1, 2009, the Financial Accountingu&iards Board’s (“FASB”) Accounting Standards Cicdifion
(“ASC”) became the single official source of autitetive, nongovernmental generally accepted acéogmrinciples
(“GAAP”) in the United States. The historical GAARerarchy was eliminated and the ASC became thelemél of
authoritative GAAP, other than guidance issuedheySecurities and Exchange Commission (“Commis$idir accounting
policies were not affected by the conversion to ABBwever, references to specific accounting stedelin the footnotes to o
consolidated financial statements have been chatogeder to the appropriate section of ASC.

In March 2008, the Financial Accounting Standardat (FASB) issued Statement No. 161, “Disclosatesut
Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities —amendment of FASB Statement No. 133" (“SFAS 16$PAS 161
requires entities that utilize derivative instrurtssto provide qualitative disclosures about théieotives and strategies for
using such instruments, as well as any detailsedfitrisk-related contingent features containethimiderivatives. SFAS 161
also requires entities to disclose additional infation about the amounts and location of derivatieeated within the financial
statements, how the provisions of SFAS 133 have bpelied, and the impact that hedges have on tty’erfinancial positior
financial performance, and cash flows. SFAS 16dffisctive for fiscal years and interim periods eding after November 15,
2008, with early application encouraged. This cphég contained in ASC Topic 815, “Derivatives afeldging” (“ASC Topic
815"). The adoption of this amendment did not haweaterial impact on our Consolidated FinanciateStents.
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In September 2006, the FASB issued guidance whe€ines fair value, establishes a framework for meag fair
value and expands disclosures about fair value mneasents. This guidance is contained in ASC Togig, 8Fair Value
Measurements and Disclosures” (“ASC Topic 820")Fabruary 2008, the FASB deferred the effective datlanuary 1, 2009
for all nonfinancial assets and liabilities, exctptthose that are recognized or disclosed atviine on a recurring basis (that
is, at least annually). We adopted the deferredipians of ASC Topic 820 on January 1, 2009. Apgtiien of the new rules
affected our annual impairment testing goodwill atiger intangible assets.

In April 2009, the FASB issued additional guidarficeestimating fair value in accordance with ASGpio820. The
additional guidance addresses estimating fair valuen the volume and level of activity for an aszetiability has
significantly decreased in relation to normal madetivity for the asset or liability. We adoptéubtprovisions of this guidance
for the fourth quarter of 2009. The adoption did Inave a material effect on our Consolidated Firer&tatements.

In June 2009, the FASB issued guidance to chamgadial reporting by enterprises involved with aaie interest
entities (“VIEs”). The standard replaces the quatitie-based risks and rewards calculation formeiténg which enterprise
has a controlling financial interest in a VIE wih approach focused on identifying which enterphiae the power to direct the
activities of a VIE and the obligation to absorbdes of the entity or the right to receive thetgstresidual returns. This
accounting standard is effective for us on JandaB010. We are currently evaluating the requiresehthis pronouncement
and have not determined the impact, if any, thap#dn of this standard will have on our ConsoléhFinancial Statements.

In October 2009, the FASB issued guidance thatgbsithe accounting for revenue arrangements witlipteu
deliverables. The guidance requires an entitylticate consideration at the inception of an arrarey# to all of its deliverables
based on their relative selling prices and elimgsdhe use of the residual method of allocatior glidance establishes a
hierarchy for determining the selling price of divlerable, based on vendor-specific objective ente third-party evidence or
estimated selling price. In addition, this guidaegpands required disclosures related to a vendmultiple-deliverable revent
arrangements. This accounting standard is effeétivas on January 1, 2011. This guidance did metha material impact on
our Consolidated Financial Statements.

Gain from Involuntary Conversion

In 2007, we recorded an $8.0 million gain on invaéary conversion of non-monetary assets to monetssgts
related to insurance proceeds in excess of airboafk value.

Special Fleet Charges

In 2009, we decided to terminate early three MDaB6raft leases prior to their scheduled expiratinrconnection
with the transition of AeroRepublica’s fleet to Erabr 190. Fees paid for early termination amoutde®iL0.5 million and were
recognized as Special Fleet Charges in the CorsdelidStatements of Income.

In addition to the early lease termination, we wrdbwn amounts related property, plant and equipswh as
rotable parts, spare engines and tools totaling fdllion, and recognized a loss of $4.0 milliotated to the scrapping of
obsolete expendable parts.

In 2007, we decided to terminate early five MD-8@mft leases, in connection with the transitidn o

AeroRepublica’s fleet to Embraer 190. Penaltiesl pai early termination are recognized as Spedegt-Charges in the
Statement of Income.
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Subsequent Events
Currency Devaluation

On Friday, January 8, 2010, the Venezuelan govenharenounced its decision to implement new fixechexge
rates effective Monday, January 11, 2010, whichre8ult in a significant devaluation of the Bolivagainst the U.S. dollar.

Since 2005 the official exchange rate had beemifateVEB 2.15 per U.S. dollar, however, the newnmegapplies
two official rates to different sectors of the eooty. The first exchange rate, applicable to immbgeods characterized as
essential, will be VEB 2.60 per U.S. dollar, and thte applicable to all other imported goods artlises, including the
aviation sector, will be VEB 4.30 per U.S. dollat.this time we are uncertain how this devaluatiah affect future demand
for air travel in Venezuela and the results of business.

In addition, we have significant cash balancesafivBrs subject to Venezuelan exchange controleceés2003, under
the Venezuelan foreign exchange control regimeifor companies are required to obtain Venezuelaergonent approval to
exchange Bolivars into U.S. dollars at the fixeficil exchange rate for the purpose of transferfumds out of Venezuela.
Furthermore, since 2008 foreign companies with aj@ns in Venezuela have experienced increasiraydeh obtaining such
government approvals. As a result of these dekysf March 11, 2010, we have approximately $9%aniin Venezuelan
Bolivares pending approval and repatriation. Inifigid, on Wednesday, January 27, the Venezuelaemavent announced tt
it would apply the exchange rate of VEB 2.60 pes.Wollar to all funds pending approval by the Vareda Central Bank
through January 8, 2010 and committed to a fourtmdisbursement schedule for the repatriation e$éhfunds. As a result of
the devaluation, we estimate that the Companyimgliir losses of approximately $21 million, whichiMaie recorded in the first
quarter of 2010 in accordance with US GAAP. Moreotlee exchange control situation in Venezuela iemancertain, and w
cannot guarantee that we will be able to repatfiatels on a timely basis and therefore continueetexposed should there be a
further devaluation of the Bolivar before such aais.

Tax Reform

Law 8 of 2010 (the “Tax Reform”), which modifies tedal sections of the Panamanian Fiscal Code wpsaed
and became effective on March 15, 2010. As a redultis reform, the airline industry will be subjeo higher tax rates than it
has paid in the past. We estimate, however, thawvit®enefit from certain tax credits in respeattaxes paid in foreign
jurisdictions in 2010 and on a go-forward basis. We, therefore, anticipate thateftective tax rate for the immediate future
will remain within the historical range of the péise years. As a result, we do not believe thisrzform is likely to have a
material adverse effect on our financial positi@sults of operations and cash flows. Any futurangfe in the Panamanian tax
law increasing the taxes payable by us could haatemally adverse effects on our business, findrgiadition and result of
operations.

Results of Operation

The following table shows each of the line item®im income statements for the periods indicateal percentage of
our total operating revenues for that period:

Year Ended December 31,

2007 2008 2009

Operating revenues:
Passenger reven 94.1% 94.5% 94.1%
Cargo, mail and other 5.9% 5.5% 5.2%

Total 100.(% 100.(% 100.(%
Operating expense
Aircraft fuel (25.8% (31.9% 24.0%
Salaries and benefi 11.9% (10.% (12.60%
Passenger servicir (8.1)% (7. 7Y% (8.8)%
Commissions (6.4)% (5.2% (4.6)%
Reservation and sal 4.7% (4.3% (4.5%
Maintenance, materials and rep: (5.00% (5.2% (6.1)%
Depreciatior (3.9)% (3.39% 3.8%
Flight operation: (4.3)% (4.9)% (4.9%
Aircraft rentals (3.8% (3.39% B.7%
Landing fees and other renti (2.6)% (2.5)% 2. 7%
Other (5.4)% (4.5)% (5.00%
Special fleet charge (0.7)% — (1.5%
Gain from involuntary conversic 0.8% — —

Total (80.8)% (82.6)% (82.2%
Operating income 19.2% 17.2% 17.€%
Non-operating income (expenses):
Interest expens (4.3)% (3.39% (2.6)%
Interest capitalize: 0.3% 0.1% 0.1%
Interest incom« 1.2% 0.9% 0.7%
Other, ne! 1.1% (4.6)% (4.8%

Total (1.8)% (6.8)% (2.9%
Income/(loss) before income tax 17.4% 10.€% 20.7%
Income taxe: 1.7% (1.49% (1.6)%
Net income 15.8% 9.2% 19.2%
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Year 2009 Compared to Year 2008

Our consolidated net income in 2009 totaled $24filHon, a 102.6% increase over net income of $T18illion in
2008. This increase was primarily due to a $58.0ianigain in the fair value of fuel hedge instrumtgin 2009 as compared to
a $54.8 million loss in the fair value of fuel hedigstruments in 2008. We had consolidated opeyaticome of $223.3 million
in 2009, a 0.3% decrease from operating income2#4® million in 2008. Our consolidated operatingrgin in 2009 was
17.8%, an increase of 0.4 percentage points oveparating margin of 17.4% in 2008.

Operating revenue

Our consolidated revenue totaled $1.25 billion®02, a 2.8% decrease from operating revenue oB$dilon in
2008 due to decreases in both passenger and eargoues.

Copa segment operating revenue

Copa’s operating revenue totaled $1.02 billion®2, a 1.1% decrease from operating revenue of#ddillGon in
2008 due to decreases in both passenger and eargoues.

Passenger revenuPassenger revenue totaled $964.3 million in 20@09% decrease over passenger revenue of
$973.2 million in 2008. This decrease resulted prityp from lower passenger yield, which decreasg®13% to 15.25 in 2009,
and lower load factor, which decreased by 2.8 peagge points to 76.0% in 2009. This decrease il yerd load factor was
partially offset by the increase in capacity asilabée seat miles increased by 13.3% in 2009 aspewed to 2008 as a result of
increase in departures.

Cargo, mail and otherCargo, mail and other revenue totaled $60.2 miliilo2009, a 4.1% decrease from cargo, mail
and other revenue of $62.7 million in 2008. Thisrdase was primarily the result of lower cargo nesxeresulting from a
decrease in cargo volume and cargo unit prices.

AeroRepublica segment operating revenue

AeroRepublicas operating revenue totaled $240.4 million in 2@8ecrease of $24.6 million from operating reve
of $264.9 million in 2008, resulting from a decreas both passenger and cargo revenues. This decresulted primarily fror
lower passenger yield (yield decreased from 26e3tscin 2008 to 20.71 cents in 2009) during théoplepartly due to a weak
Colombian currency and lower ticket prices. Therease in yield was partially offset by higher Idadtor (load factor
increased by 9.3 percentage points to 67.5% in 2808 5.9% more capacity.

Operating expenses

Our consolidated operating expenses totaled $ildénkin 2009, a 3.3% decrease from operating eses of
$1.06 billion in 2008 that was primarily the resofitsavings due to lower fuel cost, partially offbg higher operating cost due
to growth in capacity.

In 2009, our operating expenses per availableragdatexcluding aircraft fuel was 7.36 cents, a 1.&86rease from
operating expenses per available seat mile exdualircraft fuel of 7.46 cents in 2008. Aircraft fyer available seat mile was
3.04 cents in 2009, compared to 4.58 cents in 2008009, our total operating expenses per avalabht mile was 10.39 cel
a 13.7% decrease from operating expenses per bleafaat mile of 12.04 cents in 2008.

An overview of the major variances on a consoliddtasis follows:
Aircraft fuel. Aircraft fuel totaled $300.8 million in 2009, a 2% decrease from aircraft fuel of $404.7 million in

2008. This decrease was primarily a result of lofuet prices, partially offset by 10.4% higher feelnsumption and a realized
fuel hedge loss of $41.9 million in 2009, as conepeto a realized fuel hedge gain of $7.3 millior2008.
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Salaries and benefitSalaries and benefits totaled $157.9 million in2013.2% increase over salaries and benefits
of $139.4 million in 2008. This increase was priityaa result of an overall increase in headcourgupport our operations.

Passenger servicingassenger servicing totaled $110.8 million in 2G022.1% increase over passenger servicing of
$98.8 million in 2008. This increase was primaslyesult of an increase in capacity and on-boassqragers.

Maintenance, materials and repaifdaintenance, materials and repairs totaled $76lifomin 2009, a 15.5%
increase over maintenance, materials and repa6@# million in 2008. This increase was primaslyesult of increase in
capacity and overhaul events.

The remaining operating expenses totaled $383l6omih 2009, an increase of $28.1 million over 800

Copa segment operating expenses

The breakdown of operating expenses per availa@alersile is as follows:

Year Ended December 31 Percent
2008 2009 Change
(in cents)
Operating Expenses per ASM:
Salaries and benefits 1.4¢ 1.5C 1.4%
Passenger servicing 1.11 1.1z 0.9%
Commissions 0.71 0.5t (22.2%)
Reservation and sal 0.5t 0.5C (10.0(%)
Maintenance, materials and repz 0.62 0.77 23.4%
Depreciatior 0.5z 0.5z 0.C%
Flight operation: 0.64 0.62 (3.2%)
Aircraft rentals 0.4% 0.31 (26.5%)
Landing fees and other renti 0.3z 0.3C (7.C%)
Other 0.5% 0.5% (0.1%)
Total operating expenses per ASM before aircradt 6.94 6.7t (2.8%)
Aircraft fuel 4.32 2.9¢ (30.%)
Total operating expenses per A$ 11.27 9.74 (13.6%)

Aircraft fuel. Aircraft fuel totaled $249.0 million in 2009, a Z% decrease from aircraft fuel of $318.2 million in
2008. This decrease was primarily a result of 820decrease in the all-in average price per galfgat fuel ($2.20 in 2009
compared to $3.14 in 2008) and the consumptior2df% more fuel due to a 12.2% increase in depastétiecraft fuel per
available seat mile decreased by 30.9% due todheedse in average fuel cost per gallon.

Salaries and benefitSalaries and benefits totaled $125.2 million in2014.9% increase over salaries and benefits
of $108.9 million in 2008. This increase was maialsesult of an overall increase in operating headtto support increased
capacity deployed during the year. Salaries anefitsrper available seat mile increased by 1.4%.

Passenger servicingtassenger servicing totaled $92.9 million in 2G024.3% increase over passenger servicing of

$81.2 million in 2008. This increase was primaslyesult of Copa’s 13.3% increase in capacity. &g servicing per
available seat mile increased by 0.9%.
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CommissionsCommissions totaled $45.9 million in 2009, a 12 @86rease from commissions of $52.1 million in
2008. This decrease was primarily a result of lopassenger revenue and lower average commissies @dmmissions per
available seat mile decreased by 22.3%.

Reservations and saleBeservations and sales totaled $41.5 million in92@02.0% increase over reservations and
sales of $40.7 million in 2008. This increase wamarily a result of an 8.2% increase in board passengers. Reservations
sales expenses per available seat mile decreastel @b.

Maintenance, materials and repaifdaintenance, materials and repairs totaled $64lomin 2009, a 39.8%
increase over maintenance, materials and repaf4®b million in 2008. This increase was primaslyesult of a 13.3%
increase in capacity and more overhaul events. tdaamce, materials and repair per available sdatimireased by 23.4%. V
recognize the cost of overhaul events when theyrodherefore, our maintenance cost will fluctuditie the timing of these
activities.

Depreciation.Depreciation totaled $43.2 million in 2009, a 13.Bfrease over depreciation of $38.1 million in &(
as a result of higher depreciation attributabledoacquisition of four new Embraer 190 and one Be®ing 737-800 in 2008,
and one new Boeing 737-800 in 2009.

Flight operations, aircraft rentalandlanding fees and other rentalSombined, flight operations, aircraft rentals and
landing fees and other rentals increased from $1@llion in 2008 to $102.5 million in 2009. Comlei flight operations,
aircraft rentals and landing fees and other remtafsavailable seat mile decreased by 11.2%, asthease in the combined
expense was offset by a 13.3% increase in avaikgzemiles.

Other.Other expenses totaled $45.9 million in 2009, 2%8Bincrease over other expenses of $40.6 millio2008.
This increase was primarily a result of an incraas@nePass frequent flyer miles earned by custsmiering the period and
higher technology related expenses. Other expgreseavailable seat mile decreased by 0.1%.

AeroRepublica segment operating expenses

AeroRepublica’s operating expenses totaled $232llibmin 2009, a decrease of $16.4 million fromeoating
expenses of $249.2 million reported during 2008narily as a result of lower aircraft fuel costipaly offset by higher
expenses related to 8.6% more departures and bfleetecharges related to the retirement of ttiepMD-80 aircraft.
Non-operating income (expense)

Our consolidated non-operating income totaled $&@lBon in 2009, an increase over non-operatingenses of
$87.9 million in 2008, attributable primarily ta$&8.0 million gain in the market value of fuel hedgstruments as comparec
a $54.8 million loss in the market value of fuetibe instruments during 2008.

Copa segment non-operating income (expense)

Non-operating income totaled $40.1 million in 2088,increase over navperating expense of $77.4 million in 20
attributable primarily to a $53.1 million gain ine market value of fuel hedge instruments.

Interest expensénterest expense totaled $30.1 million in 200968% decrease from interest expense of
$36.2 million in 2008, primarily resulting from l@w average interest rates during the period. Tleeaae effective interest rai
on our debt decreased by 76 basis points from 4 @&&dng 2008 to 3.92% during 2009. At perisénd, interest rate on 49%
our outstanding debt was fixed at an average éfiecate of 4.87%.

Interest capitalizedinterest capitalized totaled $0.7 million in 20@%3.9% decrease from interest capitalized of
$1.9 million in 2008, resulting from lower averagenthly balance relating to pre-delivery paymentsaocraft.
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Interest incomelnterest income totaled $8.1 million in 2009, a8%4.decrease from interest income of $10.5 million
in 2008. This decrease was mainly a result of loaverage interest rates during the period.

Other, netOther, net income totaled $61.3 million in 2009p@red to a $53.6 million other, net loss in 200&8s
change was primarily the result of a $55.9 millgain in the market value of fuel hedge instrumelutsng 2009 as compared
a loss of $53.1 million during 2008.

AeroRepublica segment non-operating income (expense

Non-operating expense totaled $2.4 million in 20®8gecrease from non-operating expense of $10lBmih 2008,
attributable primarily to a gain in the market valof fuel hedge instruments during 2009, as contptra loss in the market
value of fuel hedge instruments during 2008.

Year 2008 Compared to Year 2007

Our consolidated net income in 2008 totaled $1bdllion, a 26.7% decrease from net income of $16dilion in
2007. This decrease was due to a $54.9 millionitogse fair value of fuel hedge instruments. Opierally, we had a
consolidated income of $224.0 million in 2008, a428 increase over operating income of $197.5 nnillim2007. Our
consolidated operating margin in 2008 was 17.4%ea@ease of 1.8 percentage points from an operatargin of 19.2% in
2007.

Operating revenue

Our consolidated revenue totaled $1.29 billion®&, a 25.5% increase over operating revenue 6fldillion in
2007 due to increases in both passenger and cavgaues.

Copa segment operating revenue

Copa’s operating revenue totaled $1.04 billion®, a 28.5% increase over operating revenue o8.88dillion in
2007 due to increases in both passenger and cavgaues.

Passenger revenuPassenger revenue totaled $973.2 million in 20@8B.2% increase over passenger revenue of
$756.4 million in 2007. This increase resulted ity from the addition of capacity (ASMs incread®d16.6% in 2008 as
compared to 2007) that resulted from an increaskepartures and, to a lesser extent, longer avestage length. Revenues a
increased due to our higher overall load factoadlfactor increased from 78.4% in 2007 to 78.8%068) during the period
and the simultaneous increase in passenger yiéidhwose by 9.7% to 16.81 cents in 2008.

Cargo, mail and otherCargo, mail and other revenue totaled $62.7 miliilo2007, a 26.1% increase over cargo, |
and other revenue of $49.8 million in 2007. Thisréase was primarily the result of higher excegghge fees and higher
cargo revenue resulting from an increase in bglce capacity available.

AeroRepublica segment operating revenue
AeroRepublica’s operating revenue totaled $264 18amiin 2008, an increase of $38.9 million overeogting
revenue of $226.0 million registered during 2008ufeéng from an increase in both passenger andoa@genues. This increase

resulted primarily from higher passenger yield iyi@creased from 22.74 cents in 2007 to 26.31<en2008) during the
period, partly due to a stronger Colombian currethasing the year and higher ticket prices.
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Operating expenses

Our consolidated operating expenses totaled $1illdénbin 2008, a 28.3% increase over operatingenges of
$829.8 million in 2007 that was primarily attribbte to the growth of our operations and higher figait.

In 2008, our operating expenses per availablersgatexcluding aircraft fuel was 7.46 cents, a 4 ifi%ease over
operating expenses per available seat mile exdualircraft fuel of 7.13 cents in 2007. Aircraft fyer available seat mile was
4.58 cents in 2008, compared to 3.35 cents in 2002008, our total operating expenses per avalabht mile was 12.04 cel
a 14.9% increase over operating expenses per bieagaat mile of 10.48 cents in 2007.

An overview of the major variances on a consoliddtasis follows:

Aircraft fuel. Aircraft fuel totaled $404.7 million in 2008, a 5% increase over aircraft fuel of $265.4 million in
2007. This increase was primarily a result of higlael prices and higher fuel consumption.

Salaries and benefitSalaries and benefits totaled $139.4 million in@019.5% increase over salaries and benefits
of $116.7 million in 2007. This increase was priityaa result of an overall increase in headcourgupport our operations.

Passenger servicingassenger servicing totaled $98.8 million in 2G089.1% increase over passenger servicing of
$82.9 million in 2007. This increase was primaslyesult of an increase in Copa’s capacity andaardpassengers.

CommissionsCommissions totaled $67.2 million in 2008, a 1.9%réase over commissions of $65.9 million in
2007. This increase was primarily a result of higteessenger revenue offset by lower average conongss

The remaining operating expenses totaled $354liomih 2008, an increase of $55.9 million over Z00
Copa segment operating expenses

The breakdown of operating expenses per avail@alersile is as follows:

Year Ended December 31 Percent
2007 2008 Change
(in cents)
Operating Expenses per ASM
Salaries and benefits 1.4t 1.4¢ 2.4%
Passenger servicir 1.0¢ 1.11 1.€%
Commissions 0.74 0.71 (3.€%)
Reservation and sal 0.57 0.5t (2.€%)
Maintenance, materials and repz 0.62 0.6% 0.€%
Depreciatior 0.4¢ 0.5z 6.4%
Flight operation: 0.5¢ 0.64 8.7%
Aircraft rentals 0.44 0.4% (3.4%)
Landing fees and other renti 0.3z 0.32 1.8%
Other 0.61 0.5% (8.8%)
Total operating expenses per ASM before aircradt 6.9C 6.94 0.5%
Aircraft fuel 3.17 4.3¢% 36.1%
Total operating expenses per A¢ 10.0¢ 11.27 11.9%
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Aircraft fuel. Aircraft fuel totaled $318.2 million in 2008, a 8% increase over aircraft fuel of $199.7 million in
2007. This increase was primarily a result of @3¥increase in the all-in average price per gatibjet fuel ($3.14 in 2008
compared to $2.29 in 2007) and the consumptior6df% more fuel due to a 18.9% increase in depariamel an increase in
average stage length. Aircraft fuel per availalelat snile increased by 36.7% due to the increaseénage fuel cost per gallon.

Salaries and benefitSalaries and benefits totaled $108.9 million in@019.4% increase over salaries and benefits
of $91.2 million in 2007. This increase was maialgesult of an overall increase in operating headtto support increased
capacity deployed during the year. Salaries anefitsrper available seat mile increased by 2.5%.

Passenger servicingassenger servicing totaled $81.2 million in 2@G0818.4% increase over passenger servicing of
$68.6 million in 2007. This increase was primaslyesult of Copa’s 16.6% increase in capacity. &egsr servicing per
available seat mile increased by 1.6%.

CommissionsCommissions totaled $52.1 million in 2008, a 12 iB#ease over commissions of $46.4 million in
2007. This increase was primarily a result of higteessenger revenue partially offset by lower ayer@ommission rates.
Commissions per available seat mile decreased@®.3.

Reservations and saleBeservations and sales totaled $40.7 million in82@013.5% increase over reservations and
sales of $35.9 million in 2007. This increase wamarily a result of a 15.4% increase in board passengers. Reservations
sales expenses per available seat mile decreas2é%y

Maintenance, materials and repaifdaintenance, materials and repairs totaled $45l€omin 2008, a 17.2%
increase over maintenance, materials and repa#$8®® million in 2007. This increase was primaslyesult of a 16.6%
increase in capacity. Maintenance, materials apdir@er available seat mile increased by 0.6%.

Depreciation.Depreciation totaled $38.1 million in 2008, a 24.lt#rease over depreciation of $30.7 million in 2(
as a result of higher depreciation attributableuoacquisition of five new Embraer 190 and two rigweing 737800 aircraft ir
2007, and four new Embraer 190 and one new Boe3@g8D0 in 2008. Depreciation per available seaenmcreased by 6.4%.

Flight operations, aircraft rentalandlanding fees and other rentalSombined, flight operations, aircraft rentals and
landing fees and other rentals increased from $84llibn in 2007 to $101.9 million in 2008, priméyias a result of Copa’s
16.6% increase in capacity. Combined, flight ogere, aircraft rentals and landing fees and otbetals per available seat m
increased by 3.1%.

Other.Other expenses totaled $40.6 million in 2008, &®idcrease over other expenses of $38.1 millio20@7.
This increase was primarily a result of an increas@nePass frequent flyer miles earned by custsmiering the period. Other
expenses per available seat mile decreased by 8.8%.

AeroRepublica segment operating expenses

AeroRepublica’s operating expenses totaled $249IBmin 2008, an increase of $48.7 million overarating
expenses of $200.5 million reported during 200vprily due to higher aircraft fuel cost and higheintenance expenses
related to the retirement of the older MD-80 aifcra
Non-operating income (expense)

Our consolidated non-operating expenses totaled@$8illion in 2008, an increase over non-operagmpgenses of
$18.6 million in 2007, attributable primarily to$&4.9 million loss in the market value of fuel hedgstruments.
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Copa segment non-operating income (expense)

Non-operating expense totaled $77.4 million in 2G08increase over non-operating expense of $alibmin 2007,
attributable primarily to a $53.1 million loss imet market value of fuel hedge instruments.

Interest expensénterest expense totaled $36.2 million in 2008,32®decrease from interest expense of
$36.3 million in 2007, primarily resulting from l@w average interest rates during the period. Tlees@e effective interest rai
on our debt decreased by 88 basis points from 5&é6g 2007 to 4.68% during 2008. At peris&nd, interest rate on 47%
our outstanding debt was fixed at an average @ffecate of 4.89%.

Interest capitalizedinterest capitalized totaled $1.9 million in 20885.3% decrease over interest capitalized of
$2.6 million in 2007, resulting from lower averagenthly balance relating to pre-delivery paymentsocraft.

Interest incomelnterest income totaled $10.5 million in 2008, a3B@ decrease from interest income of $11.7 mi
in 2007. This decrease was mainly a result of loaverage interest rates during the period, paytaffset by a higher average
cash and investment balance.

Other, netOther, net loss totaled $53.6 million in 2008, camgal to a $15.9 million other, net income in 20Dfis
change was primarily the result of a $53.1 millioss in the market value of fuel hedge instrumenisng the period.

AeroRepublica segment non-operating income (expense

Non-operating expense totaled $10.5 million in 2008ecrease from naperating expense of $12.2 million in 20
attributable primarily to lower interest expense.

B. Liquidity and Capital Resources

In recent years, we have been able to meet ouriagdapital requirements through cash from our apens. Our
capital expenditures, which consist primarily atceaft purchases, are funded through a combinatiaur cash from operatio
and long-term financing. From time to time, we fica pre-delivery payments related to our aircratitwedium-term
financing in the form of commercial banks loans/andbonds privately placed with commercial bankar @counts receivable
at December 31, 2009 increased by $5.6 million caneqh with December 31, 2008, primarily as a resiuthe growth in
operating revenues.

Our cash, cash equivalents and short-term invedtnaiecember 31, 2009 decreased by $44.7 mtition
$352.1 million. At December 31, 2009, we had $6iHlion in restricted cash within long-term investnis as collateral for
letters of credits. At December 31, 2009 we hadlabi® committed lines of credit totaling $29.6 lwih under which there
were no amounts outstanding and uncommitted lifiesedlit totaling $60.0 million under which theresv$20.0 million
outstanding. These lines of credit have been sddorbridge potential liquidity gaps and accountdther potential
contingencies.

Operating Activities
We rely primarily on cash flows from operationsprmvide working capital for current and future ogigsns. Cash

flows from operating activities totaled $282.4 iwifi in 2009, $198.1 million in 2008 and $221.9 ioillin 2007. The increase
in operating cash flows over these periods wasgmilgndue to the growth of our business.
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Investing Activities

During 2009, our capital expenditures were $202llian, which consisted primarily of expendituredated to our
purchase of one Boeing 737-800 aircraft, as wefil&sl. 7 million in expenditures related to advapagments on aircraft
purchase contracts for aircraft delivering in 202011 and 2012. During 2008, our capital expendiwrere $215.9 million,
which consisted primarily of expenditures relatedtr purchase of four Embraer 190 aircraft and®Boeing 737-800 aircraft,
as well as to expenditures related to advance patmuoa aircraft purchase contracts. During 2007 capital expenditures we
$366.1 million, which consisted primarily of expétudes related to our purchase of nine Embraeradi@®aft and two Boeing
737-800 aircraft, as well as to expenditures rélateadvance payments on aircraft purchase costract

Financing Activities

Financing activities during 2009 consisted primyaaif $103.8 million of financing of one aircraft@aircraft pre-
delivery payments, the repayment of $175.4 millioshort and long-term debt and $16.3 million imidénds declared and
paid.

Financing activities during 2008 consisted primyaaf $160.2 million of financing for five aircraénd aircraft pre-
delivery payments, the repayment of $84.5 millioriang-term debt and $16.2 million in dividends ldeed and paid.

Financing activities during 2007 consisted primyaaf $329.1 million of financing for 11 aircraft draircraft pre-
delivery payments, the repayment of $87.3 milliorlang-term debt and $13.6 million in dividends ldeed and paid.

In past years we have generally been able to aerareglium-term financing for pre-delivery paymehi®tigh loans
with commercial banks. In 2009, we financed ourgeévery payments with our own cash. As the afitcaiee delivered and the
financing for the aircraft is received, these pedisatry payments will be recovered by the company.

Although we have not experienced any difficultyaibing financing, the current recessionary envirentncombinet
with other factors, has led to a tightening in ¢thedit markets, which has increased the cost ofeage and debt financing and
we may not be able to continue to raise financingesms attractive to us, or at all, in the future.

We have financed the acquisition of 21 Boeing 7¥&tiNGeneration aircraft and three spare enginesigr
syndicated loans provided by international finahitistitutions with the support of partial guaraegdssued by the Export-
Import Bank of the United States, or Ex-Im, witlpagment profiles of 12 years. The Ex-Im guaranseggport 85% of the net
purchase price and are secured with a first pyigniortgage on the aircraft in favor of a secunitystee on behalf of Ex-Im. The
documentation for each loan follows standard mafidens for this type of financing, including stamd@vents of default. Our
Ex-Im supported financings amortize on a quartbdgis, are denominated in dollars and originallyrheterest at a floating
rate linked to LIBOR. Our Ex-Im guarantee facil#tigypically offer an option to fix the applicabl&érest rate. We have
exercised this option with respect to $337.8 miillas of December 31, 2009 at an average weighterkst rate of 4.67%. The
remaining $25.8 million bears interest at an avenagighted interest of LIBOR plus 0.03%. At Decembg, 2009, the total
amount outstanding under our Ex-Im-supported fiiragectotaled $363.5 million.

We have effectively extended the maturity of certafi our Boeing aircraft financing to 15 years thgb the use of a
“Stretched Overall Amortization and Repayment,'S®AR, structure which provides serial draawns calculated to result it
100% loan accreting to a recourse balloon at thteimitya of the Ex-Im guaranteed loan. The SOAR ot of our facilities
require us to maintain certain financial covenaimtsiuding an EBITDAR to fixed charge ratio, a letegm obligations to
EBITDAR ratio and a minimum unrestricted cash ba&riTo comply with the first ratio, our EBITDA plasrcraft rent
expense, or EBITDAR, for the prior year must béeast 2.0 times our fixed charge expenses (incyditerest, commission,
fees, discounts and other finance payments) fdryiar. To comply with the second ratio, our loegat obligations must be no
more than six times EBITDAR. Third, our cash, caglivalents and short-term investment balance shioeilat least
$50 million. As of December 31, 2009, we complieithvall required covenants. We also pay a commitrfesaon the
unutilized portion of our SOAR loans.
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We also have financed 10% of the purchase priceéin of our Boeing aircraft through commercadns. Under
the commercial loan agreements for aircraft reakine2002, we are required to comply with four sfiedinancial covenants.
The first covenant requires our EBITDAR for thegoryear to be at least 2.0 times our finance chargenses (including
interest, commission, fees, discounts and othanfie payments). The second covenant limits oubarebwings to 85% of our
capitalization. The third covenant requires ougthte net worth to be at least $120 million. Thstleovenant requires us to
maintain a minimum of $50 million in available ca@hcluding cash equivalents and committed creatilities). As of
December 31, 2009, we complied with all requiredec@mnts.

Our Embraer aircraft purchases are not eligibleEfodm guaranteed financing. During 2005, we sed@aenior
term loan facility in the amount of $134 millionrfthe purchase of six Embraer 190 aircraft. Thesoaave a term of twelve
years. During 2005, we utilized $44 million of ttiéility and the remaining $90 million was drawarithg 2006. During 2006,
we secured a senior and junior term loan facilityd total $240 million for the purchase of ten Eagy 190 aircraft. The loans
have a term of twelve years. During 2006, we &di£24 million of this facility and the remaindeasvdrawn during 2007.
During 2008, we secured a senior term loan faciitthe amount of $100 million for the purchasdmfr Embraer 190 aircraft.
The loans have a term of twelve years. During 20@8utilized all of this facility. Under the 2006dn agreement we are
required to comply with certain financial covenarithe first covenant requires our EBITDAR for théop year to be at least
2.5 times our fixed charge expenses (including@ste commission, fees, discounts and other finpagenents) for that year.
The second covenant requires a total liability miperating leases minus operating cash to tang#tievorth ratio of less than
5.5 to 1. The third covenant requires our tangitdeworth to be at least $160 million. The lastemant requires us to maintain
a minimum of $75 million in available cash, casligglents and short-term investments. As of Decer8tie2009, we
complied with all required covenants.

Capital resourcesWe finance our aircraft through long term debt apdrating lease financings. Although we expect
to finance future aircraft deliveries with a cormdion of similar debt arrangements and financirgés, we may not be able to
secure such financing on attractive terms. To #terg we cannot secure financing, we may be requoenodify our aircraft
acquisition plans or incur higher than anticipdiedncing costs. We expect to meet our operatirigations as they become
due through available cash and internally generiateds, supplemented as necessary by short-termit tirees.

As of December 31, 2009, we had placed firm purettaders with The Boeing Company for 27 Boeing R&#t
Generation aircraft and we have purchase rightsoatidns for an additional eight Boeing 737-Nexn@&mation aircraft. We
also have options to purchase an additional 11 Bert¥90 aircraft. The schedule for delivery of fium purchase orders is as
follows: seven in 2010, five in 2011, five in 20%8ur in 2013, four in 2014, and two in 2015. Weaneur pre-delivery deposit
requirements for our Boeing 737-Next Generationraft by paying cash, or by using medium-term bwing facilities and/or
vendor financing for deposits required between ywars and 6 months prior to delivery. Pre-delivégposits for our Embraer
190 aircraft are required 18, 12 and 6 months pdatelivery. We fund these deposits with our owste

We maintain available facilities for letters of ditewith several banks with outstanding balance$2§.7 million and
$34.6 million at December 31, 2009 and 2008, rethpely. These letters of credit are pledged fociift rentals, maintenance
and guarantees for airport facilities. Of this Lo#¥.7 million are letters of credit opened on &i¢lof AeroRepublica for the
same purposes listed above. In addition, we hawernitied lines of credit totaling $29.6 million, inding one line of credit for
$15.0 million with Banco General and an overdriaift lof credit of $10.0 million with Towerbank. Wesa had a non committi
line of credit of $60.0 million with Bladex. Thelres of credit have been secured to bridge liquigaps and for other
potential contingencies. As of December 31, 2009 had an outstanding balance of $20.0 million \Bitiadex.
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C. Research and Development, Patents and Licenses:.

We believe that the Copa brand has strong valueratichtes superior service and value in the LAtmerican travel
industry. We have registered the trademarks “Capal’ “Copa Airlines” with the trademark office infana and have filed
requests for registration in other countries, idoig the United States. We license certain bralog®s and trade dress under
trademark license agreement with Continental réladeour alliance. We will have the right to continto use our current logos
on our aircraft for up to five years after the efidhe alliance agreement term. AeroRepublica’sregsstered its name as a
trademark in Colombia for the next ten years, dad$to register its trademark in Panama, Ecuademezuela and Peru.

We operate a number of software products undendieg from our vendors, including our booking engne
automated pricing system from SMG Technologies, ABRE revenue management software and our Cargmytament
system. Under our agreements with Boeing, we adgoauarge amount of Boeing’s proprietary informatio maintain our
aircraft. The loss of these software systems dirtieal support information from Boeing could negaly affect our business.

D. Trend Information

We seek to expand our operations by adding freqesramd new routes with the addition of eight neveiBg 737-
800 aircraft to our fleet in 2010. For the remainde2010, we expect to continue to concentrat&eeping our operating costs
low and pursuing ways to make our operations mfigient.

We intend to continue developing initiatives to ioye the operations at both Copa and AeroRepuhticyding a
continued focus on on-time performance and congpidctors. In February 2010, as part of our ptambdernize
AeroRepublica’s fleet, we completed the retirenardur last remaining MD-80 aircraft. Additionallye continue to seek
further integration of Copa’s and AeroRepublicagdwork through codesharing and fleet interchangeegents.

We expect jet fuel prices will continue to be vééain 2010 and expect to continue evaluating fumging programs
to help protect us against short-term movementsude oil prices. We also expect some recoverj@fégional economic
environment during 2010.

We expect our operating capacity to increase apmately 10% in 2010, primarily as a result of tlilgion of nine
new aircraft throughout the year.

E. Off-balance sheet arrangements

None of our operating lease obligations are redliécin our consolidated balance sheet, and we hawéher off-
balance sheet arrangements. We are responsitddl fomintenance, insurance and other costs assdoidth operating these
aircraft; however, we have not made any residulalevar other guarantees to our lessors.

F. Tabular Disclosure of Contractual Obligations

Our non-cancelable contractual obligations at Ddmam31, 2009 included the following:

At December 31, 2009

Less than 1-3 3-5 More than

Total 1 Year Years Years 5 Years
(in thousands of dollar:

Aircraft and engine purchase

commitments 980,88: 246,24 347,58 319,97! 67,07¢
Aircraft operating leases 226,55° 46,67( 79,43: 53,03¢ 47,41¢
Other operating leases 35,93¢ 9,741 13,53¢ 9,39¢ 3,262
Short-term debt and longrm debt(1 937,63( 122,27: 206,18 190,12- 419,05
Total 2,181,00! 424,92! 646,74( 572,53: 536,80°

(1) Includes actual interest and estimated interesfidating-rate debt based on December 31, 2009 r
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Most contract leases include renewal options. Niocrat related leases have renewable terms ofyeae, and their
respective amounts included in the table above baea estimated through 2014, but we cannot esiarabunts with respect
to those leases for later years. Our leases dmdeide residual value guarantees.

The Company has a prepaid pension asset, but ¢éssineat contribution payments to the plan, wheftect expecte
future services, will be $1.2 million for 2010.

Item 6. Directors, senior management and employees
A. Directors and Senior Management

We are managed by our Board of Directors whichently consists of eleven members who serve two-igrars and
may be re-elected. The number of directors eleeteth year alternates between six directors andifreetors. Messrs. Pedro
Heilbron, Osvaldo Heilbron, Ricardo A. Arias, M&gkwin, Alfredo Arias Loredo and Roberto Artavia wegach re-elected for
two-year terms at our annual shareholders’ medteid in May 2008. At our 2009 annual shareholderséting held on May ¢
2009, Messrs. Stanley Motta, José Castafieda \ddeme Arias, Alberto C. Motta Jr., and Joseph Fidienwere re-elected as
directors until the 2011 annual shareholders’ nmgetOur charter does not have a mandatory retireagsnfor our directors.

The following table sets forth the name, age argitjpm of each member of our Board of DirectoroBEebruary 26,
2010. A brief biographical description of each membf our Board of Directors follows the table.

Name Position Age
Pedro Heilbror Chief Executive Officer and Direct 52
Stanley Motte Chairman and Directc 64
Osvaldo Heilbror Director 84
Jaime Arias Director 75
Ricardo Alberto Arias Director 70
Alberto C. Motta, Jr Director 63
Mark Erwin Director 54
Joseph Fidanque | Director 43
Jose Castafieda Vel Director 65
Roberto Artavia Lorié Director 51
Alfredo Arias Loredc Director 63

Mr. Pedro Heilbron . See “—Executive Officers.”

Mr. Stanley Motta has been one of the directors of Copa Airlinesesit@86 and a director of Copa Holdings, sin
was established in 1998. Since 1990, he has sewvétk President of Motta Internacional, S.A. derirational importer and
distributor of consumer goods. Mr. Motta is thethay of our director, Alberto C. Motta Jr. He ses\om the boards of directors
of Motta Internacional, S.A., BG Financial GroupAS ASSA Compariia de Seguros, S.A., Televisoraidwet, S.A.,
Inversiones Bahia, Ltd. and GBM Corporation. Mr.tMas a graduate of Tulane University.

Mr. Osvaldo Heilbron has been one of the directors of Copa Airlinesesit®36 and a director of Copa Holdings,
since it was established in 1998. Mr. Heilbrorhis father of Mr. Pedro Heilbron, our chief execetofficer. He serves on the
boards of directors of CIASA, Desarrollo Costa Bste, S.A., Harinas Panama, S.A., Televisora Nati@hA. and SSA
Panama Inc.

Mr. Jaime Arias has been one of the directors of Copa Airlinesesit®33 and a director of Copa Holdings, since it
was established in 1998. He is a founding parth&adindo, Arias & Lopez. Mr. Arias holds a B.Aofn Yale University, a
J.D. from Tulane University and legal studies &t thiversity of Paris, Sorbonne. He serves on teds of directors of
Televisora Nacional, S.A., ASSA Compafiia de SegBo%s., Empresa General de Inversiones, S.A., ResDelta, S.A., Bac
International Bank, Inc., Direct Vision, S.A. antbied, S.A.
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Mr. Ricardo Arias has been one of the directors of Copa Airlinesesit@85 and a director of Copa Holdings, sin
was established in 1998. He is a founding parth&adindo, Arias & Lopez. Mr. Arias is the formeaRamanian ambassadol
the United Nations. Mr. Arias holds a B.A. in imational relations from Georgetown University, dnB. from the University
of Puerto Rico and an LL.M. from Yale Law Schook Berves on the boards of directors of Banco Gerera. and Empresa
General de Inversiones, S.A., which is the holdiogpany that owns Banco General, S.A. Mr. Ariaal$® listed as a principal
or alternate director of several subsidiary comesuoif Banco General, S.A. and Empresa Generahaediones, S.A.

Mr. Arias is a former Director and President of Benamanian Stock Exchange.

Mr. Alberto Motta, Jr. has been one of the directors of Copa Airlinesesit@83 and a director of Copa Holdings,
since it was established in 1998. He is a ViceiBess of Inversiones Bahia, Ltd. Mr. Motta attendlee University of
Hartwick. He is the brother of Mr. Stanley Mottae ldlso serves on the boards of directors of Matterhacional, S.A., BG
Financial Group, S.A., Inversiones Costa del ESt8,, ASSA Compafiia de Seguros, S.A., PetroleogaP8IA., Productos
Toledanos, S.A., Financiera Automotriz, S.A., T&eva Nacional, S.A., Hotel Miramar Inter-Contingréind Industrias
Panama Boston, S.A.

Mr. Mark Erwin has been one of the directors of Copa Airlines@apa Holdings since 2004. He is the Senior \
President Corporate Development and Alliances ofti@ental Airlines and serves on the board of doexof Continental
Micronesia, Inc., the wholly owned western Pac$iibsidiary of Continental Airlines, Inc. Mr. Erwireld the position of Seni
Vice President of Airport Services of Continentatlides, Inc. from 1995 through 2002. Mr. Erwinagraduate of Portland
State University. Mr. Erwin has been appointeduo®oard of Director pursuant to our supplemengaeament with
Continental (see “Item 7.B Related Party and Cer&gnificant Transactions — Supplemental Agreerfent

Mr. Joseph Fidanque 1l has been one of the directors of Copa Airlineses2@06. He is President of Fidanque
Hermanos e Hijos, S.A. and Star Contact, Ltd. Heeseon the boards of directors of Multiholding faration — Panama,
Fundacion Filantrépica Fidanque, Colon Import amgdEt and Sky Technologies Network. Mr. Fidanquiba B.S. in
Economics from Tufts University.

Mr. Roberto Artavia Loria is one of the independent directors of Copa Holslitie is Chairman of Viva Trust and
Viva Services, President of the Fundacién LatinaaradPosible in Panama and Costa Rica, Board Meméwisiting
professor of INCAE Business School, and DirectoMefViva Foundation in Panama. Mr. Artavia Loriaalso an advisor to
the governments of five countries in Latin Ameriaad a strategic advisor to Purdy Motor, S.A.,Ra@ama Canal Authority,
Coyol Free Zone and Business Park, Grupo NaciorFafDESA, among other organizations in the reghdn. Artavia Loria
also serves on the Board of Directors of the WBdources Institute and the Foundation for Managémeaucation in Central
America, both in Washington, Compariia Cervecerilidaragua, OBS Americas in Costa Rica, and IDC agat8mala.

Mr. José Castafieda Veleis one of the independent directors of Copa Holslite is currently director of MMG
Bank Corporation, MMG Fiduciary & Trust Corp., atie Instituto de Gobierno Corporativo de PanaméviBusly,
Mr. Castafieda Velez was the chief executive offidBanco Latinoamericano de Exportaciones, S.BILADEX and has hel
managerial and officer level positions at Banco &da Plata, Citibank, N.A., Banco de Credito etu and Crocker National
Bank. He is a graduate of the University of Lima.

Mr. Alfredo Arias Loredo is one of the independent directors of Copa Holslitte is the former Executive
President of Cerveceria Nacional, S.A. Mr. Ariasddp is a member of the Board of Trustees of ANG@&bciacién Nacion:
para la Conservacion de la Naturaleza). Mr. Ariageto received a B.S. in Mechanical Engineeringamt.S. in Industrial
Management, both from Georgia Institute of Techgplo
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The following table sets forth the name, age argitjpm of each of our executive officers as of keloy 26, 2010. A
brief biographical description of each of our exaaiofficers follows the table.

Name Position Age
Pedro Heilbror Chief Executive Office 52
Victor Vial Chief Financial Office 44
Daniel Gunr Senior Vice-President of Operatior 42
Leo Marchosky Vice-President of Human Resourc 53
Joe Mohar Vice-President of Commercial and Plann 40
Jaime Aguirre Vice-President of Maintenanc 47
Vidalia de Casad Vice-President of C-Board Service 52
David Lindskooc Vice-President of Flight Operatior 59
Peter Diaz Vice-President of Airport Service 43
Roberto Junguito Pomk Chief Executive Officer of AeroRepublic 39

Mr. Pedro Heilbron has been our Chief Executive Officer for 21 yeats.received an M.B.A. from George
Washington University and a B.A. from College of tHoly Cross. Mr. Heilbron is the son of Mr. Oswvaldeilbron, a member
of our Board of Directors. Mr. Heilbron is a Memtmdrthe Board of Governors of IATA.

Mr. Victor Vial has been our Chief Financial Officer since 2000nt1995 until 2000, Mr. Vial served as our
Director of Planning. Prior to his service at Coll, Vial was a Senior Financial Analyst for HBOrTé Warner. Mr. Vial
holds a B.B.A. in International Business from GepWashington University.

Mr. Daniel Gunn has been our Senior Vice-President of Operatianedrebruary 2009. Prior to this Mr. Gunn had
served as Vice-President of Commercial and PlanaimgVice-President of Planning and Alliances. iPlogoining Copa in
1999, he spent five years with American Airlinesdireg positions in Finance, Real Estate and Allesidvir. Gunn received a
B.A. in Business & Economics from Wheaton College an M.B.A. with an emphasis in Finance and Iraéamal Business
from the University of Southern California.

Dr. Leo Marchosky has been our Vice-President of Human Resources §iebruary 2008. Before joining Copa, he
was CEO and President of Novartis Mexico and prestioheld top management and regional positionk thié¢ same company
in Latin America, Asia and Europe. Dr. Marchosky laaMaster in Business Administration from the Baalo Business Schc
in Brazil, and is also an MD with a specialty indmal Medicine.

Mr. Joe Mohan has been our Vic@resident of Commercial and Planning since FebrR@g8. Prior to joining Cop
he was the Senior Vice President of Sales at Ameri@nd Lease and held several senior positio@®atinental Airlines.
Mr. Mohan received a B.A. in Economics from the \émsity of Florida and a M.B.A. with an emphasisstrategy from
Georgetown University.

Mr. Jaime Aguirre has been our Vice President of Maintenance sin6@.2Prior to that, he served as our Directa
Engineering and Quality Assurance. Before joinirap& Mr. Aguirre was the Technical Services DireetibAvianca, S.A.
Mr. Aguirre received a B.S. in Mechanical Enginagrfrom Los Andes University, a Master of Enginegrwith an emphasis
on Engineering Management from Javeriana Univeesity a M.B.A. from the University of Louisville.

Ms. Vidalia de Casadohas been our Vice-President of On-Board Servigesesianuary 2010. She joined Copa in
1989, serving as Passenger Services Manager fr8th91995 and Vice-President of Passenger Serfrices1995 to 2010.
Prior to joining Copa, she spent seven years asaiuResource and Service Director with Air Pananterracional, S.A. Ms.
de Casado received a B.S. in Business from Unidadsiatina and an M.B.A. from the University of Lisuille.

Captain David Lindskooghas been our Vice-President of Flight Operationses2008. Captain Lindskoog has
worked in the airline industry since 1981, bothiie operations and in management. Prior to joiroga he held management
positions at North American Airlines and ATA Airlis. Captain Lindskoog received a B.S. in ProfesdiBilot Technology
from Purdue University.
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Mr. Peter Diaz has been our Vice-President of Airport Serviceseidanuary 2010. Prior to joining COPA he served
as Vice-President of Primeflight Aviation Servias also held regional positions with JetBlue Aiya/érom 2003 through
2008. He received a B.S. in Business Administratiom Embry-Riddle University.

Mr. Roberto Junguito Pombo joined our company on November 8, 2005 as the Gwetutive Officer of our
AeroRepublica operating subsidiary. Mr. Junguiteviously spent two years with Avianca, holding piosis as the Vice
President of Planning, Chief Operating Officer &fdef Restructuring Officer. Avianca declared bamkcy in March 2003.
Mr. Junguito received a B.S. in Industrial Enginegrat the Universidad de Los Andes, an M.A. iretnaitional Studies from
the Joseph H. Lauder Institute of the University?ehnsylvania and an M.B.A. with an emphasis oarfae from the Wharton
School of the University of Pennsylvania.

The business address for all of our senior manageine/o Copa Airlines, Avenida Principal y Aveaide la
Rotonda, Urbanizacion Costa del Este, Complejoriss Park, Torre Norte, Parque Lefevre Panama Ratyama.

B. Compensation

In 2009, we paid an aggregate of approximately #&lifon in cash compensation to our executiveasfs. Although
in 2006 we set aside $3.0 million for payment toisemanagement related to covenants not to compigiteus in the future,
we have not set aside any other funds for futuyeneants to executive officers.

Members of our Board of Directors that are nota#ffs of either Copa or Continental receive $258€0year plus
expenses incurred to attend our Board of Direatwestings. In addition, members of committees of&bard of Directors
receive $1,000 per committee meeting, with therchain of the audit committee receiving $2,000 peeting of the audit
committee. All of the members of our Board of Dimgs and their spouses receive benefits to trav&apa flights as well.

Incentive Compensation Program

In 2005, the Compensation Committee of our BoarBicéctors eliminated the then existing Long Tergtdtion
Plan and approved a one time non vested stock bimasd program for certain executive officers (tBeock Incentive Plan”).
Non vested stock delivered under the Stock Incerfilan may be sourced from treasury stock, or aiaub ur-issued shares.
In March 20086, in accordance with this program,@wenpensation Committee of our Board of Directaented 935,650
restricted stock awards. Senior management wergegta847,625 non vested stock awards, which vestfoxe years in yearly
installments equal to 15% of the awarded stockamh ef the first three anniversaries of the graed25% on the fourth
anniversary and 30% on the fifth anniversary. Mamagofficers and key employees, not on our senammagement team, were
granted 88,025 non vested stock awards which vegt@second anniversary of the grant date. In eabarch 2007,
February 2008, and March 2009 the Compensation Gtieeof our Board of Directors granted 16,955373,and 113,714
shares of non-vested stock awards, respectivelertain named executive officers, which vest dlieze years in yearly
installments equal to one-third of the awardedlstwt each of the three anniversaries of the grate. donvested stock awar
were measured at their fair value, which is theesamount for which a similarly restricted share lddee issued to third party,
on the grant date. The fair value of these nonedestocks award was $22.05, $37.97, $53.14 and $2dr. the 2009, 2008,
2007 and 2006 grants, respectively.

In March 2007, the Compensation Committee of ousrB@f Directors granted, for the first time, 35/6&quity stock
options to certain named executive officers, whiekt over three years in yearly installments etpahe-third of the awarded
stock on each of the three anniversaries of thetgtate. The exercise price of the options is $B3ahich is the market price
the Company’s stock at the grant date. The stotiophave a contractual term of 10 years.

The weighted-average fair value of the stock otianthe grant date was $22.33, and was estimated the Black-
Scholes option-pricing model assuming an expeciddehd yield of 0.58%, expected volatility of apgimately 37.8% based
on historical volatility, weighted average riskdrinterest rate of 4.59%, and an expected termyefaBs calculated under the
simplified method.
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The Compensation Committee plans to make additiegaity based awards under the plan from timene i
including additional non vested stock and stockaspawards. While the Compensation Committee weiiain discretion to var
the exact terms of future awards, we anticipateftitare employee non-vested stock and stock ogtiwards granted pursuant
to the plan will generally vest over a three yeanigd and the stock options will carry a ten yeant

The total compensation cost recognized for nonegkstocks and options awards was $5.3 million, $8l6on and
$4.8 million in 2009, 2008 and 2007, respectivalyd was recorded as a component of “Salaries amefit® within Operating
Expense.

During first quarter of 2010 the Compensation Cotteriof our Board of Directors approved two newckto
compensation plans. Awards were granted under theseplans for 55,758 shares of non-vested stoadsy which will vest
over three years. We estimate the fair value aferevards to be approximately $3.1 million and26#0 compensation cost"
these plans to be $1.0 million.

C. Board Practices

Our Board of Directors currently meets quarterlgditionally, informal meetings with Continental dreld on an
ongoing basis, and are supported by quarterly fomeetings of an “Alliance Steering Committee,” wihidirects and reports
on the progress of the Copa and Continental Alkai@ur Board of Directors is focused on providing overall strategic
direction and as a result is responsible for eithinlg our general business policies and for agpajrour executive officers ai
supervising their management.

Currently, our Board of Directors is comprised kfven members. The number of directors elected gaah
alternates between six directors and five directdiesssrs. Pedro Heilbron, Osvaldo Heilbron, Alfrettas Loredo, Ricardo
Arias, Mark Erwin, and Roberto Artavia were eactelected to two-year terms at our annual sharehsldeeceting held in
May 2008. Messrs. Stanley Motta, Jaime Arias, Alh€r. Motta Jr., Joseph Fidanque and José Castafmaae-elected to
two-year terms at our annual shareholders’ medteid in May 2009. Our charter does not have a ntanglaetirement age for
our directors.

Pursuant to contractual arrangements with us aA$&J Continental is entitled to designate one of divectors.
Committees of the Board of Directors

Audit Committee. The primary function of the Audit Committee is ®s#st the Board of Directors in fulfilling its
oversight responsibilities by reviewing:

« the integrity of financial reports and other ficéal information made available to the public aya
regulator or governmental boc

« the effectiveness of our internal financial cohtind risk management systems; the effectiveriesaro
internal audit function, the independent audit psxcincluding the appointment, retention, compémsat
and supervision of the independent auditor;

« the compliance with laws and regulations, as aglihe policies and ethical codes established by
management and the Board of Direct

The Audit Committee is also responsible for impleireg procedures for receiving, retaining and adsirey
complaints regarding accounting, internal contral auditing matters, including the submission offaential, anonymous
complaints from employees regarding questionabtewatting or auditing matters.

Messrs. Jose Castafieda, Roberto Artavia and Alffeids, all independent non-executive directorserrttie
applicable rules of the New York Stock Exchange,tae current members of the committee, which &reld by Mr. Jose
Castafieda. All members are financially literate Btessrs. Jose Castafieda and Roberto Artavia haredsgermined to be
financial experts by the Board of Directors.
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Compensation Committee Our Compensation Committee is responsible for éiecsion process of the Chief
Executive Officer and the evaluation of all exeeetofficers (including the CEO), recommending téeel of compensation ar
any associated bonus. The charter of our Compems@bmmittee requires that all its members shatidieexecutive director:
of which at least one member will be an independiettor under the applicable rules of the Newkv8tock Exchange.
Messrs. Stanley Motta, Jaime Arias and José Cataadire the members of our Compensation CommitteblVa. Stanley
Motta is the Chairman of the Compensation Committee

Nominating and Corporate Governance CommitteeOur Nominating and Corporate Governance Commitee i
responsible for developing and recommending cétfar selecting new directors, overseeing evaluatiof the Board of
Directors, its members and committees of the Bo&@irectors and handling other matters that aexgjgally delegated to the
compensation committee by the Board of Directossnftime to time. Our charter documents require tihate be at least one
independent member of the Nominating and Corpdsateernance Committee until the first shareholderséting to elect
directors after such time as the Class A sharesrtied to full voting rights. Messrs. Ricardoid@s, Osvaldo Heilbron and
Roberto Artavia are the members of our Nominating @orporate Governance Committee, and Mr. Ricéwilas is the
Chairman of the Nominating and Corporate Govern&@m@mittee.

Independent Directors Committee.Our Independent Directors Committee is createduyAaticles of Incorporatio
and consists of any directors that the Board oé€ors determines from time to time meet the inddpace requirements of t
NYSE rules applicable to audit committee memberf®adign private issuers. Our Articles of Incorptima provide that ther
will be three independent directors at all timeshjsct to certain exceptions. Under our Articledraforporation, the
Independent Directors Committee must approve:

* any transactions in excess of $5 million betweeangsour controlling shareholde

«  the designation of certain primary share issusiticat will not be included in the calculation bét
percentage ownership pertaining to the Class Bestfar purposes of determining whether the Class A
shares should be converted to voting shares undekrticles of Incorporation, an

« theissuance of additional Class B shares orsGlashares to ensure Copa Airline’s compliance with
aviation laws and regulatior

The Independent Directors Committee shall also lzayeother powers expressly delegated by the Bofdrectors.
Under the Articles of Incorporation, these poweas only be changed by the Board of Directors acisig whole upon the
written recommendation of the Independent Direc&@osnmittee. The Independent Directors Committeéamly meet
regularly until the first shareholders’ meetingdtich the Class A shareholders will be entitledate for the election of
directors and afterwards at any time that Claskdes are outstanding. All decisions of the IndepehDirectors Committee
shall be made by a majority of the members of tremittee. See “Item 10B. Memorandum and Article&s$ociation—
Description of Capital Stock.”

D. Employees

We believe that our growth potential and the acdmeent of our results-oriented corporate goals meetly linked to
our ability to attract, motivate and maintain thesbprofessionals available in the airline businkssrder to help retain our
employees, we encourage open communication chahagl&en our employees and management. Our CEG maetterly
with all of our Copa employees in Panama in towih-$tsle meetings during which he explains the camgs performance and
encourages feedback from attendees. A similar ptaen is made by our senior executives at eagfuoforeign stations. Our
compensation strategy reinforces our determinatbaetain talented and highly motivated employe®sia designed to align
the interests of our employees with our sharehsltf@ough profit-sharing.
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Approximately 76% of Copa’s employees are locateBanama, while the remaining 24% are distributedray our
foreign stations. Copa’s employees can be categgbaz follows:

December 31,

2005 2006 2007 2008 2009

Pilots 23t 29¢ 37t 492 52¢
Flight attendant 44¢ 514 57t 71¢ 782
Mechanics 20C 15E 2138 247 24¢
Customer service agents, reservation

agents, ramp and oth 1,62¢ 1,861 1,89¢ 2,27(C 2,14:
Management and cleric 587 67E 742 807 1,06¢
Total employees 3,09¢ 3,504 3,802 4,53t 4,772

Our profit-sharing program at Copa reflects ouidfehat our employees will remain dedicated to success if they
have a stake in that success. We identify key peidace drivers within each employse&ontrol as part of our annual objecti
plan, or “Path to Success.” Typically, we pay baaum February based on our performance duringtbeeding calendar year.
For members of management, 75% of the bonus ani®based on our performance as a whole and 25%sisdbon the
achievement of individual goals. Bonuses for nomaggement employees are based on the company’siperioe and
payment is typically a multiple of the employee’sekly salary. The bonus payments are approved bg@mupensation
committee. We typically make accruals each monttitfe expected annual bonuses which are reconiiladtual payments at
their dispersal in the first quarter.

We provide training for all of our employees indlugl technical training for our pilots, dispatchdight attendants
and other technical staff. In addition, we provideurrent customer service training to frontlineffstas well as leadership
training for managers. In 2005, we leased a Leviight simulator for Boeing 73Next Generation training that served 80%
our initial training, transition and upgrade traigiand 100% of our recurrent training needs redatiinthat aircraft. During 20C
we upgraded this simulator to provide 100% of aifidl training. In 2008, we leased a similar flighmulator for Embraer 190
training that serves for all of our initial and verent training needs.

We generally maintain good relations with our unga non-union employees and have not experienogkl w
stoppages during the past twenty years. Approxima2 of Copa’s employees are unionized. Therecareently five unions
covering our Copa employees in Panama: the pilotin (SIPAC); the flight attendants’ union (SIPABJ the mechanics’
union (SINTECMAP); the traffic attendants’ union@ETRACO); and a generalized union, SIELAS, whigbresents ground
personnel, messengers, drivers, counter agentstaadnon-executive administrative staff. In Novembf 2007, Copa
negotiated a new collective bargaining agreemetit it pilot union that will remain in effect forane than four years, with the
next negotiation scheduled for August 2012. Cogared into new collective bargaining agreements vt general union,
mechanics union and flight attendants union in 2098, April 2009, and March 2010 respectively.|€ciive bargaining
agreements in Panama typically extend for four yeate also have agreements with our Copa emplage®do Paulo, Brazil
and Mexico. We have traditionally experienced goeldtions with our unions, and we generally agoegetms in line with the
economic environment affecting Panama, our compaudythe airline industry generally.

AeroRepublica’s pilots and flight attendants argresented by two separate unions. The pilots’ ymsnciacion
Colombiana de Aviadores Civil¢8CDAC), represents AeroRepublica’s pilots and dotp. The flight attendants’ union,
Asociaciéon Colombiana de Auxiliares de VU(ACAV), represents all of AeroRepublica’s flightettdants. AeroRepublica’s
entered into a new collective bargaining agreemétit ACDAC on March 3, 2008 and will be effect uriblecember 31, 2010.
Typically, collective bargaining agreements in Goloa are valid for a period of two to four yearer8Republica has
traditionally experienced good relations with itsans.

E. Share Ownership

The members of our Board of Directors and our etreewfficers as a group own 0.3% of our Class Argk. See
“ltem 7A. Major Shareholders and Related Party Saations.”
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For a description of stock options granted to ooaf#l of Directors and our executive officers, see “
Compensation—Long Term Incentive Compensation Rrogr

Item 7. Major Shareholders and Related Party Transations
A. Major Shareholders

The following table sets forth information relatitgthe beneficial ownership of our Class A shazsf
December 31, 2009 by each person known to us tefieeally own 5% or more of our common shares alhdwr directors and
officers as a group. Class A shares are limitethgathares entitled only to vote in certain spediftircumstances. See
“ltem 10B. Additional Information — Memorandum aAdticles of Association — Description of Capitalo8k.”

Class A Shares
Beneficially Owned

Shares (%) @
CIASA @ — —
Executive officers and directors as a group (2Gqes) 98,06¢ 0.3%
Bank of America Corp® 2,243,28: 7.3%
Others 28,225,49 92.%%
Total 30,566,85 10C%

(1) Based on a total of 30,566,853 Class A sharesandstg.
(2) CIASA owns 100% of the Class B shares of Copa Hhglsli representing 29.1% of our total capital st

(3) Based on a Schedule 13G filed with the SE@ed February 2, 2010, in which Bank of AmericafCand certain related
parties, reported beneficial ownership of 2,243,2&8ss A Share:

In June 2006, Continental reduced its ownershipunftotal capital stock from 27.3% to 10.0%. In M2308,
Continental sold down its remaining shares in thielip market.

CIASA currently owns 100% of the Class B share€opa Holdings, representing all of the voting powkour
capital stock. CIASA is controlled by a group oihBenanian investors representing several promirzentilies in Panama. This
group of investors has historically acted togethex variety of business activities both in Panamd elsewhere in Latin
America, including banking, insurance, real estelecommunications, international trade and consmand wholesale.
Members of the Motta, Heilbron and Arias familieslaheir affiliates beneficially own approximaté&l®% of CIASA’s shares.
Our Chief Executive Officer, Mr. Pedro Heilbron,daseveral of our directors, including Messrs. Staotta and Alberto C.
Motta Jr., Mr. Osvaldo Heilbron, Mr. Jaime AriagdaMr. Ricardo Alberto Arias as a group hold benafiownership of
approximately 78% of CIASA’s shares.

The holders of more than 78% of the issued andanding stock of CIASA have entered into a shardés’
agreement providing that the parties to the agreeémil vote all of their shares in CIASA togetha&s a group on all matters
concerning CIASA’s holdings of Class B shares. Aiddally, this shareholders’ agreement restric@ssfers of CIASA shares
to non-Panamanian nationals. Messrs. Stanley MoitibAlberto C. Motta Jr. together exercise effextontrol of CIASA.

The address of CIASA is Corporacién de Inversiohéeas, S.A., c/o Compafiia Panamefia de Aviacién, S.
Boulevard Costa del Este, Avenida Principal y Adenile la Rotonda, Urbanizaciéon Costa del Este, GgmBusiness Park,
Torre Norte, Parque Lefevre, Panama City, Panaina.afidress of Continental is Continental Airlines,, 1600 Smith Street,
Houston, Texas 77002.

69




Table of Contents

B. Related Party and Certain Significant Transactims
Supplemental Agreement

Copa Holdings is a party to a supplemental agreemih CIASA and Continental entered into in conti@t with
Continental’s May 2008 offering of our shares. Ba@plemental agreement terminates the shareholfgrsément between t
Company, CIASA and Continental that existed prdo€bntinental’s exit and further amends the amersaebrestated
registration rights agreement between the pafiassuant to the supplemental agreement, Continbagathe right to appoint a
member of its senior management to our Board oé@ars during the term of our alliance agreemetti @ontinental.

Registration Rights Agreement

Under the registration rights agreement, as amehgeébe supplemental agreement, CIASA continudsie the
right to make up to two demands on us with resgetie registration and sale of our common stodé bg them. One half of
the registration expenses incurred in connectidh thie first demand registration requested afterdéite hereof, which
expenses exclude underwriting discounts and conwnisswill be paid ratably by each security holdarticipating in such
offering in proportion to the number of their stetkat are included in the offering, and the batamfcsuch expenses will be
paid by the Copa Holdings for such demand registiat

Commercial Agreements with Continental

Our alliance relationship with Continental is gaved by several interrelated agreements between &upa
Continental. Each of the agreements as amendectkatated will expire only upon three years’ writtestice by one of the
airlines to the other, which may not be given beflay 2012. Other events of termination are sehfor the descriptions of tt
major alliance-related agreements set forth below.

Alliance Agreementnder our alliance agreement with Continental, kztlines agree to continue their codesharing
relationship with extensions as they feel are appate and to work to maintain our antitrust imntyniith the DOT. In order
to support the codesharing relationship, the atbaamgreement also contains provisions mandatirgnéineied frequent flyer
relationship between the airlines, setting minimexrels of quality of service for the airlines antteuraging cooperation in
marketing and other operational initiatives. Coatital and Copa are prohibited by the alliance agese from entering into
commercial agreements with certain classes of ctingpairlines, and the agreement requires bothigmtd include each other,
as practicable, in their commercial relationshiphwther airlines. Other than by expiration asaiged above, the agreement
is also terminable by an airline in cases of, amathgr things, uncured material breaches of tharalé agreement by the other
airline, bankruptcy of the other airline, termimatiof the services agreement for breach by ther @iinéne, termination of the
frequent flyer participation agreement without eintg into a successor agreement by the other ajritegrmination by
Continental upon the material unremedied breadhefegistration rights agreement by CIASA or Cblmddings, termination
by Copa upon the material unremedied breach ofefistration rights agreement by Continental, ¢ertampetitive activities,
certain changes of control of either of the paréied certain significant operational service fakiby the other airline.

Services Agreemeritinder the services agreement, both airlines agreeovide to each other certain services over
the course of the agreement at the providing a&tilecremental cost, subject to certain limitasoServices covered under the
agreement include consolidating purchasing poweedpiipment purchases and insurance coveragenghraganagement
information systems, pooling maintenance prograntsiaventory management, joint training and empéogrchanges, sharing
the benefits of other purchase contracts for gaemdsservices, telecommunications and other serv@tir than by expiration
as described above, the agreement is also terreitgidn airline in cases of, among other thingsuted material breaches of
the alliance agreement by the other airline, banicyuof the other airline, termination of the sees agreement for breach by
the other airline, termination of the frequent flparticipation agreement without entering intaiacessor agreement by the
other airline, termination by Continental upon thaterial unremedied breach of the shareholdersawgst or the registration
rights agreement by CIASA or Copa Holdings, teriaraby Copa upon the material unremedied breachefegistration
rights agreement by Continental, certain change®ofrol of either of the parties and certain digant operational service
failures by the other airline.
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Frequent Flyer Participation Agreemetinder the frequent flyer participation agreemerg,participate in
Continental’s OnePass frequent flyer global progeard on a co-branded basis in Latin America. Custsrin the program
receive credit for flying on segments operated §ywhich can be redeemed for award travel on agit8 and those of other
partner airlines. The agreement also governs joarketing agreements under the program, settleprenedures between the
airlines and revenue-sharing under bank card &ffrelationships. Further, if the services agreenigeterminated or expires,
the compensation structure of the frequent flyegpam will be revised to be comparable to otheZoftinentals frequent flye
relationships. We also have the right under the@gent to participate on similar terms in any ssseeprogram operated by
Continental. Other than by expiration as descritlealve, the agreement is also terminable by amainfi cases of, among other
things, uncured material breaches of the alliamgeement by the other airline, bankruptcy of theeotirline, termination of
the services agreement for breach by the othenaitermination of the frequent flyer participatiagreement without entering
into a successor agreement by the other airlimégioechanges of control of either of the partied aertain significant
operational service failures by the other airline.

Trademark License Agreemebinder the trademark license agreement, we havegheto use a logo incorporating
globe design that is similar to the globe desig@oftinental’s logo. We also have the right to Geatinental’s trade dress,
aircraft livery and certain other Continental mauksler the agreement that allow us to more closkdy our overall product
with our alliance partner. The trademark licenseeament is coterminous with the alliance agreeraedtcan also be
terminated for breach. In most cases, we will hayeriod of five years after termination to ceasade the marks on our
aircraft, with less time provided for signage arldeo uses of the marks or in cases where the agremterminated for a
breach by us.

Agreements with our controlling shareholders and tleir affiliates

Our directors and controlling shareholders haveyraher commercial interests within Panama anduiiinout Latin
America. We have commercial relationships with salef these affiliated parties from which we puask goods or services,
described below. In each case we believe our tciiess with these affiliated parties are at arnesigth and on terms that we
believe reflect prevailing market rates.

Banco General, S.A.

We have a strong commercial banking relationshifp Banco General, S.A., a Panamanian bank parbaltyed by
our controlling shareholders. We have obtainednfiireg from Banco General under short to medium-tinancing
arrangements for part of the commercial loan treraffone of the Company’s Export-Import Bank faghk. We also maintain
general lines of credit and time deposit accouritis ®anco General. Interest payments to Banco Génetaled $0.2 million,
$0.4 million and $0.6 million in 2009, 2008 and Z0@espectively, and interest received from Baneaé3al amounted to
$1.4 million, $1.9 million and $4.5 million in 2002008 and 2007, respectively. The outstanding balsince at December 31
amounted to $2.3 million, $4.1 million and $4.8 linit in 2009, 2008 and 2007, respectively. Thesewrts are included in
“Current maturities of long-term debt” and “Long+edebt” in the consolidated balance sheet.

ASSA Compaiiia de Seguros, S.A.

Panamanian law requires us to maintain our insergoticies through a local insurance company. Wesha
contracted with ASSA, an insurance company corgdally our controlling shareholders, to provide satgally all of our
insurance. ASSA has, in turn, reinsured almostfaihe risks under those policies with insurancepanies around the world.
The net payment to ASSA, after taking into accdhetreinsurance of these risks, is approximate®,&B per year.

Petréleos Delta, S.A.

During 2005, we entered into a contract with PewéIDelta, S.A. to supply our jet fuel needs. Thieepagreed to
under this contract is based on the two week aeeofighe U.S. Gulf Coast Waterborne Mean index fiuaal taxes, certain
third-party handling charges and a handling chéwdeelta. The contract has a one year term thanaatically renews for one
year periods unless terminated by one of the mantithile our controlling shareholders do not holwbatrolling equity interest
in Petréleos Delta, S.A., several of our directmes also board members of Petréleos Delta, S.AnBais to Petréleos Delta
totaled $116.1 million in 2009, $185.8 million i0@8 and $126.0 million in 2007.
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Desarollo Inmobiliario del Este, S.A.

During January 2006, we moved into our recentlystwtted new headquarters located six miles away ffocume
International Airport. We lease five floors consigtof approximately 104,000 square feet of théding from Desarollo
Inmobiliario del Este, S.A., an entity controlled the same group of investors that controls CIABAder a 10-year lease at a
rate of $0.1 million per month, which we believeb®a market rate. Payments to Desarrollo Inmohlidel Este, S.A. totaled
$1.9 million, $2.0 million and $1.9 million in 2002008 and 2007, respectively.

Galindo, Arias & Lopez

Most of our legal work is carried out by the lawnfiGalindo, Arias & Lopez. Messrs. Jaime Arias &icardo
Alberto Arias, partners of Galindo, Arias & Lopeze indirect shareholders of CIASA and serve onBnard of Directors.
Payments to Galindo, Arias & Lopez totaled $0.4lioml, $0.3 million and $0.4 million in 2009, 2008ch2007, respectively.

Other Transactions

We also purchase most of the alcohol and someeobtier beverages served on our aircraft from Maternacional
S.A. and Global Brands, S.A., both of which aretogted by our controlling shareholders. We do hate any formal contrac
for these purchases, but pay wholesale prices basedice lists periodically submitted by those orters. We paid
approximately $0.6 million in 2009, $0.7 million #2008 and $0.6 million in 2007 to these entities.

Our telecommunications services have been provigetelecarrier. Some of the controlling sharehaddefrCIASA
have a controlling interest in Telecarrier. PayrsentTelecarrier totaled $0.9 million, $0.6 milliand $0.6 million in 2009,
2008 and 2007, respectively.

The advertising agency that we use in Panama, RoD&z Publicidad (RDP), is owned by the brothedaw of our
chief executive officer. Gross invoices for all\dees performed through RDP totaled $1.0 millioh,2bmillion and
$1.6 million in 2009, 2008 and 2007, respectively.

We have received services from Call Center Corpmrat call center that operates Copa’s reservatom sales
services and handles calls from Panama as wall m®sét other countries to which Copa flies. Onewfdirectors, Joseph

Fidanque 11, is one of the owners of this call s@nPayments to Call Center Corporation totale® $illion, $4.0 million and
$2.6 million in 2009, 2008 and 2007, respectively.

C. Interests of Experts and Counsel
Not applicable.
Item 8. Financial Information
A. Consolidated Statements and Other Financial Infomation

See “Item 3. Key Information—Selected Financial@and “ltem 18. Financial Statements.”
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Legal Proceedings

In the ordinary course of our business, we areygarvarious legal actions, which we believe adental to the
operation of our business. While legal proceedamgsinherently uncertain, we believe that the oute®f the proceedings to
which we are currently a party is not likely to ba material adverse effect on our financial positresults of operations and
cash flows. The Antitrust Administrative Agency (@ision de Libre Competencia y Asuntos del ConsumidoCLICAC),
together with a group of travel agencies, has fdadantitrust lawsuit against Copa, Continental gbican Airlines, Taca and
Delta Airlines in the Panamanian Commercial Tridwalkeging monopolistic practices in reducing treagents’ commissions.
The outcome of this lawsuit is still uncertain andy take several years. We believe that in the vsmenario the airlines could
be required to pay up to $20 million. In additi®'CES, a now-defunct Colombian airline, filed anitast lawsuit against
Copa, Avianca and SAM, alleging monopolistic preesi in relation to their code-sharing agreemertts. dourt of first instance
ruled in favor of Copa, but the defendant has algpeite decision and it is currently being revievagdhe superior court. This
case could take several years to be resolved.paCAvianca and/or SAM were found at fault andriedeh of antitrust
legislation, they could be potentially liable fg to $11 million.

We are also plaintiffs in an action we filed againNF-RAERO, Brazil's airport operator, in Octobdr2D03
challenging the legality of the Additional Airporariffs (Adicional das Tarifas Aeroportuarigor ATAERO), which is a 50%
surcharge imposed on all airlines which fly to BraSimilar suits have been filed against INFRAER®other major airline
carriers. In our case, the court of first instanded in favor of INFRAERO and we have appealedjtisgment. During the
pendency of the litigation, we continue to pay @neounts due ATAERO into an escrow account and &eoémber 31, 2009,
the aggregate amount in such account totaled US#ian. In the event we receive a final unfavdeajudgment, we will be
required to release the escrowed fund to INFRAER®will not be able to recover such amounts. Waalp however, expect
the release of such amounts to have a materialdhgraour financial results.

Dividends and Dividend Policy

The payment of dividends on our shares is subgettte discretion of our Board of Directors. UndanBmanian law,
we may pay dividends only out of retained earniaigd capital surplus. So long as we do not defawur payments under our
loan agreements, there are no covenants or otsiictsns on our ability to declare and pay divids. Our Articles of
Incorporation provide that all dividends declaregdooir Board of Directors will be paid equally witkspect to all of the Class
and Class B shares. See “Iltem 10B. Additional imfmion —Memorandum and Articles of AssociatioBescription of Capite
Stock—Dividends.”

Our Board of Directors recently amended the divitipaolicy that had provided for the payment of apjrately 10%
of our annual consolidated net income to sharehslds a dividend. Effective February 10, 2010 amended dividend policy
allows the Board of Directors to provide our shatdbrs with a dividend payment in an amount randing 10% to 20% of
our annual consolidated net income to be declaredraannual shareholders’ meeting and paid shtrdyeafter. Our Board of
Directors may, in its sole discretion and for aeggon, amend or discontinue the dividend policy. Bnard of Directors may
change the level of dividends provided for in tthigidend policy or entirely discontinue the paymehtividends. Future
dividends with respect to shares of our commonksté@ny, will depend on, among other things, cesults of operations, cash
requirements, financial condition, contractual riesibns, business opportunities, provisions oflagble law and other factors
that our Board of Directors may deem relevant.

On May 6, 2009, our Board of Directors declarecanual dividend of $0.37 per share payable Jun@d® to
shareholders of record as of May 30, 2009 whichesgnted an aggregate dividend payment of $16/®BmiOn May 7, 2008,
our Board of Directors declared an annual dividen$10.37 per share payable June 15, 2008 to shidesisaf record as of
May 30, 2008 which represented an aggregate didig@yment of $16.2 million. On May 9, 2007, our Bbaf Directors
declared an annual dividend of $0.31 per sharelpayune 15, 2007 to shareholders of record asayf 81, 2007 which
represented an aggregate dividend payment of $a#i6n.

B. Significant Changes

None
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Item 9. The Offer and Listing
A. Offer and Listing Details
Our Class A shares have been listed on the New $tokk Exchange, or NYSE, under the symbol “CPAtsi

December 14, 2005. The following table sets fdidhthe periods indicated, the high and low prifiesthe Class A shares on
the NYSE for the periods indicated.

Low High

2005

Annual @ 21.9¢ 27.4(

2006

Annual 20.31 49.0t

2007

Annual 30.2¢8 73.3%

2008

Annual 18.0(C 43.6¢
First quartel 30.0C 41.97
Second quarte 27.52 43.6¢
Third quartel 24.6¢ 42.0C
Fourth quarte 18.0(C 34.0C

2009

Annual 20.3¢ 56.7¢
First quartel 20.3¢ 33.1C
Second quarter 27.2C 42.1%
Third quarter 38.1¢ 46.7C
Fourth quarter 40.0C 56.7¢

Last Six Months
September 200 38.6€ 46.7C
October 200¢ 40.0C 47.61
November 200¢ 41.1c 51.3¢
December 200! 50.5¢ 56.7¢
January 2011 50.3: 58.31
February 201! 47.7¢ 56.3%

@) Period beginning December 14, 2005 through Dece@bg200~
B. Plan of Distribution

Not applicable.
C. Markets

Our Class A shares have been listed on the NYSEnthe symbol “CPA” since December 14, 2005. Owrs€IB
shares are not listed on any exchange and areubtitly traded. We are subject to the NYSE corpogadvernance listing
standards. The NYSE requires that corporations sfitres listed on the exchange comply with cedaiporate governance
standards. As a foreign private issuer, we are m@dyired to comply with certain NYSE rules relgtto audit committees and
periodic certifications to the NYSE. The NYSE atsquires that we provide a summary of the significkifferences between
our corporate governance practices and those thaldvapply to a U.S. domestic issuer. Please tefdtem 16 G. Corporate
Governance” for a summary of the significant diéieces between our corporate governance practicethase that would
typically apply to a U.S. domestic issuer underNYSE corporate governance rules.
D. Selling Shareholders

Not applicable.
E. Dilution

Not applicable.
F. Expenses of the Issue

Not applicable.
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Item 10. Additional Information
A. Share Capital
Not applicable.
B. Memorandum and Atrticles of Association

Copa Holdings was formed on May 6, 1998 as a catjmr(sociedad anénimajuly incorporated under the laws of
Panama with an indefinite duration. The Registramégistered under Public Document No. 3.989 of/ a1998 of the Notary
Number Eight of the Circuit of Panama and recoridettie Public Registry Office, Microfilm (Mercangil Section, Microjacke
344962, Film Roll 59672, Frame 0023.

Objects and Purposes

Copa Holdings is principally engaged in the investinn airlines and aviation-related companies amtures,
although our Articles of Incorporation grant us gel powers to engage in any other lawful busingbgther or not related to
any of the specific purposes set forth in the AeSmf Incorporation.

Description of Capital Stock

The following is a summary of the material term€opa Holding’s capital stock and a brief summafyertain
significant provisions of Copa Holding’s Articlelacorporation. This description contains all ma& information
concerning the common stock but does not purpdretoomplete. For additional information regarditige common stock,
reference is made to the Articles of Incorporatiarcopy of which has been filed as an exhibit is florm 20-F.

For purposes of this section only, reference tor"aur “the company” shall refer only to Copa Holdgs and
references to “Panamanians” shall refer to thoseitxs or natural persons that are considered Paaaian nationals under
the Panamanian Aviation Act, as it may be amendedterpreted.

Common Stock

Our authorized capital stock consists of 80 millghares of common stock without par value, divioitd Class A

shares, Class B shares and Class C shares. Acefriber 31, 2009, we had 31,136,619 Class A shssaed, 12,778,125

Class B shares issued and outstanding, and no Clakares outstanding. Class A and Class B sharesthe same economic
rights and privileges, including the right to raeedividends, except as described in this section.

Class A Shares

The holders of the Class A shares are not entitleate at our shareholders’ meetings, except imeotion with the
following specific matters:

. a transformation of Copa Holdings into anothepooate type;
« amerger, consolidation or s-off of Copa Holdings

« achange of corporate purpo

¢ voluntarily delisting Class A shares from the N&S

. approving the nomination of Independent Directwminated by our board of director's Nominatinglan
Corporate Governance Committee following our nextuaml general shareholders meeting;

. any amendment to the foregoing special votingigions adversely affecting the rights and privde®f the
Class A share

At least 30 days prior to taking any of the actibsted above, we must give notice to the Classié @lass B shareholders of
our intention to do so. If requested by sharehasldepresenting at least 5% of our outstanding sh#te Board of Directors
shall call an extraordinary shareholders’ meetmggprove such action. At the extraordinary shddse’ meeting,
shareholders representing a majority of all ofahestanding shares must approve a resolution aathgithe proposed action.
For such purpose, every holder of our shares ilezhto one vote per share. See “—Shareholderdinge"
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The Class A shareholders will acquire full votimghts, entitled to one vote per Class A share bmatters upon
which shareholders are entitled to vote, if infiieire our Class B shares ever represent fewer1B&6 of the total number of
shares of our common stock and the Independent@ieCommittee shall have determined that sucitiaddl voting rights ¢
Class A shareholders would not cause a triggenmegtereferred to below. In such event, the righthef Class A shareholders
vote on the specific matters described in the mheceparagraph will no longer be applicable. Théolitireshold described in
the first sentence of this paragraph will be calted without giving effect to any newly issued sisasold with the approval of
the Independent Directors Committee.

At such time, if any, as the Class A shareholdeguite full voting rights, the Board of Directorisadl call an
extraordinary shareholders’ meeting to be held iwig® days following the date as of which the Classhares are entitled to
vote on all matters at our shareholders’ meetiAgshe extraordinary shareholders’ meeting, theshalders shall vote to elect
all eleven members of the Board of Directors iteéesrecommended by the Nominating and Governanecerdittee. The terms
of office of the directors that were serving priorthe extraordinary shareholders’ meeting shathieate upon the election held
at that meeting.

Class B Shares

Every holder of Class B shares is entitled to oote yer share on all matters for which shareholdersntitled to
vote. Class B shares will be automatically conwkitéo Class A shares upon the registration ofsi@mof such shares to
holders which are not Panamanian as described hetlder “—Restrictions on Transfer of Common Stacknversion of
Class B Shares.”

Class C Shares

Upon the occurrence and during the continuancetofgering event described below in “—Aviation Rig
Protections,” the Independent Directors Committeeus Board of Directors, or the Board of Directassa whole if applicable,
are authorized to issue Class C shares to the Blastders pro rata in proportion to such ClassoRlérs’ ownership of Copa
Holdings. The Class C shares will have no econamiige and will not be transferable except to CBi$®lders, but will
possess such voting rights as the Independenttisz€ommittee shall deem necessary to ensurefferiee control of the
company by Panamanians. The Class C shares wildeemable by the company at such time as the émdiemt Directors
Committee determines that such a triggering evieall 8o longer be in effect. The Class C sharebnuoi be entitled to any
dividends or any other economic rights.

Restrictions on Transfer of Common Stock; Convernsiof Class B Share

The Class B shares may only be held by Panamaraadsjpon registration of any transfer of a Clash&re to a
holder that does not certify that it is Panamansaich Class B share shall automatically conveat én€lass A share.
Transferees of Class B shares will be requirecetiver to us written certification of their statas a Panamanian as a condition
to registering the transfer to them of Class B eba€lass A shareholders will not be required ¢itled to provide such
certification. If a Class B shareholder intendsétl any Class B shares to a person that has fieeds a certification as to
Panamanian nationality and immediately after gi\effgct to such proposed transfer the outstandiag<B shares would
represent less than 10% of our outstanding stoaluding newly issued shares sold with the appro¥aur Independent
Directors Committee), the selling shareholder nmnfsirm the Board of Directors at least ten daysptd such transfer. The
Independent Directors Committee may determinefigseeto register the transfer if the Committee oeably concludes, on the
basis of the advice of a reputable external aerticediwounsel, that such transfer would be reaslyrikely to cause a
triggering event as described below. After thet fitsareholders’ meeting at which the Class A shadehs are entitled to vote
for the election of our directors, the role of thdependent Directors described in the precedintesee shall be exercised by
the entire Board of Directors acting as a whole.

Also, the Board of Directors may refuse to registéransfer of stock if the transfer violates angvsion of the
Articles of Incorporation.
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Tag-along Rights

Our Board of Directors may refuse to register aapgfer of shares in which CIASA proposes to s&k€B shares
pursuant to a sale at a price per share that &earéhan the average public trading price peresbathe Class A shares for the
preceding 30 days to an unrelated third partywmatld, after giving effect to such sale, have tlghtrto elect a majority of the
Board of Directors and direct our management aritips, unless the proposed purchaser agrees te,maakpromptly as
possible, a public offer for the purchase of alistanding Class A shares and Class B shares &teagar share equal to the
price per share paid for the shares being soldIBB8. While our Articles of Incorporation providemited rights to holders of
our Class A shares to sell their shares at the gaioe as CIASA in the event that a sale of Clash&res by CIASA results in
the purchaser having the right to elect a majarftpur board, there are other change of controis@ations in which holders of
our Class A shares would not have the right toigipete, including the sale of interests by a péngt had previously acquired
Class B shares from CIASA, the sale of interestarther party in conjunction with a sale by CIASie sale by CIASA of
control to more than one party, or the sale of g interests in CIASA itself.

Aviation Rights Protection:

As described in “Regulation—Panama,” the Panamahiaation Act, including the related decrees angulations,
and the bilateral treaties between Panama and otlwrtries that allow us to fly to those countrieguire that Panamanians
exercise “effective control” of Copa and maintasighificant ownership” of the airline. The Independ Directors Committee
have certain powers under our Atrticles of Incorfiorato ensure that certain levels of ownership emtrol of Copa Holdings
remain in the hands of Panamanians upon the ocmeref certain triggering events referred to below.

In the event that the Class B shareholders représgnthan 10% of the total share capital of tragany (excluding
newly issued shares sold with the approval of adependent Directors Committee) and the Indeperidieattors Committee
determines that it is reasonably likely that Coma’€opa Holdings’ legal ability to engage in thaéaséion business or to
exercise its international route rights will be oked, suspended or materially inhibited in a manvieich would materially and
adversely affect the company, in each case asu#t tdssuch non-Panamanian ownership (each a triggevent), the
Independent Directors Committee may take eithdyoth of the following actions:

. authorize the issuance of additional Class Beshtor Panamanians at a price determined by theémdient
Directors to reflect the current market value aftsshares or

. authorize the issuance to Class B shareholdetsmumber of Class C shares as the IndependerdtDise
Committee, or the Board of Directors if applicalileems necessary and with such other terms andticorsd
established by the Independent Directors Committeedo not confer economic rights on the Clast&es.

Dividends

The payment of dividends on our shares is subgettte discretion of our Board of Directors. UndanBmanian law,
we may pay dividends only out of retained earniagd capital surplus. Our Articles of Incorporatfmovide that all dividends
declared by our Board of Directors will be paid aliywith respect to all of the Class A and Classtares. Our Board of
Directors has adopted a dividend policy that presitbr the payment of annual dividends, which rainge 10% to 20% of our
annual consolidated net income to Class A and @astsareholders. Our Board of Directors may, irsdke discretion and for
any reason, amend or discontinue the dividend polar Board of Directors may change the leveligfd&nds provided for in
this dividend policy or entirely discontinue theypgent of dividends.
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Shareholder Meeting:
Ordinary Meetings

Our Articles of Incorporation require us to hold@uinary annual meeting of shareholders withinfite five
months of each fiscal year. The ordinary annualtmgef shareholders is the corporate body thattelthe Board of Directors,
approves the annual financial statements of Cogdiiys and approves any other matter that doesegptire an extraordinary
shareholders’ meeting. Shareholders representitegastt 5% of the issued and outstanding commork otitled to vote may
submit proposals to be included in such ordinagreholders meeting, provided the proposal is subthit least 45 days prior
to the meeting.

Extraordinary Meetings

Extraordinary meetings may be called by the Bodricectors when deemed appropriate. Ordinary and
extraordinary meetings must be called by the Bo&m@irectors when requested by shareholders reptieseat least 5% of the
issued shares entitled to vote at such meetingy @alters that have been described in the notiem@&xtraordinary meeting
may be dealt with at that extraordinary meeting.

Vote required

Resolutions are passed at shareholders meetinge @affirmative vote of a majority of those shagesitled to vote &
such meeting and present or represented at thengeet

Notice and Location

Notice to convene the ordinary annual meeting traexdinary meeting is given by publication in @st one nation
newspaper in Panama and at least one national apespidely read in New York City not less thand2gs in advance of the
meeting. We intend to publish such official notiGes national journal recognized by the NYSE.

Shareholders’ meetings are to be held in Pananya Raihama unless otherwise specified by the Boldrectors.
Quorum

Generally, a quorum for a shareholders’ meetirgstablished by the presence, in person or by pbghareholders
representing a simple majority of the issued sheligile to vote on any actions to be consideresbiah meeting. If a quorum
is not present at the first meeting and the orignadice for such meeting so provides, the meetg be immediately
reconvened on the same day and, upon the meeting tezonvened, shareholders present or represahtbd reconvened
meeting are deemed to constitute a quorum regardfethe percentage of the shares represented.

Proxy Representation

Our Articles of Incorporation provide that, for bmg as the Class A shares do not have full vatigigts, each holde
by owning our Class A shares, grants a generalypimthe Chairman of our Board of Directors or @eyson designated by our
Chairman to represent them and vote their shareélseinbehalf at any shareholders’ meeting, pradithat due notice was
made of such meeting and that no specific proxgkeag or replacing the general proxy has been vecefrom such holder
prior to the meeting in accordance with the ingiouts provided by the notice.
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Other Shareholder Rights

As a general principle, Panamanian law bars thentyjof a corporation’s shareholders from imposiagolutions
which violate its articles of incorporation or tlaev, and grants any shareholder the right to chglewithin 30 days, any
shareholders’ resolution that is illegal or thatlates its articles of incorporation or lyws, by requesting the annulment of <
resolution and/or the injunction thereof pendindiginl decision. Minority shareholders representdeast 5% of all issued
and outstanding shares have the right to requinege to call a shareholders’ meeting and to agpirindependent auditor
(revisor) to examine the corporate accounting bptilesbackground of the company’s incorporatioit©operation.

Shareholders have no pre-emptive rights on theisfmew shares.

Our Articles of Incorporation provide that direcgowill be elected in staggered two-year terms, Winay have the
effect of discouraging certain changes of control.

Listing

Our Class A shares are listed on the NYSE undesyh#ol “CPA.” The Class B shares and Class C shailénot
be listed on any exchange unless the Board of irecetermines that it is in the best intereghefcompany to list the Class
shares on the Panama Stock Exchange.

Transfer Agent and Registrar

The transfer agent and registrar for our Class aeshis Mellon Investor Services LLC. Until the Bibaf Directors
otherwise provides, the transfer agent for our €Bshares and any Class C shares is Galindo, &riagez which maintains
the share register for each class in Panama. Tansf Class B shares must be accompanied byifigagion of the transferee
that such transferee is Panamanian.

Summary of Significant Differences between Sharetiets’ Rights and Other Corporate Governance Matters Usd
Panamanian Corporation Law and Delaware Corporatidaw

Copa Holdings is a Panamanian corporatisndiedad anénima The Panamanian corporation law was originally
modeled after the Delaware General Corporation Lsswsuch, many of the provisions applicable to P@ar@ian and Delaware
corporations are substantially similar, includiig 4 director’s fiduciary duties of care and loyatt the corporation, (2) a lack
of limits on the number of terms a person may servéhe board of directors, (3) provisions allowsiwreholders to vote by
proxy and (4) cumulative voting if provided fortine articles of incorporation. The following talblighlights the most
significant provisions that materially differ beterePanamanian corporation law and Delaware corporkw.

Panama Delaware

Directors

Conflict of Interest TransactionsTransactions involving a Conflict of Interest TransactionsTransactions involving a
Panamanian corporation and an interested directofficer Delaware corporation and an interested directahatf
are initially subject to the approval of the boafdlirectors. corporation are generally permitted

At the next shareholders’ meeting, shareholderktidin have (1) the material facts as to the interested direstelationship

the right to disapprove the board of directors’isien and to  or interest are disclosed and a majority of disegeed

decide to take legal actions against the direaioxsficers directors approve the transaction;

who voted in favor of the transaction.
(2) the material facts are disclosed as to theested
director’s relationship or interest and the stodébos approve
the transaction; or

(3) the transaction is fair to the corporationhe time it is
authorized by the board of directors, a committethe board
of directors or the stockholdel
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Terms. Panamanian law does not set limits on the lenfthe
terms that a director may serve. Staggered termaliwed
but not required.

Terms. The Delaware General Corporation Law generally
provides for a one-year term for directors. Howetes
directorships may be divided into up to three aassith up tc

three-year terms, with the years for each clasgiegpn
different years, if permitted by the articles ofamporation, an
initial by-law or a b-law adopted by the shareholde

Number. The board of directors must consist of a minimafm Number. The board of directors must consist of a minimafm
three members, which could be natural personsgat le one member.
entities.

Authority to take Action. In general, a simple majority of the Authority to take Action. The articles of incorporation or by-
board of directors is necessary and sufficienaketany actio laws can establish certain actions that requireafproval of
on behalf of the board of directo more than a majority of director

Shareholder Meetings and Voting Rights

Quorum. The quorum for shareholder meetings must beys Quorum. For stock corporations, the articles of incorpiora

the articles of incorporation or the by-laws. Iéthrticles of or bylaws may specify the number to constitute argm but

incorporation and the notice for a given meetingsavide, if  in no event shall a quorum consist of less thantbird of

quorum is not met a new meeting can be immediai@led shares entitled to vote at a meeting. In the alesefisuch

and quorum shall consist of those present at saehmeeting specifications, a majority of shares entitled téevshall
constitute a quorun

Action by Written Consel. Panamanian law does not permit
shareholder action without formally calling a megti

Action by Written Consel. Unless otherwise provided in the
articles of incorporation, any action required errpitted to be
taken at any annual meeting or special meetingogkolders
of a corporation may be taken without a meetingheit prior
notice and without a vote, if a consent or consanteriting,
setting forth the action to be so taken, is sigmgthe holders
of outstanding shares having not less than themmuimi
number of votes that would be necessary to authanizake
such action at a meeting at which all shares edtitb vote
thereon were present and not

Other Shareholder Rights

Shareholder ProposalsShareholders representing 5% of the Shareholder ProposalsDelaware law does not specifically

issued and outstanding capital of the corporati@wetthe righ grant shareholders the right to bring businessrbeda annual

to require a judge to call a general shareholdeegting and  or special meeting. If a Delaware corporation isjsct to the

to propose the matters for vote. SEC'’s proxy rules, a shareholder who owns for astiene
year by the date of the proposal at least $2,000arket value
or 1% of the corporation’s securities entitled tdey may
propose a matter for a vote at an annual or speweting in
accordance with those rule

Appraisal Right.. Shareholders of Panamanian corporation dappraisal Rights. Delaware law affords shareholders in
not have the right to demand payment in cash ojutiieially  certain cases the right to demand payment in cagteo
determined fair value of their shares in connectiith a judicially-determined fair value of their shares in connexctio
merger or consolidation involving the corporation. with a merger or consolidation involving their coration.
Nevertheless, in a merger, the majority of shamdrsl coulc  However, no appraisal rights are available if, agiother
approve the total or partial distribution of caststead of things and subject to certain exceptions, sucheshaere
shares, of the surviving entity. listed on a national securities exchange or desiéghaational
market system or such shares were held of recorddrg thai
2,000 holders
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Shareholder Derivative ActionsAny shareholder, with the
consent of the majority of the shareholders, cansubehalf

Shareholder Derivative ActionsSubject to certain
requirements that a shareholder make prior demartdeo

of the corporation, the directors of the corponafior a breach board of directors or have an excuse not to makke deamand

of their duties of care and loyalty to the corpimator a
violation of the law, the articles of incorporationthe by-
laws.

Inspection of Corporate Recor. Shareholders representing

least 5% of the issued and outstanding sharesof th
corporation have the right to require a judge tpcapt an
independent auditor to examine the corporate adoayn
books, the background of the company’s incorponatioits
operation.

a shareholder may bring a derivative action on befighe
corporation to enforce the rights of the corporatgainst
officers, directors and third parties. An individimaay also
commence a class action suit on behalf of himselfather
similarly-situated stockholders if the requiremefots
maintaining a class action under the Delaware Ganer
Corporation Law have been met. Subject to equitable
principles, a three-year period of limitations gexly applies
to such shareholder suits against officers and:tirs.

Inspection of Corporate Recor. A shareholder may inspect
or obtain copies of a corporatiashareholder list and its otl
books and records for any purpose reasonably detate
person’s interest as a shareholder.

Anti-takeover Provisions

Panamanian corporations may include in their asicif
incorporation or by-laws classified board and supejority
provisions.

Panamanian corporation law’s anti-takeover provisiapply
only to companies that are:

(1) registered with the CNV for a period of six ntlog before
the public offering,

(2) have over 3,000 shareholders, and

(3) have a permanent office in Panama with fulletim
employees and investments in the country for moae t
$1,000,000

These provisions are triggered when a buyer malesbc
offer to acquire 5% or more of any class of sharigls a
market value of at least $5,000,000. In sum, theebmust
deliver to the corporation a complete and accusgtement
that includes

Delaware corporations may have a classified baamer-
majority voting and shareholders’ rights plan.

Unless Delaware corporations specifically eleceothse,
Delaware corporations may not enter into a “busines
combination,” including mergers, sales and lea$essets,
issuances of securities and similar transactioits, an
“interested stockholder,” or one that beneficialyns 15% or
more of a corporation’s voting stock, within thresars of
such person becoming an interested shareholdessinle

(1) the transaction that will cause the personetcoine an
interested shareholder is approved by the boadire€tors of
the target prior to the transactions;

(2) after the completion of the transaction in wWhibe person
becomes an interested shareholder, the interelséedi®lder

(1) the name of the company, the number of theeshidwat the holds at least 85% of the voting stock of the coafion not

buyer intends to acquire and the purchase price;

(2) the identity and background of the person aogithe
shares;

including shares owned by persons who are direetodsalso
officers of interested shareholders and shares dwye
specified employee benefit plans; or
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(3) the source and amount of the funds or othedgdloat will
be used to pay the purchase price;

(4) the plans or project the buyer has once itdzagiired the
control of the company

(5) the number of shares of the company that tlyebalready
has or is a beneficiary of and those owned by dritg 0
directors, officers, subsidiaries, or partnershersame, and
any transactions made regarding the shares iragt&0 days

(6) contracts, agreements, business relationsgotiaions
regarding securities issued by the company in wthiehbuyer
is a party;

(7) contract, agreements, business relations avtiegipns
between the buyer and any director, officer or fierzey of
the securities; an

(8) any other significant information. This decléwa will be
accompanied by, among other things, a copy of tyeibs
financial statements.

If the board of directors believes that the statenaees not
contain all required information or that the stagernis
inaccurate, the board of directors must send thterstent to
the CNV within 45 days from the buysrinitial delivery of the
statement to the CNV. The CNV may then hold a gubli
hearing to determine if the information is accurate
complete and if the buyer has complied with theleg
requirements. The CNV may also start an inquirg thie case
having the power to decide whether or not the afiay be
made.

Regardless of the above, the board of directorgheas
authority to submit the offer to the consideratafrihe
shareholders. The board should only convene alsbigiers’
meeting when it deems the statement delivered éyptteror
to be complete and accurate. If convened, the bbhters’
meeting should take place within the next 30 dAyshe
shareholders’ meeting, two-thirds of the holderthefissued
and outstanding shares of each class of sharée of t
corporation with a right to vote must approve tffferand the
offer is to be executed within 60 days from thershalders’
approval. If the board decides not to convene taeeholders’
meeting within 15 days following the receipt of@mplete an
accurate statement from the offeror, shares may lilee
purchased. In all cases, the purchase of sharetmkarmplace
only if it is not prohibited by an administrative jodicial orde
or injunction.

(3) after the person becomes an interested shalehohe
business combination is approved by the boardrettbrs of
the corporation and holders of at least 66.67%ef t
outstanding voting stock, excluding shares heldhisy
interested shareholde
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The law also establishes some actions or recoofsbs
sellers against the buyer in cases the offer isenirad
contravention of the lav

Previously Acquired Rights

In no event can the vote of the majority sharehsldeprive  No comparable provisions exist under Delaware
the shareholders of a corporation of previowstguired rights

Panamanian jurisprudence and doctrine has estedlisiat th:

majority shareholders cannot amend the articles of

incorporation and deprive minority shareholderprviously-

acquired rights nor impose upon them an agreerhahig

contrary to those articles of incorporatit

Once a share is issued, the shareholders becoitiecetd the
rights established in the articles of incorporatiom such
rights cannot be taken away, diminished nor existoed
without the express consent of the shareholdeieshto suct
rights. If by amending the articles of incorporatithe rights
granted to a class of shareholders is somehowedltr
modified to their disadvantage, those shareholddrsieed to
approve the amendment unanimou

C. Material Contracts
Commercial Agreements with Continental Airlines

Our alliance relationship with Continental is gaved by several interrelated agreements. We havededeand
restated each of these agreements and extendedtttmimgh 2015 in connection with our initial pubtiffering in
December 2005.

Alliance Agreement between Continental and Cophingss. Under the alliance agreement, both airlines agree t
continue their codesharing relationship with exiens as they feel are appropriate and to work tmtaen our antitrust
immunity with the DOT. In order to support the celaring relationship, the alliance agreement atstiadns provisions
mandating a continued frequent flyer relationstepaAeen the airlines, setting minimum levels of gyalf service for the
airlines and encouraging cooperation in marketingd) @ther operational initiatives.

Services Agreement between Continental and CopadsrUnder the services agreement, both airlines agree t
provide to each other certain services over theseoaf the agreement at the providing carrier'sémental cost, subject to
certain limitations. Services covered under theagrent include consolidating purchasing power fpigment purchases and
insurance coverage, sharing management informagistems, pooling maintenance programs and invemtaryagement, joint
training and employee exchanges, sharing the blerfother purchase contracts for goods and sesyielecommunications
and other services.

Frequent Flyer Participation Agreement between @uerital and Copa AirlinedJnder the frequent flyer
participation agreement, we participate in Conttas OnePass frequent flyer global program an@ @o-branded basis in
Latin America. Customers in the program receivelicffer flying on segments operated by us, which ba redeemed for awe
travel on flights and those of other partner a@tinThe agreement also governs joint marketingeageats under the program,
settlement procedures between the airlines andchuevsharing under bank card affinity relationships.
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Trademark License Agreement between ContinentalCampdh AirlinesUnder the trademark license agreement, Copa
has the right to use a logo incorporating a globsigh that is similar to the globe design of Coentital’s logo. Copa also has 1
right to use Continental’s trade dress, aircrafty and certain other Continental marks undeagreement that allow us to
more closely align our overall product with ouratice partner.

Aircraft General Terms Agreement between The BoeingCompany and Copa Airlines

In 1998, Copa entered into an agreement with trerBpCompany for the purchase of aircraft, instaltaof buyer
furnished equipment provided by Copa, customer stgervices and product assurance. In additiagheaircraft supplied,
The Boeing Company will provide maintenance tragnamd flight training programs, as well as operaiengineering support.
The agreement has been amended several timestis@rgenost recently in February 2008.

Purchase Agreement between Empresa Brasileira de Amautica, S.A. and Copa Airlines

In 2003, Copa entered into a purchase agreementBmipresa Brasileira de Aeronautica, S.A (Embrizerhhe
purchase of aircraft, customer support servicestecithical publications.

Purchase Agreement between Empresa Brasileira de Amautica, S.A. and Copa Holdings, S.A.

In February 2006, we entered into a purchase agreewith Empresa Brasileira de Aeronautica, S.A fEaer) for
the purchase of aircraft, customer support senacestechnical publications.

D. Exchange Controls

There are currently no Panamanian restrictionderekport or import of capital, including foreigrceange controls,
and no restrictions on the payment of dividendstarest, nor are there limitations on the rightfooeign stockholders to hold
or vote stock.
E. Taxation
United States

The following summary describes the material Uniates federal income tax consequences of thershipeand
disposition of our Class A shares as of the datedieThe discussion set forth below is applicabl&nited States Holders (as
defined below) that beneficially own our Class Auss as capital assets for United States federairie tax purposes
(generally, property held for investment). This soany does not represent a detailed descriptiohefJnited States federal
income tax consequences applicable to you if yewsabject to special treatment under the UniteteStaderal income tax
laws, including if you are:

. a bank;

« adealer in securities or currenci

« afinancial institution

. a regulated investment company;

* areal estate investment tru

. an insurance compan

¢ atar-exempt organizatior

84




Table of Contents

. a person holding our Class A shares as parheflging, integrated or conversion transaction,retactive sale
or a straddle

« atrader in securities that has elected the -to-market method of accounting for your securit
« aperson liable for alternative minimum ti

. a person who owns 10% or more of our voting stock

* apartnership or other pi-through entity for United States federal incomepaxrposes; o

¢ aperson whos"functional currenc” is not the United States doll:

The discussion below is based upon the provisidmiseolnternal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended‘@hde”),
and regulations, rulings and judicial decisiong¢@der as of the date hereof, and such authonitagsbe replaced, revoked or
modified so as to result in United States fedarabime tax consequences different from those diedusslow.

If you are considering the purchase, ownership oridposition of our Class A shares, you should congylour
own tax advisors concerning the United States fedakincome tax consequences to you in light of yoynarticular
situation as well as any consequences arising undie laws of any other taxing jurisdiction.

As used herein, “United States Holder” means afi@akowner of our Class A shares that is for @ditStates
federal income tax purposes:

. an individual citizen or resident of the United t8&

. a corporation (or other entity treated as a cafion for United States federal income tax purgpseeated or
organized in or under the laws of the United Staey state thereof or the District of Columbia;

¢ an estate the income of which is subject to UnB&ates federal income taxation regardless of iisc&g or

. atrust if it (1) is subject to the primary suyision of a court within the United States and onenore United
States persons have the authority to control &$tntial decisions of the trust or (2) has a vel&ttion in effec
under applicable United States Treasury regulatiore treated as a United States per

Taxation of Dividends

Distributions on the Class A shares (including amewvithheld to reflect Panamanian withholding &xeany) will
be taxable as dividends to the extent paid outiofcarrent or accumulated earnings and profitsledsrmined under United
States federal income tax principles. Such incomauding withheld taxes) will be includable in yogross income as ordinary
income on the day actually or constructively reediby you. Such dividends will not be eligible fbe dividends received
deduction allowed to corporations.

With respect to non-corporate United States Holdszgain dividends received in taxable years b@gmbefore
January 1, 2011 from a qualified foreign corponatisay be subject to reduced rates of taxation.r@igm corporation general
is treated as a qualified foreign corporation wéhpect to dividends paid by that corporation caret that are readily tradable
on an established securities market in the UnitateS. United States Treasury Department guidardiedtes that our Class A
shares, which are listed on the NYSE, are curraetiylily tradable on an established securities atankthe United States.
There can be no assurance, however, that our Blakares will be considered readily tradable oestablished securities
market at a later date. Non-corporate United Stdt#ders that do not meet a minimum holding pereguirement during
which they are not protected from the risk of losshat elect to treat the dividend income as “8tagent income” pursuant to
Section 163(d)(4) of the Code will not be eligilide the reduced rates of taxation regardless oftatus as a qualified foreign
corporation. In addition, the rate reduction wiitrapply to dividends if the recipient of a dividkeis obligated to make related
payments with respect to positions in substantisittyilar or related property. This disallowance lgggpeven if the minimum
holding period has been met. You should consult yeen tax advisors regarding the application oftheules to your particul
circumstances.
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Subject to certain conditions and limitations, Faaaian withholding taxes on dividends may be tidateforeign
taxes eligible for credit against your United Sgefesderal income tax liability. For purposes ofce#diting the foreign tax credit,
dividends paid on the Class A shares generallyheiltreated as income from sources outside theetd@tates and will
generally constitute passive income. Further, mage circumstances, if you:

. have held Class A shares for less than a spécifiaimum period during which you are not protedieain risk
of loss, or

. are obligated to make payments related to thieleinds,

you will not be allowed a foreign tax credit forégn taxes imposed on dividends paid on the Glasiares, if any.
The rules governing the foreign tax credit are clexpYou are urged to consult your tax advisorsardmg the availability of
the foreign tax credit under your particular cir@atances.

To the extent that the amount of any distributisoeds our current and accumulated earnings arfidspiar a
taxable year, as determined under United Statesdethcome tax principles, the distribution willst be treated as a tax-free
return of capital, causing a reduction in the ajddasis of the Class A shares (thereby increabmgmount of gain, or
decreasing the amount of loss, to be recognizegbhyon a subsequent disposition of the Class Aes)aand the balance in
excess of adjusted basis will be taxed as capdial ggcognized on a sale or exchange (as disclreded under “—Taxation of
Capital Gains”). Consequently, such distributiomgxcess of our current and accumulated earningg®ofits would generally
not give rise to foreign source income and you Wa@enerally not be able to use the foreign taxiteising from any
Panamanian withholding tax imposed on such distidbs unless such credit can be applied (subjeapplicable limitations)
against United States federal income tax due oerdtreign source income in the appropriate catefmrforeign tax credit
purposes. However, we do not intend to keep easramg profits in accordance with United Statesraldacome tax principle
Therefore, you should expect that a distributiolh generally be treated as a dividend (as discuasede).

Passive Foreign Investment Company

We do not believe that we are a passive foreigrstment company (a “PFIC”) for United States fetiex@me tax
purposes (or that we were one in 2009), and weaxpeperate in such a manner so as not to beeoRtdC. If, however, we
are or become a PFIC, you could be subject to iaddit United States federal income taxes on gaingeized with respect to
the Class A shares and on certain distributionss ph interest charge on certain taxes treatedasdibeen deferred under the
PFIC rules. Further, non-corporate United Statelsléts will not be eligible for reduced rates ofdatign on any dividends
received from us in taxable years beginning paaldnuary 1, 2011, if we are a PFIC in the taxgbl in which such
dividends are paid or the preceding taxable year.

Taxation of Capital Gains

For United States federal income tax purposeswiuecognize taxable gain or loss on any salexathange of a
Class A share in an amount equal to the differérteeen the amount realized for the Class A shadeyaur tax basis in the
Class A share. Such gain or loss will generallg&gital gain or loss. Capital gains of individudésived with respect to capital
assets held for more than one year are eligiblesfduced rates of taxation. The deductibility gbital losses is subject to
limitations. Any gain or loss recognized by youlwiénerally be treated as United States sourceaydmss.

Information reporting and backup withholding

In general, information reporting will apply to diends in respect of our Class A shares and theepds from the
sale, exchange or redemption of our Class A shhegsare paid to you within the United States (endertain cases, outside 1
United States), unless you are an exempt recigigett as a corporation. A backup withholding tax rapyly to such payments
if you fail to provide a taxpayer identificationmier or certification of other exempt status of taireport in full dividend and
interest income.
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Any amounts withheld under the backup withholdintgs will be allowed as a refund or a credit agayosir United
States federal income tax liability provided thguieed information is timely furnished to the Imat Revenue Service.

Panamanian Taxation

The following is a discussion of the material Paaaran tax considerations to holders of Class Aeshander
Panamanian tax law, and is based upon the taxdadsegulations in force and effect as of the Hateof, which may be
subject to change. This discussion, to the extesiates matters of Panamanian tax law or legatlosions and subject to the
qualifications herein, represents the opinion ofif@®, Arias & Lopez, our Panamanian counsel.

Taxation of dividends

Dividends paid by a corporation duly licensed tdbaisiness in Panama, whether in the form of caebkor other
property, are subject to a 10% withholding tax loe portion attributable to Panamanian sourced irc@md a 5% withholding
tax on the portion attributable to foreign sourcambme. Dividends paid by a holding company whiolrespond to dividends
received from its subsidiaries for which the dividdax was previously paid, are not subject tofamnher withholding tax
under Panamanian law. Therefore, distributionshenGlass A shares would not be subject to withingldax to the extent that
said distributions are attributable to dividendseiged from any of our subsidiaries.

Taxation of capital gains

As long as the Class A shares are registered WglCNV and are sold through an organized marketafanian
taxes on capital gains will not apply either to &aanians or other countries’ nationals. We havistergd the Class A shares,
with both the New York Stock Exchange and the CNV.

Other Panamanian taxes

There are no estate, gift or other taxes imposettié&yanamanian government that would affect agnaltithe
Class A shares, whether such holder were Panamanenational of another country.

F. Dividends and Paying Agents
Not applicable.

G. Statement by Experts
Not applicable.

H. Documents on Display

We are subject to the informational requirementthefU.S. Securities Exchange Act of 1934, whical$® known as
the Exchange Act. Accordingly, we are requirediereports and other information with the Comnussiincluding annual
reports on Form 20-F and reports on Form 6-K. Y@y immspect and copy reports and other informatiobet filed with the
Commission at the Public Reference Room of the Cission at 100 F Street, N.W., Washington D.C. 20%4#l copies of the
materials may be obtained there at prescribed.ratespublic may obtain information on the openatid the Commission’s
Public Reference Room by calling the CommissiotheUnited States at 1-800-SEC-0330. In additibe,Gommission
maintains a website at www.sec.gov, from which gan electronically access the registration stat¢med its materials.

As a foreign private issuer, we are not subjethéosame disclosure requirements as a domestiaégStrant under
the Exchange Act. For example, we are not requoqatepare and issue quarterly reports. Howeverfuwesh our shareholde
with annual reports containing financial statementdited by our independent auditors and make awailto our shareholders
quarterly reports containing unaudited financigbdar the first three quarters of each fiscal y&4e file such quarterly reports
with the SEC within two months of each quarter of fiscal year, and we file annual reports on F@@vF within the time
period required by the SEC, which is currentlymianths from December 31, the end of our fiscal year
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I. Subsidiary Information
Not applicable.
Iltem 11. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures Bout Market Risk

The risks inherent in our business are the poteiosaes arising from adverse changes to the pfiéeel, interest
rates and the U.S. dollar exchange rate.

Aircraft Fuel.Our results of operations are affected by changéise price and availability of aircraft fuel. Tcamage
the price risk, we use crude oil option contrazésp cost collars and swap agreements. Marketgigktimated as a hypotheti
10% increase in the December 31, 2009 cost pesrgafifuel. Based on projected 2010 fuel consunmptsoich an increase
would result in an increase to aircraft fuel expeasapproximately $29.2 million in 2010, not tafiimto account our derivati
contracts. We have hedged approximately 24% anddfl@ar anticipated fuel needs for 2010 and 20&3&pectively. We may
enter into additional hedging agreements in ther&to reduce volatility of our fuel expenses.

Interest.Our earnings are affected by changes in interéss due to the impact those changes have on itteres
expense from variable-rate debt instruments andatipg leases and on interest income generated dronsash and investment
balances. If interest rates average 10% more if #@dn they did during 2009, our interest expensel&vincrease by
approximately $0.3 million and the fair value ofr@ebt would decrease by approximately $0.4 millibiterest rates average
10% less in 2010 than they did in 2009, our inteiresome from marketable securities would decrdgsapproximately
$0.9 million and the fair value of our debt woulttiease by approximately $0.4 million. These am®an¢ determined by
considering the impact of the hypothetical interasés on our variableate debt and marketable securities equivalennbakaz
December 31, 2009.

Foreign CurrenciesThe majority of our obligations are denominated)is. dollars. Since Panama uses the U.S.
dollar as legal tender, the majority of our opergxpenses are also denominated in U.S. dollansfd@eign exchange risk is
limited as approximately 43% of our revenues ard.id. dollars. While a significant part of our reves are in foreign
currency, no single currency represented more 118 of our operating revenues in 2009, excepttferGolombian Peso
which represented 17%. Generally, our exposuredst of these foreign currencies, with the exceptibthe Venezuelan
Bolivar and Cuban Peso, is limited to the periodipfto two weeks between the completion of a satkthe conversion to U.S.
dollars. The Colombian Peso is the functional auryeof AeroRepublica, and therefore any revenuesuye is mitigated by
the operating expenses, which we also denomina®iombian Peso.

2009 Revenues and Expenses Breakdown by Currency

Revenue Expense
Argentinean Peso 6.4% 2.2%
Brazilian Real 6.3% 3.4%
Chilean Pesi 2.6% 1.1%
Colombian Pes 16.%% 12.5%
Costa Rican Colo 2.2% 1.0%
Mexican Pest 3.1% 1.4%
U.S. Dollar 43.%% 71.(%
Venezuelan Boliva 11.4% 3.7%
Other(1) 7.8% 3. 7%

(1) Dominican Peso, European Euro, Guatemalanz@iydamaican Dollar, Honduran Lempira, Haitiaru@le, Uruguayan
Peso, Bolivian Boliviano, Trinidad and Tobago Dolla
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Item 12. Description of Securities Other than Equiy Securities

Not applicable.
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PART II
Item 13. Defaults, Dividend Arrearages and Delinquecies
None.
Item 14. Material Modifications to the Rights of Seurity Holders and Use of Proceeds
None.
Item 15. Controls and Procedures
Disclosure controls and procedure

Disclosure controls and procedures are designeddare that information required to be disclosetheyCompany i
reports filed or submitted under the Securitiestaxge Act of 1934 is recorded, processed, sumnubsizd reported within tk
time periods specified in the SEC’s rules and foivile carried out an evaluation under the supemisfoour management,
including our chief executive officer and chiefdimcial officer, of the effectiveness of the designl operation of our disclost
controls and procedures as of December 31, 200&€eTdre inherent limitations to the effectivenesany system of disclosure
controls and procedures, including the possibdithhuman error and the circumvention or overridiighe controls and
procedures. Accordingly, even effective disclostoatrols and procedures can only provide reasoregserance of achieving
their control objectives. Based upon our evaluatam chief executive officer and chief financidficer concluded that our
disclosure controls and procedures were effectiyerévide reasonable assurance that informationired) to be disclosed by
in the reports that we file or submit under the tiage Act is recorded, processed, summarized godteel, within the time
periods specified in the applicable rules and foramsl that it is accumulated and communicated tar@anagement, including
our chief executive officer and chief financialioffr, as appropriate to allow timely decisions relgey required disclosure.

Managemen’'s Report on Internal Control over Financial Repartg

Management of the Company is responsible for @stabh and maintaining effective internal contreko financial
reporting as defined in Rules 13a-15(f) under theuities Exchange Act of 1934. The Company’s imdécontrol over
financial reporting is designed to provide reasdmalssurance to the Company’s management and Bo&idectors regarding
the preparation and fair presentation of publistreahcial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal cohtver financial reporting may not prevent or @¢t@isstatements.
Therefore, even those systems determined to bete#ecan provide only reasonable assurance wipeet to financial
statement preparation and presentation.

Management assessed the effectiveness of the Cotapiaternal control over financial reporting as@écember 31,
2009. In making this assessment, management usetitéria set forth by the Committee of Sponsofirganizations of the
Treadway Commission (COSO) in Internal Control—¢mtged Framework. Based on this assessment, maeageeiieves
that, as of December 31, 2009, the Company’s iaterontrol over financial reporting is effectivedea on those criteria.

The effectiveness of our internal controls oveafinial reporting as of December 31, 2009 has bediteal by Ernst
& Young, the independent registered public accagntirm who also audited the Company’s consoliddieancial statements.
Ernst & Young's attestation report on the effeatiess of the Company’s internal controls over fir@neporting is included
herein.

Changes in internal control
No significant changes in our internal controlsroother factors that could significantly affecetfe controls

subsequent to the date of the evaluation, includimgcorrective actions with regard to significdeficiencies and material
weaknesses, were made as a result of the evaluation
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accountifigm

REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER
FINANCIAL REPORTING

The Board of Directors and Shareholders
COPA HOLDINGS, S. A.

We have audited Copa Holdings, S. A. (the “Comparayid its subsidiarieshternal control over financial reporting as
December 31, 2009, based on criteria establishé&uténnal Control —ntegrated Framework issued by the Committe
Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Comisgive COSO criteria). Copa Holdings, S. A. and itbsdiaries’
management is responsible for maintaining effectivernal control over financial reporting and fies assessment of t
effectiveness of internal control over financiapoeting, included in the accompanying ManagensiReport on Intern
Control over Financial Reporting. Our responsipiig to express an opinion on the companiyiternal control over financ
reporting based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the stedglof the Public Company Accounting Oversight lBo@nited States
Those standards require that we plan and perfoematidit to obtain reasonable assurance about wheffective interne
control over financial reporting was maintainecalhmaterial respects. Our audit included obtairangunderstanding of inter
control over financial reporting, assessing the ttisat a material weakness exists, testing anduatiag the design a
operating effectiveness of internal control basedhe assessed risk, and performing such othereguwes as we conside
necessary in the circumstances. We believe thaawdit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

A companys internal control over financial reporting is aopess designed to provide reasonable assuranceliregahe
reliability of financial reporting and the prepacat of financial statements for external purposesdcordance with genere
accepted accounting principles. A companiyiternal control over financial reporting inclsdiose policies and procedures

(1) pertain to the maintenance of records thateasonable detail, accurately and fairly refleet tfansactions and dispositit
of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasenas$urance that transactions are recorded assaegés permit preparati
of financial statements in accordance with gengraticepted accounting principles, and that receipts expenditures of t
company are being made only in accordance withaaiztitions of management and directors of the campand (3) provid
reasonable assurance regarding prevention or tigethction of unauthorized acquisition, use, opalstion of the company’
assets that could have a material effect on thenfiml statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal cohtover financial reporting may not prevent or a¢tenisstatements. Als
projections of any evaluation of effectiveness utufe periods are subject to the risk that controtsy become inadequ.
because of changes in conditions, or that the @egfreompliance with the policies or procedures meteriorate.

In our opinion, Copa Holdings S. A. and its submiis maintained, in all material respects, efteciinternal control ovi
financial reporting as of December 31, 2009, basethe COSO criteria.

We also have audited, in accordance with the staisdaf the Public Company Accounting Oversight Bo@united States), tl
consolidated balance sheets of Copa Holdings, Samdl. its subsidiaries as of December 31, 2009 &@@8,2and relate
consolidated statements of income, shareholdegsity, and cash flows for each of the three yearshe period ende
December 31, 2009 and our report dated March 1) 28pressed an unqualified opinion thereon.

/sl Ernst and Young

March 16, 2010
Panama City, Republic of Panama

Item 16. Reserved
Item 16A. Audit Committee Financial Expert
Our Board of Directors has determined that Mr. Joaétafieda and Roberto Artavia qualify as an “azalitmittee

financial experts” as defined by current SEC raled meet the independence requirements of the &8@a NYSE listing
standards. For a discussion of the role of ourtaxsdhmittee, see “Item 6C. Board Practices—AudiinButtee.”

91




Table of Contents

Item 16B. Code of Ethics

Our Board of Directors has adopted a Code of Bssit@onduct and Ethics applicable to our directffiers,
employees and consultants. The Code of Businesdu@band Ethics can be found at www.copaair.coneutite heading
“Investor Relations—Corporate Governance.” Inforimafound at this website is not incorporated Hgrence into this
document.

Item 16C. Principal Accountant Fees and Services

The following table sets forth by category of seevthe total fees for services performed by ouepehdent auditors
Ernst & Young during the fiscal years ended Decen3ie 2008 and 2009:

2008 2009
Audit Fees $ 769,86( $ 715,00(
Audit-Related Fee — —
Tax Fees — —
All Other Fees — 538,99:
Total $ 769,86( $ 1,253,99
Audit Fees

Audit fees for 2009 and 2008 included the audibwf annual financial statements and internal cdsittbe review of
our quarterly reports.

Audit-Related Fees

There were no audit-related fees for 2008.
Tax Fees

There were no tax fees.
All Other Fees

Other fees for 2009 included amounts paid for pgemticonsulting services performed by Ernst & Youang pre-
approved by our audit committee.

There were no other fees for services performeBrogt & Young during 2008.
Pre-Approval Policies and Procedures

Our audit committee approves all audit, audit-edagervices, tax services and other services pedviy Ernst &
Young. Any services provided by Ernst & Young theg not specifically included within the scopefod fiudit must be pre-
approved by the audit committee in advance of amgagement. Pursuant to Rule 2-01 of Regulation SeXjt committees are
permitted to approve certain fees for audit-relaediices, tax services and other services pursaade minimisexception
prior to the completion of an audit engagemen0A9, none of the fees paid to Ernst & Young wengraved pursuant to the
de minimisexception.
Item 16D. Exemptions from the Listing Standards forAudit Committees

None.
Item 16E. Purchase of Equity Securities by the Issr and Affiliated Purchasers

None.

Item 16F. Change in Registrant’s Certifying Accounant

None.
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Iltem 16G. Corporate Governance

Companies that are registered in Panama are relqoirdisclose whether or not they comply with certzorporate governance
guidelines and principles that are recommended&yNational Securities Commissio€¢mision Nacional de Valoresor

CNV). Statements below referring to Panamanian gaece standards reflect these voluntary guidebeé®y the CNV rather
than legal requirements or standard national prestiOur Class A shares are registered with the GXW we comply with the

CNV'’s disclosure requirements.

NYSE Standards

Our Corporate Governance Practice

Director Independence
Majority of board of directors must |
independent. §303A.01

Executive Session:Non-management directors
must meet regularly in executive sessions without
management. Independent directors should meet
alone in an executive session at least once a year.
§303A.02

Nominating/corporate governance committe
Nominating/corporate governance committe:
independent directors is required. The committee
must have a charter specifying the purpose, duties
and evaluation procedures of the committee.
§303A.04

Compensation committe€€ompensation

committee of independent directors is required,
which must approve executive officer
compensation. The committee must have a charter
specifying the purpose, duties and evaluation
procedures of the committee. §303A

Equity compensation plansEquity compensation
plans require shareholder approval, subjec
limited exemptions

Panamanian corporate governance standards reconttrarahe in
every five directors should be an independent thred he criteria for
determining independence under the Panamanian redepo
governance standards differs from the NYSE rule®dnama, a
director would be considered independent as lortheslirector does
not directly or indirectly own 5% or more of theigd and
outstanding voting shares of the company, is natlired in the daily
management of the company and is not a spousdateddo the
second degree by blood or marriage to the persamed above

Our Articles of Incorporation require us to havesthindependent
directors as defined under the NYSE ru

There are no mandatory requirements under Panamkawethat a
company should hold, and we currently do not hsltth executive
sessions.

Panamanian corporate governance standards reconttregnd
registered companies have a nominating committegosed of three
members of the board of directors, at least onehi¢h should be an
independent director, plus the chief executiveceffiand the chief
financial officer. In Panama, the majority of pubtiorporations do n
have a nominating or corporate governance commifee Articles o’
Incorporation require that we maintain a Nominatmgl Corporate
Governance Committee with at least one indepengiesxttor until the
first shareholders’ meeting to elect directorsradtech time as the
Class A shares are entitled to full voting rigl

Panamanian corporate governance standards reconthradrttie
compensation of executives and directors be oversgehe
nominating committee but do not otherwise addriesseed for a
compensation committee.

While we maintain a compensation committee thatates under a
charter as described by the NYSE governance stdsdaurrently
only one of the members of that committee is indejeat.

Under Panamanian law, shareholder approval isetptired for equit
compensation plans.
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NYSE Standards Our Corporate Governance Practice

Code of EthicsCorporate governance guidelines Panamanian corporate governance standards doquita¢he
and a code of business conduct and ethics is adoption of specific guidelines as contemplatedheyNYSE
required, with disclosure of any waiver for standards, although they do require that compatisetose
directors or executive officers. 8303A.10 differences between their practices and a lispetdied practices

recommended by the CN'

We have not adopted a set of corporate governandelines as
contemplated by the NYSE, although we will be reggdito comply
with the disclosure requirement of the CN

Panamanian corporate governance standards reconttregnd
registered companies adopt a code of ethics caystinh topics as its
ethical and moral principles, how to address cot¥lof interest, the
appropriate use of resources, obligations to infofracts of
corruption and mechanism to enforce the compliavite established
rules of conduct
PART I
Item 17. Financial Statements
See “Item 18. Financial Statements.”
Item 18. Financial Statements
See our consolidated financial statements beginomBage F-1.
Iltem 19. Exhibits
1.0% English translation of the Articles of IncorporatiPacto Socia) of the Registran

2.1* Form of Second Amended and Restated Shareholdgreefnent among Copa Holdings, S.A., Corporacion
de Inversiones Aéreas, S.A. and Continental Aigjriec.

2.2* Form of Amended and Restated Registration Righte@&ment among Copa Holdings, S.A., Corporacion de
Inversiones Aéreas, S.A. and Continental Airliries,

10.1%*t Aircraft Lease Agreement, dated as of October 8818etween First Security Bank and Compafiia
Panamefia de Aviacién, S.A., in respect of Boeingl@37-71Q Aircraft, Serial No. 2904

10.2%*t Letter Agreement dated as of November 6, 1998 aingniircraft Lease Agreement, dated October 1, 1998
between First Security Bank and Comparfiia Paname@aiacion, S.A., in respect of One Boeing Model
737-71Q Aircraft, Manufacturer’s Serial No. 29047

10.2*t Aircraft Lease Amendment Agreement dated as of RIgy2004 to Aircraft Lease Agreement, dated
October 1, 1998, between First Security Bank anchi@aiiia Panamefia de Aviacion, S.A., in respect of
Boeing Model 73-71Q Aircraft, Serial No. 2904

10.4%*t Aircraft Lease Agreement, dated as of October 98818etween First Security Bank and Compaiiia
Panamefia de Aviacion, S.A., in respect of Boeingl®@37-71Q Aircraft, Serial No. 2904

10.8%*t Letter Agreement dated as of November 6, 1998 aingriircraft Lease Agreement, dated as of October 1

1998, between First Security Bank and Compafiiafafia de Aviacion, S.A., in respect of Boeing Model
737-71Q Aircraft, Serial No. 2904
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10.124*t

10.18+*t

10.1€*t

10.17*t

10.1e*t

10.1¢*t

10.20*t

10.21+F

10.22+1

10.22*t

10.224*t

10.28+*t

Aircraft Lease Amendment Agreement dated as of Rthy2003 to Aircraft Lease Agreement, dated
October 1, 1998, between First Security Bank anch@afiia Panamefia de Aviacién, S.A., in respect of
Boeing Model 737-71Q Aircraft, Serial No. 29048

Aircraft Lease Agreement, dated as of Novemberl®88, between Aviation Financial Services Inc. and
Compariia Panamefia de Aviacién, S.A., Boeing Mo8@&}700 Aircraft, Serial No. 28607

Letter Agreement No. 1 dated as of November 18818%ircraft Lease Agreement, dated November 18,
1998, between Aviation Financial Services Inc. @atnpafiia Panamefia de Aviacién, S.A., Boeing Model
737-700 Aircraft, Serial No. 2860

Letter Agreement No. 2 dated as of March 8, 199Aitoraft Lease Agreement, dated November 18, 1998,
between Aviation Financial Services Inc. and Conf@dfanamefia de Aviacion, S.A., Boeing Model 78€-
Aircraft, Serial No. 28607

Lease Extension and Amendment Agreement dated Aprdf30, 2003, to Aircraft Lease Agreement, dated
November 18, 1998, between Aviation Financial Smvilnc. and Compafiia Panamefia de Aviacién,
Boeing Model 73-700 Aircraft, Serial No. 2860

Aircraft Lease Agreement, dated as of Novemberl®88, between Aviation Financial Services Inc. and
Compariia Panamefia de Aviacién, S.A., Boeing Mo8e-700 Aircraft, Serial No. 3004

Letter Agreement No. 1 dated as of November 18818%ircraft Lease Agreement, dated November 18,
1998, between Aviation Financial Services Inc. @atnpafiia Panamefia de Aviacién, S.A., Boeing Model
737-700 Aircraft, Serial No. 30049

Letter Agreement No. 2 dated as of March 8, 1998itoraft Lease Agreement, dated November 18, 1998,
between Aviation Financial Services Inc. and Conf@&fanamefia de Aviacién, S.A., Boeing Model 78¢-
Aircraft, Serial No. 3004

Lease Extension and Amendment Agreement dated Aprdf30, 2003, to Aircraft Lease Agreement, dated
November 18, 1998, between Aviation Financial Smvilnc. and Compafiia Panamefia de Aviacion,
Boeing Model 737-700 Aircraft, Serial No. 30049

Aircraft Lease Agreement, dated as of Novembe2B03, between International Lease Finance Corporati
and Compafiia Panamefia de Aviacion, S.A., New -700 or 800, Serial No. 306"

Aircraft Lease Agreement, dated as of March 4, 2@@4ween International Lease Finance Corporatich a
Compariia Panamefia de Aviacién, S.A., New [-700 or 800, Serial No. 328(

Aircraft Lease Agreement dated as of December @84 2between Wells Fargo Bank Northwest, N.A. and
Compariia Panamefia de Aviacién, S.A., in respeBbefng B73-800 Aircraft, Serial No. 2967

Embraer 190LR Purchase Agreement DCT-006/2003 deted May 2003 between Embraer— Empresa
Brasileira de Aeronautica S.A. and Regional AircHildings Ltd.

Letter Agreement DCT-007/2003 between Embraer—EsgBrasileira de Aeronautica S.A. and Regional
Aircraft Holdings Ltd., relating to Purchase AgremmhDC1-006/2003

Letter Agreement DCT-008/2003 between Embraer—EsgBrasileira de Aeronautica S.A. and Regional
Aircraft Holdings Ltd., relating to Purchase AgremmhDC1-006/2003

Embraer 190 Purchase Agreement COM 0028-06 datedi&ey 2006 between Embraer—Empresa
Brasileira de Aeronautica S.A. and Copa Holding8, &lating to Embraer 190LR aircre

Letter Agreement COM 0029-06 to the Embraer Agragrdated February 2006 between Embraer—
Empresa Brasileira de Aeronautica S.A. and CopaliHg$, S.A. relating to Embraer 190LR airct

Aircraft General Terms Agreement, dated Novemberl®98, between The Boeing Company and Copa
Holdings, S.A.

Purchase Agreement Number 2191, dated Novembdr9®®8, between The Boeing Company and Copa
Holdings, S.A., Inc. relating to Boeing Model 73V & 737-8V3 Aircraft

Supplemental Agreement No. 1 dated as of June@¥, & Purchase Agreement Number 2191 between The
Boeing Company and Copa Holdings, S
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10.32%
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10.38
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10.40+
10.471
10.42+
10.43*

10.44t
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10.4¢t

10.47F

10.4¢t
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Supplemental Agreement No. 2 dated as of Decenthe2@1 to Purchase Agreement Number 2191
between The Boeing Company and Copa Holdings,

Supplemental Agreement No. 3 dated as of JuneD® © Purchase Agreement Number 2191 between The
Boeing Company and Copa Holdings, S

Supplemental Agreement No. 4 dated as of Decenfhe2@?2 to Purchase Agreement Number 2191
between The Boeing Company and Copa Holdings,

Supplemental Agreement No. 5 dated as of Octobe2@®13 to Purchase Agreement Number 2191 between
The Boeing Company and Copa Holdings, ¢

Supplemental Agreement No. 6 dated as of Septe®)#004 to Purchase Agreement Number 2191 bet
The Boeing Company and Copa Holdings, S.A.

Supplemental Agreement No. 7 dated as of Decemt#¥® to Purchase Agreement Number 2191 between
The Boeing Company and Copa Holdings, ¢

Supplemental Agreement No. 8 dated as of April20B5 to Purchase Agreement Number 2191 betwee
Boeing Company and Copa Holdings, S

Supplemental Agreement No. 9 dated as of Marct2@66 to the Boeing Purchase Agreement Number 2191
dated November 25, 1998 between the Boeing CompadyCopa Holdings, S./

Supplemental Agreement No. 10 dated as of May 8626 the Boeing Purchase Agreement Number 2191
dated November 25, 1998 between the Boeing CompadyCopa Holdings, S./

Maintenance Cost per Hour Engine Service Agreentzied March 5, 2003, between G.E. Engine Services,
Inc. and Copa Holdings, S.;

English translation of Aviation Fuel Supply Agreemedated July 18, 2005, between Petréleos Delfa, S
and Compafiia Panamefia de Aviacion, !

Form of Guaranteed Loan Agreem:

Form of Amended and Restated Alliance Agreememnwéen Continental Airlines, Inc. and Compafiia
Panamefia de Aviacion, S.

Form of Amended and Restated Services Agreemeweket Continental Airlines, Inc. and Compafiia
Panamefia de Aviacion, S.

Form of Amended and Restated Frequent Flyer Pro@articipation Agreemei
Form of Copa Holdings, S.A. 2005 Stock InceetiPlan

Form of Copa Holdings, S.A. Restricted Stock AwAgteemen:

Form of Indemnification Agreement with the Regist’s directors

Supplemental Agreement No. 11 dated as of Augus2@06 to the Boeing Purchase Agreement Number
2191 dated November 25, 1998 between the Boeingp@oynand Copa Holdings, S.

Supplemental Agreement No. 12 dated as of Feb2@rg2007 to the Boeing Purchase Agreement Number
2191 dated November 25, 1998 between the Boeingp@oynand Copa Holdings, S.

Supplemental Agreement No. 13 dated as of April22®7 to the Boeing Purchase Agreement Number 2191
dated November 25, 1998 between the Boeing CompadyCopa Holdings, S./

Supplemental Agreement No. 14 dated as of Augus2@a7 to the Boeing Purchase Agreement Number
2191 dated November 25, 1998 between the Boeingp@oynand Copa Holdings, S.A.

Supplemental Agreement No. 15 dated as of Febr2r2008 to the Boeing Purchase Agreement Number
2191 dated November 25, 1998 between the Boeingp@oynand Copa Holdings, S.A.

Supplemental Agreement No. 16 dated as of Jun2(IB to the Boeing Purchase Agreement Number 2191
dated November 25, 1998 between the Boeing ComaadyCopa Holdings, S./
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10.5(t

10.51tt

10.521t

10.5%t

121

12.2

131
13.2

21. 1

Supplemental Agreement No. 17 dated as of Decedthe2008 to the Boeing Purchase Agreement Number
2191 dated November 25, 1998 between the Boeingp@oynand Copa Holdings, S.

Supplemental Agreement No. 18 dated as of JulQ69 to the Boeing Purchase Agreement Number 2191
dated November 25, 1998 between the Boeing ComaadyCopa Holdings, S.

Supplemental Agreement No. 19 dated as of Augus2@a9 to the Boeing Purchase Agreement Number
2191 dated November 25, 1998 between the Boeingp@oynand Copa Holdings, S

Supplemental Agreement No. 20 dated as of Noverh®e2009 to the Boeing Purchase Agreement Number
2191 dated November 25, 1998 between the Boeingp@oynand Copa Holdings, S

Certification of the Chief Executive Officer, puesit to Rules 13a-14 and 15d-14 under the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934,

Certification of the Chief Financial Officer, puemt to Rules 13a-14 and 15d-14 under the Securities
Exchange Act of 193¢

Certification of Chief Executive Officer, pursuantSection 906 of the Sarba-Oxley Act of 2002
Certification of the Chief Financial Officer, puesut to Section 906 of the Sarba-Oxley Act of 2002

Subsidiaries of the Registra

*  Previously filed with the SEC as an exhibit andorporated by reference from our Registraticate3hent on Form F-1,
filed June 15, 2006, File No. 3-135031.

**  Previously filed with the SEC as an exhibitchimcorporated by reference from our Registratitate3nent on Form F-1,
filed November 28, 2005, as amended on Decemt&dd5 and December 13, 2005, File No.-129967.

T The Registrant was granted confidential treatmenpértions of this exhibi
tT The Registrant has requested confidentiairtreat for portions of this exhibit.
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SIGNATURES

The Registrant hereby certifies that it meets fthe requirements for filing on Form 20-F and thdtas duly caused
and authorized the undersigned to sign this anmyalrt on its behalf.

COPA HOLDINGS, S.A.

By: /s/ Pedro Heilbron
Name: Pedro Heilbron
Title:  Chief Executive Officer

Dated: March 16, 2010
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS AND SHAREHOLDERS
COPA HOLDINGS, S. A.

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balaheets of Copa Holdings, S. A. (“the Compaiyij its subsidiaries
of December 31, 2009 and 2008, and the relatedotidated statements of income, shareholderglity, and cash flows f
each of the three years in the period ended Dece&ihe2009. Our audits also included the finansi@tement schedt
included in Item 18. These consolidated finandiatesnents and schedule are the responsibilityefCthmpanys managemen
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on ¢hesnsolidated financial statements and schedwsledban our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with thedstals of the Public Company Accounting Oversighamio(United States
Those standards require that we plan and perfoenatidit to obtain reasonable assurance about whibaéinancial statemer
are free of material misstatement. An audit includgamining, on a test basis, evidence supportiegmounts and disclosu
in the financial statements. An audit also includssessing the accounting principles used andfisigmi estimates made
management, as well as evaluating the overall &iigstatement presentation. We believe that oditsiyprovide a reasonal
basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial stateteerferred to above present fairly, in all materespects, the consolida
financial position of the Company and its subsigsrat December 31, 2009 and 2008, and the comsetidesults of the
operations and their cash flows for each of thedhyears in the period ended December 31, 2008onformity with U.S
generally accepted accounting principles. Alsooim opinion, the related consolidated financiakesteent schedule, wh
considered in relation to the basic consolidatedrftial statements taken as a whole, presentg faidll material respects t
information set forth therein.

As discussed in Note 10, Earnings per Share (Aeil)sin 2009, the Company changed its method afutating earnings p
share.

We also have audited, in accordance with the staisdaf the Public Company Accounting Oversight Bog@ynited States), tl
effectiveness of Comparg/internal control over financial reporting as ofd@mber 31, 2009, based on criteria establish
Internal Controlntegrated Framework issued by the Committee oinSpong Organizations of the Treadway Commissiod
our report dated March 12, 2010 expressed an uifigdabpinion thereon”.

/sl Ernst and Young

March 16, 2010
Panama City, Republic of Panama
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COPA HOLDINGS, S. A. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET
(In US$ thousands, except share and per share data)

As of December 31

2009 2008
ASSETS
Current Assets:
Cash and cash equivalents $ 262,65t $ 220,80¢
Shor-term investment 89,41: 176,01¢
Total cash, cash equivalents and short-term inverstsn 352,06¢ 396,82t
Accounts receivable, net of allowance for doub#fttounts of $4,947 and $5,002 as of
December 31, 2009 and 2008, respecti' 76,39: 70,60¢
Accounts receivable from related part 4,39¢ 4,59
Expendable parts and supplies, net of allowancelisolescence of $78 and $53 as of
December 31, 2009 and 2008, respecti' 23,327 18,40¢
Prepaid expenst¢ 32,31 26,69¢
Other current assets 13,65¢ 5,33¢
Total Current Asset 502,15 522,46«
Investments 6,407 11,14t
Property and Equipment:
Owned property and equipme
Flight equipmen 1,439,75! 1,372,35;
Other 61,33¢ 55,29
1,501,09! 1,427,64.
Less: Accumulated depreciati (218,109 (174,83)
1,282,991 1,252,80i
Purchase deposits for flight equipm: 198,69 84,86!
Total Property and Equipme 1,481,68 1,337,66!
Other Assets:
Prepaid pension ass 2,221 1,48¢
Goodwill 23,85: 21,73:
Other intangible asse 34,97: 31,86¢
Other asset 41,56¢ 27,86¢
Total Other Asset 102,62: 82,947
Total Assets $ 2,092,86 $ 1,954,22!

The accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financite8tents are an integral part of these statements.
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COPA HOLDINGS, S. A. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS (continued)
(In US$ thousands, except share and per share data)

As of December 31

2009 2008
LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS '’ EQUITY
Current Liabilities:
Current maturities of lor-term debi $ 94,55( $ 115,83
Accounts payabl 51,34 54,06¢
Accounts payable to related part 14,10t 11,51(
Air traffic liability 183,34« 182,49(
Taxes and interest payalt 43,227 37,19«
Accrued expenses payat 49,05¢ 40,64:
Other current liabilitie: 10,957 60,34¢
Total Current Liabilities 446,58. 502,08+
Non-Current Liabilities:
Long-term deb 750,97 800,19¢
Post employment benefits liabili 2,37( 2,07z
Other lon¢-term liabilities 13,90¢ 8,69/
Deferred tax liabilities 13,41( 8,741
Total Nor-Current Liabilities 780,65¢ 819,70¢
Total Liabilities 1,227,24 1,321,79:
Shareholder¢ Equity:
Class A common stock - 31,136,619 and 31,031,1agshssued, 30,566,853 and
30,416,441 outstanding in 2009 and 2! 20,86¢ 20,76!
Class B common stoc- 12,778,125 shares issued and outstanding, no he 8,72 8,72
Additional paid in capita 18,65¢ 13,48
Retained earning 817,64¢ 594,00
Accumulated other comprehensive i (265) (4,53¢6)
Total Shareholde’ Equity 865,62¢ 632,43:
Total Liabilities and Shareholders’ Equity $ 2,092,86! $ 1,954,22!

The accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financite8tents are an integral part of these statements.
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COPA HOLDINGS, S. A. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME
(In US$ thousands, except share and per share

Years Ended December 31

2009 2008 2007
Operating Revenue:
Passenger reveni $ 1,186,71 $ 1,217,31 $ 967,06t
Cargo, mail and othe 66,37( 71,47¢ 60,19¢
1,253,08 1,288,78! 1,027,26.
Operating Expenses
Aircraft fuel 300,81¢ 404,66 265,38°
Salaries and benefi 157,87¢ 139,43: 116,69
Passenger servicir 110,76¢ 98,77 82,94¢
Commissions 57,56¢ 67,177 65,93(
Maintenance, material and repe 76,73: 66,43¢ 51,24¢
Reservations and sal 56,28( 54,99¢ 48,22¢
Aircraft rentals 46,53¢ 43,00¢ 38,63¢
Flight operations 60,87: 56,42¢ 43,95¢
Depreciatior 47,07¢ 42,89: 35,32¢
Landing fees and other renti 33,62¢ 32,467 27,017
Other 62,18¢ 58,52 55,09:
Special fleet charge 19,417 — 7,30¢
Gain from involuntary conversic — — (8,019
1,029,76: 1,064,79 829,75t
Operating Income 223,32¢ 223,99: 197,50¢
Non-operating Income (Expense)
Interest cost (32,939 (42,077) (44,33)
Interest capitalize: 692 1,921 2,57(
Interest incom 9,18t 11,13( 12,19¢
Other, ne! 59,70% (58,849 10,981
36,64 (87,869 (18,587
Income before Income Taxes 259,96¢ 136,12¢ 178,92t
Provision for Income Taxes 19,61( 17,46¢ 17,10¢
Net Income $ 240,35¢ $ 118,65¢ $ 161,82(
Earnings per share, as adjusted:
Basic $ 5.47 $ 2.71 $ 3.7C
Diluted $ 5.47 $ 2.71 $ 3.7C
Denominator for basic and diluted earnings per shae, as adjustec 43,910,92 43,822,87 43,782,38

The accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financite8tents are an integral part of these statements.
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COPA HOLDINGS, S. A. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY
(In US$ thousands, except share and per share data)

Common Stocl

(Nor-par value) Issued Capital

Class A Class B Class A Class B

Accumulated

Additional
Paid in

Other
Retained Comprehensive
Capital Earnings Income (Loss' _ Total

At December 31, 200t 30,034,37 12,778,12 20,50 3,34C  343,39( (4,282 371,66¢
Issuance of stoc 125,34 85 (85)
Net Income 161,82( 161,82(
Other comprehensive income (los
Net change in fair value of derivativ
instruments 3,99¢ 3,99¢
Foreign currency translatic 2,95¢ 2,95¢
Actuarial loss, net of amortizatic 2) 2
Total comprehensive incon 168,77(
Restricted stock pla 4,80¢ 4,80¢
Other (50) (50
Dividends declare (13,567) (13,567)
At December 31, 200° 30,159,71 12,778,12 20,58¢ 8,06¢ 491,59¢ 2,66€ 693,45
Issuance of stoc 256,72: iz a7g)
Net Income 118,65¢ 118,65¢
Other comprehensive income (los
Net change in fair value of derivative
instruments (6,713 (6,713
Exchange effect on intercompany Ic
term balanct 2,15¢ 2,15¢
Foreign currency translatic (2,507 (2,507
Actuarial loss, net of amortizatic (241) (14))
Total comprehensive incon 111,45¢
Restricted stock pla 5,592 5,592
Other (47) (47)
Dividends declare (16,207 (16,207)
At December 31, 200t 30,416,44 12,778,12 $20,76. $ 8,72: $ 13,48 $594,00: $ (4,53¢€) $632,43:
Issuance of stoc 150,41: 102 (203)
Net Income 240,35¢ 240,35¢
Other comprehensive income (los
Net change in fair value of derivative
instruments 1,50¢ 1,50¢
Exchange effect on intercompany lc
term balanct (1,486) (1,486
Foreign currency translatic 4,24¢ 4,24¢
Total comprehensive incon 244,63(
Restricted stock pla 5,28( 5,28(
Other (45¢) (45¢)
Dividends declare (16,25%) (16,25%)
At December 31, 200¢ 30,566,85 12,778,12 $20,86¢ $ 8,722 $ 18,65¢ $817,64¢ $ (265) $865,62¢

The accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financite8tents are an integral part of these statements.
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COPA HOLDINGS, S. A. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(In US$ thousands)

Years Ended December 31

2009 2008 2007
Cash flows from operating activities
Net income $ 240,35¢ $ 118,65¢ $ 161,82
Adjustments for
Deferred income taxe 3,81¢ 4,64¢ 2,352
Depreciation 47,07¢ 42,89: 35,32¢
Gain on sale of property, equipment and involuntaimversior — — (9,579
Special fleet charge 8,92: 19¢ 6,30(
Provision for doubtful accoun 55 3,23( 4,27¢
Provision for obsolescence of expendable partssapglies 27 21 12
Derivative instruments mark to mart (59,010 53,29( (6,297)
Stock compensatio 5,27¢ 5,592 4,80¢
Changes in:
Accounts receivabl (4,28() (4,459 (14,809
Accounts receivable from related part 524 (3,177%) 1,25¢
Other current assets (12,787 (6,34¢) (14,149
Restricted cas 40,93¢ (39,809 1)
Other asset (11,83) 974 (7,83%)
Accounts payabl (3,669 (2,079 7,611
Accounts payable to related part 7,444 1,681 1,671
Air traffic liability (24¢) 32,09( 35,21¢
Other liabilities 19,81« (9,319) 13,951
Net cash provided by operating activities 282,43¢ 198,10! 221,94:
Cash flows from investing activities
Acquisition of investments (217,909 (240,40) (500)
Proceeds from redemption of investme 268,31« 132,58t 17,49¢
Advance payments on aircraft purchase conti (151,67¢) (53,439 (62,12¢)
Acquisition of property and equipme (50,999 (162,479 (304,01
Disposal of property and equipme 81C 954 2,35¢
Insurance proceeds on involuntary conver: — — 12,03¢
Net cash flows used in investing activitie (151,45) (322,78() (334,759
Cash flows from financing activities
Proceeds from loans and borrowings 103,78( 160,19 329,14°
Payments on loans and borrowir (175,379 (84,477 (87,29)
Dividends declared and pe (16,255 (16,207 (13,567)
Net cash flows (used) provided by financing activiés (87,849 59,51¢ 228,29!
Effect of exchange rate change on cash (1,28¢) 10€ 50C
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equisalent 41,84¢ (65,05() 115,97¢
Cash and cash equivalents at Januest 220,80¢ 285,85¢ 169,88(
Cash and cash equivalents at December . $ 262,65¢ $ 220,80¢ $ 285,85¢
Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information
Interest paid, net of amount capitaliz $ 34,17( $ 40,38: $ 40,10¢
Income taxes paid 13,84 14,90¢ 16,55¢
Investing and financing activities not affectingshz
Settlement of debt through insurance proceed ooluméary
conversion — — 22,82(

The accompanying Notes to Consolidated FinanciteStents are an integral part of these statements.
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COPA HOLDINGS, S. A. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Corporate Information

Copa Holdings, S. A. (“the Company”) is a leadirefih American provider of international airline pasger and cargo
services. The Company was incorporated accorditigetéaws of the Republic of Panama. The Companysc®9.8% of the
shares of Comparfiia Panamefia de Aviacion, S. Ap@dQ@arlines”), 100% of the shares of Oval Finantiahsing, Ltd.
(“OVAL"), and 99.9% of the shares of AeroRepubli&A. (“AeroRepublica”).

Copa Airlines, the Company’s core operation, i®imporated according to the laws of the RepubliPahama and provides
international air transportation for passengersgg@and mail. Copa Airlines operates from its Paa&ity hub in the Republic
of Panama, from where it offers approximately 188ydscheduled flights among 45 destinations irc@dntries in North,
Central and South America and the Caribbean. Aalftttly, Copa Airlines provides passengers with asde flights to more
than 120 other international destinations througtheshare agreements with Continental Airlines, (f€ontinental”) and other
airlines. The Company has a broad commercial aéiamith Continental which includes joint marketirgde-sharing
arrangements, participation in Continental’s OneResjuent flyer loyalty program and access to @emntal’s VIP lounge
program, President’s Club, along with other besefiich as improved purchasing power in negotiatigtisservice providers,
aircraft vendors and insurers.

As of December 31, 2009, Copa Airlines operatdset bf 42 aircraft with an average age of 5.1 geeonsisting of 29 modern
Boeing 737-Next Generation aircraft and 13 Embi#&r aircraft.

OVAL is incorporated according to the laws of thetiBh Virgin Islands, and controls the special{mse vehicles that have a
beneficial interest in 40 aircraft, with a carryimglue of $1.1 billion, all of which are leasedeither Copa Airlines or
AeroRepublica. The aircraft are pledged as colter the obligation of the special-purpose vedsciwhich are all
consolidated by the Company for financial reporgingposes.

AeroRepublica is a domestic Colombian air carmdrich is incorporated according to the laws of Republic of Colombia ar
provides domestic service to 12 cities in Colombith a point-to-point route network as well as im@ional service to Panama
City, Ecuador and Venezuela from seven (7) diffecéies. As of December 31, 2009, AeroRepublicarafes a fleet of 14
aircraft with an average age of 3.2 years; comgjstif one leased MD-80s and 13 Embraer 190 aircraft

A substantial portion of the Company’s assets @acated in the Republic of Panama, and a signifipamportion of the
Company'’s flights operate through its hub at Tocarmernational Airport in Panama City. As a restiie Company depends
on economic and political conditions prevailingrfréime to time in Panama.

As used in these Notes to Consolidated Financak8tents, the terms “the Company”, “we”, “us”, “6and similar terms
refer to Copa Holdings, S.A. and, unless the cdritelicates otherwise, its consolidated subsidgarie
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COPA HOLDINGS, S. A. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
Basis of Presentation

These consolidated financial statements were peejparaccordance with U.S. generally accepted atowy principles for
financial reporting using the U.S. Dollar as thpaeing currency.

Principles of Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements comprisetiteunts of the Company and its subsidiaries. Hantial statements of
subsidiaries are prepared for the same reportinggas the parent company, using consistent a¢twupolicies. Subsidiaries
are consolidated from the date on which contrédassferred to the Company and cease to be coasetlidrom the date on
which control is transferred from the Company. iAtercompany accounts, transactions and profisrayifrom consolidated
entities have been eliminated in consolidation.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of the Consolidated Financial $tates requires management to make estimates amehpiisns that affect
the amounts reported in the consolidated finarst@tements and accompanying notes. Actual resolsl differ from those
estimates.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bdrde;tsrm time deposits and U.S. Government traasecurities with
original maturities of three months or less wherchased.

Investments

The Company invests in short-term time depositsldu® Government treasury securities with origimakurities of more than
three months but less than one year. Addition#lg,Company invests in long-term time deposits wititurities greater than
365 days. These investments are classified as-sramtand long-term investments respectively, mahcompanying
Consolidated Balance Sheets. All of these investsnare classified as held-to-maturity securities] are stated at their
amortized cost, since the Company has determiratdtthas the intent and ability to hold the setiesito maturity. Restricted
cash is classified within short-term and long-ténrestments and is held as collateral for lettérsredit.
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COPA HOLDINGS, S. A. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Expendable Parts and Supplies

Expendable parts and supplies for flight equipneeatcarried at average acquisition cost and areresqal when used in
operations. An allowance for obsolescence is pexviover the remaining estimated useful life ofréated aircraft, plus an
allowance for expendable parts currently identifisdexcess to reduce the carrying cost to nezeddé value. These
allowances are based on management estimates, afgictubject to change.

Property and Equipment

Property and equipment are recorded at cost andegmeciated to estimated residual values over éstimated useful lives

using the straight-line method. Jet aircraft, jegiees and aircraft rotables are assumed to haestanated residual value of
15% of original cost; other categories of propentyl equipment are assumed to have no residual. veheeestimated useful
lives for property and equipment are as follows:

Years
Jet aircrafi 30
Jet engine 30
Ground property and equipment 5to 1(
Furniture, fixture, equipment and othi 5to 1(
Software rights and licens 3to ¢
Aircraft rotables 10 to 3(
Leasehold improvemen Lesser of remaining lease term or useful

Measurement of Impairment of Long-Lived Assets

The Company records impairment losses on long-lasskts used in operations, consisting principmdlfyroperty and
equipment, when events or changes in circumstandesate, in management’s judgment, that the ass&ht be impaired and
the undiscounted cash flows estimated to be gesefedm the use of those assets are less tharathgng amount of those
assets. Cash flows estimates are based on hidt@dts adjusted to reflect the Company’s besinede of future market and
operating conditions. The net carrying value oféssiot recoverable is reduced to fair value. Exs of fair value represent
the Company’s best estimate based on industry srand reference to assumptions that market patitspivould use in pricing
the asset and are subject to change.

Revenue Recognition
Passenger Reveni

Passenger revenue is recognized when transportatfpovided rather than when a ticket is sold. @h®unt of passenger
ticket sales not yet recognized as revenue isateftbas “Air traffic liability” in the ConsolidateBalance Sheets. Fares for
tickets that have expired and/or are one year @decognized as passenger revenue. A signifiaamiop of the Company’s
ticket sales are processed through major credit campanies, resulting in accounts receivable whrehgenerally shoterm in
duration and typically collected prior to when reue is recognized. The Company believes that thditcrisk associated with
these receivables is minimal.
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COPA HOLDINGS, S. A. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

We are required to charge certain taxes and fe@sippassenger tickets. These taxes and fees stladsportation taxes,
airport passenger facility charges and foreigrval@and departure taxes. These taxes and feesgakdssessments on the
customer. As we have a legal obligation to act esliection agent with respect to these taxes agd,fwe do not include such
amounts in passenger revenue. We record a liakilitgn the amounts are collected and relieve tiditiawhen payments are
made to the applicable government agency or opeyaarrier.

Cargo and Mail Services Revenue

Cargo and mail services revenue are recognized Wiee@ompany provides the shipping services aneliyecompletes the
earning process.

Other Revenue

Other revenue is primarily comprised of excess bgggharges, commissions earned on tickets softigbts on other airlines
and charter flights, and is recognized when trartagion or service is provided.

Frequent Flyer Progran

The Company participates in Continental’s “OneP&ssjuent flyer program, for which the Company’sgengers receive all
the benefits and privileges offered by the OnePasgram. Continental is responsible for the adntiai®n of the OnePass
program. Under the terms of the Company’s freqéigat agreement with Continental, OnePass memlessive OnePass
frequent flyer mileage credits for travel on CopidiAes and AeroRepublica and the Company pays i@ental a per mile rate
for each mileage credit granted by Continentalylsith point the Company has no further obligatibhe amounts due to
Continental under this agreement are expensededb@dmpany as the mileage credits are earned. Gonéihpays Copa
Airlines a per flown mile rate for every OnePassnber that uses his/her miles to obtain reward t&cke Copa Airlines and
AeroRepublica flights. These rates depend on thesabf service, the flight length and the availgbdf the reward.

Passenger Traffic Commissions

Passenger traffic commissions are recognized asneepwvhen the transportation is provided and tlage revenue is
recognized. Passenger traffic commissions paicdhbuyet recognized as expense are included in ‘@degxpenses” in the
accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheets.

Foreign Currency Transactions and Translation

The Company'’s functional currency is the U.S. Dolthe legal tender in Panama. Assets and liadsliim foreign currencies are
translated at end-of-period exchange rates, exXoepbn-monetary assets and liabilities, whichtaaeslated at equivalent U.S.
dollar costs at dates of acquisition and maintamtdustorical rate. Results of operations aredlated at average exchange r.
in effect during the period. Foreign exchange gaimd losses are included as a component of “Otle¢t within Non-operating
income (expense) in the Consolidated Statemeritscome.
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COPA HOLDINGS, S. A. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The financial statements of AeroRepublica are meabusing the Colombian Peso as the functionakowyr; adjustments to
translate those statements into U.S. Dollars arerded in other comprehensive income (loss).

In 2009, approximately 71% of the Company’s expsras&l 43% of the Comparsyfevenues were denominated in U.S. Dol
The remainder of the Company’s expenses and resemere denominated in the currencies of the varousitries to which
the Company flies, with the largest non-dollar amtadenominated in Colombian pesos for which the gamy hedges the risk
of fluctuation from time to time (see Note 7). Grally, the Company’s exposure to foreign currencsdgmited to a period of
up to two weeks, from the time a sale is complébetthe time funds are converted into U.S. Doll&s a result of exchange
controls in Venezuela, cash generated from Venanugberations may not be available to fund our cédigations.

Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities

The Company accounts for derivatives and hedgitigites in accordance with ASC Topic 815, “Deriweags and
Hedging” (“ASC Topic 815”) which requires entitigsrecognize all derivative instruments as eittssess or liabilities in the
balance sheet at their respective fair values.

The Company only enters into derivative contraleéd it intends to use in managing the variabilittremarket related values of
forecasted transaction or the variability of cdsiwé to be received or paid related to a recognasset or liability (cash flow
hedge). For all hedging relationships the Companmélly documents the hedging relationship andistsmanagement
objective and strategy for undertaking the hedge hedging instrument, the hedged item, the natitiee risk being hedged,
how the hedging instrumesteffectiveness in offsetting the hedged risk lassessed prospectively and retrospectivelya
description of the method of measuring ineffecte®s The Company also formally assesses, botle &ietige’s inception and
on an ongoing basis, whether the derivatives tfeatiaed in hedging transactions are highly effeditivoffsetting cash flows of
hedged items.

Changes in the fair value of a derivative thatighly effective and that is designated and quaifis a cash-flow hedge are
recorded in accumulated other comprehensive indortige extent that the derivative is effective deedge, until earnings are
affected by the variability in cash flows of thesimated hedged item. The ineffective portion ef thange in fair value of a
derivative instrument that qualifies as a cash-ftmdge or that is not designated as a hedge istegpio earnings.

The Company discontinues hedge accounting prosedetivhen it determines that the derivative is ooger effective in
offsetting cash flows of the hedged item, the detiire expires or is sold, terminated, or exercisled derivative is de-
designated as a hedging instrument because itikelynthat a forecasted transaction will occurhasenagement determines that
designation of the derivative as a hedging instmneeno longer appropriate.

In all situations in which hedge accounting is distinued and the derivative is retained, the Corgmamtinues to carry the
derivative at its fair value on the balance sheetr@cognizes any subsequent changes in its faiewa earnings. When it is
probable that a forecasted transaction will nouocthe Company discontinues hedge accounting ecagnizes immediately
earnings gains and losses that were accumulateithén comprehensive income.
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COPA HOLDINGS, S. A. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Maintenance and Repair Costs

Maintenance and repair costs for owned and led&gd €quipment, including the overhaul of aircrefimponents, are charged
to operating expenses as incurred. Engine oveduat$ covered by power-by-the-hour arrangementpaiteand expensed as
incurred, on the basis of hours flown per the attrUnder the terms of our power-by-the-hour agesgs, we pay a set dollar
amount per engine hour flown on a monthly basistaedhird-party vendor assumes the obligatiorefmair the engines at no
additional cost to us, subject to certain speciégdiusions.

Additionally, although our aircraft lease agreensesgecifically provide that we, as lessee, areamsiple for maintenance of
the leased aircraft, we do, under certain of oustirg lease agreements, pay maintenance resenagtaft and engine lessors
that are to be applied towards the cost of futuantenance events. These reserves are calculaded ba a performance
measure, such as flight hours, and are specifitallye used to reimburse third-party providers thatish services in
connection with maintenance of our leased airctathere are sufficient funds on deposit to pay iftivoices submitted, they ¢
paid. However, if amounts on deposit are insuffiti® cover the invoices, we must cover the shibiftiecause, as noted above,
we are legally responsible for maintaining the éehaircraft. Under aircraft lease agreements efdtare excess amounts on
deposit at the expiration of the lease, the lessentitled to retain any excess amounts. The reaarice reserves paid under
lease agreements do not transfer either the oldiy&t maintain the aircraft or the cost risk asatz with the maintenance
activities to the aircraft lessor. In addition, maintain the right to select any third-party maivetece providers. Therefore, we
record these amounts as prepaid maintenance v@tter Assets on our Consolidated Balance Sheetthandecognize
maintenance expense when the underlying mainteriampegformed, in accordance with our maintename®anting policy. As
of December 31, 2009 and 2008, based on the experigf the Company’s maintenance personnel andgindavailable data,
management determined that it was probable thata@ithtenance deposits recorded as prepaid mairgenanthe accompanyil
Consolidated Balance Sheets will be used to fuedttst of maintenance events and are thereforeeeanle.

Employee Profit Sharing

The Company sponsors a profit-sharing program éoh Imanagement and non-management personnel. Fobeng of
management, profit-sharing is based on a combimaticthe Company’s performance as a whole and ¢heeaement of
individual goals. Profit-sharing for non-managememiployees is based solely on the Company’s pegoce. The Company
accrues each month for the expected profit-shavimich is paid annually in February. Amounts exgehfor the Company’s
profit-sharing program were $10.7 million, $7.7 lioih and $8.4 million in 2009, 2008 and 2007, retpely.
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COPA HOLDINGS, S. A. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Advertising Costs

Advertising costs are expensed when incurred. Térafany recognized as advertising expense $6.2omjl$7.7 million, and
$6.6 million in 2009, 2008 and 2007, respectively.

Income Taxes

Deferred income taxes are provided under the ligbitethod and reflect the net tax effects of terapp differences between
the tax basis of assets and liabilities and thegprted amounts in the financial statements.

Goodwill and Intangibles

The Company performs impairment testing of goodwillaccordance with ASC Topic 350, “Intangiblese@will and

Other” (“ASC Topic 350”), separately from impairmeasting of indefinite-lived intangibles. The Coamy tests goodwill for
impairment, at least annually, by comparing thekbealue to the fair value at the reporting segmewe| and tests individually
indefinite-lived intangibles, at least annually, ieyiewing the individual book values comparedhe fair value. Considerable
management judgment is necessary to determinesthamgptions that marketplace participants would icensn determining
the fair value of these assets. The Company dideuaignize any impairment charges for goodwillntangibles assets during
the years presented.

All of the Company’s goodwill and indefinite-livedtangibles are allocated to its AeroRepUblica segmindefinite-lived
intangible assets consist primarily of the fairuehllocated to the routes and the AeroRepUbladetname, valued at

$29.4 million and $5.6 million, respectively. Fbetyears ended December 2009 and 2008, amount®divjl and intangible
assets have changed due to exchange effects.

Gain from Involuntary Conversion

In 2007, the Company recorded an $8.0 million gairinvoluntary conversion of non-monetary assetadoetary assets
related to insurance proceeds in excess of airboafk value.

Concentration Risk

The Company attempts to minimize its concentratisk with regards to its cash, cash equivalentd,igninvestment portfolio.
This is accomplished by diversifying and limitinmaunts among different counterparties, the typeaéstment, and the
amount invested in any individual security. Evdre, €Eompanys exposure to other foreign currencies is limited period of u
to two weeks, there is some risk related to devainaf some currencies where the Company has sestections by law to
convert our funds into U.S. Dollars. Due to exchengntrols in Venezuela, however, we often expegeadditional delays in
repatriating cash generated Venezuelan Bolivarés$o dollars. See also Note 16.
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Earnings per Share

Earnings per share information is determined ugliegwo-class method, which includes the weighteg@ge number of
common shares outstanding during the period anet sicurities that participate in dividends (“papating securities”). Our
non-vested stock awards are considered “particigaecurities” because they include non-forfeitaigbts to dividends. In
applying the two-class method, earnings are alimtad both common stock shares and participatingrigees based on their
respective weightedverage shares outstanding for the period. Dilagedings per share information may include thetaatdil
effect of other securities, if dilutive, in whiclage the dilutive effect of such securities is daltad using the treasury stock
method.

2. Adopted and Recently Issued Accounting Pronounogents

Effective July 1, 2009, the Financial Accountingu&iards Board's (“FASB”) Accounting Standards Cigdifion (“ASC”)
became the single official source of authoritativengovernmental generally accepted accountingiples (“GAAP”) in the
United States. The historical GAAP hierarchy waselated and the ASC became the only level of atdtive GAAP, other
than guidance issued by the Securities and Exch@ongamission. Our accounting policies were not affddy the conversion
to ASC. However, references to specific accounsimgndards in the footnotes to our consolidatechfire statements have be
changed to refer to the appropriate section of ASC.

In March 2008, the Financial Accounting Standardat (FASB) issued Statement No. 161, “Disclosatesut Derivative
Instruments and Hedging Activities — an amendmémASB Statement No. 133" (“SFAS 161”). SFAS 16fues entities
that utilize derivative instruments to provide dtaive disclosures about their objectives andtsgi@s for using such
instruments, as well as any details of credit-riskated contingent features contained within deres. SFAS 161 also requires
entities to disclose additional information abdw# amounts and location of derivatives locatediwithe financial statements,
how the provisions of SFAS 133 have been applied,the impact that hedges have on an entity’s firduposition, financial
performance, and cash flows. SFAS 161 is effedtivédiscal years and interim periods beginning maNevember 15, 2008,

with early application encouraged. This is contdiiteASC Topic 815, “Derivatives and Hedging” (“ASK@pic 815”). The
adoption of this amendment did not have a matariphct on these Consolidated Financial Statements.

In September 2006, the FASB issued guidance whe€inet fair value, establishes a framework for meag fair value and
expands disclosures about fair value measuremEhiss guidance is contained in ASC Topic 820, “R#&iue Measurements
and Disclosures” (“ASC Topic 820"). In February B0the FASB deferred the effective date to Jan@ag009 for all
nonfinancial assets and liabilities, except forsehthat are recognized or disclosed at fair vatua recurring basis (that is, at
least annually). We adopted the deferred provisamsSC Topic 820 on January 1, 2009. Applicatidrthe new rules affected
our annual impairment testing for goodwill and otimtangible assets.
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In April 2009, the FASB issued additional guidarceestimating fair value in accordance with ASQpico820. The additional
guidance addresses estimating fair value whendhene and level of activity for an asset or lidlyilnas significantly decreas
in relation to normal market activity for the assetiability. We adopted the provisions of thisidance for the fourth quarter of
2009. The adoption did not have a material effecthese Consolidated Financial Statements.

In June 2009, the FASB issued guidance to chamgadial reporting by enterprises involved with aaie interest entities
(“VIEs"). The standard replaces the quantitativedsirisks and rewards calculation for determinitgctv enterprise has a
controlling financial interest in a VIE with an appch focused on identifying which enterprise lresgower to direct the
activities of a VIE and the obligation to absorbdes of the entity or the right to receive thetgstresidual returns. This
accounting standard is effective for us on Jan@aB010. We are currently evaluating the requiresienthis pronouncement
and have not determined the impact, if any, thap#dn of this standard will have on these Consa#d Financial Statements.

In October 2009, the FASB issued guidance that@bsithe accounting for revenue arrangements witlipteudeliverables.
The guidance requires an entity to allocate comati at the inception of an arrangement to altofieliverables based on
their relative selling prices and eliminates the afthe residual method of allocation. The guidaestablishes a hierarchy for
determining the selling price of a deliverable,dzhen vendor-specific objective evidence, thirdeparidence or estimated
selling price. In addition, this guidance expanetguired disclosures related to a vendor’s multg#éverable revenue
arrangements. This accounting standard is effeftivas on January 1, 2011. We are currently evalgahe requirements of
this pronouncement and we have not determinedhpadt, if any on these Consolidated Financial &tates.

3. Special Fleet Charges

In 2009, the Company decided to terminate earlgeiMD-80 aircraft leases, in connection with tleeflrenovation plan of
AeroRepublica to Embraer -190 aircraft. Early teration charges amounted to $10.5 million and wecegnized as Special
Fleet Charges in the Consolidated Statements ofiec

In connection with the early lease terminations, @Gompany wrote off related property, plant andiggent such as rotable
parts, spare engines and tools that amounted Srfilion and recognized a loss of $4.0 millionateld to the scrap of obsolete
expendable parts. We estimated the fair valuesdb@aseurrent market conditions, the condition of acraft and our expected
proceeds from the sale of the assets, using unaddslerinputs for which there is little or no markktta and which require us to
develop our own assumptions about how market ppaiits would price the assets.

During 2007, the Company terminated five M8D-aircraft leases, in connection with the fleetoneation plan in AeroRepublic
Early termination charges amounted to $7.3 milkonl were recognized as Special Fleet Charges i@dheolidated
Statements of Income.
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4. Long-Term Debt

At December 31, long-term debt consisted of thiofaihg (in millions):

2009 2008
Long-term fixed rate debt $ 347.2 $ 363.¢
(Secured fixed rate indebtedness due through 2@fe@tkve rates ranged from 3.959
to 6.75%)
Long-term variable rate debt 498.% 504.¢
(Secured variable rate indebtedness due throug E€igctive rates ranged from
1.00% to 2.80%
Medium-term variable rate debt — 47.¢
(Unsecured variable rate indebtedness due in 2fe@tlve rates ranged of 2.52% t
4.89%)

Sut-total 845.t 916.(
Less current maturitie 94.5 115.¢
Long-term debt less current maturiti $ 751.( $ 800.2
Maturities of long-term debt for the next five yeare as follows (in millions):

Year ending December 3

2010 $ 94.5

2011 76.C

2012 95.C

2013 63.7

2014 97.2

Thereaftel $ 419.(

As of December 31, 2009 and 2008, the Company B&8.$ million and $379.2 million of outstanding éidedness,
respectively, that is owed to financial institusomnder financing arrangements guaranteed by therEimport Bank of the
United States. The Export-Import Bank guaranteppsrt 85% of the net purchase price of the airaatt are secured with a
first priority mortgage on the aircraft in favor afsecurity trustee on behalf of Export-Import Bank

The Company’s Export-Import Bank supported finagsiare amortized on a quarterly basis, are dendetra U.S. Dollars
and originally bear interest at a floating rate&éid to LIBOR. The Export-lmport Bank guaranteedlfies typically offer an
option to fix the applicable interest rate. The @amy has exercised this option with respect to $88llion as of
December 31, 2009.

The Company effectively extends the maturity ofiteraft financing to 15 years through the usa t&tretched Overall
Amortization and Repayment,” or SOAR, structure athprovides serial draw-downs calculated to regut 100% loan
accreting to a recourse balloon at the maturitthefExport-Import Bank guaranteed loan which tat&#66.0 million as of
December 31, 2009.

The Company also typically finances a portion & plurchase price of the Boeing aircraft through memcial loans which
totaled $5.8 million as of December 31, 2009.
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Assets, primarily aircraft, subject to agreemeetusing the Company’s indebtedness amounted tokfilidn as of
December 31, 2008 and 2009.

As of December 31, 2009 the Company has one urtgaditment for long-term financing agreements fopr@ximately
$67.1 million to acquire two (2) Boeing 737-800caéft to be delivered in the first quarter of 2010.

5. Investments

During 2009, the Company invested in time depasits U.S. Government treasury securities. Thesestments are classified
within short-term and long-term investments in #fitecompanying Consolidated Balance Sheets. Invessnaem classified as
held-to-maturity securities since the Company hasrtent and the ability to hold them until matyiriThese investments are
stated at their amortized cost which is essentthllysame as their fair value. Long-term investmemature within three

(3) years. Investments held by the Company are osewprincipally of time deposits.

At December 31, 2009, the Company had $6.4 miliiorestricted cash within long-term investmentsléters of credits.
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6. Leases

The Company leases certain aircraft and other asseter long-term lease arrangements. Other |esssads include real
property, airport and terminal facilities, salefiggfs, maintenance facilities, training centers gaderal offices. Most contract
leases include renewal options. Non-aircraft reldases, primarily held with local governments)erally have renewable
terms of one year. In certain cases, the rentahpays during the renewal periods would be greatan the current payments.
Because the lease renewals are not consideredreabenably assured, as defined in ASC Topic 84€ases”, the rental
payments that would be due during the renewal derége not included in the determination of remtemse until the leases are
renewed. Leasehold improvements are amortizedtbeecontractually committed lease term, which dustsinclude the
renewal periods. The Company’s leases do not iectadidual value guarantees.

At December 31, 2009, the scheduled future mininiease payments under operating leases that hdig oriremaining non-
cancelable lease terms in excess of one year dofi@ss (in millions):

Operating Leases

Aircraft Non-Aircraft

Year ending December 3
2010 $ 46.¢ $ 9.7
2011 46.C 74
2012 33.t 6.1
2013 26.€ 5.8
2014 26.€ 4.1
Later year: 47.5 3.3
Total minimum lease paymer $ 227.C % 35.¢

Total rent expense was $61.7 million, $58.3 millard $50.2 million for the years ended Decembe2809, 2008 and 2007,
respectively.
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7. Financial Instruments and Risk Management
Fuel Price Risk Manageme

The Company periodically enters into crude oil cgitions, jet fuel zero cost collars, and jet febp contracts to provide for
short to mid-term hedge protection (generally thoeeighteen months) against sudden and significeneases in jet fuel
prices, while simultaneously ensuring that the Canypis not competitively disadvantaged in the ewdrat substantial decrease
in the price of jet fuel. The Company does not tmidssue derivative financial instruments for fredpurposes. The
Company'’s derivative contracts did not qualify asiges for financial reporting purposes as definedlSC Topic 815, “
Derivatives and Hedgin” Accordingly, changes in fair value of such detiva contracts, which amounted to $57.9 million,
($54.9) million and $8.4 million in years 2009, 3)@nd 2007 respectively, were recorded as a coemtaf “Other, net”

within Non-operating income (expense).

The fair value of derivative contracts amounte&16.0 million at December 31, 2009 and was recomdé®ther current
assets” and $47.9 million at December 31, 2008neesrded in “Other current liabilities” in the Catislated Balance Sheets.
The Company'’s purchases of jet fuel are made suotwsiig from one supplier.

As of December 31, 2009, the Company held deriedtigtruments on 20% of its projected 2010 fuelcomption, as
compared with derivatives held on 29% of actual emsumed in 2009.

Financial derivative instruments expose the Compargredit loss in the event of nonperformanceh®ydounterparties to the
agreements. However, the Company does not expgdadmre of the counterparties to meet their oaligns, as the Comparsy’
policy to manage credit risk is to engage in bussngith counterparties who are financially stalild wellversed in the matte
of energy risk management. The amount of such tesgiosure is generally the unrealized gain, if,ampuch contracts.

Foreign Currency Exchange Risk Managem

The Company, for its subsidiary AeroRepublica, Udsesard contracts to hedge against the risk aasediwith its forecasted
U.S. Dollars-denominated cash flows.

The Company'’s forward derivative contracts did qualify as hedges for financial reporting purposeaccordance with ASC
Topic 815. Accordingly, changes in the fair valdesach derivative contracts, which amounted to $6ilion, $1.3 million and
$2.6 million in 2009, 2008 and 2007, respectivelgre recorded as a component of “Other, net” witham-operating income
(expense). The fair value of forward contracts amed to $0.5 million and $1.3 million at Decembér 3009 and 2008,
respectively, were recorded in “Other current assatthe Consolidated Balance Sheets.

During 2008, the Company decided, for some corgraotaccounting these derivatives as cash flovgéedbor financial
reporting purposes in accordance with ASC Topic. 8ty are recorded at fair value with change®ogdld in other current
assets or other current liabilities in the acconypamn Consolidated Balance Sheets with the offséAtzumulated other
comprehensive loss”, net of hedge ineffectivendsslge ineffectiveness included in “Other non-opegaincome (expenseji
the accompanying Consolidated Statement of Incoaeimmaterial. Our loss related to currency hedgisguments included
in “Accumulated other comprehensive losgds $0.3 million at December 31, 2008. The faiueadf forward contracts, until i
maturity date were recorded in “Other current asset
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Interest Rates Risk Managem:

The Company uses interest rate swap contractsoipeha&gainst the interest rate risk variations aasst with its firm
commitments to pay for aircraft leasing denominatedSD. The Company records these derivativest@sdst rates cash flow
hedges for financial reporting purposes in accocdamith ASC Topic 815. They are recorded at falugavith changes
reflected in other current assets or other cudiehilities in the accompanying Consolidated BalSheets with the offset to
“Accumulated other comprehensive loss” net of heidgéfectiveness. During 2009, there was no newghkedeffectiveness
included in “Other non-operating income (expensexhe accompanying Consolidated Statements ofnrecdur gain

(loss) related to the interest rates hedging imsémnts included in “Accumulated other comprehenbigs” was $1.4 million an:
($6.5) million in 2009 and 2008 respectively. The fralue of forward contracts amounted to $5.3iamland $6.6 million at
December 31, 2009 and 2008 respectively, and wasded in “Other current liabilities”.

Debt

The fair value of the Company’s debt with a cargyirlue of $845.5 and $916.0 millions as of Decen®ie 2009 and 2008,
respectively, was approximately $900.6 and $961iloms respectively. These estimates were basetthemliscounted amount
of future cash flows using the Company'’s curreotémental rate of borrowing for a similar liability

Other Financial Instruments

The carrying amounts of cash, cash equivalentsjee=sl cash, investments, accounts receivableaandunts payable
approximate fair value due to their short-term natu

8. Fair Value Measurement

In September 2006, the Financial Accounting Stassl&oard (FASB) issued the Accounting Standard f@adion Topic 820
“Fair Value Measurement and Disclosures” (origip@dlsued as SFAS 157, “Fair Value Measurement) dioas not establish
requirements for any new fair value measuremeuitsit lloes apply to existing accounting pronouncet:@ which fair value
measurements are already required. ASC Topic 8f0edefair value, establishes a framework for measifair value in
accordance with accounting principles generallyepted in the United States, and expands disclosiest fair value
measurements. The Company has adopted the pravisfokSC Topic 820 as of January 1, 2008, for faiahinstruments. As
allowed by ASC Topic 820-10, “Effective dates of @S opic 820", the Company elected to defer the &idopf ASC Topic
820 with respect to all remaining non financialetssand liabilities until January 1, 2009.
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ASC Topic 820 establishes a three-tier fair valigedrchy, which prioritizes the inputs used in measy fair value. These tiers
include: Level 1, defined as observable inputs sasgchjuoted prices in active markets; Level 2, @éefias inputs other than
quoted prices in active markets that are eitheradiy or indirectly observable; and Level 3, defires unobservable inputs in
which little or no market data exists, thereforguieing an entity to develop its own assumptions.

As of December 31, 2009 and 2008, the Company deztdin items that are required to be measuredgiratdlue on a recurring
basis. These included interest rate hedge contfaetsderivative contracts, currency derivativesittacts, cash and cash
equivalents, short term investments and restricéesth which are related to the Company’s attemphetige interest rates, fuel
costs and currency fluctuations.

The Company'’s fuel derivative instruments consigiver-the-counter (OTC) contracts, which are matiéd on a public
exchange. These contracts include both swaps dsasvebmbination of option contracts. See Noter#dcther information on
the Company’s derivative instruments and hedginiyiies. The fair values of swap contracts areedmined based on inputs
that can be derived from information available iblicly quoted markets. Therefore, the Companydasgorized these swap
contracts as Level 2. The Company determines the\af option contracts utilizing a standard optiting model based on
inputs that can be derived from information avd#ah publicly quoted markets, or are quoted byficial institutions that trac
these contracts. The Company also considers cqanmtgrcredit risk and its own credit risk in itstelenination of all estimated
fair values. Therefore, the Company has categotizese option contracts as Level 2.

The Company’s interest rate hedge instrumentsaiasist of OTC swap contracts. The inputs utilimedetermine the fair
values of these contracts are obtained in quotetigmarkets.

The Company'’s currency derivatives instruments isbrs forward contracts to hedge against the aisociated with its
forecasted Colombian peso-denominated cash flows.

Property and Equipment — MD-80’s Aircraft Fleets discussed in Note 3, we terminated early our NO3-&ase fleets in the
third quarter of 2009. Fleet assets include leaseniaft, rotable spare parts, tools and sparenesgiWe estimated the fair
values based on current market conditions, theepteslue of the expected cash flows paymentshiotdase aircraft and our
expected proceeds from the sale of the assets.

Goodwill and indefinite-lived intangibles — As dissed in Note 1, the Company performs an annuaimment test of its

goodwill and indefinite-lived intangible assets. #egjuired by ASC Topic 820, the Company considedetermining the fair
values of these assets, assumptions that marketp&aticipants would consider in determining thie falues of similar assets.
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The following financial instruments are measurethatvalue on a recurring basis subject to theldsure requirements of AS
Topic 820 at December 31, 2009 (in millions):

Fair Value Measurements at Reporting Date U

Quoted Prices Significant
Active Markets Other Significant
for Identical Observable  Unobservabl
December 3: Assets Inputs Inputs
Description 2009 (Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)
Assets
Currency derivatives $ 0.5 $ 0.t
Fuel derivative: 10.C 10.C
Total asset 10.E 10.F
Liabilities
Interest rate hedges 5.2 5.2
Total liabilities $ 5.2 $ 5.2

The valuation techniques that may be use to medaiirealue are as follows:

*  Market approact: Uses prices and other relevant information gerdrhy market transactions involving identical or
comparable assets or liabilities.

. Income approacl: Uses valuation techniques to convert future art®tma single present amount based on current
market expectations about those future amountkjdimg present value techniques, option-pricing eleénd excess
earnings method.

¢ Cost approach Based on the amount that currently would be megliio replace the service capacity of an asset
(replacement cos

9. Cash and Stock Based Compensation Plans

The Company has established equity compensatiors piader which it administers non-vested stoclcksaptions and certain
other equity-based awards to attract, retain antvate executive officers, certain key employeed aanemployee directors
compensate them for their contributions to the ghoand profits of the Company. Shares delivereceutitis award program
may be sourced from treasury stock, or authorizeéssued shares.

The Company’s equity compensation plans are aceduot under ASC Topic 718, “Compensation-Stock

Compensation” (“ASC Topic 718%vhich requires companies to measure the cost of@me services received in exchange
an award of equity instruments (typically stockiops) based on the grant-date fair value of therdwaat fair value of the
award at each reporting date, depending on thedf/pevard granted. The fair value is estimated gisiption-pricing models.
The resulting cost is recognized over the periadghduvhich an employee is required to provide ssvh exchange for the
award, which is usually the vesting period. Forsthawards issued subsequent to the adoption of & 718 that allow for
acceleration of vesting upon retirement, total cengation cost is recognized over the period endimthe first eligible
retirement date.
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The total compensation cost recognized for nonegkstock and options awards was $5.3 million, $3ilBon and $4.8 million
in 2009, 2008 and 2007, respectively, and was dembas a component of “Salaries and benefits” wi@perating expense.

Nor-vested Stock

In March 2006, the Compensation Committee of oumrB®f Directors granted 935,650 non-vested stogkrds for senior
management, officers, managers and key employefedi@ss:

Senior management were granted 847,625 non-vestekl wards which vest over five (5) years in ygarstallments equal to
15% of the awarded stock on each of the first ti8@@nniversaries of the grant date, 25% on thetificanniversary and 30%
the fifth anniversary. Managers, officers and kepiyees, not on our senior management team, wargegl 88,025 non-
vested stock awards which vest on the second arsaifseof the grant date.

In March 2007, the Compensation Committee of ousrB®f Directors granted 16,955 shares of non-destieck awards to
certain named executive officers, which vest olieee (3) years in yearly installments equal to thmegt of the awarded stock
on each of the three anniversaries of the gramt dat

During 2008, the Compensation Committee of our Badirectors granted 73,374 shares of non-vesteck awards to
certain named executive officers and key employegsh vest over three (3) years in yearly instalitseequal to one-third of
the awarded stock on each of the three annivessafithe grant date.

In March 2009, the Compensation Committee of oumrB®f Directors granted 113,714 non-vested stockrds for senior
management, officers, managers and key employefedi@ss:

Senior management were granted 67,652 non-vesiekl avards which vest over three (3) years in yeadtallments equal to
onethird of the awarded stock on each of the threevansaries of the grant date. Managers, officetslay employees, not ¢
our senior management team, were granted 46,062 @sted stock awards, which vest over three (3)syayearly
installments equal to one-third of the awardedlstwt each of the three anniversaries of the grate.d

Non-vested stock awards were measured at their faieyahich is the same amount for which a similadgtricted share

would be issued to a third party, on the grant.dBle fair value of each non-vested stocks awarsl $22.05, $37.97 and
$53.14 for the 2009, 2008 and the 2007 grants ectisely.
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A summary of non-vested stock award activity urtterplan as of December 31, 2009 and 2008 and elatging the year
are as follows:

2009 2008

Weighted-Average Weighted-Average

Grant-Date Grant-Date

Shares Fair Value Shares Fair Value
Non-vested at beginning of year 614,68t $ 23.6( 806,71: $ 21.7i
Granted 113,71 22.0¢ 76,68¢ 37.97
Vested (150,417) 24.7¢ (256,727) 22.1]
Forfeited (8,22¢) 24.8: (11,990 24.4¢
Non-vested at end of ye 569,76¢ $ 22.9¢ 614,68t $ 23.6(

The Company uses the straight-line attribution meétto recognize the compensation cost for awartts graded vesting
periods. The Company estimates that the remairongpensation cost, not yet recognized for the natedestock plan, is

$6.7 million with a weighted average remaining cactual life of 0.8 years. Additionally, the Compasstimates that the 2010
compensation cost related to this plan will be $4ilion. In determining the expense for stock-lthawards, the Company
estimates the number of awards that are expectee forfeited.

The total fair value of shares vested during ther ysded December 31, 2009 and 2008 was $3.7 mdla $5.7 million,
respectively.
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Stock Options

In March 2007, the Compensation Committee of oumrB®f Directors granted, 35,657 equity stock agito certain named

executive officers, which vest over three (3) yeargearly installments equal to one-third of theaaded stock on each of the
three anniversaries of the grant date. The exepise of the options is $53.14, which was the reaigkice of the Company’s
stock at the grant date. The stock options haveng&ractual term of 10 years.

The weighted-average fair value of the stock ogstianthe grant date was $22.33, and was estimated the Black-Scholes
option-pricing model assuming an expected dividgettl of 0.58% based on our historical dividendgrpants, expected
volatility of approximately 37.8% based on our bigtal volatility, weighted average risk-free irgst rate of 4.59% based on
the yield of the U.S. Treasury ten year bond, anéxected term of 6 years calculated under thelgied method.

A summary of options award activity under the pdarof December 31, 2009 and changes during theiyearfollows:

Shares
Outstanding at January 1, 2C 33,62¢
Granted 0
Exercised 0
Forfeited or expire! 0
Outstanding at December 31, 2009 33,62¢

The Company uses the straight-line attribution metto recognize the compensation cost for stoclongt The Company

estimates that the remaining compensation costyetaecognized for stock options, is immateriathva weighted average
contractual life of 7.2 years and zero intrinsituea Additionally, the Company estimates that tbé@compensation cost

related to this plan will be immaterial.
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10. Earnings Per Share (Adjusted)

In 2009, the Company changes its method of caliaglaarnings per share, following the guidance jgled in FSP EITF 03-6-
1, “Determining whether Instruments Granted in 8hBased Payment Transactions are Participatingrifiesl; which was
subsequently codified in ASC 260, Earnings Per &hEine Company adjusted its basic and diluted egsnper share and
weighted average shares outstanding calculatiogs/éoeffect to participating securities under the-class method of
calculating earnings per share. Historically, tleerpany had utilized the “treasury stock methodbrider to give effect to non-
vested stock awards. Under the two-class methadyisies that participate in dividends, such asGoenpany’s outstanding
non-vested stock awards which include non-forfégalghts to dividends, are considered “participgtsecurities.”

The following table sets forth the computation able and diluted earnings per share (in thousandspt per share data):

December 31

2009 2008 2007

Numerator for earnings per sha

Net Income $ 240,35¢ $ 118,65¢ $ 161,82(
Denominator for basic and diluted earnings pereshas adjuste

Weighted average common shares outstan 43,30¢ 43,14 42,90¢

Non-vested shares deemed participating secul 603 68C 874

Total shares for basic and diluted earnings peresha 43,91! 43,82% 43,78:
Earnings per share, as adjus

Basic $ 5.47 $ 2.71 $ 3.7¢

Diluted $ 5.47 $ 2.71 $ 3.7¢
Earnings per share, as previously repo

Basic $ 2.7 $ 3.71

Diluted $ 2.7¢ $ 3.72
Weighted average shares outstanding, as rep

Basic 43,14: 42,90¢

Diluted 43,44( 43,46¢

Options to purchase 33,629 shares of common std%3a14 per share outstanding at the end of 208@ excluded in the
computation of diluted EPS because the options'ase price was greater than the average markes pfithe common shares.
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11. Accumulated other comprehensive loss

As of December 31, 2009 and 2008 the componerds@fmulated other comprehensive loss are as follmwsillions):

Foreign Derivatives
Currency Financial
Translation Pensions Instruments Total
Balance as of December 31, 20( $ 3.6 $ 09 $ 0.0 $ 2.7
Foreign currency translatic (0.3) — — (0.3)
Unrealized gain (loss) on derivatives instrume — — (6.8) (6.€)
SFAS 158 Unrecognized actuarial loss of the pe — (0.2 — (0.2)
Amortization of actuarial los — 0.1 — 0.1
Balance as of December 31, 20( $ 3.3 $ 1.0 $ 6.9 $ 4.5)
Foreign currency translatic 2.7 — — 2.7
Unrealized gain (loss) on derivatives instrume — — 15 1t
Balance as of December 31, 20( $ 6.0 $ 1.0 $ 53 $ 0.3

12. Issued Capital and Corporate Reorganization

On November 23, 2005, the Company’s Board of Doecaipproved a reorganization of the Compamgpital stock. Followir
the reorganization, the Company’s authorized chgiteck consists of 80 million shares of commortktaithout par value,
divided into Class A shares, Class B shares ansis@ashares. Immediately following the reorganargtthere were 30,034,3
Class A shares outstanding, 12,778,125 Class Beslwatstanding, all owned by CIASA (a Panamanidity¢nand no Class C
shares outstanding. The reorganization did not anghee operations or financial condition of the Gm@my in any respect and,
such, does not result in a new basis of accounfiighare and per share information for the pegoce retroactive effect to tt
reorganization. Class A and Class B shares havsatfme economic rights and privileges, includingripkt to receive
dividends, except that the holders of the Clastdtes are not entitled to vote at the Company’settodders’ meetings, except
in connection with a transformation of the Compartp another corporate type; a merger, consolidabiospin-off of the
Company; a change of corporate purpose; voluntdglisting Class A shares from the NYSE; approthenomination of
independent directors nominated by the Companya@of Director's Nominating and Corporate Goveg®@ommittee; and
any amendment to the foregoing special voting mionis adversely affecting the rights and privilegethe Class A shares.
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The Class A shareholders will acquire full votimghts, entitled to one vote per Class A share bmatters upon which
shareholders are entitled to vote, if in the futilve Companys Class B shares ever represent fewer than 10%edbtal numbe
of shares of the Company’s common stock outstanaimgthe Independent Directors Committee of the amyg’s Board of
Directors (the “Independent Directors Committedi3ué have determined that such additional votiigipts of Class A
shareholders would not cause a triggering eveptned to below. In such event, the right of thes§l& shareholders to vote on
the specific matters described in the precedinggraph will no longer be applicable. At such tinfi@ny, as the Class A
shareholders acquire full voting rights, the Boaf@irectors shall call an extraordinary sharehodtiemeeting to be held within
90 days following the date as of which the ClasshAres are entitled to vote on all matters at i @ny’s shareholders’
meetings. At the extraordinary shareholders’ meetine shareholders shall vote to elect all elemembers of the Board of
Directors in a slate recommended by the Nominadimd) Governance Committee. The terms of office efdinectors that were
serving prior to the extraordinary shareholdersétimey shall terminate upon the election held at theeting.

Every holder of Class B shares is entitled to oote yer share on all matters for which shareholdersntitled to vote. Class B
shares will be automatically converted into Classhares upon the registration of transfer of sinetiess to holders which are
not Panamanian.

The Class C shares will have no economic valuevathaiot be transferable, but will possess suchingtights as the
Independent Directors Committee shall deem necgssansure the effective control of the CompanyPlypamanians. The
Class C shares will be redeemable by the Compasyddt time as the Independent Directors Commitéeerthines that a
triggering event, shall no longer be in effect. Tlass C shares will not be entitled to any dividenr any other economic
rights.

13. Income Taxes

The Company pays taxes in the Republic of Panamarasther countries in which it operates, basedegulations in effect in
each respective country. The Company'’s revenue® goincipally from foreign operations and accordioghe Panamanian
Fiscal Code these foreign operations are not stitjgocome tax in Panama.

The Company has elected to calculate our Panamariame tax with the gross tax method based orclrti21 of the
Panamanian Fiscal Code, under which income fornat@nal transportation companies is calculatesban a territoriality
method that determines gross revenues earned aniaby applying the percentage of miles flown witthie Panamanian
territory against total revenues. Under this methask carry-forwards cannot be applied to offagtliability. If the
Panamanian tax authorities do not agree with tiithod of allocating revenues, the Company may bgestito additional tax
liability. Airlines in Panama are currently not gedt to any taxes relating specifically to theiaglindustry other than the 4%
tax collected from passengers on tickets sold maRe for the benefit of the Panamanian Tourism &ure
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The Company is also subject to local tax regulationeach of the jurisdictions where it operatls,dgreat majority of which a
related to the taxation of income. In some of tbentries to which the Company flies, the Compangsdiaot pay any income
taxes because it does not generate taxable incoder the laws of those countries or because dfieear other arrangements
those countries have with Panama. In the remaicinmtries, the Company pays income tax at a ratgimg from 25% to 34%
of income. Different countries calculate incomalifierent ways, but they are typically derived freales in the applicable
country multiplied by the Company’s net margin grebpresumed net margin set by the relevant tasl&gn. The
methodology for multinational transportation companurcing of revenue and expense is not alwaysifsgaly prescribed in
the relevant tax regulations, and therefore isextthip interpretation by both the Company and éspective taxing authorities.
Additionally, in some countries, the applicabild§ certain regulations governing non-income taxas the determination of the
filing status of the Company are also subject terjpretation.

Under a reciprocal exemption confirmed by a bikaltegreement between Panama and the United Stat&@ompany is exem
from the U.S. source transportation income taxvaerifrom the international operation of its airtraf

The provision for income taxes recorded in the @tdated Statements of Income was as follows (illionis):

2009 2008 2007

Paname

Current $ 1.7 $ 1.7 $ 1.3

Deferred — — —
Foreign

Current 14.1 11.2 13.4

Deferred 3.8 4.€ 2.4
Total 19.€ 17.t 17.1

The Company paid taxes of $13.8 million, $14.9 imrlland $16.6 million in years 2009, 2008 and 208pectively.

Pre-tax income, based on the Copa Airlines’ interoate profitability measures, related to Panamartperations was
$54.5 million, $50.4 million and $49.7 million ir09, 2008, and 2007, respectively, and relatedr@idn operations was
$205.5 million, $85.8 million and $129.3 million 2009, 2008, and 2007, respectively.

AeroRepublica’s benefit from operating loss carrwfards amounted to $0.3 million, $0.4 million ar@&million as of
December 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007, respectively bEnefit from operating loss carryforwards are ke for a period of
seven (7) years from when they were generated .20

Income tax returns for all companies incorporatethe Republic of Panama are subject to reviewakyatthorities up to the
last three (3) years, including the year ended Baez 31, 2009 according to current tax regulatiéios.other countries where
the Company operates, it is subject to review lgyrttespective tax authorities for periods randign the last two (2) to six
(6) years.

The amount of income tax expense incurred in Paneaias from the statutory rate because of the an&n gross tax

election. Income taxes outside of Panama are gigndedermined on the basis of net income or reegmund all of the countrit
have rates that vary from the Panamanian statuaoey
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The reconciliations of income tax computed at thadmanian statutory tax rate to income tax expfngée years ended
December 31 are as follows (in millions):

Amount Percentage
2009 2008 2007 2009 2008 2007

Provision for income taxes at

Panamanian statutory rai $ 78C $ 408 $ 537 30.(% 30.C% 30.(%
Panamanian gross tax election (14.¢) (13.5) (13.€) (5.6%) (9.9%) (7.€%)
Exemption in no-taxable countrie (4.0) (2.2 (2.4) (1.6%) (1.7%) (1.2%)
Difference in Panamanian statutc

rates and non-Panamanian

statutory rate (39.9) (7.6) (20.€) (15.5%) (5.6%) (11.5%)
Provision for income taxe $ 19€ $ 178 $ 171 7.5% 12.8% 9.€%

Deferred income taxes are provided under the Itgbitethod and reflect the net tax effects of temapp differences between
the tax basis of assets and liabilities and thegorted amounts in the Consolidated Financial Stegs.
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Significant components of the Company’s deferredigbilities and assets are as follows (in milsyn

2009 2008
Deferred tax liabilities
Intangible Asset $ (118 % (10.5)
Maintenance reservi 2.9 (2.2
Others (0.1) (0.5)
(13.9) (13.2)
Deferred tax asset
Property and Equipme 0.C 3t
Allowance for doubtful accoun 0.C 0.1
Expendable parts and suppl 0.C 0.4
Others 2.3 2.C
2.3 6.C
Net deferred tax liabilitie (11.¢) (7.2
Less: Current deferred tax ass 1.8 1t
Non current deferred tax liabilitie $ (139  $ (8.7)

The Company accounts for uncertainty in incomesdriowing ASC Topic 740, Income Taxes, which rizgs the impact of a
tax position to be recognized in the financialesta¢nts if that position is more likely than nobefng sustained by the taxing
authority. Interest and penalties related to urgeczed tax benefits are recognized within inteesgtense and other non-
operating income (expense), respectively, in oungdtdated Statements of Income.

14. Related Party Transactions

The following is a summary of significant relateay transactions that occurred during 2009, 20@82007. Except as
otherwise discussed, the payments to and fromeelaarties in the ordinary course of business Wwased on prevailing mark
rates.

Continental AirlinesSince 1998, Continental has implemented a compediecommercial and services alliance with Copa
Airlines. Key elements of the alliance include: #anbrand images, code sharing, co-branding ofdhePass frequent flyer
program in Latin America, joint construction andeogtion of the Panama Presidents Club VIP lourajet purchasing,
maintenance and engineerisigpport and a number of other marketing, salesandce initiatives.As a result of these activi
the Company paid Continental $36.4 million, $33illiom, and $29.4 million in 2009, 2008 and 200&spectively, and
Continental paid Copa Airlines $30.9 million, $31alion, and $21.2 million in 2009, 2008 and 206Fspectively. The
Company owed Continental $1.9 million, $1.9 milliamd $0.2 million at December 31, 2009, 2008 &2 respectively.
Continental owed the Company $0.5 million at Decen®1, 2007. The services provided are considevethal to the daily
operations of both airlines.
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Banco General, S. A“Banco General). The Company has a strong commercial bankingdioelship with Banco General, S.
A. The Company'’s shareholders own approximately 408G Financial Group, which is the controllingnepany of Banco
General.

The Company obtains financing from Banco Generdeuashort to medium-term financing arrangementgéot of the
commercial loan tranche of one of the Company’sdetxpmport Bank facilities. The Company also mainsageneral lines of
credit and time deposit accounts with Banco General

Interest payments to Banco General totaled $0.2omjl$0.4 million, and $0.6 million in 2009, 20@&d 2007, respectively,
and the Company received interest income of $1lHomj $1.9 million, and $4.5 million in 2009, 20@Md 2007, respectively.
The debt balance outstanding at December 31 anmbtmt2.3 million and $4.1 million in 2009 and 20@8pectively. These
amounts are included in “Current maturities of ldagn debt” and “Long-term debt” in the Consolidh®alance Sheets.

ASSA Compaiiia de Seguros, S. PAGSA" ). Panamanian law requires the Company to maintainstgance policies throug
a local insurance company. The Company has corttg&®$SA, an insurance company controlled by the @mw's controlling
shareholders, to provide substantially all of itsurance. ASSA has, in turn, reinsured almostfahe risks under those polici
with insurance companies in Europe. The net payrteASSA, after taking into account the reinsuraotthese risks totaled
$0.03 million in each of 2009, 2008 and 2007.

Petréleos Delta, S. A!Delta Petroleurh). During 2005, the Company entered into a contrattt Petréleos Delta, S.A. to
supply its jet fuel needs. The price agreed to utide contract is based on the two week averageet).S. Gulf Coast
Waterborne Mean index plus local taxes, certairdtparty handling charges and a handling chardgeita. The contract has a
one year term that automatically renews for one pesiod unless terminated by one of the partiesil®\the Company’s
controlling shareholders do not hold a controlletgity interest in Petréleos Delta, S.A., variowsmbers of the Company’s
Board of Directors also are board members of PetgdDelta, S.A. Payments to Petréleos Delta totBldd.1 million in 2009,
$185.8 million in 2008 and $126.0 million in 2007.

Desarrollo Inmobiliario del Este, S. A.§esarrollo Inmobiliarid ). During January 2006, the Company moved intoés
headquarters, a recently constructed building &mtatx miles away from Tocumen International Aitpdihe Company leases
five floors consisting of approximately 104,000 arpifeet of the building from Desarrollo Inmobil@ran entity controlled by
the same group of investors that controls CIASAlarma ten-year lease at a rate of $0.1 millionnpenth. Payments to
Desarrollo Inmobiliario del Este, S.A. totaled $m8lion, $2.0 million, and $1.9 million in 2009028 and 2007, respectively.

Galindo, Arias & LopezMost of the Company’s legal work, including passargthe validity of the shares offered, is carried
out by the law firm Galindo, Arias & Lopez. Certgartners of Galindo, Arias & Lopez are indirecatholders of CIASA an
serve on the Company’s Board of Directors. Paymen@alindo, Arias & Lopez totaled $0.4 million, 80million and $0.4
million in 2009, 2008 and 2007, respectively.
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Other Transaction§-he Company purchases most of the alcohol and bthesrages served on its aircraft from Motta
Internacional, S.A. and Global Brands, S.A., bdtlbich are controlled by the Company’s controllistzareholders. The
Company does not have any formal contracts fortipeschases, but pays wholesale prices based omlstis periodically
submitted by those importers. The Company paid 80léon, $0.7 million and $0.6 million in 2009, 28 and 2007,
respectively.

The Company'’s telecommunications and other datdacesr have been provided by Telecarrier, Inc.,esihRebruary 2003. Some
of the controlling shareholders of CIASA have ateolting interest in Telecarrier. Payments to Teleier totaled $0.9 million,
$0.6 million and $0.6 million in 2009, 2008 and Z0@espectively.

The Company receives services from Call Center @atjpn, a call center that operates Copa Airlimeservations and sales
services and handles calls from Panama as welbas ather countries to which Copa Airlines fliesiedof the Company’s
directors is one of the owners of this call cenBayments to Call Center Corporation totaled $31Bom, $4.0 million and $2.6
million in 2009, 2008 and 2007, respectively.

The advertising agency that the Company uses iaRanRD Nexos, S.A., is owned by the brother-indthe Company’s
chief executive officer. Gross invoices for all\dees performed through RDP totaled $1.0 millioh,2bmillion and
$1.6 million in 2009, 2008 and 2007, respectively.

15. Commitments and Contingencies

The Company has a purchase contract with Boein§3d8oeing 737-Next Generation aircraft, under Wte Company has
twenty nine (27) firm orders and eight (8) purchapgons. Additionally, the Company has eleven pase options with
Embraer for Embraer 190 aircraft.

The firm orders have an approximate value of $2l®b based on aircraft list prices, including iesated amounts for
contractual price escalation and pre-delivery depoShe Company is scheduled to take delivenhefaircraft underlying the
29 firm orders between 2010 and 2015.

Covenants

As a result of the various aircraft financing cawts entered into by the Company, the Companygisired to comply with
certain financial covenants. These covenants, armtmy things, require the Company to maintain BFTBAR to fixed charg
ratio of at least 2.5 times, a minimum tangiblewetth of $160 million, an EBITDAR to finance chargxpense ratio of at le
2.0 times, a net borrowings to Company’s capitéitireratio of less than 85%, a total liability plaperating leases minus
operating cash to tangible net worth ratio of ltss 5.5, a longerm obligations to EBITDAR ratio of less than 6a0minimum
unrestricted cash balance of $50 million and a mimn of $75 million in available cash, cash equingédeand short-term
investments.

As of December 31, 2009, the Company was in compéiavith all required covenants.
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Labor Unions

Approximately 50% of the Company’s 6,108 employaesunionized. There are currently seven (7) ubigranizations; five
(5) covering employees in Panama and two (2) cagezgimployees in Colombia.

The five (5) unions covering employees in Panamtude: the pilots’ union (SIPAC); the flight attearts’ union (SIPANAB);
the mechanics’ union (SINTECMAP); the traffic alemts’ union (UGETRACO); and a generalized uniolE(&S), which
represents ground personnel, messengers, driverster agents and other non-executive adminiseatiaff. Copa Airlines
entered into a new collective bargaining agreeméttt SIELAS on June 2008 which will end May 2013laamother one on
April 2009 with SITECMAP from 2010 which will enahi2014. Typically, collective bargaining agreemént®anama have
terms of four years. Copa Airlines has traditiop@kperienced good relations with its unions.

The two (2) unions covering employees in Colomb& the pilots’ union (ACDAC) and the traffic at@amt’s union (ACAV).
AeroRepublica entered into a new collective bargaimgreement with ACAV, on July 17, 2008 whichlveihd December 31,
2011. AeroRepublica’s entered into a new collechigegaining agreement with ACDAC on March 3, 20@& will end
December 31, 2010. Typically, collective bargainaggeements in Colombia have terms of two to faarg. AeroRepublica
has traditionally experienced good relations wishuinions.

Lines of Credit for Working Capital and Letters@fedit

The Company maintained available facilities fotdet of credit with several banks with outstandiadances of $25.7 million
and $34.6 million at December 31, 2009 and 200sheetively. These letters of credit are pledgedfmerating lessors,
maintenance providers and airport operators. Gftttal, $7.7 million are letters of credit opemedbehalf of AeroRepublica
for the same purposes listed above.

Copa Airlines has letters of credit at total amooi$$89.6 million, in which it has committed line§credit totaling

$29.6 million, including one line of credit for $15illion with Banco General, an overdraft line eédit of $10 million with
Towerbank and one line of credit of $4.6 milliorthvBanco Panama. Copa Airlines also has a non ctiediline of credit of
$60.0 million with Bladex. These lines of crediteabeen put in place to bridge liquidity gaps amddther potential
contingencies.

As of December 31, 2009 Copa Airlines has an ontktey balance of $20.0 million dollars with Bladex.
Litigation

We are plaintiffs in an action we filed against RIRERO, Brazil's airport operator, in October of Z0¢hallenging the legality
of the Additional Airport Tariffs (Adicional das Tarifas Aeroportuarigor ATAERO), which is a 50% surcharge imposed on
all airlines which fly to Brazil. Similar suits kia been filed against INFRAERO by other major m&lcarriers. In our case, the
court of first instance ruled in favor of INFRAER®d we have appealed the judgment. During thegrasydof the litigation,
we continue to pay the amounts due ATAERO intosor@v account and as of December 31, 2009, theeggy amount in
such account totaled US$12 million. In the eveatreceive a final unfavorable judgment, we willrbquired to release the
escrowed fund to INFRAERO and will not be ablegoaver such amounts. We do not, however, expecethase of such
amounts to have a material impact on our finanesiits.
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16. Subsequent Events
Stock Grants

During first quarter of 2010, the Compensation Cattea of the Company’s Board of Directors approtied (2) new awards.
Awards were granted under these new plans for 85Mhares of non-vested stock, which will vest dheee (3) years. The
Company estimates the fair value of these awartie @mpproximately $3.1 million and the 2010 comjpéps cost for these
plans is $1.0 million.

Currency devaluation

On January 8, 2010, the Venezuelan government axwedlits decision to implement new fixed exchareges effective
Monday, January 11, 2010, which will result in grsficant devaluation of the Bolivar against theSUdollar.

Since 2005 the official exchange rate had beemifateVEB 2.15 per U.S. dollar, however, the newnmegapplies two official
rates to different sectors of the economy. The érehange rate, applicable to imported goods cherized as essential, will be
VEB 2.60 per U.S. dollar, and the rate applicablalt other imported goods and services, includirggaviation sector, will be
VEB 4.30 per U.S. dollar. At this time we are uniagr how this devaluation will affect future demafiod air travel in
Venezuela and the results of our business.

In addition, we have significant cash balancesafivBrs subject to Venezuelan exchange controleceés2003, under the
Venezuelan foreign exchange control regime, foregmpanies are required to obtain Venezuelan gavent approval to
exchange Bolivars into U.S. dollars at the fixefioil exchange rate for the purpose of transferfumds out of Venezuela.
Furthermore, since 2008 foreign companies with aj@ns in Venezuela have experienced increasiraydeh obtaining such
government approvals. On January 27, 2010 the \(e@z government announced that it would applyettehange rate of
VEB 2.60 per U.S. dollar to all authorization restsein process of approval by the Venezuela CeBaak through January 8,
2010. As a result, we estimate that the Companlyinglr losses related to the devaluation of tHesels of approximately
US$21 million, which will be recorded in the firgtiarter of 2010 in accordance with US GAAP.

Tax Reform

Law 8 of 2010 (the “Tax Reform”), which modifies tedal sections of the Panamanian Fiscal Code wpsaed and became
effective on March 15, 2010. As a result of thiform, the airline industry will be subject to highax rates than it has paid in
the past. We have not yet determined the exactatmgfahe new law, but we estimate, however, thatwill benefit from

certain tax credits in respect to taxes paid ieifpr jurisdictions in 2010 and on a going-forwaedis. We, therefore, anticipate
that our effective tax rate for the immediate fetwill remain within the historical range of thespéive years. As a result, we
do not believe this tax reform is likely to havenaterial adverse effect on our financial positi@sults of operations and cash
flows. Any future change in the Panamanian taxileweasing the taxes payable by us could have ralyeadverse effects on
our business, financial condition and result ofragiens.
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The following table illustrates the pro forma effen net income and earnings per share for the greded December 31, 2009
had we applied the Venezuelan Bolivar devaluatiom(llion, except per share data):

2009

Net income, as reporte $ 240.¢
Losses related to the Venezuelan Bolivar devaln: (21)
Net Income, pro form $ 219.
Basic earnings per shai

As reportec $ 5.47
Pro forma $ 5.0C
Diluted earnings per share:

As reportec $ 5.41
Pro forma $ 5.0C

17. Segment Reporting

The Company determined it has two reportable setgngre Copa segment and the AeroRepublica segmremigrily because:
(1) management evaluates the financial and opewdtiesults of the Copa segment and AeroRepubdigenent separately for
internal reporting and management performance atialu purposes; and (2) management intends to alemsRepublica’s
existing management to continue operating thenairdis a point-to-point Colombian carrier. The aotiog policies of the
segments are the same as those described in Nt@arimary of Significant Accounting Policies”. Geakcorporate and other
assets are allocated to the Copa segment.
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Operating information for the Copa segment andd&mRepublica segment for the period ended Dece@be2009, 2008 and
2007 is as follow (in millions):

2009 2008 2007
Operating Revenues:
Copa Segment $ 1,024¢ $ 1,035.¢ $ 806.2
AeroRepublica segme 240.2 264.¢ 226.(
Elimnations (11.9) (12.) (4.9
Consolidatec $ 1,253.. $ 1,288.¢ $ 1,027
Depreciation:
Copa Segment $ 43.Z $ 38.1 $ 30.7
AeroRepublica segme 3.9 4.8 4.€
Consolidated $ 47.1 $ 42.¢ $ 35.2
Aircraft Rentals:
Copa Segmer $ 26.C $ L& $ 27.¢
AeroRepublica segment 25.7 22.1 14.€
Elimnations (5.2 (11.0) (4.0)
Consolidated $ 46.5 $ 43.C $ 38.€
Operating income:
Copa Segmer $ 214.: $ 208.2 $ 1715
AeroRepublica segment 7.6 15.¢ 25.¢
Adjustments 1.4
Consolidated $ 223.% $ 224.( $ 197t
Interest expense:
Copa Segmer $ (29.9 $ 343 $ (33.9)
AeroRepublica segment (2.8) (5.9 (8.0)
Consolidatec $ (322 $ (40.2) $ (41.¢)
Interest income:
Copa Segmer $ 8.1 $ 10.t $ 11.7
AeroRepublica segme 1.1 0.€ 0.t
Consolidatec $ 9.2 $ 11.1 $ 12.2
Income (loss) before income taxe:
Copa Segmer $ 254.¢ $ 130.¢ $ 165.€
AeroRepublica segme 5.2 5.3 13.F
Consolidatec $ 260.C $ 136.1 $ 178.¢
Total Assets at End of Period:
Copa Segmer $  1,919. $ 1,823 $ 1,546.¢
AeroRepublica segme 318.¢ 258.€ 256.%
Elimnations (146.5) (127.¢) (95.6€)
Consolidatec $ 2,091 $ 1,954. $ 1,707
Capital Expenditures:
Copa Segmer $ 200.£ $ 212.7 $ 250.t
AeroRepublica segme 55.C 3.2 115.¢
Consolidatec $ 255.F $ 215.¢ $ 366.1

F-38




Table of Contents

COPA HOLDINGS, S. A. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Information concerning operating revenue by priatipeographic area for the period ended Decembés &4 follow (in

millions):

2009 2008 2007
North America $ 180.7 $ 186.1 $ 152.1
Central America and Caribbe 179.7 192.¢ 162.3
South America 717.C 710.% 573.¢
Panam: 175.7 200.( 139.3
Total operating revent $ 1,253.. $ 1,288.¢ $ 1,027

We attribute revenue among the geographical ar@sedbupon point of sales. Our tangible assets apitht expenditures
consist primarily of flight and related ground soppequipment, which is mobile across geographicketa and, therefore, has
not been allocated.

F-39
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Schedule Il — Valuation and Qualifying Accounts
Balance at Additions Deductions
Beginning of Charged Tc from Balance at
Description Year Expense Reserves End of Year
(in thousands)
2009
Allowance for Doubtful Account $ 5,00z $ 2,017 $ (2,079 $ 4,947
Allowance for Obsolescence of Expendable Parts a
Supplies 53 25 0 78
2008
Allowance for Doubtful Account $ 8,157 $ 3,401 $ (6,556 $ 5,002
Allowance for Obsolescence of Expendable Parts and
Supplies 35 18 0 53
2007
Allowance for Doubtful Accounts $ 7,30t $ 4,27¢ $ (3429 % 8,157
Allowance for Obsolescence of Expendable Parts a
Supplies 21 14 0 35
2006
Allowance for Doubtful Account $ 4,911 $ 3,76¢ $ 2,370 $ 7,30t
Allowance for Obsolescence of Expendable Parts and
Supplies 9 12 0 21



EXHIBIT 10.51

CONFIDENTIAL TREATMENT
CERTAIN PORTIONS OF THIS EXHIBIT HAVE BEEN OMITTEIAND FILED
SEPARATELY WITH THE SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMIS®N PURSUANT
TO A REQUEST FOR CONFIDENTIAL TREATMENT
Supplemental Agreement No. 18
to
Purchase Agreement No. 2191
between
The Boeing Company
and
COPA Holdings, S.A., Inc.
Relating to Boeing Model 737 Aircraft

THIS SUPPLEMENTAL AGREEMENT entered into as of , 2009 by and between THE BOEING COMPANY, a
Delaware corporation with its principal office ie&tle, Washington, (Boeing) and COPA HOLDINGS, SINC. (Customer);

WHEREAS, the parties hereto entered into Purchageéiment No. 2191 dated November 25, 1998 (theehgeat), as
amended and supplemented, relating to Boeing Mo8i&l7V3 and 737-8V3 aircraft (the Aircraft); and

WHEREAS, Customer and Boeing have come to agreearetite purchase of **Material Redacted**; and

WHEREAS, Customer and Boeing have mutually agreeartend the Agreement to incorporate the effethede and
certain other changes;

NOW THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual cav@s herein contained, the parties agree to anfenddreement a
follows:

1.1. Remove and replace, in its entirety the “ Talfl€ontents’, with the “ Table of ContentSattached hereto and
hereby made a part of the Agreement, to reflectti@ges made by this Supplemental Agreen

1.2. Table 1-10 entitled “ Aircraft Information Tabler Model 7378V3 Aircraft”, attached hereto, is added to the
Agreement to reflect the scheduled delivery moffithshe 73-8V3 **Material Redacted**

1.3. Exhibit A-3, Aircraft Configuration for Customesr737-8V3 Aircraft is added which represents thenges included
in Custome’s Detail Specification number **Material Redactedfated April 24, 200¢

PA No. 2191 SA No. 1t




CONFIDENTIAL TREATMENT

1.4. Supplemental Agreement BFE1, Buyer Furnished fiigent Variables, paragraph 2 is revised as statkhvito add
the preliminary on-dock dates for the Incrementatvaft delivering in 2012. Preliminary on-dock datfor later
delivery positions are not available as they arside the current production schedule. My Boeigi@uration
(MBC) can provide on-dock dates as each Increméitataft implements into the Integrated BFE Acctability

System (IBAS)

Preliminary On-dock Dates

Seats

Galleys/Furnishing

Antennas and Mounting Equipme
Avionics Equipmen

Cabin Systems Equipme
Miscellaneous/ Emergency Equipmi
Textiles/Raw Materia

Cargo System

Provision Kits

Radomes

1.5. *Material Redacted**

1.6. *Material Redacted**

**Material Redacted*
**Material Redacted*
**Material Redacted*
**Material Redacted*
**Material Redacted*
**Material Redacted*
**Material Redacted*
**Material Redacted*
**Material Redacted*
**Material Redacted*
**Material Redacted*

**Material Redacted*
**Material Redacted*
**Material Redacted*
**Material Redacted*
**Material Redacted*
**Material Redacted*
**Material Redacted*
**Material Redacted*
**Material Redacted*
**Material Redacted*
**Material Redacted*

**Material Redacted*
**Material Redacted*
**Material Redacted*
**Material Redacted*
**Material Redacted*
**Material Redacted*
**Material Redacted*
**Material Redacted*
**Material Redacted*
**Material Redacted*
**Material Redacted*

1.7. Letter Agreement No. 6-1162-RLL-3958 entitled 778V3 Option Aircraft” is revised to add Table 1-which
provides the delivery positions for **Material Redied** Option Aircraft, a copy of the revised Lat®1162-RLL-

3985R1 is attaches

1.8. Letter Agreement-1162-6417 entitlec*Boeing Offer Related to New Inter” is added to the Agreemel

PA No. 2191

Page -
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CONFIDENTIAL TREATMENT
1.9. **Material Redacted**
1.10 **Material Redacted**.

The Purchase Agreement will be deemed to be sumpltsd to the extent herein provided as of the ldateof and as so
supplemented will continue in full force and effect

Boeing and Customer have each caused this Supplaldgreement to be duly executed as of the dayyaad first written
above.

THE BOEING COMPANY COPA HOLDINGS, S.A.
By: By:
Its: Attorney-In-Fact Its: Chief Executive Office
PA No. 2191 SA No. 1¢
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ARTICLES
il

2.

1-10
1-11

EXHIBIT
A-1

A-2

A-3

B.

PA No. 2191

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Quantity, Model and Descriptic
Delivery Scheduls

Price

Paymen

Miscellaneous

Aircraft Information Table for Model 737-7V3 Aircita
Aircraft Information Table for Model 737-8\Aircraft
Aircraft Information Table for Model 737-7V3 Aircita
Aircraft Information Table for Model 7:-7V3 Aircraft
Aircraft Information Table for Model 7:-8V3 Aircraft
Aircraft Information Table for Model 7:-8V3 Aircraft
Aircraft Information Table for Model 7:-8V3 Aircraft Option Aircraft
Aircraft Information Table for Model 7:-8V3 Aircraft
Aircraft Information Table for Model 7:-8V3 Aircraft
Aircraft Information Table for Model 7:-8V3 Aircraft
Aircraft Information Table for Model 7:-8V3 Option Aircraft

Aircraft Configuration for Model 73-7V3 Aircraft
Aircraft Configuration for Model 73-8V3 Aircraft
Aircraft Configuration for Model 73-8V3 Aircraft

Aircraft Delivery Requirements and Respoilisies

SA

NUMBER

SA 2

SA 2

SA 2

SA No. 1t
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SUPPLEMENTAL EXHIBITS

AE1. Escalation Adjustment Airframe and Optional Feadure
BFE1. BFE Variables

Cs1. Customer Support Variablt

EE1. Engine Escalation/Engine Warranty and Patent Indign
SLP1. Service Life Policy Componen

LETTER AGREEMENTS

219101
2191-02
2191-03

Demonstration Flight Waive
Escalation Sharin
Seller Purchased Equipment

RESTRICTED LETTER AGREEMENT:!

6-1162-DAN-0123
6-1162-DAN-0124
6-1162-DAN-0155
6-1162-DAN-0156
6-1162-DAN-0157
6-1162-MJB-0017
6-1162-MJB-0030
6-1162-LAJ-874R
6-1162-LAJ-874R1
6-1162-LAJ-874R2
6-1162-LAJ-982
6-1162-LAJ-982R3
6-1162-RLL-3852
6-1162-LAJ-982R4
6-1162-RLL-3958
6-1162-RLL-3958R1
6-1162-LAJ-982R5
6-1162-LAJ-982R6
6-1162-LAJ-982R7
6-1162-RLL-4092
6-1162-KSW-6417
6-116-KSW-6419

PA No. 2191

Performance Guarante
Special Matter:
Airframe Escalation Revisio
Year 2000 Ready Software, Hardware and Firmy
Miscellaneous Matter
Special Matter:
Special Matter:
Special Matter:
Special Matter:
Special Matter:
Special Mattera
Special Matters
737-800 Performance Guarantees
Special Matter:
737-8V3 Option Aircraft
737-8V3 Option Aircraft
Special Matter:
Special Matter:
Special Matter:
Advance Payment Matters for Aircraft Listed in Tali-9
Boeing Offer Related to New Interi
**Material Redacted**

SA

NUMBER

SA 1C

SA 1€

SAZ

SAE
SA €
SA7
SA g
SA 11
SA ¢
SA 12
SA 1z
SA 1€
SA 1€
SA 17
SA 1€
SA 17
SA 1€
SA 1€

SA No. 1t
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SUPPLEMENTAL AGREEMENTS

DATED AS OF:

Supplemental Agreement No
Supplemental Agreement No
Supplemental Agreement No
Supplemental Agreement No
Supplemental Agreement No
Supplemental Agreement No
Supplemental Agreement No
Supplemental Agreement No
Supplemental Agreement No
Supplemental Agreement No.
Supplemental Agreement No.
Supplemental Agreement No.

June 29, 20C
December 21, 20(
June 14, 20C
December 20, 10(
October 31, 20C
September 9, 20!
December 9, 20(
April 15, 200:
March 16, 200
May 8, 200t
August 30, 200
February 26, 20C

Supplemental Agreement No. April 23, 200°
Supplemental Agreement No. 14 August 31, 200
Supplemental Agreement No. 15 February 21, 20C
Supplemental Agreement No. 16 June 30, 20C

Supplemental Agreement No.
Supplemental Agreement No.

PA No. 2191

December 15, 20(
July 200¢

SA No. 1¢
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Table 1-10A
Aircraft Information Table for Model 737-8V3 Aircra ft
Delivery, Description and Advance Payments

Airframe Model/MTOW: 737-800 174200 pounds Detail Specification:

Engine Model/Thrust: CFM56-7B26 26400 pounds Airframe Price Base Year/Escalation Formula: Jul08 ECI-MFG/CPI
Airframe Price: **Material Redacted** Engine Price Base Year/Escalation Formula: N/A N/A
Optional Features: **Material Redacted**

Sub-Total of Airframe and Features: **Material Redacted** Airframe Escalation Data:

Engine Price (Per Aircraft): $0 Base Year Index (ECI): 103.1

Aircraft Basic Price (Excluding BFE/SPE): **Material Redacted** Base Year Index (CPI): 208.2

Buyer Furnished Equipment (BFE) Estimate: $0

Seller Purchased Equipment (SPE) Estimate: **Material Redacted**

Refundable Deposit/Aircraft at Proposal Accept: **Material Redacted**

Advance Payment Pel
Aircraft (Amts. Due/Mos.

Escalation Escalation Estimate Prior to Delivery):

Delivery Number of Factor Serial Adv Payment Base **Material Redacted** **Material Redacted* **Material Redacted* **Material Redacted*
Date Aircraft (Airframe) Number Escalation Price Per AIP **Material Redacted** **Material Redacted* **Material Redacted* **Material Redacted*
*k| 1.

Mlgttezrﬁ:lted** **Material Redacted* **Material Redacted* **Material Redacted* **Material Redacted* **Material Redacted** **Material Redacted** **Material Redacted*’ **Material Redacted*’ **Material Redacted*’
*¥ i

Ms:g::lted** **Material Redacted* **Material Redacted* **Material Redacted* **Material Redacted* **Material Redacted** **Material Redacted** **Material Redacted*’ **Material Redacted*’ **Material Redacted*’
*¥ i

Msgijrﬁted** **Material Redacted* **Material Redacted* **Material Redacted* **Material Redacted* **Material Redacted** **Material Redacted** **Material Redacted*’ **Material Redacted*’ **Material Redacted*’
*¥ i

Ms:g::lted** **Material Redacted* **Material Redacted* **Material Redacted* **Material Redacted* **Material Redacted** **Material Redacted** **Material Redacted*’ **Material Redacted*’ **Material Redacted*’
*k| 1.

Mlgttezrﬁ:lted** **Material Redacted* **Material Redacted* **Material Redacted* **Material Redacted* **Material Redacted** **Material Redacted** **Material Redacted*’ **Material Redacted*’ **Material Redacted*’
- i

Mlgtezr;:lted** **Material Redacted* **Material Redacted* **Material Redacted* **Material Redacted* **Material Redacted** **Material Redacted** **Material Redacted* **Material Redacted*’ **Material Redacted*”
*k| 1.

Mlgttezrﬁ:lted** **Material Redacted* **Material Redacted* **Material Redacted* **Material Redacted* **Material Redacted** **Material Redacted** **Material Redacted*’ **Material Redacted*’ **Material Redacted*’
*¥ i

Ms:g::lted** **Material Redacted* **Material Redacted* **Material Redacted* **Material Redacted* **Material Redacted** **Material Redacted** **Material Redacted*’ **Material Redacted*’ **Material Redacted*’
*¥ i

Msgijrﬁted** **Material Redacted* **Material Redacted* **Material Redacted* **Material Redacted* **Material Redacted** **Material Redacted** **Material Redacted*’ **Material Redacted*’ **Material Redacted*’
- i

Mlggzrzliaclted** **Material Redacted* **Material Redacted* **Material Redacted* **Material Redacted* **Material Redacted** **Material Redacted** **Material Redacted*’ **Material Redacted*’ **Material Redacted*’
Total: **Material Redacted*

PA No. 2191 SA No. 1¢
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Table 1-10B

Aircraft Information Table for Model 737-8V3 Aircra ft
Delivery, Description and Advance Payments

Airframe Model/MTOW: 737-800 174200 pounds Detail Specification:
Engine Model/Thrust: CFM56-7B26 26400 pounds Airframe Price Base Year/Escalation Formula: Jul-06 ECI-MFG/CPI
Airframe Price: **Material Redacted** Engine Price Base Year/Escalation Formula: N/A N/A
Optional Features: **Material Redacted**
Sub-Total of Airframe and Features: **Material Redacted** Airframe Escalation Data:
Engine Price (Per Aircraft): Base Year Index (ECI): 180.2
Aircraft Basic Price (Excluding BFE/SPE): **Material Redacted** Base Year Index (CPI): 195.¢
Buyer Furnished Equipment (BFE) Estimate:
Seller Purchased Equipment (SPE) Estimate: **Material Redacted**
Option Deposit Paid **Material Redacted**
Advance Payment Pe
Aircraft (Amts.
Due/Mos. Prior to
Escalation Escalation Estimate Delivery): 21/18/12/9;

Delivery Number of Factor Serial Adv Payment Base At Signing 24 Mos. Total
Date Aircraft (Airframe) Number Escalation Price Per AIP **Material Redacted* **Material Redacted* **Material Redacted* **Material Redacted*

**Material Redacted** **Material Redacted* **Material Redacted* **Material Redacted* **Material Redacted* **Material Redacted** **Material Redacted** **Material Redacted* **Material Redacted* **Material Redacted*’
**Material Redacted** **Material Redacted* **Material Redacted* **Material Redacted* **Material Redacted* **Material Redacted** **Material Redacted** **Material Redacted* **Material Redacted* **Material Redacted*’
**Material Redacted** **Material Redacted* **Material Redacted* **Material Redacted* **Material Redacted* **Material Redacted** **Material Redacted** **Material Redacted*’ **Material Redacted*’ **Material Redacted*’

Total: **Material Redacted*

PA No. 2191

SA No. 1¢
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Table 1-11

Aircraft Information Table for Model 737-8V3 Option Aircraft
Delivery, Description and Advance Payments

Airframe Model/MTOW: 737-800 174200 pounds Detail Specification:
Engine Model/Thrust: CFM56-7B26 26400 pounds Airframe Price Base Year/Escalation Formula: Jul08 ECI-MFG/CPI
Airframe Price: **Material Redacted** Engine Price Base Year/Escalation Formula: N/A N/A
Optional Features: **Material Redacted**
Sub-Total of Airframe and Features: **Material Redacted** Airframe Escalation Data:
Engine Price (Per Aircraft): Base Year Index (ECI): 103.1
Aircraft Basic Price (Excluding BFE/SPE): **Material Redacted** Base Year Index (CPI): 208.2
Buyer Furnished Equipment (BFE) Estimate:
Seller Purchased Equipment (SPE) Estimate: **Material Redacted**
Non-Refundable Deposit/Aircraft at Def Agreemt: **Material Redacted**
Escalation Advance Payment Pel
Estimate Aircraft (Amts. Due/Mos.
Escalation Adv Payment __ Prior to Delivery): 21/18/12/9/€
Delivery Number of Factor Base At Signing 24 Mos. Mos. Total
Date Aircraft (Airframe) Serial Number Escalation Price Per A/IP **Material Redacted** **Material Redacted* **Material Redacted* **Material Redacted*

**Material Redacted** **Material Redacted* **Material Redacted* **Material Redacted* **Material Redacted* **Material Redacted* **Material Redacted** **Material Redacted* **Material Redacted* **Material Redacted*’
**Material Redacted** **Material Redacted* **Material Redacted* **Material Redacted* **Material Redacted* **Material Redacted* **Material Redacted** **Material Redacted* **Material Redacted* **Material Redacted*’
**Material Redacted** **Material Redacted* **Material Redacted* **Material Redacted* **Material Redacted* **Material Redacted* **Material Redacted** **Material Redacted*’ **Material Redacted*’ **Material Redacted*’
**Material Redacted** **Material Redacted* **Material Redacted* **Material Redacted* **Material Redacted* **Material Redacted* **Material Redacted** **Material Redacted* **Material Redacted*’ **Material Redacted*’
**Material Redacted** **Material Redacted* **Material Redacted* **Material Redacted* **Material Redacted* **Material Redacted* **Material Redacted** **Material Redacted* **Material Redacted* **Material Redacted*’
**Material Redacted** **Material Redacted* **Material Redacted* **Material Redacted* **Material Redacted* **Material Redacted* **Material Redacted** **Material Redacted* **Material Redacted* **Material Redacted*’
**Material Redacted** **Material Redacted* **Material Redacted* **Material Redacted* **Material Redacted* **Material Redacted* **Material Redacted** **Material Redacted*’ **Material Redacted*’ **Material Redacted*’
**Material Redacted** **Material Redacted* **Material Redacted* **Material Redacted* **Material Redacted* **Material Redacted* **Material Redacted** **Material Redacted* **Material Redacted*’ **Material Redacted*’

Total: **Material Redacted*

PA No. 2191

SA No. 1¢




CONFIDENTIAL TREATMENT
AIRCRAFT CONFIGURATION
between
THE BOEING COMPANY
and
COPA HOLDINGS, S.A., INC.
Exhibit A-3 to Purchase Agreement Number 2191

P.A. No. 2191 SA-18 A-3
BOEING PROPRIETARY




CONFIDENTIAL TREATMENT

Exhibit A-3 to
Purchase Agreement No. 2191
Page 2

AIRCRAFT CONFIGURATION
Dated July 2009
relating to
BOEING MODEL 737-8V3 AIRCRAFT

The Detail Specification is **Material Redacted*awkd April 24, 2009. Such Detail Specification irmarates the
Options listed below, including the effects on Meamturer’s Empty Weight (MEW) and Operating Empteight (OEW). The
Aircraft Basic Price reflects and includes all effeof such Options, except such Aircraft Basic@does not include the price
effects of any Buyer Furnished Equipment or Sdflerchased Equipment.

Customer has accepted the proposal for the Newidnt& his revision to the Detail Specification dogot include the

New Interior changes nor any price change assatiaith the New Interior. Exhibit A will be reviseat a later date to incluc
the changes related to the New Interior.

P.A. No. 2191 SA-18 A-3
BOEING PROPRIETARY
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SUPPLEMENTAL EXHIBITS
BFE Variables

Customer COP COPA Airlines
Model 737-800
Engine CFM5€-7B26

20089

Config Item No.

Title

AF Price

**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**

P.A. No. 2191 SA-18

**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**

A-3

BOEING PROPRIETARY

**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**

Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**

Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**

Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
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Config Item No.

SUPPLEMENTAL EXHIBITS

BFE Variables

Title

AF Price

**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**

P.A. No. 2191 SA-18

**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**

A-3

BOEING PROPRIETARY

**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**

Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**

Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**

Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**

Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
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Config Item No.

SUPPLEMENTAL EXHIBITS

BFE Variables

Title

AF Price

**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**

P.A. No. 2191 SA-18

**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**

A-3
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**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**

Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**

Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**

Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**

Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
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Config Item No.

SUPPLEMENTAL EXHIBITS

BFE Variables

Title

AF Price

**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**

P.A. No. 2191 SA-18

**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**

A-3

BOEING PROPRIETARY

**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**

Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**

Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**

Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**

Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
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Config Item No.

SUPPLEMENTAL EXHIBITS

BFE Variables

Title

AF Price

**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**

**Material Redacted**

P.A. No. 2191 SA-18

**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**

A-3

BOEING PROPRIETARY

**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**

Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**

Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**

Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**

Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**

**Material Redacted**
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Config Item No.

SUPPLEMENTAL EXHIBITS

BFE Variables

Title

AF Price

**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**

**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**

**Material Redacted**

P.A. No. 2191 SA-18

**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**

**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**

A-3

BOEING PROPRIETARY

**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**

Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**

Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**

**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**

Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**

**Material Redacted**
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BOEING

COPA HOLDINGS, S.A
6-1162-RLL-3958R1

6-1162-RLL-3958R1

COPA HOLDINGS, S.A.

Apartado 1572

Avenida Justo Arosemena y Calle 39
Panama 1, Panama

Subject:  Option Aircraft

Reference Purchase Agreement No. 2191 (the Purchase Agregimetmteen The Boeing Company (Boeing) and COPA
HOLDINGS, S.A. (Customer) relating to Model 737caitft (the Aircraft)

This Letter Agreement amends the Purchase Agreer#nérms used but not defined in this Letter Agment have the same
meaning as in the Purchase Agreement.

Boeing agrees to manufacture and sell to Custonitianal Model 737 aircraft aSption Aircraft . The options for Option
Aircraft listed in Table 1-7 have been exercisegas of this Supplemental Agreement 18. New optlelivery positions are
provided in Table 11. The delivery months, number of aircraft, Advaifayment Base Price per aircraft and advance pa
schedule for these new option positions are ligi€kable 1-11 to this Letter Agreement. The Airfafrice shown includes the
Engine Price.

1. Aircraft Description and Changes

1.1 Aircraft Description The Option Aircraft are described by the DetgikSification listed in Table 1-11.
1.2 Changes The Detail Specification will be revised to indk1

(i) Changes applicable to the basic Model 737 airevhfth are developed by Boeing between the datheoDeetai
Specification and the signing of the definitive @gment to purchase the Option Aircraft;

(ii) Changes required to obtain required regulatonyifaztes; anc

(iii) Changes mutually agreed upt
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BOEING

COPA HOLDINGS, S.A
6-1162-RLL-3958R1

2. Price
2.1 The pricing elements of the Option Aircraft dséed Table 1-11.

2.2 Price Adjustments

2.2.1 Optional FeaturesThe price for Optional Features selected for@pgion Aircraft will be adjusted to Boeing’s
current prices as of the date of execution of éniive agreement for the Option Aircraft.

2.2.2 Escalation Adjustment§he Airframe Price and the price of Optional feees for Option Aircraft will be
escalated on the same basis as the Aircraft, ahtevadjusted to Boeing’s current escalation pmris as of the date of
execution of the definitive agreement for the Optircraft.

2.2.3 Base Price Adjustment3he Airframe Price of the Option Aircraft will ksljusted to Boeing’s current price as
of the date of execution of the definitive agreefrfenthe Option Aircraft.

3. Payment

3.1 Customer will pay a deposit to Boeing in theoant shown in Table 1-11 for each Option Aircr&ieposit), on the
date of this Letter Agreement. If Customer execise option, the Deposit will be credited agaihstfirst advance payment
due. If Customer does not exercise an option, Bpwiill retain the Deposit for that Option Aircraft.

3.2 Following option exercise, advance paymentiénamounts and at the times listed in Table 1-lllbe payable for
the Option Aircraft. The remainder of the Aircr&ftice for the Option Aircraft will be paid at thene of delivery.

4. Option Exercise
4.1 Customer may exercise an option by giving emithotice to Boeing **Material Redacted**.
4.2 *Material Redacted**

5. Contract Terms

**Material Redacted**
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BOEING

COPA HOLDINGS, S.A
6-1162-RLL-3958R1

Very truly yours,

THE BOEING COMPANY

By:

Its Attorney-In-Fact
ACCEPTED AND AGREED TO this
Date: , 2009
COPA HOLDINGS, S.A., INC.

By:

Its

Attachment — Table 1-11
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BOEING

Boeing Commercial Airplanes
P.O. Box 3707
Seattle, WA 98124-2207

6-1162-LAJ-982R7

COPA HOLDINGS, S.A.

Apartado 1572

Avenida Justo Arosemena y Calle 39
Panama 1, Panama

Subject:  Special Matter:

Reference Purchase Agreement No. 2191 (the Purchase Agreginetmteen The Boeing Company (Boeing) and COPA
HOLDINGS, S.A. (Customer) relating to Model 737caaft (the Aircraft)

This Letter Agreement amends and supplements thehBse Agreement and supersedes and replace®itiiesty Letter
Agreement 6-1162-LAJ-982R6. All terms used butaefined in this Letter Agreement have the same imgaas in the
Purchase Agreement. In consideration of the Aitaveders, Boeing provides the following to Custontesr purposes of this
Letter Agreement “Incremental Aircraft” are “Airdtaor “Table 1-10A&B Aircraft”.

**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**

**Material Redacted**

1.
2.
3
4
5. **Material Redacted**
6. **Material Redacted**
7. **Material Redacted**
8. **Material Redacted**
9. **Material Redacted**
10. **Material Redacted**

11. **Material Redacted**
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BOEING

6-1162-KSW-6417
Page 2 of 3

12.
13.
14,
15.
16.

**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**

Confidentiality Customer understands that certain commerciafiaadcial information contained in this Letter
Agreement are considered by Boeing as confider@iastomer agrees that it will treat this Letter égment and the
information contained herein as confidential antl mot, without the prior written consent of Boeirtjsclose this
Letter Agreement or any information contained heteiany other person or entity except its couaselor auditors
or as otherwise required by law or legal proc

ACCEPTED AND AGREED TO this

Date:

, 2009

THE BOEING COMPANY

By:

Its Attorney-In-Fact

COPA HOLDINGS, S.A

By:

Its Chief Executive Officer
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BOEING

6-1162-KSW-6417
Page 3 of 3

ACCEPTED AND AGREED TO this
Date: , 2009
BOEING COMMERCIAL AIRPLANE GROUF

By:
Its Attorney-In-Fact

COPA HOLDINGS, S.A

By:
Its Chief Executive Office

Attachment — Table 1-11
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EBOEINEG
Boeing Commercial Airplanes
P.O. Box 3707
Seattle, WA 98124-2207
June 1, 2009

6-1162-KSW-6417

COPA HOLDINGS, S.A.

Business Park, Torre Norte,

Urbanizacion Costa del Este,

Apdo: 0816-06819

Republic of Panama

Subject:  Boeing Proposal relating to the Boeing Sky Inte(Proposal)

Reference Purchase Agreement No. 2191 dated November 25, ((398hase Agreementpetween The Boeing Company
(Boeing) and COPA HOLDINGS, S.A.
(Customer) relating to the sale of Boeing Model -800 aircrafi

Dear Sir:

Boeing is pleased to offer a new interior of th@ a&craft to further improve the flying experierfce passenger@oeing Sky
Interior) . The Boeing Sky Interior includes the followingfares:

¢ Color LED Ceiling Lighting
¢ Forward and Aft Cove Lightin
¢ New Pivot Bins
¢ New Sculpted Sidewalls and Color LED Sidewall Liglt
¢« New PSUs with LED Reading Ligh
. Brighter Color and Décor
¢ New Window Revea
¢ Touch Screen Attendant Pai
. Improved Operational Security Features
. Quieter Cabir
1. Implementation
Boeing is offering Customer the Boeing Sky Inteffiarimplementation beginning on your March 2011ddb737-800 aircraft

(Aircraft ), subject to prior sale, production constraintptirer disposition and acceptance in accordande peitagraph 4
below.
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BOEING

6-1162-KSW-6417
Page 2 of 3

2. Boeing Sky Interior Price

**Material Redacted**

3. Big Bin Existing Interior

**Material Redacted**

4. Proposal Acceptance

Customer may accept this proposal by providinguitthorized signature in the space provided belaivraturning a copy to
Boeing by no later than July 29, 2009. Upon recefphis countersigned Proposal by the aforemeetiatate, Boeing will
reserve the Boeing Sky Interior for the Aircraftamvise Customer of an alternate implementatioedale for the Boeing Sky
Interior. Upon Customer’s and Boeing’s agreemerthefapplicable Aircraft the parties shall agrearwend Exhibit A and
other affected provisions of the Purchase Agreertiraluding the Aircraft Basic Price) in the forrh @ supplemental
agreement.

5. Expiration of Offer.

Unless expressly withdrawn, this Proposal will egmin June 9, 2009 if not accepted in accordantiettve provisions set forth
in paragraph 3 above by such date.

6. Confidential Treatment

The information contained herein represents confidebusiness information and has value precibelyause it is not available
generally or to other parties. By receiving thisfysal, Customer agrees to limit the disclosuriésafontents to employees of
Customer with a need to know the contents for psep®f helping Customer evaluate or respond t&thposal and who
understand they are not to disclose its contengsyoother person or entity without the prior venittconsent of Boeing.
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BOEING

6-1162-KSW-6417
Page 3 of 3

If you have any questions regarding this Propgsehse feel free to contact me.
Very truly yours,
The Boeing Compan

THE BOEING COMPANY

By:

Its Attorney-In-Fact
ACCEPTED AND AGREED TO this
Date: , 2009
COPA HOLDINGS, S.A

Signature

Printed Name

Title:
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BOEING

Boeing Commercial Airplanes
P.O. Box 3707
Seattle, WA 98124-2207
6-1162-KSW-6419
COPA HOLDINGS, S.A., INC.
Apartado 1572
Avenida Justo Arosemena y Calle 39
Panama 1, Panama

Subject:  **Material Redacted**

Reference Purchase Agreement No. 2191, including withouttiton all exhibits, attachments and amendmeniztbdthe
Purchase Agreement), between The Boeing CompamgiriBpand COPA HOLDINGS, S.A., INC. (Customer)
relating to Model 73-8V3 aircraft (the Aircraft,

**Material Redacted**

Recitals: **Material Redacted**

Agreement

1. *Material Redacted**

2. **Material Redacted**

3. **Material Redacted**

4. **Material Redacted**

5. **Material Redacted**

6. The information contained herein representsidenfial business information and has value précisecause it is not

available generally or to other parties. Customirlimit the disclosure of its contents to empl@geof Customer with a need to

know the contents for purposes of helping Custgpeeform its obligations under the Purchase Agredrard who understand
they are not to disclose its contents to any gbleeson or entity without the prior written consefiBoeing.
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BOEING

COPA HOLDINGS, S.A.
6-1162-KSW-6419

Very truly yours,
THE BOEING COMPANY

By:

Its Attorney-In-Fact
ACCEPTED AND AGREED TO this
Date: , 2009
COPA HOLDINGS, S.A

By:

Its




CONFIDENTIAL TREATMENT EXHIBIT 10.52
CERTAIN PORTIONS OF THIS EXHIBIT HAVE BEEN OMITTEIAND FILED
SEPARATELY WITH THE SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMIS®N PURSUANT
TO A REQUEST FOR CONFIDENTIAL TREATMENT
Supplemental Agreement No. 19

to
Purchase Agreement No. 2191
between
The Boeing Company
and
COPA Holdings, S.A., Inc.
Relating to Boeing Model 737 Aircraft

THIS SUPPLEMENTAL AGREEMENT entered into as of _, 2009 by and between THE BOEING COMPANY, a
Delaware corporation with its principal office ie&tle, Washington, (Boeing) and COPA HOLDINGS, SINC. (Customer);

WHEREAS, the parties hereto entered into Purchageéiment No. 2191 dated November 25, 1998 (theehgeat), as
amended and supplemented, relating to Boeing Mo8i&l7V3 and 737-8V3 aircraft (the Aircraft); and

WHEREAS, Customer and Boeing have agreed to aateléne delivery of Aircraft serial number 4066dnfr June 2010
to May 2010.

WHEREAS, Customer and Boeing have mutually agreeairtend the Agreement to incorporate the effethese and
certain other changes;

NOW THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual cau@s herein contained, the parties agree to anfenddreement a
follows:

1. The" Table of Content” is revised to reflect the changes made by this Bapgntal Agreemen

2. Table 1-9 entitled “ Aircraft Information Tabfor Model 7378V3 Aircraft”, is revised to **Material Redacted**. The
revised Table -9 is attached heret

3. **Material Redacted**

PA No. 2191 SA No. 1¢
Aug 200¢
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The Purchase Agreement will be deemed to be sumpitrd to the extent herein provided as of the ldeteof and as so
supplemented will continue in full force and effect

Boeing and Customer have each caused this Supplahdgreement to be duly executed as of the dayyaad first written
above.

THE BOEING COMPANY COPA HOLDINGS, S.A
By: By:
Its: Attorney-In-Fact Its: Chief Executive Office
PA No. 2191 SA No. 1¢

Aug 200¢

Page 2
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ARTICLES

2
TABLE

1-1
1-2
1-3
1-4
1-5
1-6
1-7
1-8
S)
1-10
1-11

EXHIBIT
A-1
A-2
A-3

B.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Quantity, Model and Descriptic
Delivery Scheduls

Price

Paymen

Miscellaneous

Aircraft Information Table for Model 737-7V3 Aircita
Aircraft Information Table for Model 737-8\Arcraft
Aircraft Information Table for Model 737-7V3 Aircita
Aircraft Information Table for Model 7:-7V3 Aircraft
Aircraft Information Table for Model 7:-8V3 Aircraft
Aircraft Information Table for Model 7:-8V3 Aircraft
Aircraft Information Table for Model 7:-8V3 Aircraft Option Aircraft
Aircraft Information Table for Model 7:-8V3 Aircraft
Aircraft Information Table for Model 7:-8V3 Aircraft
Aircraft Information Table for Model 7:-8V3 Aircraft
Aircraft Information Table for Model 7:-8V3 Option Aircraft

Aircraft Configuration for Model 73-7V3 Aircraft
Aircraft Configuration for Model 73-8V3 Aircraft
Aircraft Configuration for Model 73-8V3 Aircraft

Aircraft Delivery Requirements and Responsibilit

SUPPLEMENTAL EXHIBITS

AEL.

BFE1.

Cs1.

EEL.

SLP1.

PA No. 2191

Escalation Adjustment Airframe and Optional Feadt
BFE Variables

Customer Support Variablt

Engine Escalation/Engine Warranty and Patent Indign

Service Life Policy Componen

SA

NUMBER

SA 4

SAE

SA7
SA 12
SA 1z
SA 12
SA 1z
SA 1€
SA 1¢
SA 1€
SA 1€

SA 1C
SA 1€

SAZ

SA No. 1¢
Aug 200¢
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LETTER AGREEMENTS

2191-01
2191-02
2191-03

Demonstration Flight Waiver
Escalation Sharing
Seller Purchased Equipme

RESTRICTED LETTER AGREEMENTS

6-1162-DAN-0123
6-1162-DAN-0124
6-1162-DAN-0155
6-1162-DAN-0156
6-1162-DAN-0157
6-1162-MJB-0017
6-1162-MJB-0030
6-1162-LAJ-874R
6-1162-LAJ-874R1
6-1162-LAJ-874R2
6-1162-LAJ-982
6-1162-LAJ-982R3
6-1162-RLL-3852
6-1162-LAJ-982R4
6-1162-RLL-3958
6-1162-RLL-3958R1
6-1162-LAJ-982R5
6-1162-LAJ-982R6
6-1162-LAJ-982R7
6-1162-RLL-4092

6-1162-KSW-6417
6-116-KSW-6419

PA No. 2191

Performance Guarante
Special Matter:
Airframe Escalation Revisio

Year 2000 Ready Software, Hardware and Firmy

Miscellaneous Mattet
Special Matters
Special Matters
Special Matter:
Special Matter:
Special Matter:
Special Matter:
Special Matter:
737-800 Performance Guarante
Special Matter:
737-8V3 Option Aircraft
737-8V3 Option Aircraft
Special Matter:
Special Matter:
Special Matter:
Advance Payment Matters for Aircraft
Listed in Table -9
Boeing Offer Related to New Interi
**Material Redacted**

SA

NUMBER

SA5
SA 6
SA7
SA 8
SA 11
SA9
SA 1¢
SA 1&
SA 1€
SA 1€
SA 17
SA 1€
SA 17

SA 1€
SA 1€

SA No. 1¢
Aug 200¢
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SUPPLEMENTAL AGREEMENTS DATED AS OF:

Supplemental Agreement No June 29, 20C
Supplemental Agreement No December 21, 20(
Supplemental Agreement No June 14, 20C

Supplemental Agreement No
Supplemental Agreement No
Supplemental Agreement No
Supplemental Agreement No
Supplemental Agreement No. 8
Supplemental Agreement No. 9
Supplemental Agreement No. 10
Supplemental Agreement No.
Supplemental Agreement No.
Supplemental Agreement No.
Supplemental Agreement No.
Supplemental Agreement No.
Supplemental Agreement No.
Supplemental Agreement No.
Supplemental Agreement No.
Supplemental Agreement No.

PA No. 2191

December 20, 10(
October 31, 20C
September 9, 20!
December 9, 20(
April 15, 200:
March 16, 200
May 8, 200t
August 30, 200
February 26, 20C
April 23, 200°
August 31, 200
February 21, 20C
June 30, 20C
December 15, 20(
July 15, 200
August ___ 20C

SA No. 1¢
Aug 200¢
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Table 1-9
Aircraft Information Table for Model 737-8V3 Aircra ft
Delivery, Description and Advance Payments

Airframe Model/MTOW: 737-800 174200 pounds Detail Specification:
Engine Model/Thrust: CFM56-7B26 26400 pounds Airframe Price Base Year/Escalation Formula: Jul-08 ECI-
MFG/CPI

Airframe Price: **Material Redacted** Engine Price Base Year/Escalation Formula: N/A N/A
Optional Features: **Material Redacted**
Sub-Total of Airframe and Features: **Material Redacted** Airframe Escalation Data:
Engine Price (Per Aircraft): **Material Redacted** Base Year Index (ECI): 103.1
Aircraft Basic Price (Excluding BFE/SPE): **Material Redacted** Base Year Index (CPI): 208.2
Buyer Furnished Equipment (BFE) Estimate: **Material Redacted**
Seller Purchased Equipment (SPE) Estimate: **Material Redacted**
Refundable Deposit/Aircraft at Proposal Accept: **Material Redacted**

Advance Payment

Per Aircraft (Amts.

Escalation Due/Mos. Prior to
Estimate __ Delivery): 21/18/12/9/€
Escalation Adv Payment At Signing 24 Mos. Mos. Total

Delivery Number of Factor Serial Base **Material **Material **Material **Material
Date Aircraft (Airframe) Number Escalation Price Per A/P Redacted** Redacted** Redacted** Redacted**
**Material Redacted** **Material Redacted* **Material Redacted* **Material Redacted* **Material Redacted* **Material Redacted* **Material Redacted* **Material Redacted* **Material Redacted* **Material Redacted*
**Material Redacted** **Material Redacted* **Material Redacted* **Material Redacted* **Material Redacted* **Material Redacted* **Material Redacted* **Material Redacted* **Material Redacted* **Material Redacted*
**Material Redacted** **Material Redacted* **Material Redacted* **Material Redacted* **Material Redacted* **Material Redacted* **Material Redacted* **Material Redacted* **Material Redacted* **Material Redacted*
**Material Redacted** **Material Redacted* **Material Redacted* **Material Redacted* **Material Redacted* **Material Redacted* **Material Redacted* **Material Redacted* **Material Redacted* **Material Redacted*
Total: **Material Redacted*
PA No. 2191 SA No. 1¢
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EXHIBIT 10.53
CONFIDENTIAL TREATMENT
CERTAIN PORTIONS OF THIS EXHIBIT HAVE BEEN OMITTEIAND FILED
SEPARATELY WITH THE SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMIS®N PURSUANT
TO A REQUEST FOR CONFIDENTIAL TREATMENT
Supplemental Agreement No. 20
to
Purchase Agreement No. 2191
between
The Boeing Company
and
COPA Holdings, S.A., Inc.
Relating to Boeing Model 737 Aircraft

THIS SUPPLEMENTAL AGREEMENT No. 20 (“Supplementagfeement 20”) is entered into as of November 19920
by and between THE BOEING COMPANY, a Delaware coagion with its principal office in Seattle, Wasbton, (Boeing)
and COPA HOLDINGS, S.A., INC. (Customer);

WHEREAS, the parties hereto entered into Purchageeinent No. 2191 dated November 25, 1998 , (asd@deand
supplemented and together with all exhibits, schesdand letter agreements pertaining thereto, Buechase Agreement”),
relating to Boeing Model 737-7V3 and 737-8V3 aift(aollectively, the “Aircraft” and each an “Airaft”);

WHEREAS, **Material Redacted**;

WHEREAS, **Material Redacted**.

WHEREAS, Customer and Boeing have agreed **Mat&dacted**; and,

WHEREAS, Customer and Boeing have agreed that *&vlat Redacted**;

NOW THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual cavw@s herein contained, the parties agree as follows

1. Capitalized terms not otherwise defined herbhalldhave the meanings ascribed to them in theHase Agreement.

2. The “ Table of Contentsof the Purchase Agreement is revised to refleetdthanges made by this Supplemental Agreement
and a copy of such Table of Contents, as so revssatiached hereto.

3. Table 1-10A entitled “ Aircraft Delivery, Desption, Price and Advance Paymehtss revised so as to: **Material
Redacted**. Table 1-10A as amended in accordantethis paragraph 3 is attached hereto.

PA No. 2191 SA No. 2(
Nov 200¢




CONFIDENTIAL TREATMENT

4. Table 1-10B entitled “ Aircraft Delivery, Desgtion, Price and Advance Payments for ExercisedoBst, is revised so as
to: (A) *Material Redacted**; (B) **Material Redaed** and (C) add at the bottom the following ndteMaterial
Redacted**. The revised Table 1-10B as amendeddnradance with this paragraph 4 is attached hereto.

5. **Material Redacted**

6. Letter Agreement 6-1162-RLL-3958R1, Option Aafty is revised so as to **Material Redacted**. Tiewised Letter
Agreement 6-1162-RLL-3958R2 is attached hereto.

7. Letter Agreement 2191-03, Seller Purchased Ages, is revised to **Material Redacted**. The resil Letter Agreement
2191-034R1 is attached hereto.

8. Attachments A and B were inadvertently left ofithe signed original of Letter Agreement 6-1163W-6419, **Material
Redacted**. Letter Agreement 6-1162-KSW-6419 inahgdAttachments A and B is attached hereto.

9. *Material Redacted**
10. **Material Redacted**

The Purchase Agreement will be deemed to be sumpltsd and revised to the extent herein provideaf &% date hereof and
as so supplemented and revised will continue inféute and effect.

Boeing and Customer have each caused this Supplalde@reement to be duly executed as of the dayyaad first written
above.

THE BOEING COMPANY COPA HOLDINGS, S.A
By: By:
Its: Attorney-In-Fact Its: Chief Executive Officer
PA No. 2191 SA No. 2(

Nov 200¢

Page ¢




CONFIDENTIAL TREATMENT
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LETTER AGREEMENTS

219101
2191-02
2191-03
2191-03R1

Demonstration Flight Waive
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Seller Purchased Equipme
Seller Purchased Equipme
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6-1162-LAJ-982R6
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**Material Redacted**
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6-1162-KSW-6417
6-1162-KSW-6419
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Special Matter:

Airframe Escalation Revisio
Year 2000 Ready Software, Hareéwaard Firmware

Miscellaneous Matters
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Special Matter:

Special Matter:

Special Matter:

Special Matter:

Special Matter:

Special Matter:

737-800 Performance Guarante
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**Material Redacted**
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SUPPLEMENTAL AGREEMENTS DATED AS OF:

Supplemental Agreement No June 29, 20C
Supplemental Agreement No December 21, 20(
Supplemental Agreement No June 14, 20C

Supplemental Agreement No
Supplemental Agreement No
Supplemental Agreement No
Supplemental Agreement No

December 20, 10(
October 31, 20C
September 9, 20!
December 9, 20(

Supplemental Agreement No April 15, 200:
Supplemental Agreement No March 16, 200
Supplemental Agreement No. May 8, 200t

Supplemental Agreement No.
Supplemental Agreement No.

August 30, 200
February 26, 20C

Supplemental Agreement No. April 23, 200°
Supplemental Agreement No. 14 August 31, 200
Supplemental Agreement No. 15 February 21, 20C
Supplemental Agreement No. 16 June 30, 20C
Supplemental Agreement No. December 15, 20(
Supplemental Agreement No. July 15, 200
Supplemental Agreement No. August __, 200
Supplemental Agreement No. November __, 20C
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Airframe Model/MTOW:

Engine Model/Thrust:

Airframe Price:

Optional Features:

Sukb-Total of Airframe and Features:

Engine Price (Per Aircraft):
Aircraft Basic Price (Excluding BFE/SPE):
Buyer Furnished Equipment (BFE) Estimate:
Seller Purchased Equipment (SPE) Estimate:
Refundable Deposit/Aircraft at Proposal Accept:

737-800

CFM56-7B26

174200 pounds
26400 pounds
**Material Redacted**

Table 1-10A
Aircraft Information Table for Model 737-8V3 Aircra ft
Delivery, Description and Advance Payments

**Material Redacted**

**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**

**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**

Detail Specification:
Airframe Price Base Year/Escalation Formula:
Engine Price Base Year/Escalation Formula:

Airframe Escalation Data:
Base Year Index (ECI):
Base Year Index (CPI):

Jul-08
N/A

103.1
208.2

ECIMFG/CPI
N/A

Escalation
Estimate Advance Payment Per Aircraft (Amts. Due/Mos. Priorto Delivery):
Escalation Adv Payment 21/18/12/9/€
Delivery Number of Factor Serial Base At Signing 24 Mos. Mos. Total
Date Aircraft (Airframe) Number Escalation **Material Redacted* **Material Redacted* **Material Redacted* **Material Redacted* **Material Redacted*

**Material Redacted*
**Material Redacted*
**Material Redacted*
**Material Redacted*
**Material Redacted*
**Material Redacted*
**Material Redacted*
**Material Redacted*
**Material Redacted*
**Material Redacted*
**Material Redacted*
**Material Redacted*
Total:

PA No. 2191

**Material Redacted*
**Material Redacted*
**Material Redacted*
**Material Redacted*
**Material Redacted*
**Material Redacted*
**Material Redacted*
**Material Redacted*
**Material Redacted*
**Material Redacted*
**Material Redacted*
**Material Redacted*
**Material Redacted*

**Material Redacted*
**Material Redacted*
**Material Redacted*
**Material Redacted*
**Material Redacted*
**Material Redacted*
**Material Redacted*
**Material Redacted*
**Material Redacted*
**Material Redacted*
**Material Redacted*
**Material Redacted*

**Material Redacted*
**Material Redacted*
**Material Redacted*
**Material Redacted*
**Material Redacted*
**Material Redacted*
**Material Redacted*
**Material Redacted*
**Material Redacted*
**Material Redacted*
**Material Redacted*
**Material Redacted*

**Material Redacted*
**Material Redacted*
**Material Redacted*
**Material Redacted*
**Material Redacted*
**Material Redacted*
**Material Redacted*
**Material Redacted*
**Material Redacted*
**Material Redacted*
**Material Redacted*
**Material Redacted*

**Material Redacted*
**Material Redacted*
**Material Redacted*
**Material Redacted*
**Material Redacted*
**Material Redacted*
**Material Redacted*
**Material Redacted*
**Material Redacted*
**Material Redacted*
**Material Redacted*
**Material Redacted*

**Material Redacted*

**Material Redacted*

**Material Redacted*

**Material Redacted*

**Material Redacted*

**Material Redacted*

**Material Redacted*

**Material Redacted*

**Material Redacted*
**Material Redacted*
**Material Redacted*
**Material Redacted*

**Material Redacted*
**Material Redacted*
**Material Redacted*
**Material Redacted*
**Material Redacted*
**Material Redacted*
**Material Redacted*
**Material Redacted*
**Material Redacted*
**Material Redacted*
**Material Redacted*
**Material Redacted*

**Material Redacted*
**Material Redacted*
**Material Redacted*
**Material Redacted*
**Material Redacted*
**Material Redacted*
**Material Redacted*
**Material Redacted*
**Material Redacted*
**Material Redacted*
**Material Redacted*
**Material Redacted*

**Material Redacted*
**Material Redacted*
**Material Redacted*
**Material Redacted*
**Material Redacted*
**Material Redacted*
**Material Redacted*
**Material Redacted*
**Material Redacted*™
**Material Redacted*
**Material Redacted*™
**Material Redacted*
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Table 1-11
Aircraft Information Table for Model 737-8V3 Option Aircraft
Delivery, Description and Advance Payments

Airframe Model/MTOW: 737-800 174200 pounds Detail Specification:
Engine Model/Thrust: CFM56-7B26 26400 pounds Airframe Price Base Year/Escalation Formula: Jul-08 ECI-MFG/CPI
Airframe Price: **Material Redacted** Engine Price Base Year/Escalation Formula: N/A N/A
Optional Features: **Material Redacted**
Sub-Total of Airframe and Features: **Material Redacted** Airframe Escalation Data:
Engine Price (Per Aircraft): Base Year Index (ECI): 103.1
Aircraft Basic Price (Excluding BFE/SPE): **Material Redacted** Base Year Index (CPI): 208.2
Buyer Furnished Equipment (BFE) Estimate: **Material Redacted**
Seller Purchased Equipment (SPE) Estimate: **Material Redacted**
Non-Refundable Deposit/Aircraft at Def Agreemt: **Material Redacted**
Escalation Advance Payment Pel
Estimate Aircraft (Amts. Due/Mos.
Escalation Adv Payment __ Priorto Delivery): 21/18/12/9/€
Delivery Number of Factor Base At Signing 24 Mos. Mos. Total
Date Aircraft (Airframe) Serial Number Escalation Price Per A/P **Material Redacted** **Material Redacted* **Material Redacted* **Material Redacted*

**Material Redacted*
**Material Redacted*
**Material Redacted*
**Material Redacted*
**Material Redacted*
**Material Redacted*
**Material Redacted*
**Material Redacted*
Total:

PA No. 2191

**Material Redacted*
**Material Redacted*
**Material Redacted*
**Material Redacted*
**Material Redacted*
**Material Redacted*
**Material Redacted*
**Material Redacted*
**Material Redacted*

**Material Redacted*
**Material Redacted*
**Material Redacted*

**Material Redacted*

**Material Redacted*
**Material Redacted*
**Material Redacted*
**Material Redacted*

**Material Redacted*
**Material Redacted*
**Material Redacted*
**Material Redacted*
**Material Redacted*
**Material Redacted*
**Material Redacted*
**Material Redacted*

**Material Redacted*
**Material Redacted*
**Material Redacted*
**Material Redacted*
**Material Redacted*
**Material Redacted*
**Material Redacted*
**Material Redacted*

**Material Redacted*
**Material Redacted*
**Material Redacted*
**Material Redacted*
**Material Redacted*
**Material Redacted*
**Material Redacted*
**Material Redacted*

**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**

**Material Redacted*
**Material Redacted*
**Material Redacted*
**Material Redacted*
**Material Redacted*
**Material Redacted*
**Material Redacted*
**Material Redacted*

**Material Redacted*
**Material Redacted*
**Material Redacted*
**Material Redacted*
**Material Redacted*
**Material Redacted*
**Material Redacted*
**Material Redacted*

**Material Redacted*
**Material Redacted*
**Material Redacted*™
**Material Redacted*
**Material Redacted*
**Material Redacted*
**Material Redacted*™
**Material Redacted*
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CONFIDENTIAL TREATMENT

EBOEINEG
Boeing Commercial Airplanes
P.O. Box 3707
Seattle, WA 9812-2207
2191-03R1

COPA HOLDINGS, S.A.

Apartado 1572

Avenida Justo Arosemena y Calle 39
Panama 1

Panama

Subject: Seller Purchased Equipme

Reference: Purchase Agreement No. 2191 (as supplemented aeddeu the Purchase Agreement) between The Boeing
Company (Boeing) and COPA HOLDINGS, S.A. (Custommelating to Model 73-7V3 aircraft (the Aircraft

This Letter Agreement amends and supplements thehBse Agreement and cancels and supercedes Rgtieement 219D3.
All terms used but not defined in this Letter Agremt have the same meaning as in the PurchaserAgnee

Definition of Terms:
**Material Redacted**

1. Price.

Advance PaymentsAn estimated SPE price is included in the AdvalRagment Base Prices shown in Table 1 for the
purpose of establishing the advance payments éAttcraft.

Aircraft Price. **Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**

**Material Redacted**

o o M w0 N

**Material Redacted**

P.A. 2191
SA-20
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BOEING

COPA HOLDINGS, S.A
6-1162-RLL-3958R2

7. **Material Redacted**
8. **Material Redacted**
Very truly yours,

THE BOEING COMPANY

By:

Its Attorney-In-Fact
ACCEPTED AND AGREED TO thi:

Date: , 2009

COPA HOLDINGS, S.A

By:

Its
P.A. 2191 SA-20
Option Aircraft 11/0¢




CONFIDENTIAL TREATMENT

BOEING

Boeing Commercial Airplanes
P.O. Box 3707
Seattle, WA 9812-2207

6-1162-RLL-3958R2

COPA HOLDINGS, S.A.

Apartado 1572

Avenida Justo Arosemena y Calle 39

Panama 1, Panama

Subject:  Option Aircraft

Reference Purchase Agreement No. 2191 (the Purchase Agreginetmteen The Boeing Company (Boeing) and COPA
HOLDINGS, S.A. (Customer) relating to Model 737caaft (the Aircraft)

This Letter Agreement amends the Purchase Agreeamehsupersedes and replaces in its entirety La&gerement 6-1162-
RLL-3958R1. All terms used but not defined in thetter Agreement have the same meaning as in thehBse Agreement.

**Material Redacted**

1. Aircraft Description and Changt

1.1 Aircraft Description The Option Aircraft are described by the DetgikSification listed in Table 1-11.
1.2 Changes The Detail Specification will be revised to indki

(i) Changes applicable to the basic Model 737 airevhfth are developed by Boeing between the datheoDeetai
Specification and the signing of the definitive @gment to purchase the Option Aircr:

(i) Changes required to obtain required regulatonyifaztes; anc
(iii) Changes mutually agreed upt

P.A. 2191
SA-20

Option Aircraft
11/09
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BOEING

COPA HOLDINGS, S.A
6-1162-RLL-3958R2

2. Price
2.1 The pricing elements of the Option Aircraft aredis Table -11.

2.2 Price Adjustment.

2.2.1 Optional FeaturesThe price for Optional Features selected for@pgion Aircraft will be adjusted to Boeing’s
current prices as of the date of execution of ndive agreement for the Option Aircraft.

2.2.2 Escalation Adjustment§he Airframe Price and the price of Optional feees for Option Aircraft will be
escalated on the same basis as the Aircraft, ahtevadjusted to Boeing’s current escalation psmris as of the date of
execution of the definitive agreement for the Opt#drcraft.

2.2.3 Base Price Adjustment3he Airframe Price of the Option Aircraft will ksljusted to Boeing’s current price as
of the date of execution of the definitive agreetrfenthe Option Aircraft.

3. Payment

3.1 Customer will pay a deposit to Boeing in theoant shown in Table 1-11 for each Option Aircr&ieposit), on the
date of this Letter Agreement. If Customer exeise option, the Deposit will be credited agaihstfirst advance payment
due. If Customer does not exercise an option, Rpeiill retain the Deposit for that Option Aircraft.

3.2 Following option exercise, advance paymentiénamounts and at the times listed in Table 1-lllbe payable for
the Option Aircraft. The remainder of the Aircr&ftice for the Option Aircraft will be paid at thene of delivery.

P.A. 2191 SA-20
Option Aircraft 11/0¢
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BOEING

COPA HOLDINGS, S.A
6-1162-RLL-3958R2

4. Option Exercise.

4.1 Customer may exercise an option by giving emithotice to Boeing on or before the **Material Retd** in Table 1-
11 (Option Exercise Date). For the two Quarterlyti@ps delivering in 2012 written notice of the QptiExercise **Material
Redacted**.

4.2 **Material Redacted**.
5. **Material Redacted**.
6. Contract Term.

Boeing and Customer will use their best effortsemch a definitive agreement for the purchase @piion Aircraft,
including the terms and conditions contained is ttetter Agreement, in the Purchase Agreementpémet terms and
conditions as may be agreed upon. In the evergdhiges have not entered into a definitive agree¢mathin 30 days following
option exercise, either party may terminate thelpase of such Option Aircraft by giving written itetto the other within
5 days. If Customer and Boeing fail to enter intorsdefinitive agreement, Boeing will retain thepDsit for that Option
Aircraft.

P.A. 2191 SA-20
Option Aircraft 11/0¢
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BOEING

COPA HOLDINGS, S.A
6-1162-RLL-3958R2

Very truly yours,

THE BOEING COMPANY

By:

Its Attorney-In-Fact
ACCEPTED AND AGREED TO thi:

Date: , 2009

COPA HOLDINGS, S.A., INC

By:

Its

Attachment— Table -11

P.A. 2191 SA-20
Option Aircraft 11/0¢
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6-1162-KSW-6419

COPA HOLDINGS, S.A., INC.
Apartado 1572

Avenida Justo Arosemena y Calle 39
Panama 1, Panama

Subject: **Material Redacted**

Reference  **Material Redacted**

**Material Redacted**

Recitals:

**Material Redacted**

Agreement:

1. **Material Redacted**

2. **Material Redacted**

3. **Material Redacted**

4. **Material Redacted**

5. **Material Redacted**

6. The information contained herein representsidenfial business information and has value précisecause it is not
available generally or to other parties. Customirlimit the disclosure of its contents to empl@geof Customer with a need to

know the contents for purposes of helping Custgpeeform its obligations under the Purchase Agredrard who understand
they are not to disclose its contents to any gbleeson or entity without the prior written consefiBoeing.

Very truly yours,

THE BOEING COMPANY

By:

Its Attorney-In-Fact




CONFIDENTIAL TREATMENT
COPA HOLDINGS, S.A., INC.
6-1162-KSW-6419

Page 2

ACCEPTED AND AGREED TO thi:

Date: , 2009

COPA HOLDINGS, S.A., INC

By:

Its

P.A. No. 2191
Fixing_Escalation_Facto
07/09

Boeing Proprietary
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Attachment A to Letter Agreement 6-1162-KSW-6419
**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**
P.A. No. 2191
Fixing_Escalation_Facto

Boeing Proprietary
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CONFIDENTIAL TREATMENT
Boeing Commercial Airplanes
P.O. Box 3707

Seattle, Washington 98124-2207
U.S.A.

Reference: Purchase Agreement No. 2191 dated as of Novembdr9®8, between The Boeing Company (Boeing) and
COPA HOLDINGS, S.A., INC. (the Purchase Agreement)

Attention: Vice President — Contracts
Mail Code 2-34

**Material Redacted**

THE BOEING COMPANY

By:
Its Attorney-in-Fact
Datec
P.A. No. 2191 SA-18
Fixing_Escalation_Factors 07/0¢

Boeing Proprietary



EXHIBIT 12.1

Certification

I, Pedro Heilbron, certify that:

1.
2.

5.

| have reviewed this annual report on Forn-F of Copa Holdings, S.A

Based on my knowledge, this report doesontain any untrue statement of a material factnoit to state a material
fact necessary to make the statements made, indfghe circumstances under which such statemeets made, not
misleading with respect to the period covered iy ttbport;

Based on my knowledge, the financial statement adiner financial information included in this repdairly presen
in all material respects the financial conditiogsults of operations and cash flows of the com@angf, and for, the
periods presented in this repc

The company’s other certifying officer(sddrare responsible for establishing and maintaimisclosure controls
and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rulaslb8e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control oveaificial
reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules-15(f) and 15-15(f)) for the company and hav

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procegdorecaused such disclosure controls and procsdaree
designed under our supervision, to ensure thatrmbhieformation relating to the company, includiitg
consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to usthgrs within those entities, particularly during theriod in
which this report is being prepared;

(b) Designed such internal control over financegarting, or caused such internal control overrfaial
reporting to be designed under our supervisioprowide reasonable assurance regarding the refjabfl
financial reporting and the preparation of finahsiatements for external purposes in accordantegenerally
accepted accounting principles;

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the companyssidsure controls and procedures and presentéusineport
our conclusions about the effectiveness of thelalisce controls and procedures, as of the endeopémiod
covered by this report based on such evaluatioth; an

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the canys internal control over financial reporting thecurred
during the period covered by the annual report tlaat materially affected, or is reasonably likelyrtaterially
affect, the company’s internal control over finaceporting; and

The company’s other certifying officer(sddrhave disclosed, based on our most recent et@tuaf internal control
over financial reporting, to the company’s auditansl the audit committee of the company’s boardirgfctors (or
persons performing the equivalent functions):

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weakses in the design or operation of internal cootrer
financial reporting which are reasonably likelyaversely affect the company’s ability to recondgess,
summarize and report financial information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that invedvmanagement or other employees who have a sgmifiole
in the company’s internal control over financigboeting.

Date: March 16, 2010

/s/ Pedro Heilbron
Pedro Heilbron
Chief Executive Officer

(Section 302 CEO Certification)



EXHIBIT 12.2

Certification

I, Victor Vial, certify that:

1.
2.

5.

| have reviewed this annual report on Forn-F of Copa Holdings, S.A

Based on my knowledge, this report doesontain any untrue statement of a material factnoit to state a material
fact necessary to make the statements made, indfghe circumstances under which such statemeets made, not
misleading with respect to the period covered iy ttbport;

Based on my knowledge, the financial statement adiner financial information included in this repdairly presen
in all material respects the financial conditiogsults of operations and cash flows of the com@angf, and for, the
periods presented in this repc

The company’s other certifying officer(sddrare responsible for establishing and maintaimisclosure controls
and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rulaslb8e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control oveaificial
reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules-15(f) and 15-15(f)) for the company and hav

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procegdorecaused such disclosure controls and procsdaree
designed under our supervision, to ensure thatrmbhieformation relating to the company, includiitg
consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to usthgrs within those entities, particularly during theriod in
which this report is being prepared;

(b) Designed such internal control over financegarting, or caused such internal control overrfaial
reporting to be designed under our supervisioprowide reasonable assurance regarding the refjabfl
financial reporting and the preparation of finahsiatements for external purposes in accordantegenerally
accepted accounting principles;

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the companyssidsure controls and procedures and presentéusineport
our conclusions about the effectiveness of thelalisce controls and procedures, as of the endeopémiod
covered by this report based on such evaluatioth; an

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the canys internal control over financial reporting thecurred
during the period covered by the annual report tlaat materially affected, or is reasonably likelyrtaterially
affect, the company’s internal control over finaceporting; and

The company’s other certifying officer(sddrhave disclosed, based on our most recent et@tuaf internal control
over financial reporting, to the company’s auditansl the audit committee of the company’s boardirgfctors (or
persons performing the equivalent functions):

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weakses in the design or operation of internal cootrer
financial reporting which are reasonably likelyaversely affect the company’s ability to recondgess,
summarize and report financial information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that invedvmanagement or other employees who have a sgmifiole
in the company’s internal control over financigboeting.

Date: March 16, 2010

/sl Victor Vial
Victor Vial
Chief Financial Officer

(Section 302 CFO Certification)



EXHIBIT 13.1

Certification
Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act 2002
(Subsections (a) and (b) of Section 1350, ChapteB 6f Title 18, United States Code)

Pursuant to section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley A2062 (subsections (a) and (b) of section 135@ptdr 63 of title 18,
United States Code), each of the undersigned officECopa Holdings, S.A. (the “* Compaf)y does hereby certify, to such
officer's knowledge, that:

The Annual Report on Form 20-F for the year endeddnber 31, 2009 of the Company fully complies it
requirements of section 13(a) or section 15(dhef$ecurities Exchange Act of 1934 and informationtained in the Form 20-
F fairly presents, in all material respects, tmaficial condition and results of operations of@oenpany.

Dated: March 16, 2010 /s/ Pedro Heilbron
Pedro Heilbron
Chief Executive Officer




EXHIBIT 13.2

Certification
Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act 2002
(Subsections (a) and (b) of Section 1350, ChapteB 6f Title 18, United States Code)

Pursuant to section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley A2062 (subsections (a) and (b) of section 135@ptdr 63 of title 18,
United States Code), each of the undersigned officECopa Holdings, S.A. (the “* Compaf)y does hereby certify, to such
officer's knowledge, that:

The Annual Report on Form 20-F for the year endeddnber 31, 2009 of the Company fully complies it
requirements of section 13(a) or section 15(dhef$ecurities Exchange Act of 1934 and informationtained in the Form 20-
F fairly presents, in all material respects, tmaficial condition and results of operations of@oenpany.

Dated: March 16, 2010 /s/ Victor Vial
Victor Vial
Chief Financial Officer




